

Advances in the use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC

Edited by Paola Ulivi, Yusuke Okuma and Santiago Viteri

Published in Frontiers in Oncology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5677-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5677-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Advances in the use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC

Topic editors

Paola Ulivi — Laboratory of Biosciences, Scientific Institute of Romagna for the Study and Treatment of Tumors (IRCCS), Italy Yusuke Okuma — National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan Santiago Viteri — UOMI Cancer Center. Clínica Mi Tres Torres, Spain

Citation

Ulivi, P., Okuma, Y., Viteri, S., eds. (2024). *Advances in the use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5677-1

Table of contents

06 Editorial: Advances in the use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC

Paola Ulivi

09 Efficacy of Osimertinib in EGFR-Mutated Advanced Non-small-Cell Lung Cancer With Different T790M Status Following Resistance to Prior EGFR-TKIs: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis

> Xiao-Fang Yi, Jun Song, Ruo-Lin Gao, Li Sun, Zhi-Xuan Wu, Shu-Ling Zhang, Le-Tian Huang, Jie-Tao Ma and Cheng-Bo Han

19 Successful sequential tyrosine kinase inhibitors to overcome a rare compound of EGFR exon 18–18 and EGFR amplification: A case report

Pascal Wang, Emmanuelle Fabre, Antoine Martin, Kader Chouahnia, Ambre Benabadji, Lise Matton and Boris Duchemann

25 Inconsistent clinical outcomes following afatinib treatment in NSCLC patients harboring uncommon epidermal growth factor receptor mutation

Wei Dong, Congjie Wang, Chunsheng Wang, Kewei Zhao, Zhao Ma and Shanliang Hu

36 Case Report: Long-term remission of malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion in a case of advanced lung adenocarcinoma treated with combined crizotinib and anlotinib therapy

> Jin Tian, Lin Long, Jianhua Zang, Peng Liu, Lili Zhao, Hongtao Zhang and Jun Xiao

42 Tumor-associated macrophages mediate resistance of EGFR-TKIs in non-small cell lung cancer: mechanisms and prospects

> Daoan Cheng, Kele Ge, Xue Yao, Banglu Wang, Rui Chen, Weiqing Zhao, Cheng Fang and Mei Ji

54 Sequential treatment in advanced epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated lung adenocarcinoma patients receiving first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors

> Ping-Chih Hsu, Chun-Yao Huang, Yu-Ching Lin, Suey-Haur Lee, Li-Chung Chiu, Chiao-En Wu, Scott Chih-Hsi Kuo, Jia-Shiuan Ju, Allen Chung-Cheng Huang, Ho-Wen Ko, Chin-Chou Wang and Cheng-Ta Yang

66 Characterizing the secretome of EGFR mutant lung adenocarcinoma

Jennifer K. Luu, Fraser D. Johnson, Jana Jajarmi, Tianna Sihota, Rocky Shi, Daniel Lu, Dylan Farnsworth, Sandra E. Spencer, Gian Luca Negri, Gregg B. Morin and William W. Lockwood

- 83 The great need to overcome osimertinib resistance in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: from combination strategies to fourth-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors Giuseppe Bronte, Alessia Belloni, Luana Calabrò and Lucio Crinò
- 90 Addition of bevacizumab to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in advanced NSCLC: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis

Haosheng Zheng, Xianyu Qin, Yuzhen Zheng, Xingping Yang, Jian Tan, Weijie Cai, Shiyun He and Hongying Liao

105 Treatment decision for recurrences in non-small cell lung cancer during or after adjuvant osimertinib: an international Delphi consensus report

Myriam Mirza, Aseem Shrivastava, Cecile Matthews, Natasha Leighl, Calvin S. H. Ng, David Planchard, Sanjay Popat, Julia Rotow, Egbert F. Smit, Ross Soo, Masahiro Tsuboi, Fan Yang, Brendon Stiles, Christian Grohe and Yi-Long Wu

- 115 Case report: Target and immunotherapy of a lung adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation, *EGFR* mutation, and high microsatellite instability Meiling Yang, Pengli Yu, Zhiyi He and Jingmin Deng
- 121 The efficacy of furmonertinib in untreated advanced NSCLC patients with sensitive EGFR mutations in a real-world setting: a single institutional experience Ningning Yan, Sanxing Guo, Siyuan Huang, Huixian Zhang and

Ningning Yan, Sanxing Guo, Siyuan Huang, Huixian Zhang and Xingya Li

130 Efficacy of osimertinib and the role of sequential liquid biopsy in patients diagnosed with NSCLC harboring EGFR and BRAF mutations at baseline: insights from two case reports

> Loc Carlo Bao, Alessia Padovan, Andrea Boscolo Bragadin, Lorenzo Calvetti, Valentina Guarneri, Laura Bonanno and Stefano Indraccolo

137 A study of high dose furmonertinib in EGFR exon 20 insertion mutation-positive advanced non-small cell lung cancer

Song Hu, Hao Ming, Qian He, Ming Ding, Hao Ding and Chong Li

144 Activity of afatinib in patients with NSCLC harboring novel uncommon *EGFR* mutations with or without co-mutations: a case report

> Petros Christopoulos, Franziska Herster, Petra Hoffknecht, Markus Falk, Markus Tiemann, Hans-Georg Kopp, Andre Althoff, Anja Stammberger and Eckart Laack

154 Weighted gene co-expression network analysis and whole genome sequencing identify potential lung cancer biomarkers

Mireguli Abudereheman, Zhengjun Lian and Baidurula Ainitu

- 165 Case report: Sustained remission after combined sintilimab, anti-VEGF therapy, and chemotherapy in a patient with non-small cell lung cancer harboring acquired *EGFR* 19Del/T790M/*cis*-C797S mutation resistance Wanming He, Lihua Tong, Wen Yang, Yanling Yuan, Yu Li and Wubing Tang
- 170 EGFR kinase domain duplication in lung adenocarcinoma with systemic and intracranial response to a double-dose of furmonertinib: a case report and literature review Hong Lin, Zhengyuan Yang, Zhifeng Li, Junwei Chen, Hongbiao Wang and Yingcheng Lin
- 177 Efficacy of epidermal growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor for lung adenosquamous cell carcinoma harboring EGFR mutation: a retrospective study and pooled analysis Xueming Xia, Wei Du, Yan Zhang, Yanying Li, Min Yu and Yongmei Liu
- 185 Neoadjuvant targeted therapy versus targeted combined with chemotherapy for resectable EGFR-mutant non–small cell lung cancer: a retrospective controlled real-world study Weipeng Shao, Zhan Liu, Bobo Li, Feng Chen, Jie Liu, Hui Li and Hongbo Guo

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Lizza E. L. Hendriks, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE Paola Ulivi Paola.ulivi@irst.emr.it

RECEIVED 04 October 2024 ACCEPTED 15 October 2024 PUBLISHED 31 October 2024

CITATION

Ulivi P (2024) Editorial: Advances in the use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1506160. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1506160

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Ulivi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Advances in the use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC

Paola Ulivi*

Bioscience Laboratory, IRCCS Istituto Romagnolo per lo Studio dei Tumori (IRST) "Dino Amadori", Meldola, Italy

KEYWORDS

EGFR, TKI, lung cancer, liquid biopsy, resistance

Editorial on the Research Topic

Advances in the use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide. Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is the most common type of lung cancer, accounting for approximately 85% of all cases. Over the last decade, there have been significant advances in the treatment of NSCLC, particularly with the use of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). EGFR is a key driver of NSCLC, and EGFR TKIs have shown remarkable clinical activity in patients with EGFR-mutant NSCLC.

Despite these advances, however, there are still many unanswered questions regarding the optimal use of EGFR TKIs in the treatment of NSCLC. To improve patient outcomes, further research into the use of EGFR TKIs in lung cancer therapy is vital.

This Research Topic collected 20 publications: nine original articles, seven case reports, two reviews, one meta-analysis and one leader opinion.

Several aspects of EGFR TKI treatment have been discussed.

The issue of TKIs resistance has been treated in some papers. In their Opinion, Bronte et al. discussed the topic of Osimertinib resistance and the possible combination strategies or the use of fourth generation EGFR-TKIs to overcome it. They supposed that in the next future oncologists will be able to address each patients who experience resistance to upfront osimertinib toward a different treatment strategy on the basis of molecular alterations highlighted by liquid biopsy or tumor biopsy. In this line, Carlo Bao et al. presented two clinical cases harboring concomitant EGFR and BRAF alterations and treated with Osimertinib. Both cases were responsive to treatment and liquid biopsy results were in accordance with the clinical behavior. Patients with advanced NSCLC with secondary T790M can benefit from Osimertinib, but the role of this drug in patients who exhibit resistance without T790M or with T790M unknown status is not well established. From the systematic review and meta-analysis performed by Yi et al. emerged that patients who undergo progression with brain metastasis on first or second generation TKIs can benefit from subsequent Osimertinib regardless T790M status. This represent an important finding that could orientate clinical decision management after Osimertinib resistance.

Other types of resistance mechanisms are known, and the role of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) is also emerging. Previous studies have demonstrated that high infiltration of TAMs is significantly associated with an unfavorable prognosis in NSCLC patients treated with EGFR-TKIs (1). So, the inhibition of TAMs may a potential approach to improving resistance to EGFR-TKIs. In the review reported by Cheng et al., a number of preclinical studies have been discussed, analyzing the combination of EGFR-TKIs with several compound directed versus TAMs. In particular, inhibiting mTOR, AKT and STAT3 pathways, such as the lipid metabolic pathway, could all be possible potential strategies to overcome EGFR-TKI resistance.

The addition of antiangiogenic treatments to EGFR-TKis was also studied. The systematic review and meta-analysis by Zheng et al. highlighted that the addition of bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI provide significant better PFS and OS, and the benefit is more evident for patients who have ever smoked, aged <75 years and of Asian population. Hsu et al. reported the results of a study in which first-line bevacizumab was combined with erlotinib or afatinib in EGFR-mutated NSCLC, demonstrating the development of T790M as resistance mechanism in 57.9% of cases. The addition of antiangiogenic treatment in patients with an acquired resistance to Osimertinib was also demonstrated in a clinical case described by He et al. In particular, a NSCLC patients harboring acquired EGFR 19Del/T790M/cis-C797S mutation resistance was treated with sintilimab, an anti-VEGF drug and chemotherapy. The patient remained progression-free for 15 months and the regimen was well tolerated. The addition of immunotherapy in EGFR-mutated patients is a controversial topic (2). Microsatellite instability is a rare event in NSCLC, but Yang et al. reported a case of a patient with a rare pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutation and MSI-H, who receive benefit from a combination approach of EGFR-TKI plus immune check point inhibitor.

Rare EGFR mutations are another important issue object of several studies in the last years. It was reported that afatinib, an irreversible ErbB family inhibitor, is more efficacious in treating patients with uncommon EGFR mutations (3).

Dong et al. performed a literature search on studies evaluating the efficacy of afatinib in any line of treatment in NSCLC patients with uncommon EGFR mutations. Their conclusion was that afatinib seems to be effective in patients with the more frequent uncommon EGFR mutations, whereas inconsistent data are present with regard to the other uncommon EGFR alterations, due to the high heterogeneity of them. Christopoulos et al. described seven clinical cases of patients carrying different uncommon EGFR mutations treated with afatinib. Overall, patients responded to afatinib, with six partial response and three durable responses. Interestingly, co-mutations did not preclude sensitivity to the drug, with durable response observed also in patients exhibiting cooccurring TP53 or CDKN2A mutations. Another case report was reported by Wang et al., describing a patient carrying two exon 18 mutations and who acquired an EGFR amplification after treatment with osimertinib. The patient showed a partial response to neratinib. Also, a further case report of a patient carrying an EGFR kinase domain duplication was reported by Lin et al. The patient received the 3rd generation EGFR-TKI furmonertinib and obtained a partial response in primary tumor and in central nervous system metastases. The efficacy of Furmonertinib was also studied in a real word setting in the study of Yan et al. The authors analyzed a cohort of EGFR mutated patients treated with furmonertinib as first line treatment. They observed a median PFS of 19.5 months without significant correlations with ECOG, presence of brain or livera metastasis, sex, age EGFR status or number of metastatic sites. The author suggested that the use of furmonertinib could be a valid option for the first line treatment of EGFR mutated patients, also considering the manageable nature of adverse events. Furmonertinib was also studied specifically in EGFR exon 20 insertion positive NSCLC in the study of Hu et al. Patients were treated in the first line setting and the median PFS observed was of 7.2 months, with a good safety profile.

Although adenocarcinoma is the predominat NSCLC histotype carrying EGFR mutation, also adenosquamous cell carcinoma, a low incidence histotype, could in some cases carry an EGFR mutation (4). Xia et al. explored the efficacy of EGFR-TKis. They observed an efficacy of EGFR-TKIs similar to that observed in adenocarcinoma.

EGFR-TKIs are also used in the non-metastatic disease. In the neo-adjuvant setting Shao et al. conducted a small study with the aim to compare the efficacy of neoadjuvant targeted therapy versus targeted combined with chemotherapy in operable EGFR-mutated NSCLC, concluding that targeted therapy alone was equally effective and more safety with respect to the combination regimen. In the adjuvant setting, there is a debatable question about the treatment of patients at recurrence after adjuvant osimertinib. An international Delphi consensus report was published in the paper by Mirza et al., reporting the conclusions of a panel of experts after discussing of this topics. Consensus was reached on six statements describing treatment considerations for the specific NSCLC recurrence scenarios, and agreed that more clinical trials are required before precise recommendations for specific patient populations can be made.

From a biological point of view, the identification of biomarkers able to give prognostic and predictive indications represent a crucial point in cancer. EGFR-mutated NSCLC could have different prognosis and different response to targeted treatment. Secretome is represented by proteins released from tumor cells that could regulate several pathways involved in cancer proliferation. In NSCLC recent studies have identified specific proteins affecting TKI resistance. Luu et al. Performed a mass spectrometry analysis on the secretome of EGFR mutated cells representing different stages of NSCC transformation, and identified three candidates (MDK, GDF15, SPINT2) associated with a poor survival.

Discovery biological studies are needed to identify novel potential biomarkers in NSCLC. Abudereheman et al. reported a study in which RNASequencing and Whole Exome Sequencing results were examined in patients with tuberculosis, with the aim to examine and identify crucial genes implicated in NSCLC genesis. They identified four genes (EGFR, CECR2, LAMA3 and HSPA2) that play an important role in lung cancer tumorigenesis.

Other than EGFR-TKIs, other targeted treatment are both approved in the clinical practice and also under investigation. A clinical case of a patient with adenocarcinoma and malignant pleural effusion, carrying a ROS1 rearrangement, was reported by Tian et al. The patient was treated with Crizotinib and Anlotinib, with a significant reduction and even disappearance of the malignant effusion, suggesting that this drug combination could be a promising strategy for the treatment of ROS1 rearranged tumors.

Author contributions

PU: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Supervision, Validation, Visualization.

References

1. Liu Q, Yu S, Zhao W, Qin S, Chu Q, Wu K. Egfr-tkis resistance via egfrindependent signaling pathways. *Mol Cancer.* (2018) 17:53-61. doi: 10.1186/s12943018-0793-1

2. Attili I, Passaro A, Corvaja C, Trillo Aliaga P, Del Signore E, Spitaleri G, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer: A systematic review. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2023) 119:102602. doi: 10.1016/ j.ctrv.2023.102602

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

3. Yang JCH, Sequist LV, Geater SL, Tsai CM, Mok TSK, Schuler M, et al. Clinical activity of afatinib in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring uncommon EGFR mutations: a combined post-hoc analysis of LUX-Lung 2, LUX-Lung 3, and LUX-Lung 6. *Lancet Oncol.* (2015) 16:830–8. doi: 10.1016/s14702045(15)00026-1

4. Tamura T, Kagohashi K and Satoh H. EGFR mutation in patients with lung adenosquamous cell carcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2017) 24:S675. doi: 10.1245/s10434-017-6180-0



Efficacy of Osimertinib in EGFR-Mutated Advanced Non-small-Cell Lung Cancer With Different T790M Status Following Resistance to Prior EGFR-TKIs: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paola Ulivi, Scientific Institute of Romagna for the Study and Treatment of Tumors (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Qin Wenxing, Shanghai Changzheng Hospital, China Michael Shafique, Moffitt Cancer Center. United States

> *Correspondence: Cheng-Bo Han hanchengbo@sj-hospital.org

This article was submitted to Thoracic Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Specialty section: Received: 30 March 2022 Accepted: 28 April 2022 Published: 07 June 2022

Citation:

Yi X-F, Song J, Gao R-L, Sun L, Wu Z-X, Zhang S-L, Huang L-T, Ma J-T and Han C-B (2022) Efficacy of Osimertinib in EGFR-Mutated Advanced Non-small-Cell Lung Cancer With Different T790M Status Following Resistance to Prior EGFR-TKIs: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Front. Oncol. 12:863666. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.863666 Xiao-Fang Yi, Jun Song, Ruo-Lin Gao, Li Sun, Zhi-Xuan Wu, Shu-Ling Zhang, Le-Tian Huang, Jie-Tao Ma and Cheng-Bo Han^{*}

Department of Oncology, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China

Purpose: Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) T790M-negative/unknown advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients lack subsequent approved targeted therapies. This meta-analysis aimed to assess the efficacy of osimertinib in advanced NSCLC patients with different T790M status after resistance to prior first- or second-generation EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) and to predict the subgroups that may benefit beside T790M-positive disease.

Methods: PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Cochrane Library databases were searched for relevant trials. Meeting abstracts were also reviewed to identify appropriate studies. Studies evaluating the efficacy and/or survival outcomes of osimertinib in patients with different T790M status (positive, negative, or unknown) after resistance to prior first-or second-generation EGFR-TKIs were enrolled, and data were pooled to assess hazard ratios (HRs) or relative risk ratios (RRs) in terms of overall survival (OS), progression-free survival (PFS), and objective response rate (ORR).

Results: A total of 1,313 EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients from 10 retrospective and one prospective studies treated with osimertinib after resistance to first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs were included. In overall groups, T790M-positive patients showed an improved OS (HR=0.574, p=0.015), PFS (HR = 0.476, p = 0.017), and ORR (RR = 2.025, p = 0.000) compared with T790M-negative patients. In the brain metastases subgroup, no significant difference in OS was observed between T790M-positive and T790M-negative patients (HR = 0.75, p = 0.449) or between T790M-positive and T790M-unknown patients (HR = 0.90, p = 0.673). In the plasma genotyping subgroup, PFS was similar between T790M-positive and T790M-negative patients (HR = 1.033, p = 0.959).

9

Conclusion: Patients with progressive brain metastases on first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs can benefit from subsequent osimertinib therapy regardless of T790M status. Patients with plasma T790M-negative status and lack of tissue genotyping should be allowed to receive osimertinib treatment.

Keywords: non-small cell lung cancer, epidermal growth factor receptor, osimertinib, T790M mutation, brain metastases

INTRODUCTION

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related mortality, and the most common type is non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), accounting for 85% (1). Because of the high incidence rate and poor prognosis of advanced NSCLC, effective treatment strategies are urgently needed. Activating mutations in the tyrosine kinase domain of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) as one of the significant drivers are mainly found in NSCLC patients; these mutations have motivated the emergency of targeted therapy, which has notably improved the survival of NSCLC patients. For treatment-naive advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR-sensitizing mutations, first-line EGFR-TKIs including first-generation gefitinib, erlotinib, and icotinib, second-generation afatinib and dacomitinib, and third-generation osimertinib and almonertinib have replaced traditional platinum-based chemotherapy as the current therapeutic standard, with a progression-free survival (PFS) range of 9-19.3 months (2-8). Although osimertinib, an irreversible thirdgeneration EGFR-TKI, has been recommended by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines as a preferred first-line treatment for patients with EGFR-sensitizing mutation advanced NSCLC, first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs are still an important first-line choice in some parts of the world due to cost and lower overall survival (OS) benefit of osimertinib in subgroups of the Asian population or patients with the 21L858R point mutation compared to first-generation EGFR-TKIs gefitinib and erlotinib observed in the FLAURA study (7).

The most common acquired resistance mechanism to first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs is a threonine-to-methionine substitution at amino acid position 790 in exon 20 (i.e., T790M mutation), accounting for 49%-73% of the cases of resistance (9-11). Patients with acquired T790M will benefit from subsequent treatment with osimertinib that selectively targets both EGFRsensitizing mutations and the T790M mutation (12, 13). However, only 50%-60% of resistant patients can undergo tissue rebiopsy to test for T790M (14-16). Plasma circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA), a type of liquid biopsy, is often used as an alternative for genotyping. However, it only exhibits 30%-70% sensitivity for detection of T790M compared with tissue genotyping using nextgeneration sequencing (NGS) or polymerase chain reaction (PCR)based detection (17-19). As a result, <30% (14%-27.2%) of patients after resistance to prior EGFR-TKIs can be subsequently treated with osimertinib, and some patients who would likely benefit from osimertinib will go untreated due to a lack of detection or falsenegative report of T790M by ctDNA detection (10, 20).

Osimertinib has also been shown to exhibit clinically significant activity for some T790M-negative patients after resistance to first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs, especially in patients with brain metastasis (BM) (21, 22). Therefore, this meta-analysis aimed to assess the efficacy of osimertinib in advanced NSCLC patients with different T790M status after resistance to prior first- or second-generation EGFR-TKI treatment and to predict the subgroups that may benefit.

METHODS

Search Strategy

PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, and Cochrane Library databases were searched using the following search terms: ("non-small cell lung cancer" OR "NSCLC") AND ("osimertinib" OR "AZD9291" OR "third-generation EGFR-TKI") AND (("EGFR" AND "mutation") OR ("epidermal growth factor receptor" AND "mutation")) to find relevant articles. In addition, abstracts from the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO), European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO), and World Conference on Lung Cancer were reviewed. Finally, the reference lists of the eligible articles were manually checked to ensure all relevant literature was retrieved. The search end date was October 26, 2021. The article search was performed separately by two investigators.

Eligibility Criteria

Studies that met the following criteria were included (1): advanced EGFR-mutant NSCLC patients treated with third-generation EGFR-TKIs after resistance to first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs (2); evaluation of the efficacy and/or survival outcomes of different T790M statuses (positive, negative, or unknown); and (3) outcomes including at least one of the following endpoints, namely, overall survival (OS), PFS, ORR, and duration of response (DOR). The selection of articles was separately performed by two investigators based on a common set of criteria. Differences in opinion were settled through discussion.

Data Extraction

The extractable data included authors, year of publication, number of patients, gene detection information (T790M positive, negative, or unknown) after resistance to priorgeneration EGFR-TKIs, BM status, genotyping sample types, OS, PFS, and hazard ratios (HRs) with 95% confidence interval (CI) for OS and/or PFS, ORR, DOR. Data extraction was performed separately by two investigators.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with STATA 14.0 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA). The primary endpoints

were OS and PFS, and the secondary endpoints were ORR and DOR. The effects of all outcomes were presented with HRs or relative risk ratios (RRs), 95% CIs, and p-values. Subgroup analyses were performed on BM and genotyping samples. HRs and 95% CIs were estimated using the procedures described by Tierney et al. if not reported in a study (23). Kaplan–Meier curve data were recovered *via* Engauge Digitizer version 11.1. This process was repeated two times to reduce variability. The I² statistic was applied to evaluate heterogeneity. The random effect models were chosen if I² was >50% or the p-value was <0.05, implying obvious heterogeneity; otherwise, fixed-effects models were applied. Two-sided p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Included Studies

A total of 1,313 EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients from 10 retrospective and one prospective study (18, 21, 22, 24–31) treated with osimertinib after resistance to first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs were included in the meta-analysis (**Table 1**). A Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram of the retrieval process is presented in **Figure 1**. Eight studies compared outcomes between T790M-positive and T790M-negative patients, one compared outcomes between T790M-positive, T790M-negative, and T790M-unknown patients. The percentages of T790M-positive, T790M-negative, and T790M-negative, T790M-negative, and T790M-negative, and T790M-negative, T

Comparison Between T790M-Positive and T790M-Negative Patients Overall Group

As shown in **Table 2**, overall OS in osimertinib-treated patients was 18.53 months (95% CI, 16.48–20.59) vs. 13.90 months (95% CI, 11.95–15.85) in T790M-positive and T790M-negative groups, respectively, with an HR of 0.57 (95% CI, 0.37–0.90; p = 0.015) (**Figure 3A**). Overall PFS for T790M-positive vs. T790M-negative groups was 9.14 months (95% CI, 8.22–10.06) vs. 3.96 months (95% CI, 3.07–4.85), with an HR of 0.58 (95% CI, 0.36–0.91; p = 0.017) (**Figure 3B**). Overall ORR for T790M-positive vs. T790M-negative groups was 58.41% (95% CI, 52.82–63.99) vs. 24.20% (95% CI, 16.22–32.17), with an RR of 2.03 (95% CI, 1.59–2.58, p < 0.001).

Subgroup of Plasma Detection

PFS was not different between plasma detection T790M-positive and T790M-negative subgroups: 9.09 months (95% CI, 8.16– 10.02) vs. 9.84 months (95% CI, 8.00–11.69), respectively, with an HR of 1.02 (95% CI, 0.44–2.35) (p = 0.959). ORRs in T790Mpositive and T790M-negative subgroups were 63% (95% CI, 55.50–70.50) and 46% (95% CI, 36–56), respectively, with an RR of 1.36 (95% CI, 1.07–1.73; p < 0.001). Tissue genotyping outcomes were extracted from one study with PFS of 9.70 vs. 3.40 months, respectively, in T790M-positive and T790M-negative patients (HR, 0.36; 95% CI, 0.26–0.49) (18). Results are summarized in **Table 3**.

Comparison Among BM Patients With Different T790M Mutation Status

T790M-Positive vs. T790M-Negative Groups

Pooled results of the subgroup with regard to BM demonstrated that there was no significant difference in OS between the T790-positive and T790-negative groups. OS in T790M-positive and T790M-negative patients was 16.28 months (95% CI, 13.62–18.94) and 17.50 months (95% CI, 14.61–20.39), respectively, with an HR of 0.75 (95% CI, 0.36–1.58; p = 0.449) (**Figure 4A**). PFS data were only available in one trial: 8.80 vs. 10.80 months, respectively, in T790M-positive and T790M-negative patients (26). These results are summarized in **Table 4**.

T790M-Positive vs. T790M-Unknown Groups

Three studies reported OS in BM patients with T790M-positive and T790-unknown statuses. Pooled OS results in T790M-positive and T790-unknown groups were 20.78 and 22.98 months, respectively (these were calculated using a weighted average of single study medians because of insufficient data of the 95% CI values) (32), with an HR of 0.90 (95% CI, 0.55–1.47; p = 0.673) (Table 4; Figure 4B).

T790M-Positive vs. T790M-Negative vs. T790M-Unknown Groups

A direct comparison of BM patients with the three T790M statuses was also performed in two studies. OS was 22.59, 21.17, and 24.86 months in T790M-positive, T790M-negative, and T790M-unknown groups, respectively; these were calculated using a weighted average of single study medians because of insufficient data of the 95% CI values (32) (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

Patients with advanced NSCLC harboring a secondary EGFR T790M mutation following treatment with first- or secondgeneration EGFR-TKIs can benefit from subsequent treatment with osimertinib. However, other patients exhibiting resistance with T790M-negative/T790M-unknown statuses lack subsequent approved targeted therapies, and the efficacy of osimertinib in these patients remains unclear. Therefore, it is necessary to explore other subgroups of patients who may benefit from osimertinib treatment to expand its scope of application. Our meta-analysis showed that patients with plasma T790Mnegative status or BM patients with T790M-negative or T790Munknown statuses had similar efficacy to that of T790M-positive patients when treated with osimertinib, suggesting that patients with BM progression with first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs can benefit from subsequent osimertinib therapy regardless of T790M status, and patients with plasma T790M test-negative status and lack of tissue rebiopsy and genotyping should be

TABLE 1 S	tudy characteristics.
-------------	-----------------------

Study(year)	Study arms	No. of patients (n)	No. of BM patients (n)	Genotypingsamples	Study endpoints	Results (T790M+ vs. T790M-/unk)
Xu H ²⁴ (2021) (26)	T790M+	16	16	Plasma/tissue/CSF	OS/PFS	mOS ^{a,d} : 11.40 vs. 17.20 mos
	T790M-	24	24			mPFS ^{a,d} : 8.80 vs. 10.80 mos
						mPFS ^b : 8.60 vs. 11.10 mos
Zhang M ²² (2021) (24)	T790M+	28	7	Plasma/tissue/CSF	OS	mOS ^a : 15.92 vs. 9.00 mos
	T790M-	16	16			mOS ^d : 22.15 vs. 13.39 mos
Yu X ²³ (2021) (25)	T790M+	80	80	Plasma/tissue	OS	mOS ^{a,d} : 27.00 vs. 27.00 vs. 27.00
	T790M-	15	15			mos
	T790M unk	64	64			
Lee J ²⁵ (2020) (27)	T790M+	60	60	Plasma/tissue/CSF	OS	mOS ^{a,d} : 16.70 vs. 18.80 vs. 14.30
	T790M-	37	37			mos
	T790M unk	13	13			
Eide IJZ ²⁰ (2019) (22)	T790M+	120	-	Plasma/tissue	OS/PFS/ORR/	mOS ^a : 22.50 vs. 13.40 mos
	T790M-	52	-		DoR	mPFS ^a : 10.80 vs. 5.10 mos
						ORR ^a : 60 vs. 28%
						DOR ^a : 11.80 vs. 10.70 mos
Yang JCH ¹⁹ (2019) (21)	T790M+	20	20	Plasma/tissue	OS/PFS/ORR/	mOS ^{a,d} : 8.10 vs. 16.60 mos
	T790M unk	21	21		DoR	mPFS ^{a,d} : 8.00 vs. 12.30 mos
						ORR ^{a,d} : 45 vs. 38%
						DOR ^{a,d} : 7.00 vs. 15.10 mos
Mehlman C ²⁷ (2019)	T790M+	184	-	Plasma/tissue	OS/PFS/ORR	mOS ^a : 27.00 vs. 14.20 mos
(29)	T790M-	35	-			mPFS ^a : 11.50 vs. 6.00 mos
						ORR ^a : 54 vs. 40%
Mu Y ²⁶ (2019) (28)	T790M+	77	-	Plasma/tissue	PFS/ORR	mPFS ^a : 8.60 vs. 3.20 mos
	T790M-	15	-			ORR ^a : 51.40 vs. 26.70%
Saboundji K ²⁸	T790M+	13	-	Plasma/tissue	PFS/ORR	mPFS ^a : 49.57 vs. 58.36 mos
(2018) (30)	T790M-	7	-			ORR ^a : 100 vs. 54%
Oxnard GR ¹⁶ (2016)	T790M+	164	-	Plasma/tissue	PFS/ORR	mPFS ^b : 9.70 vs. 8.20 mos
(18)	T790M-	102	-			ORR ^b : 63 vs. 46%
						mPFS ^c : 9.70 vs. 3.40 mos
						ORR ^c : 62 vs. 26%
Jänne PA ²⁹ (2015) (31)	T790M+	138	-	Plasma/tissue	PFS/ORR	mPFS ^a : 9.60 vs. 2.80 mos
	T790M-	62	-			ORR ^a : 61 vs. 21%

BM, brain metastases; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; DOR, duration of response; mos, months; ORR, objective response rate; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival; T790M+, T790M-positive; T790M-, T790M-negative; T790M unk, T790M-unknown.

^aOverall.

^bPlasma genotyping group.

^cTissue genotyping group.

^dBrain metastases group.

allowed to receive osimertinib treatment, especially in the absence of later standard treatment.

Studies have shown that osimertinib can overcome the resistance of acquired T790M mutation, with median PFS of 9.9-12.3 months and ORR of 60-71% (31, 33, 34). A randomized phase III trial, AURA 3, showed that compared with chemotherapy, osimertinib can significantly improve ORR (71% vs. 31%) and PFS (10.1 vs. 4.4 months) in patients with acquired T790M (35). These encouraging results led to the approval of osimertinib as a subsequent treatment for advanced NSCLC patients who developed resistance to prior EGFR-TKIs and acquired a T790M resistance mutation. However, studies have shown that osimertinib also appears to be effective in T790M-negative resistant patients. A study that enrolled 62 T790M-negative patients receiving osimertinib reported a PFS of 2.8 months and an ORR of 21% (31). In a prospective TREM study, 52 EGFR-TKI-resistant patients with T790M-negative status who received osimertinib treatment showed PFS, OS, and ORR of 5.1 months, 13.4 months, and 28%, respectively (22). Furthermore, some retrospective studies

have reported that osimertinib had an ORR of 21%-40% and OS of 14-27 months in prior EGFR-TKI-resistant T790M-negative patients (25, 28, 29). This efficacy is similar to the previously reported efficacy of chemotherapy after EGFR-TKI failure. Two studies (AURA3 and IMPRESS) reported PFS of 4.4-5.3 months and ORR of 31.0%-39.5% in patients treated with chemotherapy after resistance to first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs (35, 36). In our study, the pooled results of osimertinib-treated T790M-negative patients showed similar PFS (3.96 months) and ORR (24.20%) to previous chemotherapy results, indicating that osimertinib may be clinically significant for some patients with a T790M-negative status, although results were not as significant as with T790M-positive patients. However, it is clear that it will be necessary to identify subgroups of these patients that will truly benefit from treatment with osimertinib.

BM progression is a unique disease progression pattern with insufficient response to anti-tumor drugs and poor prognosis because of the active blood-brain barrier (BBB); it accounts for approximately 40% of prior generation EGFR-TKI-resistant



metastasis sites (37, 38). In our study, there was no significant OS difference between BM patients with and without T790M, and between those with T790M-positive and T790M-unknown statuses. Furthermore, no significant OS difference was observed in a direct comparison of T790M-positive, T790M-negative, and T790M-unknown patients. These outcomes are generally consistent with the following clinical studies. A retrospective analysis of studies within the AURA series (AURA extension, AURA2, AURA17, and AURA3) exhibited a CNS ORR of 54%–70%, a median CNS PFS of 11.1–11.7 months, and an OS of 18.8 months in T790M-positive patients (33, 34, 39, 40), while some studies also exhibited a CNS PFS of

10.8 months and an OS of 17.2-27 months in T790M-negative patients (24-26). The BLOOM study demonstrated a PFS of 12.3 months and an ORR of 38% in the T790M-unselected population (21). Accordingly, it is worthwhile to discuss whether osimertinib should be used in all patients with progressive BM regardless of T790M status. One of the reasons for the promising efficacy of osimertinib in the CNS may depend on its adequate BBB-penetrating capabilities. The APOLLO and BLOOM studies showed superior BBB penetrations of osimertinib of 31.7% and 16%, respectively (21, 41). However, the BBB penetrations of prior generation EGFR-TKIs were all <6%, with erlotinib at 2.8%-5.1%, gefitinib at 1%-3%, and afatinib at 0.7% (42-45). The insufficient concentration of TKIs in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), which is less likely to permanently control the dissemination of tumor cells, is crucial in BM after resistance to prior generation EGFR TKIs, apart from the mechanism-induced acquired resistance. Another intriguing circumstance is the mismatching of the T790M mutation detection rate between plasma- or tissue-based genotyping and CSF-based genotyping. A study directly comparing paired plasma and CSF samples in lung adenocarcinoma patients with BM confirmed the lower prevalence of T790M mutation in CSF (3/23) than in plasma (9/23) (46). This result is consistent with other studies reporting a 13%-16% T790M mutation detection rate in CSF, which is significantly lower than the T790M mutation detection rate in plasma of 41%-45% (47, 48). However, one study of 45 EGFR-TKI-treated NSCLC patients with leptomeningeal metastases reported a higher detection rate of the T790M mutation (30.4% vs. 21.7%) and gene copy number variations (CNVs) such as MET (47.8% vs. 0) in CSF than in the plasma, indicating that genetic profiles in CSF may be different from those in plasma, and T790M status in the plasma or primary tumor cannot fully represent the mutation status in CSF (49). In addition, low exposure to first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs in CSF may also result in "occult" T790M clones within



Endpoints	т	790M+ vs. T790M–	HR/RR (95% CI)	P value
	No. of studies (patients)	Pooled results (95% CI)		
OS, mos	5 (408) vs. 4 (129)	18.53 (16.48–20.59) vs. 13.90 (11.95–15.85)	0.57 (0.37–0.90)	0.015
PFS, mos	5 (410) vs. 6 (195)	9.14 (8.22–10.06) vs. 3.96 (3.07–4.85)	0.58 (0.36-0.91)	0.017
ORR, %	3 (235) vs. 3 (129)	58.41 (52.82-63.99) vs. 24.20 (16.22-32.17)	2.03 (1.59-2.58)	< 0.001
DOR, mos	1 (120) vs. 1 (52)	11.80 (9.85–13.75) vs. 10.70 (5.20–16.20)	NR	< 0.001

Abbreviation: 95% Cl, 95% confidence interval; DOR, duration of response; HR, hazard ratio; mos, months; NR, not reported; ORR, objective response rate; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival; RR, relative risk ratio; T790M+, T790M-positive; T790M–, T790M-negative; T790M unk, T790M-unknown.

CSF, i.e., low T790M mutation abundance, which may lead to false-negative test results for the T790M mutation. This may be another reason why some patients with BM progression benefit from osimertinib (50). Recently, a study classifying patients into T790M-positive and T790M-negative cohorts based on detection in CSF showed promising efficacy of osimertinib in the T790Mnegative cohort with a median intracranial PFS of 7.0 months (51). Thus, plasma and CSF may be complementary for EGFR-TKI resistance patients with BM progression. However, CSF genotyping-based analyses were not included in this metaanalysis for several reasons. First, these data are from retrospective studies with small sample sizes, leading to various biases, such as low statistical power and inflated effect size estimation. Second, because the absolute amount of tumorderived cell-free DNA in CSF is very low, the method of detecting mutations in CSF is important to the test results. However, techniques used in CSF detection are under exploration with no definitive conclusion. Therefore, osimertinib may be the better choice for patients with BM progression after prior first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs, regardless of the T790M status.

Tissue genotyping is currently the standard detection approach due to its sensitivity, but is an invasive procedure that may pose danger or cause treatment delays and is often not feasible. For patients inaccessible to tissue biopsy, liquid biopsy, such as plasma genotyping, may be a non-invasive alternative. In the real world, however, approximately 50% of drug-resistant patients underwent tissue rebiopsy, and 20%-50% patients underwent liquid biopsy (20, 52). Previous studies also showed approximately 70% consistency between liquid biopsy- and tissue rebiopsy-based genetic tests in detecting T790M (18, 19). In our meta-analysis, PFS in plasma T790M-positive and T790M-negative patients was 9.09 vs. 9.84 months. PFS provided by one study in tissue T790M-positive vs. tissue T790M-negative patients was 9.7 vs. 3.4 months. There were dramatic differences observed between tissue and plasma genotyping, indicating that there exist sensitivity differences between these methods. The Cobas EGFR Mutation Test v2 for the analysis of T790M in plasma was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration in 2016 because the detection of L858R point mutation and exon 19 deletions in plasma samples with this test method was highly consistent with that in tissue samples (53). Although plasma genotyping has been widely applied in clinical practice, its sensitivity has not been estimated by welldesigned, large-scale prospective randomized trials. In terms of the T790M mutation, Arcila et al. had assessed the credibility of



Genotyping method	Endpoints	T79	0M+ vs. T790M–	HR/RR (95% CI)	p-value
		No. of studies (patients)	Pooled results (95% CI)		
Plasma	PFS, mos	2 (175) vs. 2 (129)	9.09 (8.16–10.02) vs. 9.84 (8.00–11.69)	1.02 (0.44–2.35)	0.959
	ORR, %	1 (164) vs. 1 (102)	3 (55.50–70.50) vs. 46 (36–56)	1.36 (1.07-1.73)	< 0.001
Tissue	PFS, mos	1 (173) vs. 1 (58)	9.70 (7.60-11.80) vs. 3.40 (2.30-4.50)	0.36 (0.26-0.49)	< 0.001
	ORR, %	1 (173) vs. 1 (58)	62 (54-70) vs. 26 (14-38)	2.39 (1.52-3.76)	< 0.001

TABLE 3 | Pooled results of survival and response rate the T790M-positive and T790M-negative groups with different genotyping samples.

95% CI, 95% confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; mos, months; ORR, objective response rate; PFS, progression-free survival; RR, relative risk ratio; T790M+, T790M-positive; T790M-, T790M-negative; T790M unk, T790M-unknown.

plasma genotyping before the emergence of osimertinib (17). Of 64 patients who were confirmed to harbor the T790M mutation with tissue genotyping, 45 were T790M positive with plasma genotyping, including 11 patients who were positive in the second testing, and the overall sensitivity of plasma genotyping was 70%. In the analysis of AURA extension and AURA studies, the sensitivity was 61% and only 51% in the AURA3 study (33, 34, 39). Furthermore, a cross-comparison study of Cobas, Therascreen, ddPCR, and BEAMing provided sensitivities of 41%, 29%, 71%, and 71%, respectively (53). Plasma genotyping has a relatively high positive predictive value, which can avoid biopsies for most patients, but a large proportion of patients with false-negative T790M mutation may miss the chance of osimertinib treatment. For EGFR T790M-negative patients after prior EGFR-TKI therapy, platinum-doublet chemotherapy is considered the standard treatment with a PFS of 4.5-5.4 months and an ORR of 24-30.9% (54, 55). Data on tissue T790M-negative patients treated by osimertinib after failure of prior generation EGFR-TKI treatment are limited; the only study included in this meta-analysis provided a PFS of 3.4 months (95% CI, 2.3-4.5 months) and an ORR of 26%

(95% CI, 14–38%) (18). Therefore, osimertinib appears to have similar efficacy compared to chemotherapy but with more manageable toxicity. As a result, for patients in whom tissue genotyping is ultimately unavailable and are plasma T790M-negative, osimertinib is a moderately recommended subsequent line treatment, and for patients who are tissue T790M-negative, osimertinib may also be a choice given that more than a quarter of patients have a response; at the very least, it has certain advantages over chemotherapy.

There are several limitations to this meta-analysis. First, the number of studies and patients included in this pooled analysis is limited. The major reason is that there are few studies assessing the efficacy of osimertinib in advanced NSCLC patients with T790M-negative or T790M-unknown statuses. Second, the included studies are almost all retrospective, with only one prospective study, so selection bias and public bias are difficult to avoid. Third, we failed to further analyze the different detection methods used in the target population after resistance to prior generation EGFR-TKIs, which may have affected the end results. Therefore, larger-scale clinical studies are needed to confirm the efficacy of osimertinib in advanced



Groups	Endpoints	No. of studies (patients)	Pooled results (95% CI)	HR/RR (95% CI)	p-value
T790M+ vs. T790M-	OS, mos	3 (86) vs. 3 (77)	16.28 (13.62–18.94) vs. 17.50 (14.61–20.39)	0.75 (0.36–1.58)	0.449
	PFS, mos	1 (16) vs. 1 (24)	8.80 (7.30–10.30) vs. 10.80 (7.75–13.85)	NR	< 0.001
T790M+ vs. T790M unk	OS, mos	3 (160) vs. 3 (98)	20.78 vs. 22.98	0.90 (0.55-1.47)	0.673
	PFS, mos	1 (20) vs. 1 (21)	8 (3–13) vs. 12.30 (5.95–18.65)	NR	< 0.001
	ORR, %	1 (20) vs. 1 (21)	45 (22.50-67.50) vs. 38 (16-60)	1.18 (0.57–2.45)	< 0.001
T790M+ vs. T790M- vs. T790M unk	OS, mos	2 (140) vs. 2 (52) vs. 2 (77)	22.59 vs. 21.17 vs. 24.86	NR	NR

TABLE 4 | Pooled results of survival and response rate for the different T790M statuses with brain metastases

Abbreviation: 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; mos, months; NR, not reported; ORR, objective response rate; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival; RR, relative risk ratio; T790M+, T790M+, T790M-, T790M-, T790M-, T790M unk, T790M-unknown.



NSCLC patients with different T790M statuses following resistance to prior generation EGFR-TKIs.

CONCLUSION

Many studies have shown that when off-target (non-EGFR) pathway resistance mechanisms occur, such as MET/HER2 amplification, BRAF mutation, or RET rearrangement, continuously blocking the EGFR pathway with osimertinib in combination with drugs targeting these off-target activating pathway is a promising treatment strategy regardless of the type of EGFR-TKI treatment previously received. Thus, inhibition of the EGFR pathway is important regardless of the cause of EGFR-TKI resistance. This meta-analysis showed that osimertinib has an encouraging efficacy for plasma T790Mnegative patients and progressive BM patients regardless of T790M status after resistance to prior generation EGFR-TKIs. Thus, based on the results of this meta-analysis and given the lack of approved effective targeted therapy, we strongly recommend that patients with progressive BM receive osimertinib treatment, even if the T790M test is negative; we moderately recommend osimertinib as a subsequent treatment for advanced NSCLC patients whose tissue rebiopsy is unavailable (T790M-unknown) and plasma T790M test is negative. Finally, for

patients who tested negative for T790M by tissue rebiopsy, we only give a low-level recommendation (Figure 5).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

X-FY: writing of the original draft. SJ: data extraction and collection. R-LG: data extraction and collection. LS: software. Z-XW: software. S-LZ: formal analysis. L-TH: table editing. C-BH: conceptualization, methodology, and supervision. J-TM: conceptualization, methodology, manuscript review, and revision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the 345 Talent Project of Shengjing Hospital and the Liaoning Province Key Research and Development Plan Projects (No. 2020JH2/10300149).

REFERENCES

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin (2020) 70(1):7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21590
- Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, Yang CH, Chu DT, Saijo N, et al. Gefitinib or Carboplatin-Paclitaxel in Pulmonary Adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med (2009) 361(10):947–57. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0810699
- Zhou CC, Wu YL, Chen GY, Feng JF, Liu XQ, Wang CL, et al. Erlotinib Versus Chemotherapy as First-Line Treatment for Patients With Advanced EGFR Mutation-Positive non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802): A Multicentre, Open-Label, Randomised, Phase 3 Study. *Lancet Oncol* (2011) 12(8):735–42. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(11)70184-x
- Yang JCH, Wu YL, Schuler M, Sebastian M, Popat S, Yamamoto N, et al. Afatinib Versus Cisplatin-Based Chemotherapy for EGFR Mutation-Positive Lung Adenocarcinoma (LUX-Lung 3 and LUX-Lung 6): Analysis of Overall Survival Data From Two Randomised, Phase 3 Trials. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16 (2):141–51. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(14)71173-8
- Wu YL, Cheng Y, Zhou XD, Lee KH, Nakagawa K, Niho S, et al. Dacomitinib Versus Gefitinib as First-Line Treatment for Patients With EGFR-Mutation-Positive non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (ARCHER 1050): A Randomised, Open-Label, Phase 3 Trial. Lancet Oncol (2017) 18(11):1454–66. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(17)30608-3
- 6. Shi YK, Wang L, Han BH, Li W, Yu P, Liu YP, et al. First-Line Icotinib Versus Cisplatin/Pemetrexed Plus Pemetrexed Maintenance Therapy for Patients With Advanced EGFR Mutation-Positive Lung Adenocarcinoma (CONVINCE): A Phase 3, Open-Label, Randomized Study. Ann Oncol (2017) 28(10):2443–50. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx359
- Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall Survival With Osimertinib in Untreated, EGFR-Mutated Advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med (2020) 382(1):41–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1913662
- Lu S, Dong XR, Jian H, Chen JH, Chen GY, Sun YP, et al. Randomized Phase III Trial of Aumolertinib (HS-10296, Au) Versus Gefitinib (G) as First-Line Treatment of Patients With Locally Advanced or Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC) and EGFR Exon 19 Del or L858R Mutations (EGFRm). *J Clin Oncol* (2021) 39(15):4. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15_suppl.9013
- Pereira I, Gaspar C, Pina M, Azevedo I, Rodrigues A. Real-World T790M Mutation Frequency and Impact of Rebiopsy in Patients With EGFR-Mutated Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cureus* (2020) 12(12):e12128. doi: 10.7759/cureus.12128
- Komiya K, Nakashima C, Nakamura T, Hirakawa H, Abe T, Ogusu S, et al. Current Status and Problems of T790M Detection, a Molecular Biomarker of Acquired Resistance to EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors, With Liquid Biopsy and Re-Biopsy. Anticancer Res (2018) 38(6):3559–66. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.12628
- Yu HA, Arcila ME, Rekhtman N, Sima CS, Zakowski MF, Pao W, et al. Analysis of Tumor Specimens at the Time of Acquired Resistance to EGFR-TKI Therapy in 155 Patients With EGFR-Mutant Lung Cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(8):2240–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-12-2246
- Cross DA, Ashton SE, Ghiorghiu S, Eberlein C, Nebhan CA, Spitzler PJ, et al. AZD9291, an Irreversible EGFR TKI, Overcomes T790M-Mediated Resistance to EGFR Inhibitors in Lung Cancer. *Cancer Discov* (2014) 4 (9):1046–61. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.Cd-14-0337
- Papadimitrakopoulou VA, Mok TS, Han JY, Ahn MJ, Delmonte A, Ramalingam SS, et al. Osimertinib Versus Platinum-Pemetrexed for Patients With EGFR T790M Advanced NSCLC and Progression on a Prior EGFR-Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor: AURA3 Overall Survival Analysis. Ann Oncol (2020) 31(11):1536–44. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.08.2100
- Gyawali B, West HJ. Plasma vs Tissue Next-Generation Sequencing in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer-Either, Both, or Neither? *JAMA Oncol* (2019) 5 (2):148–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.4304
- Oellerich M, Schütz E, Beck J, Kanzow P, Plowman PN, Weiss GJ, et al. Using Circulating Cell-Free DNA to Monitor Personalized Cancer Therapy. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* (2017) 54(3):205–18. doi: 10.1080/10408363.2017.1299683
- Zugazagoitia J, Ramos I, Trigo JM, Palka M, Gomez-Rueda A, Jantus-Lewintre E, et al. Clinical Utility of Plasma-Based Digital Next-Generation Sequencing in Patients With Advance-Stage Lung Adenocarcinomas With Insufficient Tumor Samples for Tissue Genotyping. *Ann Oncologym* (2019) 30(2):290–6. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy512
- Arcila ME, Oxnard GR, Nafa K, Riely GJ, Solomon SB, Zakowski MF, et al. Rebiopsy of Lung Cancer Patients With Acquired Resistance to EGFR

Inhibitors and Enhanced Detection of the T790M Mutation Using a Locked Nucleic Acid-Based Assay. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(5):1169–80. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2277

- Oxnard GR, Thress KS, Alden RS, Lawrance R, Paweletz CP, Cantarini M, et al. Association Between Plasma Genotyping and Outcomes of Treatment With Osimertinib (AZD9291) in Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2016) 34(28):3375–82. doi: 10.1200/jco.2016.66.7162
- Sacher AG, Paweletz C, Dahlberg SE, Alden RS, O'Connell A, Feeney N, et al. Prospective Validation of Rapid Plasma Genotyping for the Detection of EGFR and KRAS Mutations in Advanced Lung Cancer. *JAMA Oncol* (2016) 2 (8):1014–22. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.0173
- Zhou J, Zhao C, Zhao J, Wang Q, Chu XL, Li JY, et al. Re-Biopsy and Liquid Biopsy for Patients With non-Small Cell Lung Cancer After EGFR-Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Failure. *Thorac Cancer* (2019) 10(4):957–65. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.13035
- Yang JCH, Kim SW, Kim DW, Lee JS, Cho BC, Ahn JS, et al. Osimertinib in Patients With Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Mutation-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and Leptomeningeal Metastases: The BLOOM Study. *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38(6):538–47. doi: 10.1200/jco.19.00457
- Eide IJZ, Helland A, Ekman S, Mellemgaard A, Hansen KH, Cicenas S, et al. Osimertinib in T790M-Positive and -Negative Patients With EGFR-Mutated Advanced non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (the TREM-Study). *Lung Cancer* (2020) 143:27–35. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2020.03.009
- Tierney JF, Stewart LA, Ghersi D, Burdett S, Sydes MR. Practical Methods for Incorporating Summary Time-to-Event Data Into Meta-Analysis. *Trials* (2007) 8:16. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-8-16
- 24. Zhang ML, Ma WF, Liu HQ, Jiang YS, Qin LZ, Li W, et al. Osimertinib Improves Overall Survival in Patients With Leptomeningeal Metastases Associated With EGFR-Mutated Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Regardless of Cerebrospinal Fluid T790M Mutational Status. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2021) 2021:6968194. doi: 10.1155/2021/6968194
- Yu XQ, Sheng JM, Pan GQ, Fan Y. Real-World Utilization of EGFR TKIs and Prognostic Factors for Survival in EGFR-Mutated Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients With Brain Metastases. *Int J Cancer* (2021) 149(5):1121–8. doi: 10.1002/ ijc.33677
- 26. Xu HY, Chen HQ, Kong JX, Zhang Y, Liu S, Yang GJ, et al. Osimertinib for the Treatment of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-Mutated non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients With Leptomeningeal Metastases and Different T790M Status. Ann Transl Med (2021) 9(11):937. doi: 10.21037/atm-21-1249
- 27. Lee J, Choi Y, Han J, Park S, Jung HA, Su JM, et al. Osimertinib Improves Overall Survival in Patients With EGFR-Mutated NSCLC With Leptomeningeal Metastases Regardless of T790M Mutational Status. J Thorac Oncol (2020) 15(11):1758–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.06.018
- Mu YX, Xing PY, Hao XZ, Wang Y, Li JL. Real-World Data Of Osimertinib In Patients With Pretreated Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: A Retrospective Study. *Cancer Manag Res* (2019) 11:9243–51. doi: 10.2147/cmar.S221434
- Mehlman C, Cadranel J, Rousseau-Bussac G, Lacave R, Pujals A, Girard N, et al. Resistance Mechanisms to Osimertinib in EGFR-Mutated Advanced non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Multicentric Retrospective French Study. *Lung Cancer* (2019) 137:149–56. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.09.019
- 30. Saboundji K, Auliac JB, Pérol M, François G, Janicot H, Marcq M, et al. Efficacy of Osimertinib in EGFR-Mutated Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer With Leptomeningeal Metastases Pretreated With EGFR-Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors. *Target Oncol* (2018) 13(4):501–7. doi: 10.1007/s11523-018-0581-2
- 31. Jänne PA, Yang JC, Kim DW, Planchard D, Ohe Y, Ramalingam SS, et al. AZD9291 in EGFR Inhibitor-Resistant non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(18):1689–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1411817
- 32. Sun L, Guo YJ, Song J, Wang YR, Zhang SL, Huang LT, et al. Neoadjuvant EGFR-TKI Therapy for EGFR-Mutant NSCLC: A Systematic Review and Pooled Analysis of Five Prospective Clinical Trials. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:586596. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.586596
- 33. Yang JC, Ahn MJ, Kim DW, Ramalingam SS, Sequist LV, Su WC, et al. Osimertinib in Pretreated T790M-Positive Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: AURA Study Phase II Extension Component. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35 (12):1288–96. doi: 10.1200/jco.2016.70.3223
- 34. Goss G, Tsai C-M, Shepherd FA, Bazhenova L, Lee JS, Chang G-C, et al. Osimertinib for Pretreated EGFR Thr790Met-Positive Advanced non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (AURA2): A Multicentre, Open-Label, Single-Arm, Phase 2 Study. *Lancet Oncol* (2016) 17(12):1643–52. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(16)30508-3

- Mok TS, Wu YL, Ahn MJ, Garassino MC, Kim HR, Ramalingam SS, et al. Osimertinib or Platinum-Pemetrexed in EGFR T790M-Positive Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med (2017) 376(7):629–40. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1612674
- 36. Soria JC, Wu YL, Nakagawa K, Kim SW, Yang JJ, Ahn MJ, et al. Gefitinib Plus Chemotherapy Versus Placebo Plus Chemotherapy in EGFR-Mutation-Positive non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer After Progression on First-Line Gefitinib (IMPRESS): A Phase 3 Randomised Trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16 (8):990–8. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00121-7
- Li LN, Luo SM, Lin H, Yang HT, Chen HJ, Liao ZY, et al. Correlation Between EGFR Mutation Status and the Incidence of Brain Metastases in Patients With non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Dis (2017) 9(8):2510–20. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.07.57
- Mamon HJ, Yeap BY, Jänne PA, Reblando J, Shrager S, Jaklitsch MT, et al. High Risk of Brain Metastases in Surgically Staged IIIA non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients Treated With Surgery, Chemotherapy, and Radiation. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23(7):1530–7. doi: 10.1200/jco.2005.04.123
- 39. Wu YL, Ahn MJ, Garassino MC, Han JY, Katakami N, Kim HR, et al. CNS Efficacy of Osimertinib in Patients With T790M-Positive Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Data From a Randomized Phase III Trial (Aura3). *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(26):2702–9. doi: 10.1200/jco.2018.77.9363
- Ahn MJ, Chiu CH, Cheng Y, Han JY, Goldberg SB, Greystoke A, et al. Osimertinib for Patients With Leptomeningeal Metastases Associated With EGFR T790M-Positive Advanced NSCLC: The AURA Leptomeningeal Metastases Analysis. *J Thorac Oncol* (2020) 15(4):637–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.12.113
- 41. Xing LG, Pan YY, Shi YK, Shu YQ, Feng JF, Li W, et al. Biomarkers of Osimertinib Response in Patients With Refractory, EGFR-T790M-Positive Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and Central Nervous System Metastases: The APOLLO Study. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26(23):6168–75. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-20-2081
- Togashi Y, Masago K, Masuda S, Mizuno T, Fukudo M, Ikemi Y, et al. Cerebrospinal Fluid Concentration of Gefitinib and Erlotinib in Patients With non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2012) 70(3):399– 405. doi: 10.1007/s00280-012-1929-4
- 43. Togashi Y, Masago K, Fukudo M, Terada T, Fujita S, Irisa K, et al. Cerebrospinal Fluid Concentration of Erlotinib and its Active Metabolite OSI-420 in Patients With Central Nervous System Metastases of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol (2010) 5(7):950–5. doi: 10.1097/ JTO.0b013e3181e2138b
- 44. Hoffknecht P, Tufman A, Wehler T, Pelzer T, Wiewrodt R, Schütz M, et al. Efficacy of the Irreversible ErbB Family Blocker Afatinib in Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor (TKI)-Pretreated non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients With Brain Metastases or Leptomeningeal Disease. J Thorac Oncol (2015) 10(1):156–63. doi: 10.1097/jto.00000000000380
- Pareek V, Welch M, Ravera E, Zampolin RL, Sequist LV, Halmos B. Marked Differences in CNS Activity Among EGFR Inhibitors: Case Report and Mini-Review. J Thorac Oncol (2016) 11(11):e135–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.07.010
- 46. Huang RF, Xu X, Li D, Chen K, Zhan Q, Ge MX, et al. Digital PCR-Based Detection of EGFR Mutations in Paired Plasma and CSF Samples of Lung Adenocarcinoma Patients With Central Nervous System Metastases. *Target Oncol* (2019) 14(3):343–50. doi: 10.1007/s11523-019-00645-5
- 47. Hata A, Katakami N, Yoshioka H, Takeshita J, Tanaka K, Masago K, et al. Prognostic Impact of Central Nervous System Metastases After Acquired Resistance to EGFR-TKI: Poorer Prognosis Associated With T790M-Negative Status and Leptomeningeal Metastases. *Anticancer Res* (2015) 35(2):1025–31.

- 48. Hata A, Katakami N, Yoshioka H, Takeshita J, Tanaka K, Nanjo S, et al. Rebiopsy of non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients With Acquired Resistance to Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor: Comparison Between T790M Mutation-Positive and Mutation-Negative Populations. *Cancer* (2013) 119(24):4325–32. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28364
- 49. Li YS, Jiang BY, Yang JJ, Zhang XC, Zhang Z, Ye JY, et al. Unique Genetic Profiles From Cerebrospinal Fluid Cell-Free DNA in Leptomeningeal Metastases of EGFR-Mutant non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A New Medium of Liquid Biopsy. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol (2018) 29(4):945–52. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy009
- 50. Hata A, Katakami N, Yoshioka H, Kaji R, Masago K, Fujita S, et al. Spatiotemporal T790M Heterogeneity in Individual Patients With EGFR-Mutant Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer After Acquired Resistance to EGFR-TKI. J Thorac Oncol (2015) 10(11):1553-9. doi: 10.1097/ jto.000000000000647
- Zheng MM, Li YS, Tu HY, Jiang BY, Yang JJ, Zhou Q, et al. Genotyping of Cerebrospinal Fluid Associated With Osimertinib Response and Resistance for Leptomeningeal Metastases in EGFR-Mutated NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol (2021) 16(2):250–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.10.008
- Wang HP, Zhang L, Si XY, Zhang XT, Wang MZ. Re-Biopsy Status Among Chinese non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients Who Progressed After Icotinib Therapy. Onco Targets Ther (2018) 11:7513–9. doi: 10.2147/ott.S174075
- Thress KS, Brant R, Carr TH, Dearden S, Jenkins S, Brown H, et al. EGFR Mutation Detection in ctDNA From NSCLC Patient Plasma: A Cross-Platform Comparison of Leading Technologies to Support the Clinical Development of AZD9291. *Lung Cancer* (2015) 90(3):509–15. doi: 10.1016/ j.lungcan.2015.10.004
- Zhong RB, Xu JL, Lou YQ, Chu TQ, Zhong H, Han BH. Anlotinib or Platinum-Pemetrexed as Second-Line Therapy in EGFR T790M-Negative Lung Cancer. Ann Palliat Med (2020) 9(4):1681–7. doi: 10.21037/apm-20-105
- 55. Yoshida T, Kuroda H, Oya Y, Shimizu J, Horio Y, Sakao Y, et al. Clinical Outcomes of Platinum-Based Chemotherapy According to T790M Mutation Status in EGFR-Positive non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients After Initial EGFR-TKI Failure. *Lung Cancer* (2017) 109:89–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.lungcan.2017.05.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Yi, Song, Gao, Sun, Wu, Zhang, Huang, Ma and Han. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jessica Desiree Menis, Integrated University Hospital Verona, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Martin Früh, Kantonsspital St. Gallen, Switzerland Weicheng Liang, Sun Yat-sen University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Pascal Wang wangpascal@hotmail.fr Boris Duchemann boris.duchemann@aphp.Fr

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Thoracic Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 12 April 2022 ACCEPTED 30 June 2022 PUBLISHED 25 July 2022

CITATION

Wang P, Fabre E, Martin A, Chouahnia K, Benabadji A, Matton L and Duchemann B (2022) Successful sequential tyrosine kinase inhibitors to overcome a rare compound of EGFR exon 18–18 and EGFR amplification: A case report. *Front. Oncol.* 12:918855.

doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.918855

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wang, Fabre, Martin, Chouahnia, Benabadji, Matton and Duchemann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Successful sequential tyrosine kinase inhibitors to overcome a rare compound of EGFR exon 18–18 and EGFR amplification: A case report

Pascal Wang^{1*}, Emmanuelle Fabre^{2,3}, Antoine Martin⁴, Kader Chouahnia¹, Ambre Benabadji¹, Lise Matton¹ and Boris Duchemann^{1,5*}

¹Thoracic and Medical Oncology Department, Avicenne Hospital, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris (AP-HP), Bobigny, France, ²Biochemistry Department, Avicenne Hospital, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris (AP-HP), Bobigny, France, ³INSERM UMR 978, Sorbonne Paris Nord University, Bobigny, France, ⁴Department of Pathology, Avicenne Hospital, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris (AP-HP), Bobigny, France, ⁵Laboratoire d'immunomonitoring en Oncologie, CNRS-UMS 3655 and INSERM-US23, Villejuif, F-94805, Gustave Roussy Cancer Campus, Villejuif, France

Background: New mutational detection techniques like next-generation sequencing have resulted in an increased number of cases with uncommon mutation and compound mutations [3%–14% of all epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations]. In rare exon 18 mutations (3%–6%), G719X and E709X represent the majority, but CMut associating these exon 18 points mutations are even rarer, making the understanding of the impact of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors still limited. Three generations of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) are available to target EGFR mutations, but according to the types of mutations, the sensitivity to TKI is different. Afatinib, osimertinib, and neratinib have showed some effectiveness in single exon 18, but no report has precisely described their efficiency and acquired mechanism of resistance in a CMut of exon 18–18 (G719A and E709A).

Case presentation: We report a case of a 26-year-old woman with bilateral advanced adenocarcinoma of the lung harboring a compound mutation associating G719A and E709A in exon 18, who developed an EGFR amplification as resistance mechanism to osimertinib. She presented a significant clinical and morphological response under sequential TKIs treatment (afatinib, osimertinib, and then neratinib).

Conclusion: A non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with rare compound mutation exon 18–exon 18 (G719A and E709A) and EGFR amplification can be overcome with adapted sequential second- and third-generation TKIs. This

report has potential implications in guiding decisions for the treatment of these rare EGFR mutations.

KEYWORDS

NSCLC, uncommon mutation, exon 18, tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI), compound mutations, EGFR

Introduction

Activating epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) driver mutations can occur in exons 18-21, and thanks to the development of new techniques of massive sequencing [like nextgeneration sequencing (NGS)], more than 600 variants of EGFR mutations have been discovered so far. These mutations are classified according to their epidemiological frequencies. On the one side are "common" mutations representing approximately 80% of cases that are constituted by deletions in exon 19 (del 19) and the point mutation L858R in exon 21. On the other side are "rare" or "uncommon" mutations (Umut) with points mutations G719X of exon 18, S768I of exon 20, L861X of exon 21, and insertions/ deletions/duplications in exon 20, which represent <20% of the cases. Concerning response to treatment, "common" mutations respond slightly better to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) (1, 2). Exon 18 mutations (detected in 3.6% of all) are mainly represented by the G719X and E709X mutations (3). However, Umut and rare mutations are not fully characterized in their clinical significance and implications, even more when they are associated with each other to form compound mutations (Cmut) (4). Cmut are defined as mutations combining two or more EGFR mutations; they often consist (but not always) of a "common" mutation associated with a "rare" or a "very rare" mutation (2).

To our knowledge, we present here the first case of nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with a rare compound mutation of exon 18–18 (G719A and E709A) treated by a successful sequential use of TKIs (afatinib, osimertinib, and neratinib) and developed an EGFR amplification as mechanism of resistance under osimertinib.

Case report

In January 2016, a 26-year-old Caucasian woman was admitted to the Medical Oncology Department at Avicenne Hospital due to the discovery of a suspicious lung mass in the left lower lobe with bilateral lung lesions on a contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) scan performed in the context of low abundance hemoptysis and cervical lymphadenopathy. The patient was healthy in the past, a former light smoker (11 packyears), and had no disease history reported. Because she had no case of family cancer, germline mutation was not sought. A cervical lymph node biopsy was performed by ultrasound-guided biopsy. The cell morphology was consistent with lung adenocarcinoma, and the tumor cells were positive for thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1). After an extension assessment, the patient was diagnosed with a metastatic lung adenocarcinoma (cT3N3M1a, stage IV A). To clarify the genetic alteration of the tumor, molecular analysis by next-generation sequencing (NGS) of DNA (Tumor Hot Spot MASTR Plus, Multiplicom) was performed on the cervical lymph node biopsy and showed 2 points mutations in EGFR exon 18, namely, p. G719A (C.2156G>T) and p. E709A (C 2126A>C). Immunohistochemistry highlighted a MET hyperexpression (3+) but without MET amplification [fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH), ratio c-MET/chromosome 7 = 2.62]. No other molecular alterations were found.

Afatinib(40mgdaily)wasstartedasfirst-linetreatmentbasedon theUMut.After2months,CTshowedapartialresponse(-75%),and she presented a clinical improvement but suffered from a grade 2 (CTCAE v5.0) skin rash, which was relieved by doxycycline. The clinical and morphological response was confirmed for 13 months (Figures 1A, B). In June 2017, faced with an asymptomatic progression on lung lesions and mediastinal lymph node, NGS of circulatingDNA(KitOncomineFocusAssay)andtargetedrebiopsy were done but found no resistance mutations, especially T790M. Several combinations of chemotherapy were prescribed: cisplatinpemetrexed [progression-free survival (PFS), 15 months] then carboplatin-pemetrexed (PFS, 6 months).

In April 2019, a relapse of thoracic and spleen lesions occurred. Hence, after a molecular board discussion, she received osimertinib (80 mg daily), which allowed an improvement for 16 months until reassessment CT revealed a pulmonary progression. The best morphological response was a stable disease (Figures 1C, D). Osimertinib's plasma concentration monitoring was within standards (231 ng/ml). No mechanism of resistance (T790M and C797S) was found on liquid biopsy, but NGS (Panel Oncomine Comprehensive Assay v3) of new biopsy on lung lesions revealed the same CMut (p.G719A and p.E709A) and a new EGFR amplification (nine copies). Immunohistochemistry highlighted an intermediate ErbB2 hyperexpression (2+) without MET hyperexpression.

From September 2020 to July 2021, she received carboplatinpemetrexed-bevacizumab (PFS, 5 months), atezolizumab (PFS, 2 months), and gemcitabine (PFS, 3 months).



On 6 October 2021, the patient received neratinib on a compassionate-based access. The TKI was started at 40 mg daily, with a gradual increase of 40 mg/week for a final dose of 240 mg daily; full dose was obtained on 11 November. Early assessment by CT at 4 weeks showed a partial response (-38%) with a decrease in all pulmonary (Figures 1E, F) and liver lesions (Figures 1G, H). She experienced a clinical improvement but suffered from a grade 1 diarrhea. The response was maintained until 20 January 2022, when a dissociated hepatic progression on pre-existing lesions is objectified on the second CT evaluation. At this time, a liver biopsy was performed, followed by a radiofrequency ablation of these lesions while continuing neratinib. On 10 March, a new CT reassessment shows new hepatic and thoracic lesions, corresponding to a clear progression. Molecular analysis on the liver biopsy by NGS (Kit Oncomine Focus Assay) of DNA and RNA found the same CMut of exon 18 and an EGFR amplification without other targetable molecular alteration. Immunohistochemistry found a PD-L1 rate of 50% but no longer found HER2 overexpression. Considering this information, a switch to weekly intravenous navelbine was started.

Discussion

The literature showed that the response to TKIs depends on mutations that form the compound. For instance, in tumors with

a CMut including exon 19 deletion or L858R point mutation, Hata et al. showed that they had the same response rate to EGFR-TKI as those with the same mutation alone (5). Therefore, in CMut with common mutations, it is recommended to start osimertinib as a first-line treatment.

For tumors with uncommon CMut, considering the composition of CMut seems also effective. Indeed, for first-generation EGFR-TKI, Chiu et al. demonstrated that patients harboring uncommon CMut (without classical mutations and at least one exon 18 mutation) had a longer PFS than patients with a single exon 18 mutation G719X (11.9 months vs. 6.5 months) (6). This trend is confirmed by Passaro et al. who showed that patients under first- or second-generation TKI with CMut (with an exon 18 mutation) had superior efficacy than patients with a single exon 18 in regard to median overall survival (OS) [hazard ratio (HR), 0.62; 95% CI (0.39–1.00)] (7). Therefore, the question is to know which EGFR-TKI is the most efficient in a CMut exon 18–18.

A *post-hoc* analysis of prospectively collected data from LUX trials showed clinical activity of afatinib in advanced NSCLC harboring UMut (G719X, L861Q, and S768I) (8). Indeed, Yang et al. reported a 71% overall response rate (ORR) and 11 months PFS in this UM. Even better, they found an increase in ORR of 77.8% and PFS of 13.8 months in the G719X subgroup. Hence, afatinib obtained approval by the US Food and Drug Administration (US-FDA) for patients with metastatic NSCLC harboring UMut and by extension, CMut with UMut.

10.3389/fonc.2022.918855

Recently, a multicenter phase II trial (KCSG-LU15-09) demonstrated that osimertinib also has an activity in patients harboring UMut. In this study, osimertinib was given as a front line in 22 cases (61%), and mutations were predominantly G719X (n=19) and L861Q (n=9). Within G719X mutations, four were CMut (two G719 X + L861Q and two G719X + S768I), but none has a CMut exon 18–18, ORR was 53% [95% CI (28%–77%)], and mPFS was 8.2 months [95% CI (6.2–10.2)] (9).

Based on these results, we can say that tumors with a CMut have a preserved sensitivity to afatinib (but lower than common mutation) and that osimertinib is also a good choice in the context of a CMut, even without T790M. Although cross trial comparisons should be performed with caution, it seems more prudent to start with afatinib than osimertinib in view of better results in LUX trials than in KCSG-LU15-09. However, it is important to note that in the *post-hoc* analysis from LUX trials, no information was given concerning the patient's brain status, whereas KCSG-LU15-09 reported 25% patients with brain metastases who could potentially explain this difference. In our case, the patient was free from any cerebral lesions since the beginning, which supports the choice of afatinib before osimertinib.

Moreover, Kobayashi et al. have investigated *in vitro* the sensitivities to three generations of EGFR-TKIs in retrovirally transfected cells that harbor exon 18 (including G719X and E709X) and del 19 mutations. They found that IC_{90} of first- and third-generation TKIs in exon 18 mutations were much higher than those in del 19 (by >11–50-fold), whereas IC_{90} of afatinib were only three- to seven-fold greater than del 19 (3). Therefore, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, second-generation TKI seems more efficient than first or third generations in exon 18 mutation.

Neratinib is an irreversible pan ErbB (EGFR/HER2/HER4) oral inhibitor, first studied by Sequiest et al. in 2010, who have already demonstrated neratinib efficiency in some patients harboring G719X mutation (10). At this time, it had been more studied for its properties to overcome T790M mechanism resistance than for its high sensitivity to exon 18 mutation. In 2021, the preliminary result of SUMMIT (n=11) confirmed the neratinib efficiency in exon 18 and demonstrated an ORR of 36% [95% CI (11–69)] and a PFS of 6.9 months. Moreover, among them, one patient had the same CMut exon 18–18 as in our case report (G719A and E709A) and presented a partial response lasting for 16 weeks (11). In view of these encouraging results from the SUMMIT trial and the presence of ErbB2 overexpression under osimertinib, neratinib seemed to be the best therapeutic alternative to target at the same time the CMut exon 18–18 and the ErbB2 hyperexpression.

There are limitations to data about sequential treatments for uncommon exon 18 mutation. Indeed, in the KCSG-LU 15-09 trial (9), one of the exclusion criteria was previous treatment with EGFR-TKI, and in the SUMMIT trial (11), 91% (10/11) patients have prior EGFR-TKI, but they have no clue regarding these therapeutic sequence and resistance mechanism prior to EGFR-TKI. The strength of our case is the precise description of a workable therapeutic sequence of TKIs that allowed prolonged response, causing a dramatically improved OS of an exon 18 mutation and EGFR amplification. Indeed, EGFR amplification is a usual acquired EGFR-dependent mechanism after osimertinib in first (~10%) or second (6–10%) line for patients with common mutations but not yet described in the setting for CMut exon 18–18 (12, 13).

Even more, this case is interesting because she also had a moderate ErbB2 hyperexpression found at progression on osimertinib, which is known to potentially lead to a decreased sensitivity to osimertinib (14). Therefore, the osimertinib resistance mechanism is potentially heterogeneous with association of several resistance mechanisms usually found in common mutation. This hypothesis is reinforced by the fact that the liver's oligoprogression under neratinib was accompanied by the disappearance of ErbB2 hyperexpression, which had probably contributed to an initial and brief sensitivity to the pan ErbB, neratinib.

Concerning alternatives after navelbine, antibody-drug conjugate (patritumab-deruxtecan or HER3-DXd) and bispecific antibodies (amivantamab) seem to be particularly interesting, especially since these molecules are currently tested in situations of osimertinib failure (15, 16). These antibody drugs are even more attractive, as they have been tested in situations where the resistance mechanisms were not clearly defined. Indeed, Jänne et al. showed recently in a phase II trial that patritumab-deruxtecan was efficient in EGFR-mutated NSCLC heavily pretreated, regardless of the brain status, the resistance mechanism identified, and the level of HER3 expression. They had received, in median, four lines [1-9] of treatment before, including osimertinib (89%), a platinum doublet (80%), and immunotherapy (35%). The objective response rate was 39% [95% CI (26.0-52.4)], the control rate was 72% [95% CI (58.5-83)], and the median progression-free survival was 8.2 months [95% CI (4.4-8.3)] (15). In this case and given the limited state of knowledge on the mechanism of resistance and the sensitivity of TKIs in rare CMut, theses antibody therapies have a place of choice.

Furthermore, it should not be forgotten that a retreatment effect linked to prolonged periods of "TKI holidays" is also possible in our clinical case. Indeed, the effect of retreatment is well described in common mutations (17). It is based on the fact that after one or more lines of TKI, the resistance mechanisms are often heterogeneous and multiple in the same patient (20%– 50% of patients according to studies that analyzed resistance mechanisms by circulating tumor DNA after a third-generation TKI) (18, 19). Indeed, these patients will present different subpopulations of cancer cells with heterogeneous mutations, which can be potentially insensitive to EGFR-TKI. The prescription of chemotherapy following EGFR-TKI would make it possible to target all subpopulations and thus reduce the proportion of resistant clones and then to restore sensitivity to TKI by promoting the re-emergence of clones with a targetable mutation (20). This principle was well described in the study by Ichihara et al. who retrospectively studied the rechallenge of osimertinib after chemotherapy treatment in 15 patients who relapsed after osimertinib. During osimertinib rechallenge, the authors found an ORR of 33%, a disease control rate (DCR) of 73%, and a PFS with 4.1 months, which showed a resensitization to osimertinib. Thus, one of a possible confounding factor in our case is the prescription of chemotherapy between each line of TKI, whose periods could go up to 9 months. Nevertheless, the effect of retreatment is not yet known in UMut and particularly in rare CMut.

As a conclusion, this case emphasizes the potential benefit of sequential TKI therapy of second followed by third generation despite the absence of T790M mutation in patients with UMut. Resistance to third-generation EGFR-TKIs may involve EGFR amplification and probably ErbB2 hyperexpression in CMut exon 18–18 and can be treated by a pan ErbB inhibitor. Reports of these rare compound mutations, mechanisms resistances, and their response to TKIs are necessary to improve knowledge of this UMut. However, more research is needed before neratinib can be recommended as a new standard in CMut exon 18–18.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

References

1. Harrison PT, Vyse S, Huang PH. Rare epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations in non-small cell lung cancer. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2020) 61:167 –79. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.09.015

2. Passaro A, Mok T, Peters S, Popat S, Ahn MJ, de Marinis F. Recent advances on the role of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the management of NSCLC with uncommon, non exon 20 insertions, EGFR mutations. J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer (2021) 16(5):764–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.12.002

3. Kobayashi Y, Togashi Y, Yatabe Y, Mizuuchi H, Jangchul P, Kondo C, et al. EGFR exon 18 mutations in lung cancer: Molecular predictors of augmented sensitivity to afatinib or neratinib as compared with first- or third-generation TKIs. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(23):5305–13. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1046

4. Zhang T, Wan B, Zhao Y, Li C, Liu H, Lv T, et al. Treatment of uncommon EGFR mutations in non-small cell lung cancer: new evidence and treatment. *Transl Lung Cancer Res* (2019) 8(3):302–16. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2019.04.12

5. Hata A, Yoshioka H, Fujita S, Kunimasa K, Kaji R, Imai Y, et al. Complex mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer (2010) 5(10):1524–8. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3181e8b3c5

6. Chiu CH, Yang CT, Shih JY, Huang MS, Su WC, Lai RS, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor treatment response in advanced lung adenocarcinomas with G719X/L861Q/S768I mutations. J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer (2015) 10(5):793–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdu349.7

7. Passaro A, Prelaj A, Bonanno L, Tiseo M, Tuzi A, Proto C, et al. Activity of EGFR TKIs in Caucasian patients with NSCLC harboring potentially sensitive uncommon EGFR mutations. *Clin Lung Cancer* (2019) 20(2):e186–94. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2018.11.005

Author contributions

Conceptualization: PW and BD. Methodology: BD. Investigation: PW, BD, EF, and AM. Ressources: PW. Supervision: BD. Validation: PW, EF, AM, KC, AB, LM, and BD. Visualization: PW and BD. Writing – original draft: PW and BD. Writing – review & editing: PW, EF, KC, LM, and BD. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

BD: Payment or honoraria for lectures, presentations, speakers bureaus, manuscript writing or educational events: Pfizer, Roche, Chiesi. Payment for expert testimony: AstraZeneca, BMS.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Yang JCH, Sequist LV, Geater SL, Tsai CM, Mok TSK, Schuler M, et al. Clinical activity of afatinib in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring uncommon EGFR mutations: a combined post-hoc analysis of LUX-lung 2, LUX-lung 3, and LUX-lung 6. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(7):830–8. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00026-1

9. Cho JH, Lim SH, An HJ, Kim KH, Park KU, Kang EJ, et al. Osimertinib for patients with non-Small-Cell lung cancer harboring uncommon EGFR mutations: A multicenter, open-label, phase II trial (KCSG-LU15-09). J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2020) 38(5):488–95. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.00931

10. Sequist LV, Besse B, Lynch TJ, Miller VA, Wong KK, Gitlitz B, et al. Neratinib, an irreversible pan-ErbB receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor: results of a phase II trial in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2010) 28(18):3076–83. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.9414

11. GoldmanJW, ViteriRamirezS, MahipalA, SugaJMM, EliLD, LalaniAS, etal. Neratinib efficacy in a subgroup of patients with EGFR exon 18-mutant non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and central nervous system (CNS) involvement: Findings from the SUMMIT basket trial. *JClinOncol* (2021) 39(15_suppl):9068–9068. doi:10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15_suppl.9068

 Reita D, Pabst L, Pencreach F, Guérin E, Dano L, Rimelen V, et al. Molecular mechanism of EGFR-TKI resistance in EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer: Application to biological diagnostic and monitoring. *Cancers* (2021) 13(19):4926. doi: 10.3390/cancers13194926

13. Shi Y, Xing P, Han X, Wang S, Liu Y, Liu P, et al. P1.13-18 exploring the resistance mechanism of osimertinib and monitoring the treatment response using plasma ctDNA in Chinese NSCLC patients. *J Thorac Oncol* (2018) 13(10):S589. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.08.875

14. Ortiz-Cuaran S, Scheffler M, Plenker D, Dahmen L, Scheel AH, Fernandez-Cuesta L, et al. Heterogeneous mechanisms of primary and acquired resistance to third-generation EGFR inhibitors. Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res (2016) 22(19):4837-47. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1915

15. Jänne PA, Baik C, Su WC, Johnson ML, Hayashi H, Nishio M, et al. Efficacy and safety of patritumab deruxtecan (HER3-DXd) in EGFR inhibitor-resistant, EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Discov* (2022) 12(1):74–89. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-0715

16. Bauml J, Cho BC, Park K, Lee KH, Cho EK, Kim DW, et al. Amivantamab in combination with lazertinib for the treatment of osimertinib-relapsed, chemotherapy-naive EGFR mutant (EGFRm) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and potential biomarkers for response (2022). Available at: https://scholarworks. bwise.kr/gachon/handle/2020.sw.gachon/82752.

17. Becker A, Crombag L, Heideman DAM, Thunnissen FB, van Wijk AW, Postmus PE, et al. Retreatment with erlotinib: Regain of TKI sensitivity following a

drug holiday for patients with NSCLC who initially responded to EGFR-TKI treatment. *Eur J Cancer* (2011) 47(17):2603–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.06.046

18. Chabon JJ, Simmons AD, Lovejoy AF, Esfahani MS, Newman AM, Haringsma HJ, et al. Circulating tumour DNA profiling reveals heterogeneity of EGFR inhibitor resistance mechanisms in lung cancer patients. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:11815. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11815

19. Papadimitrakopoulou VA, Wu YL, Han JY, Ahn MJ, Ramalingam SS, John T, et al. Analysis of resistance mechanisms to osimertinib in patients with EGFR T790M advanced NSCLC from the AURA3 study. *Ann Oncol* (2018) 29:viii741. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy424.064

20. Song Y, Jia Z, Wang Y, Wang Y, Liu P, Zhang S, et al. Potential treatment strategy for the rare osimertinib resistant mutation EGFR L718Q. *J Thorac Dis* (2020) 12(5):2771–80. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2020.03.29

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Santiago Viteri, Clínica Mi Tres Torres, Spain

REVIEWED BY Paul Zarogoulidis, Euromedica General Clinic, Greece Sonia Silva, Leiria Hospital Center, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Shanliang Hu yuhdhushl@163.com Zhao Ma ytgo_22@outlook.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Thoracic Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 21 July 2022 ACCEPTED 24 October 2022 PUBLISHED 08 November 2022

CITATION

Dong W, Wang C, Wang C, Zhao K, Ma Z and Hu S (2022) Inconsistent clinical outcomes following afatinib treatment in NSCLC patients harboring uncommon epidermal growth factor receptor mutation. *Front. Oncol.* 12:999606. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.999606

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Dong, Wang, Wang, Zhao, Ma and Hu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Inconsistent clinical outcomes following afatinib treatment in NSCLC patients harboring uncommon epidermal growth factor receptor mutation

Wei Dong^{1†}, Congjie Wang^{2†}, Chunsheng Wang^{1,3}, Kewei Zhao^{1,4}, Zhao Ma^{1*} and Shanliang Hu^{1*}

¹Department of Radiation Oncology, Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital, Yantai, Shandong, China, ²Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital, Yantai, Shandong, China, ³Department of Radiation and Medical Oncology, Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, Hubei, China, ⁴Cancer Center, Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hubei, China

Background: Uncommon epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations consist of a heterogeneous population of molecular alterations, and the available clinical data on the outcomes of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) harboring uncommon EGFR mutations following afatinib treatment are limited. The purpose of this pooled analysis was to investigate the clinicopathological features of patients with uncommon EGFR mutations (um-EGFRms) along with their treatment response and survival outcomes following afatinib treatment.

Methods: We performed a literature search in the NCBI PubMed database to identify relevant articles and conducted this pooled analysis based on 70 studies. The relationships between patient clinical characteristics, EGFR mutation type and the response to afatinib treatment were analyzed using univariate chi-square analysis, and survival analysis was performed using the Kaplan–Meier method.

Results: Data from a total of 99 patients were included in the pooled analysis. The objective response rate (ORR) to treatment with afatinib was53.5%, with a median progression-free survival (mPFS) of 9.0 months. For patients administered first-line afatinib treatment, the ORR and median PFS were 73.5% and 15.6 months, respectively, which were both superior to those of patients treated with second- or later-line treatments (ORR:37.0%, p < 0.001; mPFS: 6.0months, p = 0.001). Moreover, patients with a single um-EGFRm were more likely to have a favorable response and prognosis benefit after treatment with afatinib than patients with multiple one (ORR: 63.3% vs 38.5%, p=0.017; mPFS: 15.6 months vs 6.0 months, p=0.010). Moreover, single um-EGFRm were independent predictive factors for better treatment response and superior PFS. Subgroup analysis indicated that patients harboring major um-

EGFRms (i.e., L861Q, G719X, and S768I) exhibited the best treatment responses and prognoses (ORR: 74.1%, mPFS: 15.6 months), by contrast, patients harboring multiple um-EGFRms comprising 19del/L858R had the worst treatment responses and prognoses (ORR: 23.5%, mPFS: 5.6months).

Conclusions: Patients with um-EGFRms exhibit favorable but inconsistent responses and survival outcomes following afatinib treatment, which closely related to the mutation pattern and cooccurring partner mutant genes. Administering afatinib for the treatment of patients with um-EGFRm might be considered an effective treatment option in some circumstances, but this recommendation requires further clinical studies for verification.

KEYWORDS

afatinib, uncommon, EGFR, efficacy, prognosis, NSCLC

Introduction

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations play an important role in the pathogenesis of non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and are one of the main oncogenic drivers of NSCLC. The frequency of EGFR mutations in NSCLC patients in the Caucasian population is 10%-20%, while it is as high as 30%-60% in the Asian population (1-3). The most prevalent EGFR mutation is exon 19 deletion (19del), followed by point mutation L858R in exon 21 (3). Both are considered to be common and sensitive mutations of EGFR, accounting for 80-90% of mutations in the EGFR gene (3-5). A number of clinical studies have confirmed that, compared with traditional chemotherapy, treatment with EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) results in an objective response rate (ORR) as high as 70%-80%, a median progression-free survival (mPFS) of 9.6 months to 18.9 months, and an overall survival (OS) of 21.6 months to 34.1 months (6-12). Nowadays, EGFR-TKIs have become the first-line standard treatment for advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR-sensitive mutations. Additionally, other types of EGFR mutations, such as insertions in exon 20 (20 ins), G719X in exon 18, S768I in exon 20, and L861Q in exon 21 were also found, which are called uncommon EGFR mutation (um-EGFRm), accounting for approximately 10% to 15% of EGFR mutations (13-16). Since patients with um-EGFRms are relatively insensitive to treatment with EGFR-TKIs, which may have a negative impact on research results, most clinical trials investigating the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs do not include patients with this mutation type (13-16). Due to small sample size and high heterogeneity, the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs for patients with um-EGFRms is still unclear. With the rapid development of genetic testing technology, the detection rate of um-EGFRms

will continue to increase, and it is of great significance to better understand the sensitivity, efficacy and prognosis of these patients to various TKIs.

It was reported that afatinib, an irreversible ErbB family blocker, is more effective than first-generation TKIs in treating patients with um-EGFRms (14, 17–25). The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved afatinib for the treatment of metastatic NSCLC patients with major um-EGFRms (G719X, S768I, and L861Q). However, unlike common EGFR mutations, which only include two types, um-EGFRms are a class of highly heterogeneous mutations. Due to the low frequency of um-EGFRms and the uncertain efficacy of afatinib, the number of patients receiving afatinib in clinical practice was relatively small (13, 14). Thus, we conducted this pooled analysis to explore the clinical characteristics of patients with um-EGFRms, as well as the efficacy and prognosis following treatment of afatinib, so as to provide a reference for clinicians who formulate treatment plans for patients with rare EGFR mutations.

Methods

Search strategy

We performed a literature search in the NCBI PubMed database to identify all the relevant articles without language restriction (the last search update was June 15, 2021). The following search strategy were used: ((afatinib[title/abstract]) and ((EGFR [title/abstract]) or epidermal growth factor receptor[title/abstract])) and ((NSCLC [title/abstract]) or non-small cell lung cancer[title/abstract]). We also manually checked the reference lists of all related articles to add to the research.

Study eligibility

Two authors independently screened the titles and abstracts of the studies from the search results, and a second screening of the full-text articles was performed. If these two authors failed to reach a consensus, a third investigator was consulted to resolve any disagreements and to reach a consensus on all items. Articles were included if they met the following inclusion criteria: 1) studies focusing on patients with non-small-cell lung cancer; 2) studies in which all patients harbored non-ex20ins, uncommon mutations in EGFR (without restrictions in the method and the biological source for mutation test); 3) patients received afatinib in any treatment line; 4) studies indicating treatment response to afatinib; and 5) studies that reported the PFS of patients.

Study objective

The following data of patients were collected: age, gender, ethnicity, smoking history, tumor stage, mutation type, response to afatinib (objective response (OR) was defined as CR+PR), and PFS. Tumor response was defined as complete response (CR), partial response (PR), stable disease (SD) or progressive disease (PD) based on Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors. Objective response (OR) was defined as CR+PR. The primary objective of this study is the clinical outcome of patients applying afatinib treatment, which includes objective response rate (ORR) and progression free survival.

Exploratory analysis

Due to the relatively high incidence of L861Q, G719X, and S768I, they are referred to as major uncommon mutations. Considering that uncommon EGFR-mutant NSCLC is a genetically heterogeneous disease, and the FDA has approved the use of afatinib for the treatment of patients with um-EGFRms of L861Q, G719X, and S768I. We have great interested in the outcomes of afatinib in patients with different types of um-EGFRm. Therefore, we conducted subgroup analyses of afatinib efficacy and survival in patients with different um-EGFRm patterns: Group A for major um-EGFRms (i.e., G719X, S768I, and L861Q), Group B for other single um-EGFRms, Group C for multiple EGFR mutations that contains 19del/L858R, and Group D for multiple EGFR mutations that without 19del/L858R.

Statistical analysis

Fisher's exact or chi-squared tests were used to assess the associations between clinical parameters and afatinib efficacy. The Kaplan–Meier method and the log-rank test were used to analyze the association of clinical parameters with PFS, and the associated 95% CIs were calculated. Multivariate analysis was performed using logistic regression models and Cox proportional hazards models to assess the simultaneous effects of prognostic factors on efficacy and survival. The analyses were performed with SPSS 22.0 program (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA), a two-sided p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistical significance.

Results

Search results

The flow chart of the study selection process is shown in Figure 1. A total of 679 potentially relevant articles were identified from the PubMed database. Two investigators individually screened the titles/abstracts and full texts and then extracted data separately. Finally, 70 articles were included in the pooled analysis (Supplement Table 1).

Patient characteristics

Data from a total of 99 patients were included in the pooled analysis, with a median age of 58 years and a range of 34 to 84 years. The sex distribution was basically balanced (53 males, 53.5%; 46 females,46.5%), and most were Asian patients (Asian 66, 66.7%; non-Asian 33, 33.3%). Nearly one-third of patients had a history of smoking (60, 60.6%), and most patients had stage IV disease (94, 94.9%). In terms of the mutation type, two-thirds of patients had a single um-EGFRm. The baseline characteristics of the patients are detailed in Table 1. In these 99 patients, there were a total of 50 kinds of um-EGFRms. The top six EGFR mutation types were G719X, 18 del, 19 ins, L861Q, 19del/G724S, and S768I, with 14 cases (14.1%), 8 cases (8.1%), 7 cases (7.1%), 7 cases (7.1%), 6 cases (6.1%), and 6 cases (6.1%), respectively (Figure 2; Supplement Table 2).

Clinical outcomes

After treatment with afatinib, of the 99 patients included, none of the patient had a complete response (0.0%), 53 patients had a partial response (53.5%), and 33 patients had stable disease (33.3&); the other 13 patients experienced disease progression (13.1%) (Table 1). Overall, the objective response rate to the treatment with afatinib was53.5%. In univariate analysis, we found that patients receiving first-line afatinib had an ORR of73.3%, which was significantly better than that of patients receiving second- or later-line therapy (p<0.001). In addition, we found that there was a significant correlation between smoking and treatment efficacy and that patients without a history of



smoking showed a significantly superior tumor response than those who smoked (ORR: 65.0% vs 35.9%, HR: 3.316, 95% CI: 1.428-7.700, p=0.005). Moreover, there is a trend favoring the patients with a single um-EGFRm, the difference in treatment efficacy between patients with single and multiple um-EGFRms was statistically significant (ORR: 63.3% vs 38.5%, HR: 0.362, 95% CI: 0.158-0.831, p=0.017). Other factors (e.g., age, sex, ethnicity, stage) did not show any correlation with efficacy (Figure 3). Further multivariate analysis suggested that not smoking (p=0.020), single um-EGFRm (p=0.040), and firstline treatment (p=0.004) were independent predictive factors for better treatment response (Table 2).

In the overall population, the median progression-free survival time was 9.0 months (Table 1). The mPFS in patients receiving first-line treatment was 15.6 months, which was significantly better than that in patients who received secondor later-line treatment, which was 6.0 months (HR2.346, 95% CI: 1.429-3.849, p=0.001) (Figures 4, 5B). In addition, for patients with a treatment response of OR (p<0.001) (Figure 5C), as well as no smoking history(p=0.012), the PFS was also longer. The Kaplan–Meier curves showed a trend that patients with a single um-EGFRm had longer PFS than patients with multiple um-EGFRms (Figure 5A), the difference was statistically significant (p=0.008). Subsequently, the results of the Cox proportional hazards model showed that the administration of first-line treatment, the objective response to treatment, and with single um-EGFRm were independent prognostic factors for longer PFS (Table 2).

Subgroup analysis

Tumor response and PFS of each individual patient as well as overall tumor response rate and median PFS for each group were shown in Figure 6. The baseline characteristics of the patients in the four subgroups are shown in the Supplement Table 3. Subgroup analysis showed that patients in group A had the best efficacy and prognosis, with an ORR of 74.1% and an mPFS of 15.6 months. In contrast, the treatment efficacy was poorer in patients in Groups C, with ORRs of 23.5%, and corresponding mPFS times of 5.6 months, respectively. While, the efficacy and prognosis of groups B and D were similar, with ORR of 54.5% and 50.0%, and corresponding mPFS were 7.0 months in both groups (Figure 7). When comparing the ORR and mPFS of patients in Group A to those of patients in Group C, there was a statistically significant difference (ORR, HR: 9.286, 95% CI: 2.260-38.150, p=0.002; mPFS, HR: 0.204, 95% CI: 0.094-0.442, p<0.001) (Figure 7). Kaplan-Meier curves also showed that the

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics

Characteristics	No. (n=99)	percentage
Age		
<60	54	54.5%
≥60	45	45.5%
Gender		
Male	53	53.5%
Female	46	46.5%
Ethnicity		
Asian	66	66.7%
Non-Asian	33	33.3%
Smoking		
Yes	39	39.4%
No	60	60.6%
Stage		
I-III	5	5.1%
IV	94	94.9%
EGFR test		
DNA Sanger sequencing	17	17.2%
NGS	35	35.3%
PCR	10	10.1%
ARMS	6	6.1%
NA	30	30.3%
Mutation number		
Single	60	60.6%
Multiple	39	39.4%
Afatinib lines		
1 Line	45	45.5%
≥2 Line	54	54.5%
Response to TKI		
CR	0	0.0%
PR	53	53.5%
SD	33	33.3%
PD	13	13.1%
PFS		
median	9.0 months	-

NGS, Next-generation sequencing; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; ARMS, amplification refractory mutation system; NA, not available; CR, complete response; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; PD, progressive disease; PFS, progression-free survival.

PFS was longest in group A and shortest in groups C, while moderate in groups B and C (Figure 8).

Discussion

In this study, the clinicopathological characteristics of 99 NSCLC patients with um-EGFRm were investigated, and their correlation with the efficacy and prognosis following afatinib were analyzed. In generally, the ORR of patients with um-EGFRm was53.5%, and the median PFS was 9.0 month. For patients administered first-line afatinib treatment, the ORR and median PFS were 73.3% and 15.6 months, respectively, which were both

superior to those of patients treated with second- and later-line treatments. Moreover, single um-EGFRm and first-line treatment was an independent predictor of favorable treatment response and longer PFS. Subgroup analysis indicated that patients harboring major um-EGFRm had a favorable response to afatinib treatment and prognoses benefit; in contrast, patients harboring um-EGFRm that comprising 19del/L858R had a poorer response to treatment and unfavorable prognoses.

EGFR-mutant NSCLC is a genetically heterogeneous disease that includes more than 200 different mutant subtypes (13, 15). Uncommon and common EGFR mutations have been demonstrated to have similar clinicopathological characteristics (15), but patients with um-EGFRms are less sensitive to firstgeneration EGFR-TKI therapy (15, 26). Patients with NSCLC harboring um-EGFRm had a poorer response, lower ORR and shorter PFS than those of patients with 19del/L858R after receiving first-generation EGFR-TKIs (13, 15, 19). Regarding afatinib treatment, A post hoc analysis of the LUX-Lung 2, 3 and 6 clinical trials revealed that patients with um-EGFRms other than T790M and ex20ins who received first-line afatinib had an ORR of 71.0% and a median PFS of 10.7 months (95% CI: 5.6-14.7) (14). Our results were consistent with those of this study; in the present study, a total of 50 patients were treated with first-line afatinib, and their ORR and median PFS were 72.0% and 12.0 months, respectively. Another study evaluated the clinical efficacy of afatinib in 315 patients with NSCLC carrying um-EGFRms in randomized clinical trials or real-world cases, and the results showed that patients treated with afatinib who harbored major um-EGFRms and harbored multiple um-EGFRms had an ORR of 60.0% and 77.1%, respectively, with a corresponding median time to treatment failure (TTF) of 10.8 months and 14.7 months, respectively (17). These findings suggest that afatinib has favorable activity in patients with um-EGFRms. The results of several realworld observational investigations are consistent with these clinical trial data and demonstrate that afatinib is more efficacious than first-generation EGFR-TKIs in patients with um-EGFRms (18-21). For example, a retrospective study showed that patients with um-EGFRms treated with afatinib had an ORR and disease control rate (DCR) of 75% and 100%, respectively, which were significantly higher than those of patients treated with gefitinib or erlotinib, who had an ORR and DCR of 40% and 80%, respectively. Additionally, afatinib treatment was associated with longer PFS (17.1 months vs. 5.5 months) (18). In another retrospective study of 125 patients with um-EGFRm, compared to those treated with gefitinib and erlotinib, patients treated with afatinib demonstrated a higher ORR (afatinib 78.9%, gefitinib 38.9%, erlotinib 20%, p =0.013), as well as longer PFS (afatinib 10.5, gefitinib 3, erlotinib 0.9 months, p= 0.013) (19). Other real-world research has also demonstrated that patients with um-EGFRm treated with afatinib have more favorable prognoses than those of patients receiving gefitinib or erlotinib (20, 21). Moreover, a recent phase II clinical study (KCSG-LU15-09) of small sample of NSCLC patients harboring um-EGFRm



indicated that osimertinib, a third-generation EGFR-TKI, exhibited clinical activity in patients with um-EGFRms. A total of 36 patients were treated with osimertinib (22 as first-line, 11 as second-line, and 3 as third-line), resulting in an ORR of 50.0% (95% CI: 33%-67%) and a median PFS of 8.2 months (95% CI: 5.9-10.5 months) (27). Presently, the available clinical data on osimertinib treatment for patients with um-EGFRms are limited; only a few cases or case series have reported the efficacy of osimertinib in patients with certain types of um-EGFRms (28–30). In view of the above findings, we can deduce that the second-generation EGFR-TKI, afatinib, has higher clinical activity in patients with um-EGFRms than first- and third-generation EGFR-KTIs, and this is also supported by the results of preclinical studies that um-EGFRms have higher affinity and sensitivity to afatinib (22–25).

Data from clinical trials and real-world research reveal that patients with um-EGFRms exhibit inconsistent responses and survival outcomes following afatinib treatment, which are closely related to the mutation pattern and the cooccurring partner mutant genes (13, 15). Therefore, we performed subgroup analysis to investigate the differences in the treatment efficacy of afatinib among patients with different types of um-EGFRms and the prognoses of these patients to determine which, if any, potential subgroups of patients are more likely to benefit from afatinib treatment. Ex20ins is the third most common EGFR mutation, accounting for approximately 10-12% of all EGFR mutations (31, 32). However, due to steric hindrance at the drug binding pocket, most of the EGFR proteins harboring these mutations are relatively insensitive to EGFR-TKIs, including afatinib (32, 33). In the post-hoc analysis of the LUXlung trials, 23 patients with ex20ins who were treated with afatinib had an ORR of 8.7% and a PFS of only 2.7 months, representing the lowest efficacy of afatinib treatment over other types of um-EGFRms (14). Another study reported a slightly higher efficacy of afatinib in patients with ex20ins, with an ORR of 23.4% and a median TTF of 4.2 months (17). A Spanish multicenter retrospective study also showed that the treatment efficacy of afatinib was significantly lower in patients carrying ex20ins than in patients with other types of mutations, with an ORR of 13.0% and a median OS of 10.7 month (34). Therefore, platinum-based



Variable	Mult	ivariate analysis for eff	icacy	Mu	lltivariate analysis for	PFS
	ORa	95%CI	р	HR	95%CI	р
Smoking						
No	1.00			1.00		
Yes	0.333	0.132-0.838	0.020	1.543	0.932-2.555	0.092
Mutation number						
Single	1.00			1.00		
Multiple	0.379	0.151-0.956	0.040	1.866	1.128-3.088	0.015
Afatinib lines						
1 Line	1.00			1.00		
≥2 Line	0.262	0.106-0.646	0.004	1.800	1.057-3.064	0.031
TKI response						
OR	-	-	-	1.00		
Non-OR	-	-	-	2.554	1.525-4.277	<0.001

TABLE 2 Multivariate analysis for efficacy and PFS.

OR, objective response; ORa, odds ratio; HR, hazard ratio. P values < 0.05 are highlighted in bold.

combination chemotherapy, rather than afatinib, might be the preferred treatment option for patients with ex20ins. Of note, the FDA currently has approved amivantamab, an EGFR-MET bispecific antibody, for the treatment of patients with locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC patients harboring an EGFR ex20ins mutation who exhibit disease progression during or after platinum-based chemotherapy. In addition to ex20ins, the other most frequently um-EGFRms include G719X in exon 18 (including G719A, G719C, G719D, and G719S and other variants), S768I in exon 20, and L861Q in exon 21, which are known as major um-EGFRms and have been reported to demonstrate sensitivity to afatinib in preclinical and clinical studies (14, 17, 22-25). In post hoc analysis of the LUX-lung trials, patients carrying G719X, S768I and L861Q had ORRs of 78%, 100% and 56% after afatinib treatment, respectively, with corresponding median PFS of 13.8, 14.7 and 8.2 months, respectively, which represents the best demonstrated efficacy of afatinib (14). The results of our study are consistent with this finding: the patients carrying major um-EGFRms had an ORR of 74.1% and a median PFS of 15.6 months. This result is also supported by the results of other clinical trials and real-world clinical data (17, 20, 35). Obviously, afatinib should be considered the preferred treatment option for NSCLC patients carrying major um-EGFRms. Single EGFR mutations other than ex20ins and the major um-EGFRms were classified as other single um-EGFRms in this study, and patients with these mutations showed moderate sensitivity to afatinib, with an ORR of 54.5% and a median PFS of 7.0 months. Afatinib showed activity against several mutation types in this class of mutations, such as E709X in exon 18, L747P in exon 19, L774X, R776X, and Q787Q in exon 20, and H833V and H835L in exon 21 (13, 36). However, due to the high heterogeneity of patients with this category of mutations, including different types of mutations and variants, and the low mutation frequency, the available clinical data on the efficacy of afatinib are limited, and conclusions regarding the overall efficacy of afatinib are not uniform. Thus, further studies are warranted.

In addition to single mutations, two or more different types of EGFR mutations may coexist in tumor cells, which accounts for

Variable	Reference	& mPFS	Evaluation &	mPFS				HR(95% CI)	р	
Age	≥ 60	10.0	<60	8.0	H	•		1.124(0.705-1.791)	0.623	
Gender	Male	8.0	Female	9.0	•	—		1.063(0.669-1.691)	0.795	
Ethnictity	Asian	8.0	Non-Asian	8.0	·	• I		1.189(0.730-1.937)	0.539	
Smoking	Yes	6.2	No	12.0				0.539(0.333-0.873)	0.012	
Stage	ш	.*	IV	9.0	←			2.994(0.414-21.648)	0.208	
Mutation number	Singel	11.0	Multiple	6.0		—		1.879(1.165-3.032)	0.010	
Afatinib lines	1 Line	15.6	≥ 2 Line	6.0		⊢		2.346(1.429-3.849)	0.001	
TKI response	OR	15.6	Non-OR	5.0			- - 1	3.396(2.089-5.520)	<0.001	
					0.50 1.0	2.0	4.0 6.0			



approximately 4-14% of EGFR mutations. Previous studies have indicated that the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in patients with multiple um-EGFRms may be affected by the sensitivity of the accompanying mutations (13). We found that patients with multiple um-EGFRms containing 19del/L858R had the worst prognoses, with an ORR of only 23.5% and an mPFS of 5.6 months. In contrast, patients with multiple um-EGFRms without 19del/L858R showed a higher sensitivity to afatinib, with an ORR of 50.0% and a median PFS of 7.0 months. This result is similar to the results of a previous retrospective study, in which patients with multiple um-EGFRms who did not harbor 19del/L858R had better PFS than patients with both 19del/L858R (19). This may be due to the presence of major um-EGFRms among patients who harboring multiple um-EGFRms that without 19del/L858R. For example, Yang et al. reported that in patients with multiple um-EGFRms containing a major um-EGFRms, the ORR was 78.3%, and the median duration of response (DoR) was 17.1 months after receiving afatinib (14). This result is consistent with those of preclinical studies concluding that afatinib has broader inhibition than firstand third-generation EGFR-TKIs for patients with multiple EGFR



FIGURE 6

Tumor response and progression free survival (PFS) of each individual patient as well as overall tumor response rate and median PFS for each group (A: Major ucm-EGFRms; B: Other single ucm-EGFRm; C: multiple ucm-EGFRms that with 19del/L858; D: multiple ucm-EGFRms that without 19del/L858R).

Major um-EGFRms	0.483(0.252-0.928)	0.204(0.094-0.442)	0.426(0.202-0.894)
(n=27, 74.1%, 15.6m)	0.029	<0.001	0.024
2.381(0.792-7.154)	Other single um-EGFRms	0.529(0.274-1.018)	1.054(0.548-2.029)
0.122	(n=33, 54.5%, 7.0m)	0.057	1.054
9.286(2.260-38.150) 0.002	3.900(1.049-14.505) 0.042	Mum-EGFRms with 19del/L858R (n=17, 23.5%, 5.6m)	1.794(0.859-3.747) 0.120
2.857(0.861-9.483) 0.086	1.200(0.407-3.536) 0.741	0.308(0.076-1.245) 0.098	Mum-EGFRms without 19del/L858R (n=22, 50.0%, 7.0m)

FIGURE 7

Odds ratio (ORa) with 95% CI for objective response rate (ORR) (blue)and hazard ratio (HR)with 95% CI for progression free survival (PFS)(green) in subgroup analysis according to mutation patterns (OR and HR was set by column versus row).

mutations, particularly those harboring major um-EGFRms (22– 25). In this study, among the 22 patients in Group D, 14 had a major um-EGFRm, while in Group C, only one patient carried a major um-EGFRms. Additionally, among the patients in Group D, three patients also carried the T790M mutation, which is considered a mutation that promotes resistance to afatinib treatment (37, 38). Therefore, administering afatinib for the treatment of patients with multiple um-EGFRm might be considered an effective treatment option in some circumstances. However, given the wide heterogeneity of patients with multiple um-EGFRms and the limited clinical data available, clinicians should make prudent clinical decisions based on a thorough understanding of the sensitivity and resistance of known mutated genes, especially concurrent partner mutations.

There are some unavoidable limitations of this study. Firstly, this is a re-analysis based on published research. This may be affected by, such as, selection bias, publication bias, and other uncontrollable confounding factors. Secondly, due to the variability of the included articles, there were not enough data for comparison of drug toxicity and side effects. Thirdly, the biological source, platform and method for EGFR detection are unclear, which could have an impact on the consistency and rate



of EGFR detection. In addition, due to the heterogeneity of the included literature, we were unable to determine the site of metastasis in each patient and therefore could not investigate the relationship between the sites of metastasis and the type of mutation. Therefore, a further, large-scale, randomized controlled clinical study is needed to validate our conclusions.

Conclusion

In summary, as a special type of EGFR mutation, patients with um-EGFRms exhibit favorable but inconsistent responses and survival outcomes following afatinib treatment. Our findings suggest that NSCLC patients carrying um-EGFRms can be further classified into various mutation subgroups that exhibit different responses and survival outcomes following afatinib treatment, but this conclusion requires further clinical studies for verification.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Yantai Yuhuangding Hospital. The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

Author contributions

Conceptualization, SH and ZM; Methodology, CSW and CJW; Software, ZM and CSW; Formal Analysis, CJW and KZ; Resources, CJW; Data Curation, WD; Writing-Original Draft Preparation, CSW and WD; Writing-Review and Editing, SH and CSW; Supervision, SH and CJW. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Rosell R, Moran T, Queralt C, Porta R, Cardenal F, Camps C, et al. Screening for epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2009) 361(10):958–67. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0904554

2. Shi Y, Au JS, Thongprasert S, Srinivasan S, Tsai CM, Khoa MT, et al. A prospective, molecular epidemiology study of egfr mutations in Asian patients with advanced non-Small-Cell lung cancer of adenocarcinoma histology (Pioneer). *J Thorac Oncol* (2014) 9(2):154–62. doi: 10.1097/jto.00000000000033

3. D'Angelo SP, Pietanza MC, Johnson ML, Riely GJ, Miller VA, Sima CS, et al. Incidence of egfr exon 19 deletions and L858r in tumor specimens from men and cigarette smokers with lung adenocarcinomas. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) 29(15):2066–70. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.32.6181

Funding

This research is supported by the Yantai Science and Technology Bureau Support Grant/Science and Technology Innovation Development Project (2020MSGY085), the Natural Science Foundation of Shandong Province (No. ZR2020QH204), and Yantai Policy Guidance Project (2021YD023).

Acknowledgments

This study is a re-analysis of published articles, the included articles are listed in the supplement table and we thank the authors of these articles for their works.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.999606/full#supplementary-material

4. Sharma SV, Bell DW, Settleman J, Haber DA. Epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2007) 7(3):169–81. doi: 10.1038/nrc2088

6. Yang JC, Wu YL, Chan V, Kurnianda J, Nakagawa K, Saijo N, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor mutation analysis in previously unanalyzed histology samples and cytology samples from the phase iii iressa pan-Asia study (Ipass). *Lung Cancer* (2014) 83(2):174–81. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2013.11.021

^{5.} Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, et al. Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-Small-Cell lung cancer to gefitinib. *N Engl J Med* (2004) 350 (21):2129–39. doi: 10.1056/NEJM0a040938

7. Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, Negoro S, Okamoto I, Tsurutani J, et al. Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-Small-Cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (Wjt0g3405): An open label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2010) 11(2):121–8. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(09)70364-x

8. Zhou C, Wu Y-L, Chen G, Feng J, Liu X-Q, Wang C, et al. Erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with advanced egfr mutation-positive non-Small-Cell lung cancer (Optimal, ctong-0802): A multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol* (2011) 12(8):735–42. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(11)70184-x

9. Wu Y-L, Zhou C, Hu C-P, Feng J, Lu S, Huang Y, et al. Afatinib versus cisplatin plus gemcitabine for first-line treatment of Asian patients with advanced non-Small-Cell lung cancer harbouring egfr mutations (Lux-lung 6): An open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15(2):213–22. doi: 10.1016/ s1470-2045(13)70604-1

10. Paz-Ares I, Tan EH, O'Byrne K, Zhang L, Hirsh V, Boyer M, et al. Afatinib versus gefitinib in patients with egfr mutation-positive advanced non-Small-Cell lung cancer: Overall survival data from the phase iib lux-lung 7 trial. *Ann Oncol* (2017) 28(2):270–7. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw611

11. Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, et al. Osimertinib in untreated egfr-mutated advanced non-Small-Cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 378(2):113–25. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1713137

12. Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in untreated, egfr-mutated advanced nsclc. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 382(1):41–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1913662

13. Russo A, Franchina T, Ricciardi G, Battaglia A, Picciotto M, Adamo V. Heterogeneous responses to epidermal growth factor receptor (Egfr) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Tkis) in patients with uncommon egfr mutations: New insights and future perspectives in this complex clinical scenario. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(6):1431. doi: 10.3390/ijms20061431

14. Yang JCH, Sequist LV, Geater SL, Tsai C-M, Mok TSK, Schuler M, et al. Clinical activity of afatinib in patients with advanced non-Small-Cell lung cancer harbouring uncommon egfr mutations: A combined post-hoc analysis of lux-lung 2, lux-lung 3, and lux-lung 6. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(7):830–8. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00026-1

15. John T, Taylor A, Wang H, Eichinger C, Freeman C, Ahn MJ. Uncommon egfr mutations in non-Small-Cell lung cancer: A systematic literature review of prevalence and clinical outcomes. *Cancer Epidemiol* (2022) 76:102080. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2021.102080

16. Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, O'Byrne K, Hirsh V, Mok T, et al. Phase iii study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with egfr mutations. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(27):3327–34. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.44.2806

17. Yang JC, Schuler M, Popat S, Miura S, Heeke S, Park K, et al. Afatinib for the treatment of nsclc harboring uncommon egfr mutations: A database of 693 cases. *J Thorac Oncol* (2020) 15(5):803–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.12.126

18. Tanaka I, Morise M, Kodama Y, Matsui A, Ozawa N, Ozone S, et al. Potential for afatinib as an optimal treatment for advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma in patients with uncommon egfr mutations. *Lung Cancer* (2019) 127:169–71. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.11.018

19. Wu SG, Yu CJ, Yang JC, Shih JY. The effectiveness of afatinib in patients with lung adenocarcinoma harboring complex epidermal growth factor receptor mutation. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2020) 12:1758835920946156. doi: 10.1177/1758835920946156

20. Shen YC, Tseng GC, Tu CY, Chen WC, Liao WC, Chen WC, et al. Comparing the effects of afatinib with gefitinib or erlotinib in patients with advanced-stage lung adenocarcinoma harboring non-classical epidermal growth factor receptor mutations. *Lung Cancer* (2017) 110:56–62. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.06.007

21. Lau SC, Chooback N, Ho C, Melosky B. Outcome differences between firstand second-generation egfr inhibitors in advanced egfr mutated nsclc in a Large population-based cohort. *Clin Lung Cancer* (2019) 20(5):e576–e83. doi: 10.1016/ i.cllc.2019.05.003 22. Kimura S, Tanaka K, Harada T, Liu R, Shibahara D, Kawano Y, et al. Sensitivity of epidermal growth factor receptor with single or double uncommon mutations to afatinib confirmed by a visual assay. *Cancer Sci* (2018) 109(11):3657–61. doi: 10.1111/cas.13787

23. Kohsaka S, Nagano M, Ueno T, Suehara Y, Hayashi T, Shimada N, et al. A method of high-throughput functional evaluation of egfr gene variants of unknown significance in cancer. *Sci Trans Med* (2017) 9(416):eaan6566. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan6566

24. Leventakos K, Kipp BR, Rumilla KM, Winters JL, Yi ES, Mansfield AS. S768i mutation in egfr in patients with lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol* (2016) 11(10):1798–801. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.05.007

25. Floc'h N, Lim S, Bickerton S, Ahmed A, Orme J, Urosevic J, et al. Osimertinib, an irreversible next-generation egfr tyrosine kinase inhibitor, exerts antitumor activity in various preclinical nsclc models harboring the uncommon egfr mutations G719x or L861q or S768i. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2020) 19(11):2298–307. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-20-0103

26. Kuiper JL, Hashemi SM, Thunnissen E, Snijders PJ, Grunberg K, Bloemena E, et al. Non-classic egfr mutations in a cohort of Dutch egfr-mutated nsclc patients and outcomes following egfr-tki treatment. *Br J Cancer* (2016) 115(12):1504–12. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2016.372

27. Cho JH, Lim SH, An HJ, Kim KH, Park KU, Kang EJ, et al. Osimertinib for patients with non-Small-Cell lung cancer harboring uncommon egfr mutations: A multicenter, open-label, phase ii trial (Kcsg-Lu15-09). J Clin Oncol (2020) 38 (5):488–95. doi: 10.1200/jco.19.00931

28. Ji J, Aredo JV, Piper-Vallillo A, Huppert L, Rotow JK, Husain H, et al. Osimertinib in non-small cell lung cancer (Nsclc) with atypical egfr activating mutations: A retrospective multicenter study. J Clin Oncol (2020) 38 (15_suppl):9570-. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_suppl.9570

29. Okuno T, Arakawa S, Yoshida T, Ohe Y. Efficacy of osimertinib in a patient with leptomeningeal metastasis and egfr uncommon S768i mutation. *Lung Cancer* (2020) 143:95–6. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2020.03.016

30. Lin R, Chen R, Chen Z, Hu L, Guo W, Zhang Z, et al. Efficacy of osimertinib in nsclc harboring uncommon egfr L861q and concurrent mutations: Case report and literature review. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:731572. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.731572

31. Kobayashi Y, Mitsudomi T. Not all epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung cancer are created equal: Perspectives for individualized treatment strategy. *Cancer Sci* (2016) 107(9):1179-86. doi: 10.1111/cas.12996

32. Arcila ME, Nafa K, Chaft JE, Rekhtman N, Lau C, Reva BA, et al. Egfr exon 20 insertion mutations in lung adenocarcinomas: Prevalence, molecular heterogeneity, and clinicopathologic characteristics. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2013) 12 (2):220–9. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0620

 Sabari JK, Heymach JV, Sandy B. Hitting the right spot: Advances in the treatment of nsclc with uncommon egfr mutations. J Natl Compr Canc Netw (2021) 19(Suppl_2):S1–S11. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2021.0200

34. Moran T, Taus A, Arriola E, Aguado C, Domine M, Rueda AG, et al. Clinical activity of afatinib in patients with non-Small-Cell lung cancer harboring uncommon egfr mutations: A Spanish retrospective multicenter study. *Clin Lung Cancer* (2020) 21(5):428–36.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2020.04.011

35. Duan H, Peng Y, Cui H, Qiu Y, Li Q, Zhang J, et al. Effectiveness of afatinib after ineffectiveness of gefitinib in an advanced lung adenocarcinoma patient with a single egfr exon 20 S768i mutation: A case report. *Onco Targets Ther* (2018) 11:2303–9. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S151125

36. Passaro A, Mok T, Peters S, Popat S, Ahn MJ, de Marinis F. Recent advances on the role of egfr tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the management of nsclc with uncommon, non exon 20 insertions, egfr mutations. *J Thorac Oncol* (2021) 16 (5):764–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.12.002

37. Camidge DR, Pao W, Sequist LV. Acquired resistance to tkis in solid tumours: Learning from lung cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2014) 11(8):473-81. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.104

38. Westover D, Zugazagoitia J, Cho BC, Lovly CM, Paz-Ares L. Mechanisms of acquired resistance to first- and second-generation egfr tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Ann Oncol* (2018) 29(suppl_1):i10–i9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx703
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Santiago Viteri, UOMI Cancer Center, Barcelona, Spain

REVIEWED BY

Dimitra Grapsa, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Muhammad Tariq Khan, Capital University of Science & Technology, Pakistan

*CORRESPONDENCE Jun Xiao ☑ xiao166my@163.com Hongtao Zhang ☑ 651366572@qq.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

RECEIVED 22 March 2023 ACCEPTED 14 July 2023 PUBLISHED 08 August 2023

CITATION

Tian J, Long L, Zang J, Liu P, Zhao L, Zhang H and Xiao J (2023) Case Report: Long-term remission of malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion in a case of advanced lung adenocarcinoma treated with combined crizotinib and anlotinib therapy. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1191522. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1191522

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Tian, Long, Zang, Liu, Zhao, Zhang and Xiao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case Report: Long-term remission of malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion in a case of advanced lung adenocarcinoma treated with combined crizotinib and anlotinib therapy

Jin Tian^{1†}, Lin Long^{1†}, Jianhua Zang¹, Peng Liu², Lili Zhao¹, Hongtao Zhang^{3*} and Jun Xiao^{1*}

¹Oncology Center I Department, Qingdao Hiser Hospital Affiliated of Qingdao University (Qingdao Traditional Chinese Medicine Hospital), Qingdao, Shandong, China, ²Department of Radiotherapy, Qingdao Hiser Hospital Affiliated of Qingdao University (Qingdao Traditional Chinese Medicine Hospital), Qingdao, Shandong, China, ³Department of Pharmacy, Qingdao Hospital, University of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences (Qingdao Municipal Hospital), Qingdao, Shandong, China

Malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion are common clinical manifestations in advanced malignant tumors, associated with a poor prognosis. This article presents a case of advanced lung adenocarcinoma with ROS1 rearrangement, characterized by persistent malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion. The patient received combined therapy of Crizotinib and Anlotinib, resulting in a significant reduction and even disappearance of the malignant effusion. Exploratory use of this treatment approach improved the patient's quality of life and holds potential for extending overall survival. However, given the single case report nature, the efficacy of this regimen in treating advanced ROS1-rearranged lung adenocarcinoma should be considered as a supplementary strategy, warranting further validation through multicenter clinical data.

KEYWORDS

malignant pleural effusion, malignant peritoneal effusion, crizotinib, Anlotinib, nonsmall cell lung cancer

1 Introduction

Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) ranks among the most prevalent and fatal malignancies worldwide, accounting for 80%-90% of cancer cases (1). Malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion can result from local progression or distant metastasis of malignant tumors. Studies have consistently shown that patients with concurrent malignant pleural

and peritoneal effusion have a significantly worse prognosis, with a median survival ranging from 3 to 6 months (2). Moreover, malignant effusion adversely impacts respiratory, circulatory, and digestive functions, diminishing patients' quality of life and compromising the effectiveness of anticancer treatments. Comprehensive management strategies for malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion encompass thoracentesis, closed chest drainage, and pleural catheter placement. Therefore, devising appropriate treatment approaches for effectively managing malignant effusion is pivotal to enhance cancer patients' quality of life and improve treatment outcomes.

In recent years, significant progress has been made in the field of targeted cancer therapy, substantially prolonging the survival of patients with specific genetic mutations. ROS1 gene rearrangements occur in approximately 1-2% of NSCLC patients and represent validated therapeutic driver mutations (3). Crizotinib, a multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) targeting MET/ ALK/ROS1, has demonstrated notable efficacy in treating NSCLC with ROS1 rearrangements. Anlotinib, a novel multitargeted TKI developed in China, effectively inhibits kinases such as vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), platelet-derived growth factor receptor, fibroblast growth factor receptor, and c-Kit, exerting its actions on tumor angiogenesis and growth inhibition (4). Although the combination therapy of Crizotinib and Anlotinib has garnered research attention for small cell lung cancer (SCLC), its clinical application remains limited. Crizotinib targets the anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) gene rearrangement, while Anlotinib is a multitargeted agent that inhibits multiple growth factor receptors and angiogenesisrelated pathways. In vitro experiments and animal models have suggested a potential synergistic effect of combining Crizotinib and Anlotinib in SCLC treatment. This therapeutic approach holds promise by simultaneously targeting multiple key pathways implicated in tumor growth and angiogenesis, thereby enhancing treatment efficacy.

Following an extensive review of databases such as PubMed, Web of Science, and CNKI, we identified limited literature on the use of Crizotinib and Anlotinib for treating malignant effusion in lung adenocarcinoma in China. Here, we report a case of ROS1rearranged lung adenocarcinoma with concurrent malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion. The patient achieved complete remission of effusion and long-term relief following maintenance therapy with Crizotinib and Anlotinib.

2 Case report

The patient, a 58-year-old male, was admitted to the Department of Thoracic Surgery at Qingdao Municipal Hospital on June 8, 2017. Upon admission, the patient presented with symptoms of cough, chest tightness, and persistent shortness of breath lasting for over a month. There were no apparent triggering factors in the patient's work environment, and there was no family history of cancer or genetic disorders. The primary symptom reported throughout the course of the illness was respiratory distress. The initial treatment approach involved thoracentesis for pleural effusion drainage, which provided relief for the patient's chest tightness and respiratory symptoms.

A chest enhanced CT scan revealed multiple enlarged lymph nodes in the right pulmonary hilum and mediastinum, multiple nodules in the right pleura, as well as pleural effusion. However, no obvious occupying lesions were seen in both lungs. Further examination of the pleural fluid cytology confirmed the presence of cancer cells. Histological images showed tumor cells can be seen under the microscope, with significant heterogeneity. Some cells are arranged in solid masses or small cords, some are visible as glandular lumen formation, and some are arranged in tubular or adenoid structures. Immunohistochemical results showed the tumor characteristics as follows: Ki-67 (5%+), TTF-1 (+), NapsinA (+), CK7 (+), CR (-), MC (-), Vim (-), EMA (+), CK (+), and CK5/6 (-). Physical examination: no thoracic deformity, bilateral respiratory motion symmetry, turbid sounds on right lung percussion, disappearance of breath sounds in the middle and lower lungs, clear sounds on left lung percussion, no dry and moist rales were heard.

According to the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) staging system, the patient's tumor size cannot be measured, the tumor metastasis is pleura, and pleural effusion is present, and the lymph node invasion is ipsilateral to the hilar and mediastinum, taking into account the patient's symptoms, imaging findings, pleural fluid characteristics, immunohistochemistry, and staging guidelines, the patient was diagnosed with advanced-stage malignant tumor in the right lung (adenocarcinoma, stage IV A). The patient's treatment journey has spanned over 5 years since June 8, 2017.

The main treatment modality for the patient has been chemotherapy, consisting of multiple cycles. The first chemotherapy cycle was initiated on June 17, 2017, involving pemetrexed 800mg on day 1 and nedaplatin 60mg on day 1. On July 12, 2017, the patient received intrathoracic injections of Endo 45mg and Ganoderma lucidum polysaccharide 4mg. Subsequently, from July to August 2017, the patient underwent 2-3 cycles of chemotherapy with pemetrexed 900mg on day 1 and carboplatin 700mg on day 1. Genetic testing revealed no alterations in EGFR/ ALK/ROS1.Between September 2017 and January 2018, the patient underwent 4-7 cycles of intravenous chemotherapy, comprising pemetrexed 900mg on day 1, cisplatin 50mg on day 1, and bevacizumab 600mg. Additionally, intrathoracic injections of cisplatin 80mg and bevacizumab 200mg were administered. After completing 7 cycles of chemotherapy, the patient experienced significant improvement in ascites symptoms and a reduction in dyspnea. On March 6, 2018, the patient received Endo 30mg on days 1-7 and pemetrexed 800mg on day 4, as per the medical instructions. However, the patient did not adhere to the prescribed treatment. Subsequent evaluation revealed an increase in tumor markers, and PET-CT indicated disease progression. Therefore, an additional 2 cycles of chemotherapy were administered using the original regimen: Endo 30mg on days 1-7 and pemetrexed 800mg on day 3. Following the completion of this treatment cycle, the patient was readmitted due to abdominal distension and dyspnea. Subsequent CT scans revealed the presence of malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion (Figure 1; Supplemental Figure).



(A) Pleural effusion was shown by imaging findings before the patient underwent crizotinib combined with anlotinib treatment in August 2018.(B) Significantly large perihepatic effusion was shown by imaging findings before the patient underwent crizotinib combined with anlotinib treatment in August 2018.

On August 21, 2018, the patient underwent palliative chemotherapy with cisplatin 40mg on day 1 and 50mg on days 2-3. Due to recurrent pleural effusion and the presence of peritoneal effusion, intraperitoneal infusion of Endo 105mg on day 1 and day 5 was performed on August 24, 2018. The follow-up CT scan showed tumor infiltration of the intestinal tract. Attempted highthroughput sequencing of blood samples revealed a ROS1 rearrangement. Starting from September 5, 2018, the patient initiated targeted therapy with crizotinib 250mg twice daily in combination with anlotinib 10mg once daily. The treatment resulted in significant symptom relief, and the malignant pleural and peritoneal effusion decreased compared to the CT results on August 21, 2018 (Figure 2).

Continuing with the targeted therapy regimen of crizotinib 250mg twice daily and anlotinib 10mg once daily (with a two-week administration of anlotinib followed by a one-week break), the patient's chest and lung signs were evaluated. Subsequent follow-up visits indicated the absence of dyspnea, and imaging examinations of the thoracic and abdominal regions showed no significant malignant infiltrations for over 4 years. The patient developed grade 2 hypertension during the medication period, which was controlled by oral antihypertensive drugs. As of March 2023, the patient's disease has progressed, and palliative treatment has been administered.

3 Diagnosis/follow-up and outcomes

Diagnosis: 1. Pulmonary malignancy stage IV A 2. Malignant pleural effusion 3. Malignant peritoneal effusion 4. Metastatic colonic malignancy

Follow-up and outcomes: The patient is currently undergoing palliative and nutritional support treatment in the Department of Oncology, Qingdao Municipal Hospital for various reasons.

4 Discussion

Lung cancer is a highly prevalent and deadly malignancy in both China and globally, with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) accounting for approximately 80% of cases. About 5% of NSCLC tumors involve rearrangements in the ALK gene located on chromosome 2 (5). In 2007, Soda (6) identified the EML4-ALK fusion gene in NSCLC, where the most common ALK rearrangement involves fusion of the 5' end of the EML4 gene with the 3' end of the ALK gene, resulting in the formation of the fusion oncogene EML4-ALK (7). This fusion protein triggers dimerization of the intracellular kinase domains of ALK, activating downstream oncogenic signaling and leading to disease progression and poor prognosis (8).



FIGURE 2

(A) The patient's pleural effusion was significantly reduced after 1 month of treatment compared to pre-treatment. (B) The patient's peritoneal effusion was significantly reduced after 1 month of treatment compared to pre-treatment.

The formation of malignant pleural and peritoneal effusions is closely associated with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Tumor proliferation and metastasis are often accompanied by increased vascular density, and VEGF promotes tumor neovascularization by secreting various pro-angiogenic factors, including VEGFA (9). The elevated vascularity of tumor blood vessels contributes to the development of malignant pleural effusion (10). Moreover, VEGF can bind to receptors on mesothelial epithelial cells, increasing their permeability and facilitating fluid reflux, thus disrupting the dynamic equilibrium between fluid production and absorption.

The patient in this case is a middle-aged male with advanced lung adenocarcinoma. Despite undergoing seven cycles of platinum-based chemotherapy, his disease continued to progress, and the control of pleural and peritoneal effusions was suboptimal. Initial genetic testing yielded negative results, but given the worsening condition, a second round of genetic testing revealed a ROS1 rearrangement. The patient received combined treatment with Anlotinib and Crizotinib to control pleural and peritoneal effusions, resulting in a significant reduction in fluid accumulation after one month of treatment. The patient achieved stable long-term relief, with no serious adverse reactions during the course of drug administration.

The combination of Anlotinib and Crizotinib offers several advantages and limitations. As multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitors, both drugs can simultaneously inhibit multiple key targets such as VEGFR, EGFR, PDGFR, ROS1, and ALK. This multitarget inhibition mechanism may lead to a more comprehensive anti-tumor effect and improved treatment outcomes, particularly in tumors with multiple aberrant signaling pathways. Additionally, combining Anlotinib with Crizotinib may help overcome resistance observed with Crizotinib monotherapy by suppressing chemokine-mediated angiogenesis and enhancing the overall anti-tumor efficacy (11). However, it is important to note that the combined use of Anlotinib and Crizotinib may increase the risk of adverse reactions, as both drugs have their own side effect profiles including hypertension, hand-foot syndrome, fatigue, and gastrointestinal discomfort. Furthermore, the efficacy of the combination treatment may vary depending on individual tumor characteristics and genetic variations. While preliminary studies have reported favorable results with Anlotinib combined with Crizotinib in lung cancer treatment, larger-scale clinical trials and long-term follow-up data are still lacking to establish the effectiveness and safety of this combination therapy. Therefore, further research is warranted to validate its therapeutic efficacy and determine the optimal treatment strategy.

The patient received multiple cycles of intravenous Endo and Bevacizumab, as well as local injections of Bevacizumab and Endo into the abdominal and pleural cavities, but the outcomes were unsatisfactory. Based on the clinician's experience, the addition of Anlotinib to Crizotinib led to unexpected treatment efficacy for the patient. The combination of Anlotinib and Crizotinib represents a promising approach for ALK-TKI-resistant patients.

In conclusion, Combined treatment with Crizotinib and Anlotinib may demonstrate effectiveness in late-stage ROS1rearranged lung adenocarcinoma with concurrent malignant pleural and peritoneal effusions, significantly prolonging survival and improving quality of life, as shown in the present case. After an initial negative genetic testing result, targeted therapy should not be permanently abandoned, and a second round of genetic testing should be considered. The clinical practice presented in this case may provide novel insights into the treatment of malignant effusions, although further research is needed to elucidate the treatment mechanism and confirm its efficacy.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The patient did not have any objection to the treatment plan, fully understood his condition, and expressed happiness and satisfaction with receiving Anrotinib check crizotinib treatment and obtaining long-term remission, and will strictly follow medical advice, actively treat and live optimistically in the future. Written informed consent was obtained from the participant/patient(s) for the publication of this case report.

Author contributions

JT and LL are in charge of data acquisition and data analysis. JZ/PL and LZ are in charge of literature review, clinical data collection and validation. JT made a contribution to manuscript editing. HZ and JX are in charge of manuscript review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

1. Shandong Provincial Key Program of Science and Technology of Traditional Chinese Medicine (2012Z31)-"Study on the Effects and Metabolic Mechanisms of Warm-needlemoxibustion Therapy on the Diversity of Intestinal Microflora in Patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Based on Meta-16S Microbiological Technology". 2. Shandong Provincial Youth Program of Science and Technology of Traditional Chinese Medicine (20120Q75)-"Study on the Effects and Mechanism of Fire-needle Four-blossom Points on Cytokines CSF, TNF-a, and IL-6 in Patients with Stage III B and IV Non-small Cell Lung Cancer". 3. Qingdao Medical and Health Research Program (2021-WJZD034)- "Effect mechanism of scalp acupuncture on the regulation of subthreshold depression in patients with lung cancer through the brain-gut axis mediated by intestinal flora". 4. 2021 Special Fund for Clinical Research of Wu Jieping Medical Foundation (320.6750.2021-February 93)-"Study on the efficacy and safety of PD-1 inhibitor combined with chemotherapy in the treatment of elderly patients with advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). The departments to which the first and corresponding authors belong are the 2022-2024 Qingdao Municipal Clinical Key Specialties - Climbing Peak Discipline Program, which provides financial support for our article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2023.1191522/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA: Cancer J Clin (2019) 69:7–34. doi: 10.3322/caac.21551

2. Ferreiro L, Suárez-Antelo J, Valdés L. Malignant pleural effusion management. Archivos bronconeumologia (2021) 57:7-8. doi: 10.1016/j.arbr.2020.11.007

3. Bergethon K, Shaw AT, Ou SH, Katayama R, Lovly CM, McDonald NT, et al. ROS1 rearrangements define a unique molecular class of lung cancers. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30:863–70. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.35.6345

4. Syed YY. Anlotinib: first global approval. *Drugs* (2018) 78:1057–62. doi: 10.1007/s40265-018-0939-x

5. Pikor LA, Ramnarine VR, Lam S, Lam WL. Genetic alterations defining NSCLC subtypes and their therapeutic implications. *Lung Cancer (Amsterdam Netherlands)* (2013) 82:179–89. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2013.07.025

6. Soda M, Choi YL, Enomoto M, Takada S, Yamashita Y, Ishikawa S, et al. Identification of the transforming EML4-ALK fusion gene in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Nature* (2007) 448:561–6. doi: 10.1038/nature05945

7. Shaw AT, Solomon B. Targeting anaplastic lymphoma kinase in lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:2081–6. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1591

8. Lovly CM, Heuckmann JM, de Stanchina E, Chen H, Thomas RK, Liang C, et al. Insights into ALK-driven cancers revealed through development of novel ALK tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:4920–31. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3879

9. Claesson-Welsh L, Welsh M. VEGFA and tumour angiogenesis. J Internal Med (2013) 273:114–27. doi: 10.1111/joim.12019

10. Grove CS, Lee YC. Vascular endothelial growth factor: the key mediator in pleural effusion formation. *Curr Opin pulmonary Med* (2002) 8:294–301. doi: 10.1097/00063198-200207000-00009

11. Wang S, Lou N, Luo R, Hao X, Liu Y, Wang L, et al. Role of chemokinemediated angiogenesis in resistance towards crizotinib and its reversal by anlotinib in EML4-ALK positive NSCLC. *J Trans Med* (2022) 20:248. doi: 10.1186/s12967-022-03451-2

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY

Luisa Maren Solis Soto, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States Jean-René Pallandre, INSERM U1098 Interactions Hôte-Greffon-Tumeur & Ingénierie Cellulaire et Génique, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Cheng Fang fangcheng@suda.edu.cn Mei Ji jimei_685@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 21 April 2023 ACCEPTED 31 July 2023 PUBLISHED 15 August 2023

CITATION

Cheng D, Ge K, Yao X, Wang B, Chen R, Zhao W, Fang C and Ji M (2023) Tumorassociated macrophages mediate resistance of EGFR-TKIs in non-small cell lung cancer: mechanisms and prospects. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1209947. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1209947

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cheng, Ge, Yao, Wang, Chen, Zhao, Fang and Ji. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Tumor-associated macrophages mediate resistance of EGFR-TKIs in non-small cell lung cancer: mechanisms and prospects

Daoan Cheng[†], Kele Ge[†], Xue Yao[†], Banglu Wang, Rui Chen, Weiqing Zhao, Cheng Fang^{*} and Mei Ji^{*}

Departments of Oncology, the Third Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, Changzhou, China

Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) are the firstline standard treatment for advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with EGFR mutation. However, resistance to EGFR-TKIs is inevitable. Currently, most studies on the mechanism of EGFR-TKIs resistance mainly focus on the spontaneous resistance phenotype of NSCLC cells. Studies have shown that the tumor microenvironment (TME) also mediates EGFR-TKIs resistance in NSCLC. Tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs), one of the central immune cells in the TME of NSCLC, play an essential role in mediating EGFR-TKIs resistance. This study aims to comprehensively review the current mechanisms underlying TAM-mediated resistance to EGFR-TKIs and discuss the potential efficacy of combining EGFR-TKIs with targeted TAMs therapy. Combining EGFR-TKIs with TAMs targeting may improve the prognosis of NSCLC with EGFR mutation to some extent.

KEYWORDS

NSCLC, EGFR-TKIs, resistance, tumor-associated macrophages, exosome

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is one of the most frequently mutated driver oncogenes in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and EGFR mutation is found in approximately 50% of the Southeast Asian lung adenocarcinoma population (1). EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) such as first-generation EGFR-TKIs gefitinib or erlotinib have shown potent antitumor effects in advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR mutation (2). Osimertinib, a third-generation EGFR-TKI, has been approved as first-line therapy for advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR mutation due to its lower toxicity and stronger antitumor effects (3). However, resistance to EGFR-TKIs is inevitable, and disease progression occurs in most patients. The mechanisms of resistance to EGFR-TKIs are a current research focus in NSCLC. Several resistance mechanisms have been elucidated, including secondary mutations of EGFR, activation of bypass pathways, and histological

transformation (4). The development of fourth-generation EGFR-TKIs targeting the EGFR C797S mutation is underway (5). In recent years, the resistance of EGFR-TKIs mediated by tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) has received broad attention (Table 1). Previous studies have demonstrated that high infiltration of TAMs is significantly associated with an unfavorable prognosis in NSCLC patients treated with EGFR-TKIs (6–9).

1.2 TAMs in NSCLC

The origin of TAMs in NSCLC is multifaceted, involving both tissue-resident macrophages (TRMs) and monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) (10). And TRMs can be classified into lung alveolar macrophages (LAMs) and interstitial macrophages (IMs) based on their anatomical locations. TRMs are present during embryonic development and can self-renew locally, independent of the hematopoietic system (11). They are crucial in coordinating tissue remodeling and maintaining tissue integrity (11). MDMs originate from the hematopoietic system, and many can be observed in inflammatory lesions (12). TAMs from different sources can promote the progression of NSCLC (13). TRMs mainly contribute to tumor generation, while MDMs primarily participate in tumor metastasis (13).

Macrophages can generally be classified into M1 and M2 types based on their polarization status (14, 15). M1-like macrophages secrete pro-inflammatory factors, such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL-6, IL-12, and IL-23, to participate in antigen presentation and play a role in immune

TABLE 1 Mechanisms of TAMs mediated resistance to EGFR-TKIs.

Mechanisms	References
Activating bypass pathways	
AKT/mTOR pathway	34
AKT, ERK1/2 and STAT3 pathways	17, 59
LncRNA-MSTRG.292666.16/miR-6836-5p/MAPK8IP3 pathway	35
NF-κB/RELB pathway	36
Suppressing T cells	
NOS and PD-L1 pathways	91
M2-like polarization	
Lipid metabolism pathways	103
STAT3/IL-4 pathway	107
LncRNA SOX2-OT/miR-627-3p/Smads pathway	114
Modulating tumor cell phenotypes	
Stabilizing tumor cell phenotype	115
Promoting the EMT	129, 130

TAM, tumor-associated macrophage; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; RELB, v-rel reticuloendotheliosis viral oncogene homolog B; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; PD-L1, programmed cell death 1 ligand 1; LncRNA SOX2-OT, long non-coding RNA SOX2 overlapping transcript; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition.

surveillance (16). And M2-like macrophages secrete inhibitory factors, such as IL-10 and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), and have weak antigen-presenting ability (16). TAMs mainly exhibit the M2-like macrophage phenotype (17) and are closely associated with resistance to anti-tumor drugs in various solid tumors, including NSCLC (6, 18-20). Additionally, TAMs exhibit both inter- and intra-tumor heterogeneity. High infiltration of TAMs has been linked to unfavorable prognosis in pancreatic cancer (21), bladder cancer (22), and malignant glioma (23). But in some instances, such as ovarian (24) and colorectal cancers (25), it is associated with a more favorable outcome. In the NSCLC investigation, a high TAMs infiltration level within tumor islets was associated with a favorable prognosis. In contrast, a high level of TAMs infiltration within tumor stroma was linked to unfavorable prognosis (26, 27). The heterogeneity of TAMs in NSCLC may be attributed to tumor hypoxia and the spatial distribution of TAMs within the tumor microenvironment (TME) (28).

1.3 Effects of EGFR-TKIs on TAMs

Jia et al. (29) investigated the impact of EGFR-TKIs on the TME in NSCLC from a dynamic perspective. During early-stage treatment, EGFR-TKIs can increase the infiltration of CD8⁺T cells and dendritic cells (DC) in TME while inhibiting the infiltration of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells (Tregs) and M2-like polarization of TAMs (29). However, with the continuation of treatment, the immune-activated TME gradually dissipated while the proportion of immunosuppressive cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), progressively increased (29). Notably, there was a significant increase in CD86⁺ macrophage expression driven by EGFR during the initial phase of EGFR-TKIs treatment, which exhibited robust antigen presentation capabilities (29). However, the gradual accumulation of M2-like TAMs, MDSCs, and Tregs during treatment hindered the antitumor immune effects of DC and T cells (29–31).

1.4 Aims

This study aims to comprehensively review the current mechanisms underlying TAM-mediated resistance to EGFR-TKIs and discuss the potential efficacy of combining EGFR-TKIs with targeted TAMs therapy (Figure 1). Combining EGFR-TKIs with TAMs targeting may improve the prognosis of NSCLC with EGFR mutation to some extent.

2 TAMs mediate EGFR-TKIs resistance by activating bypass pathways

2.1 Background

Activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (AKT) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling



pathways compensates for the inhibition of EGFR signaling by EGFR-TKIs, promoting resistance of EGFR-TKIs (32). Yuan et al. (33) showed that TAMs can affect the biological behavior of lung adenocarcinoma cells by activating the PI3K/AKT pathway. This suggests that TAM-mediated EGFR-TKIs resistance may be closely related to the activation of bypass pathways. Furthermore, several studies have demonstrated that TAMs contribute to the resistance of EGFR-TKIs by activating bypass pathways, such as AKT/ mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway (34), AKT pathway (17), extracellular signal-related kinases 1 and 2 (ERK1/ 2) pathway (17), signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) pathway (17), LncRNA-MSTRG.292666.16/miR-6836-5p/MAPK8IP3 pathway (35) and atypical nuclear factor-кB (NFkB)/v-rel reticuloendotheliosis viral oncogene homolog B (RELB) pathway (36).

2.2 AKT/mTOR pathway

EGFR-TKIs can increase the content of serum chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (CCL2) (29), which plays an essential role in the process of EGFR-TKI resistance (8). CCL2 in the TME can recruit macrophages (37–39). Xiao et al. (34) showed that gefitinib resistance cell lines increased the release of CCL2 by decreasing the expression of β -catenin protein. Furthermore, tumor cells

recruit more M2-like macrophages by releasing CCL2, and these macrophages promote gefitinib resistance by activating the AKT/ mTOR pathway (34). As a serine/threonine kinase, mTOR has a catalytic domain similar to PI3K and is considered an atypical protein kinase in the PI3K-related kinase family (40). Through various mechanisms, including activation of growth factor receptor pathway, inhibition of autophagy, and influence on lipid metabolism pathway et al., mTOR could promote tumor development, metastasis, and drug resistance (41, 42). The rapamycin analogs, which inhibit mTOR, have been approved for treating renal cell carcinoma, while several other mTOR inhibitors are currently in development (40).

2.2.1 Prospects

Preclinical studies (43–50) have shown that mTOR inhibitors can improve the resistance of NSCLC to EGFR-TKIs. For example, Wang et al. (51) showed that the combination of ferumoxytol and CpG oligodeoxynucleotide 2395 could effectively suppress EGFR and its downstream AKT/mTOR signaling pathway, thereby enhancing the antitumor activity of macrophages in NSCLC with EGFR mutation. Qu et al. (52) employed a combination of MEK1/2 inhibitor AZD6244 and PI3K/mTOR inhibitor BEZ235 to improve gefitinib resistance in a xenograft model of NSCLC. However, Moran et al. (53) showed that afatinib, in combination with

10.3389/fimmu.2023.1209947

mTOR inhibitor sirolimus, did not show the expected anti-tumor effect. The toxicity was not tolerable in NSCLC patients with EGFR-TKIs resistance. The intricate resistance mechanism of EGFR-TKIs may account for the limited antitumor efficacy. This implies the necessity of identifying NSCLC patients who are responsive to mTOR inhibitors. Notably, altering the administration mode of mTOR inhibitors to target the TME in NSCLC might alleviate the adverse effects of combination therapy. In conclusion, further exploration is warranted for the combination of mTOR inhibitors and EGFR-TKIs in EGFR-mutated NSCLC based on available evidence (54, 55).

2.3 AKT, ERK1/2 and STAT3 pathways

Exosomes are extracellular vesicles ranging in size from 30 to 150nm, capable of transporting nucleic acids or proteins derived from maternal cells and facilitating intercellular communication (56). Exosomes play a crucial role in the pathogenesis, progression, and metastasis of tumors (57). Yuan et al. (17) investigated the contribution of TAM-derived exosomes to EGFR-TKI resistance and demonstrated that these exosomes could impede the antitumor efficacy of gefitinib. Further protein expression analysis confirmed that TAMs-derived exosomes mediated EGFR-TKIs resistance by activating AKT, ERK1/2, and STAT3 signaling pathways (17). On the other hand, previous studies have shown that epiregulin (EREG), as a ligand for EGFR, can promote the progression of NSCLC (58). EREG-enriched macrophages induce gefitinib and erlotinib resistance by inducing AKT phosphorylation in a human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER-2)-dependent manner (59).

2.3.1 Prospects

The abnormal activation of the AKT pathway is closely related to the resistance of EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC (60, 61). Several studies (62-67) have shown that inhibition of the AKT pathway can improve the resistance of EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC. For example, Lai et al. (68) demonstrated that Polyphyllin I can reverse osimertinib resistance by regulating the PI3K/AKT pathway in NSCLC. Wang et al. (69) showed that combination therapy with gefitinib and miR-30a-5p could overcome acquired resistance to EGFR-TKIs by regulating the PI3K/AKT pathway in NSCLC. However, Clément-Duchêne et al. (70) showed no improvement in progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) for EGFR-mutated NSCLC treated with enzastaurin (an oral AKT inhibitor) combined with erlotinib compared to erlotinib alone in a phase II study. This finding contradicts previous preclinical studies and warrants further investigation to identify the subset of NSCLC patients who may benefit from AKT inhibitors. Additionally, TAM-induced AKT phosphorylation is closely associated with HER-2 (59), suggesting that the use of HER-2 inhibitors may improve resistance to EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC (71, 72). Consistent with this hypothesis, Peng et al. (73) have developed a trastuzumab-modified, mannosylated liposome system that effectively targets M2-type TAMs and HER-2 positive NSCLC cells to overcome EGFR-TKIs resistance mediated by the EGFR T790M mutation. Importantly, HER-2 and HER-3 belong to the HER family and have highly similar structures and biological functions (74). Vicencio et al. (75) demonstrated that osimertinib combined with HER-3 antibody therapy could enhance the antitumor effect in NSCLC. Therefore, in addition to directly inhibiting the AKT pathway, combining HER2 or HER3 inhibitors may be a therapeutic strategy for improving the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs.

2.4 LncRNA-MSTRG.292666.16/miR-6836-5p/MAPK8IP3 pathway

Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs), including circular RNA (circRNA), long ncRNA (lncRNA), and microRNA (miRNA) et al., play an essential role in the initiation and progression of cancer (76). Deng et al. (77) analyzed the serum exosomal-lncRNAs of osimertinib resistant patients and found that the knock of lncRNA MSTRG.292666.16 can improve the osimertinib resistance in NSCLC cells. Furthermore, Wan et al. (35) showed that TAM-derived exosomes promote osimertinib resistance by activating MSTRG.292666.16/miR-6836-5p/1MAPK8IP3 signaling pathway in NSCLC.

2.4.1 Prospects

TAM-derived exosomes play a crucial role in mediating resistance to EGFR-TKIs. Unfortunately, there is a lack of effective methods to target these exosomes. Further investigation is warranted to refrain from the biogenesis of TAM-derived exosomes or impede the binding of exosomes to tumor cells.

2.5 NF-κB/RELB pathway

In pathological conditions like cancer, myeloid cells may transform myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), contributing to tumor metastasis and conferring resistance to anti-cancer drugs (78). MDSCs play a crucial role in promoting immunosuppression and inducing the generation of regulatory T cells within the TME (79). Feng et al. (36) suggested that S100A9⁺ MDSC (a subset of monocytic MDSC) derived macrophages induce gefitinib resistance *via* NF- κ B/RELB pathway.

2.5.1 Prospects

The oncogenic role of NF- κ B has been reported (80). Notably, NF- κ B can facilitate the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) of tumor cells, which may constitute one of the potential mechanisms by which TAMs mediate resistance to EGFR-TKIs (80). Targeting NF- κ B has been reported to improve EGFR-TKIs resistance potentially. For example, Yeo et al. (81) improved acquired resistance to EGFR-TKIs by inhibiting NF- κ B and activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AICDA) in NSCLC. Liu et al. (82) reported that Liver X receptor ligands could induce apoptosis in EGFR-TKIs resistant cells by inhibiting the AKT-NF- κ B pathway in NSCLC. On the other hand, RELB can upregulate the expression of programmed cell death one ligand 1 (PD-L1) and facilitate immune evasion in prostate cancer (83). Previous studies (84) have shown that PD-L1 expression is also increased in NSCLC patients after developing resistance to EGFR-TKIs, and RELB may up-regulate PD-L1 expression following EGFR-TKIs resistance in NSCLC. Up-regulation of PD-L1 promotes an immunosuppressive TME, which may also be one potential mechanism for EGFR-TKI resistance (84). Therefore, RELB may be a potential target for improving EGFR-TKIs resistance in NSCLC.

3 TAMs mediate EGFR-TKIs resistance by suppressing T cells

3.1 Background

The EGFR signal can reduce chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 10 (CXCL10) and CCL5 by reducing interferon regulatory factor-1 (85). EGFR-TKIs can induce an interferon response in NSCLC, and the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs is influenced by immune activation (86). Previous studies (87–89) have shown that macrophages can promote chemotherapy resistance by inhibiting T-cell-mediated responses. Similarly, TAMs mediate T cell inhibition in the TME (90), which causes resistance to EGFR-TKIs related to TAMs (91).

3.2 TAMs inhibit T cells by expressing inducible nitric oxide synthase and PD-L1

Stimulator of interferon genes (STING) regulates the human immune system (92). Lin et al. (91) demonstrated that the enrichment of TAMs impedes T cell activation in NSCLC patients treated with osimertinib. The immunosuppressive TME attenuates the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in anti-tumor therapy (91). Reprogramming macrophages with STING agonist, MSA-2, can restore T cell activation and reverse osimertinib resistance (91). This implies that the combination of EGFR-TKIs and STING agonists can potentiate the antitumor effects of EGFR-TKIs. In addition, Lin et al. (91) demonstrated that TAMs may mediate Tcell inhibition by up-regulating the expression of inducible nitric oxide (NO) synthase and PD-L1. Studies have shown that NO can promote cisplatin resistance in NSCLC and inhibit T cell proliferation (93, 94). Upregulation of PD-L1 expression in TAMs can increase immunosuppression and tumor aggressiveness in NSCLC (95, 96). These mechanisms provide targets for reactivating T cells in TME. However, Lin et al. (91) did not rule out the possibility that other cells may also be involved in antitumor immunity when stimulated by STING agonists, such as dendritic cells and endothelial cells (97, 98).

3.3 Prospects

Further deliberation is warranted on strategies to enhance T cell infiltration in the TME of NSCLC. Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) can potentially induce M1 polarization of TAMs and reactivate T cells within the TME (99). Theoretically, the combination therapy of ICIs and EGFR-TKIs may enhance the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC. However, the combination of ICIs and EGFR-TKIs has been found to result in intolerable toxicity during clinical trials (100). Strategies to enhance T cell infiltration in the TME of NSCLC, such as reprogramming TAMs or reducing their infiltration, should be developed for clinical implementation.

4 TAMs mediate EGFR-TKIs resistance through M2-like polarization of macrophage

4.1 Lipid metabolism pathways

Lipid metabolism is closely related to TAMs polarization (101). Chen et al. (102) showed that overexpression of sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1 (SREBP1) can mediate osimertinib resistance. Furthermore, Liang et al. (103) analyzed the role of 9 genes related to lipid metabolism in osimertinib resistance. They found that T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 2 (TIAM2) can induce TAMs M2-like polarization mediated osimertinib resistance through PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway (Figure 2).

4.1.1 Prospects

Targeting lipid metabolic pathways to cause repolarization of TAMs is a feasible approach to improve resistance to EGFR-TKIs. Jin et al. (104) found that simvastatin can mediate TAMs repolarization by targeting cholesterol metabolism. Yin et al. (105) developed a dual-targeting liposomal system for the codelivery of simvastatin/gefitinib to treat NSCLC with brain metastases. Dual-targeting liposomal system with modification of anti-PD-L1 nanobody and transferrin receptor-binding peptide T12 can enter the blood-brain barrier to reverse EGFR T790M mutation-mediated resistance *via* TAMs repolarization (105).

4.2 STAT3/IL-4 pathway

Chen et al. (106) found that T790M-cis-L792F mutation is one of the mechanisms of osimertinib resistance. And Sun et al. (107) found that the expression and secretion of IL-4 increased in T790M-cis-L792F mutant cells, promoting the M2-like polarization of TAMs. Furthermore, Sun et al. (107) demonstrated that TAMs M2-like polarization is one of the downstream mediators of the STAT3/IL-4 signaling pathway, and blocking STAT3 with SH-4-54 and IL-4 with dupilumab can reverse osimertinib resistance to some extent.

4.2.1 Prospects

Targeting STAT3 could be a promising strategy for overcoming resistance to EGFR-TKIs (108). Park et al. (109) showed that the root extract of Scutellaria baicalensis can induce apoptosis in EGFR-TKIs resistant NSCLC by inhibiting STAT3. Shu et al. (110) reversed afatinib resistance in NSCLC by knocking down lncRNA BLACAT1



by regulating STAT3 signaling. In addition, it has been previously reported that aberrant activation of STAT3 can promote M2-like polarization of macrophages (111). Lu et al. (111) showed that gefitinib combined with STAT3 inhibitor and anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody could reprogram TAMs and ameliorate acquired resistance to gefitinib in NSCLC. Small molecule inhibitors targeting STAT3 have shown preliminary antitumor effects (112, 113). Further investigation into STAT3 and IL-4 as potential targets is warranted to overcome resistance to EGFR-TKIs.

4.3 LncRNA SOX2-OT/miR-627-3p/Smads pathway

Recently, Zhou et al. (114) found that long non-coding RNA SOX2 overlapping transcript (lncRNA SOX2-OT) is highly expressed in exosomes derived from NSCLC cells. Subsequently, exosomal lncRNA SOX2-OT can promote M2-like polarization of TAMs and promote EGFR-TKIs resistance (114). Mechanistically, lncRNA SOX2-OT promotes M2-like polarization of TAMs by increasing the expression of drosophila mothers against decapentaplegic proteins (Smads) through sponging miR-627-3p (114).

4.3.1 Prospects

lncRNA SOX2-OT/miR-627-3p/Smads axis represents a promising target for reprogramming TAMs. However, there still needs to be more feasible approaches to target this pathway.

5 TAMs mediate EGFR-TKIs resistance by modulating tumor cell phenotypes

5.1 Stabilizing tumor cell phenotypes

Zhao et al. (115) treated NSCLC cells with gefitinib and subsequently co-cultured them with macrophages to mimic the behavior of migrating macrophages. Migrating macrophages contributed to gefitinib resistance by stabilizing tumor cell phenotypes before macrophage polarization. Additionally, Zhao and colleagues (115) postulated that the upregulation of vimentin mediated by TGF- β might also account for the accelerated acquisition of gefitinib resistance in NSCLC cells.

5.1.1 Prospects

Reducing the recruitment of TAMs or depleting the TAMs in the TME of NSCLC may be a potential approach to improve EGFR-TKIs resistance. CCL2-chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 2 (CCR2) signaling and the colony-stimulating factor 1(CSF1)-CSF1 receptor (CSF1-CSF1R) axis are potential therapeutic targets (116, 117). For example, previous studies (118) have shown that CSF1R inhibitors can deplete M2 macrophages in the TME. Sidorov et al. (119) demonstrated that the combination therapy of erlotinib and MLN0128 (an mTOR inhibitor) effectively reduces the infiltration of immunosuppressive chemokines, such as CCL2 and periostin, as well as TAMs in the TME of glioblastoma, leading to a significant improvement in survival outcomes for glioblastoma mice. Schmall et al. (120) demonstrated that inhibiting the recruitment of TAMs and promoting their M1-like polarization through CCR2 inhibition can effectively inhibit lung cancer progression. In addition, targeting surface receptors such as CD52, scavenger receptor-A, folic acid receptor-B, and CD206 represents potential approaches for depleting TAMs (121). Future research endeavors should investigate the clinical applications of these protocols in NSCLC.

5.2 Promoting the EMT

EMT, the process of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, plays a crucial role in physiological processes such as wound healing, development, and stem cell behavior (122). However, it is closely associated with tumorigenesis, tumor progression, and drug resistance under pathological conditions (123). Importantly, EMT is one of the mechanisms of acquired resistance to EGFR-TKIs (124). Approaches to overcome EGFR-TKI resistance in NSCLC by reversing EMT are currently under investigation, including the targeting of CD70, cyclindependent kinase 7 (CDK7), lipid metabolism pathways, and

fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (FGFR1) (125–128). Several studies (129, 130) have revealed that TAMs can promote the EMT of tumor cells. Bonde et al. (129) showed that TAMs promote tumor EMT through TGF- β signaling and activation of the β -catenin pathway in NSCLC. And Shen et al. (130) demonstrated that inhibition of TAMs can reverse tumor EMT in NSCLC.

5.2.1 Prospects

Further investigation is warranted to target TAMs to reverse EMT in EGFR-TKI-resistant cells. Reprogramming TAMs to reduce the secretion of pro-EMT signals, such as TGF- β , may represent a promising strategy. Consistent with this hypothesis, Jin et al. (104) showed that targeting lipid metabolism could improve EMT-related drug resistance by reprogramming TAMs in NSCLC.

6 Discussion

Resistance to EGFR-TKIs remains a global challenge, and exploring new methods to enhance the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs is imperative in NSCLC. This review summarizes the multiple mechanisms of TAM-mediated EGFR-TKIs resistance in NSCLC, including activation of bypass pathways, inhibition of T cell activity, M2-like polarization, and regulation of tumor cell phenotypes. Several pertinent issues warrant discussion.

Inhibiting the TAMs-related bypass pathway may be a potential approach to improving resistance to EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC (Table 2). The significance of the mTOR-related pathway in enhancing resistance to EGFR-TKIs warrants reiteration. Previous studies (131) have shown that high expression of mTOR correlates with a diminished therapeutic response to erlotinib in NSCLC. TAMs can

induce resistance to EGFR-TKIs by activating the AKT/mTOR signaling pathway directly (34). Additionally, mTOR-related pathways may mediate EMT-related EGFR-TKIs resistance (132). Zhang et al. (133) demonstrated that MTI-31, an inhibitor of mTORC1/2, effectively impedes the progression and EMT of NSCLC while simultaneously enhancing antitumor immunity. Significantly, the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway can also facilitate M2-like polarization of TAMs to promote EGFR-TKIs resistance (103). Based on this existing evidence, combination therapy involving mTOR inhibitors and EGFR-TKIs may improve resistance to EGFR-TKIs by blocking multiple resistance signals. However, current clinical trials have demonstrated that the combination therapy does not yield a superior clinical response compared to EGFR-TKIs monotherapy, and its toxicity profile is challenging to manage (53). Further experimentation is warranted to elucidate this phenomenon in the future. On the other hand, targeting STAT3 may represent a promising strategy to enhance the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs by overcoming TAM-mediated resistance. TAMs-derived exosomes can mediate EGFR-TKIs resistance by activating STAT3 signaling pathway (17). Moreover, STAT3 also plays a crucial role in promoting the M2-like polarization of TAMs (111). Combining STAT3 inhibitors with EGFR-TKIs inhibits drug resistance mediated by exosomes derived from TAMs and reprograms TAMs. Previous studies (134-136) have shown the potential of STAT3 inhibitors in combination with EGFR-TKIs for anti-tumor therapy. W2014-S, a novel STAT3 inhibitor, can significantly enhance the antitumor effect of EGFR-TKIs in TKI-resistant NSCLC (137). Wang et al. (138) demonstrated that the STAT3 inhibitor BBI608 could potentiate the anti-tumor efficacy of EGFR-TKIs by modulating the ROR1/ ABCB1/P53 signaling pathway.

TABLE 2 Strategies for improving resistance to EGFR-TKIs by targeting TAMs.

Up/Down	Targets	References
Down	PI3K/AKT/mTOR and MAPK pathways	43
Down	AKT/mTOR pathway	44
Down	mTOR	45
Down	PI3K/mTOR pathway	46, 49, 52
Down	AKT-mTOR, ERK and STAT3 pathways	47
Down	mTOR	45,48, 55
Down	mTOR	50
Down	EGFR and AKT/mTOR pathways	51
Down	AKT	62
Down	MET/PI3K/AKT Pathway	63
Down	AKT	64
Down	MET/PI3K/AKT Pathway	65
Down	PI3K/AKT Pathway	66, 69
Down	PI3K/AKT Pathway	67
Down	PI3K/AKT Pathway	68
	Down Down Down Down Down Down Down Down	DownPI3K/AKT/mTOR and MAPK pathwaysDownAKT/mTOR pathwayDownmTORDownPI3K/mTOR pathwayDownAKT-mTOR, ERK and STAT3 pathwaysDownMTORDownmTORDownMTORDownMTORDownAKT-mTOR, ERK and STAT3 pathwaysDownMTORDownMTORDownAKTDownAKTDownAKTDownAKTDownMET/PI3K/AKT PathwayDownPI3K/AKT PathwayDownPI3K/AKT PathwayDownPI3K/AKT Pathway

(Continued)

Strategies	Up/Down	Targets	References
anti-HER-3 antibody	Down	HER-3 and PI3K/AKT Pathway	71
anti-HER-3 antibody	Up	STING	75
HECrossMAb	Down	PI3K/AKT Pathway	72
Gefitinib and Vorinostat	Up	M1-like polarization of TAMs	73
Cosuppression of NF-KB and AICDA	Down	NF-κB and AICDA	81
Liver X receptors agonist	Down	AKT and NF-κB	82
STING agonist MSA-2	Up	M1-like polarization of TAMs	91
Simvastatin	Up	M1-like polarization of TAMs	104, 105
The Root Extract of Scutellaria baicalensis	Down	STAT3	109
Knockdown of lncRNA BLACAT1	Down	STAT3	110
STAT3 inhibitor and an anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody	Up	M1-like polarization of TAMs	111
Simvastatin	Down	EMT	104
MTI-31	Down	EMT	133
W2014-S	Down	STAT3	137
BBI608	Down	STAT3	138

TABLE 2 Continued

EGFR-TKIs, epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors; TAMs, tumor-associated macrophages; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; AKT, protein kinase B; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; ERK, extracellular signal-related kinases; STAT3, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; MET, mesenchymal to epithelial transition factor; HER-3, human epidermal growth factor receptor 3; STING: Stimulator of interferon genes; NF-κB, nuclear factor-κB; AICDA, activation-induced cytidine deaminase; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition.

Reprogramming TAMs is a crucial strategy for improving the resistance to EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC. It is worth mentioning that reprogramming TAMs can enhance the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs through a variety of mechanisms, including inhibition of TAMrelated drug resistance pathway (34), reactivation of T cells in the TME (91), and reversal of EMT of tumor cells (104). STING (91), lipid metabolic pathways (101), mTOR (34), Smads (114), IL-4 (107), and STAT3 (111) have been reported as targets for reprogramming TAMs in NSCLC. In addition, other strategies for reprogramming TAMs are currently under investigation, which may offer insights into improving resistance to EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC. Parayath et al. (139) reprogrammed TAMs by intraperitoneal injection of Hyaluronic Acid-Based Nanoparticles Encapsulating MicroRNA-125b in NSCLC. Sarode et al. (140) reprogrammed TAMs by targeting the β-catenin/FOSL2/ARID5A signaling pathway in lung cancer. Future research should investigate innovative approaches to reprogramming TAMs in NSCLC with EGFR mutation.

Finally, reducing the number of TAMs in the TME of EGFRmutant NSCLC, either by inhibiting TAM recruitment or depleting TAMs, may represent a promising strategy to overcome resistance to EGFR-TKIs. The clinical applicability of these methods warrants further investigation (116, 117).

7 Conclusions

TAMs mediate EGFR-TKIs resistance in NSCLC through various mechanisms, including activation of bypass pathways, inhibition of T cell activity, M2-like polarization, and regulation of tumor cell

phenotypes. In the future, developing therapeutic regimens that target TAMs, such as interfering with TAM-related pathways, reducing infiltration of TAMs, and reprogramming the macrophage phenotype, could enhance the anti-tumor effect of EGFR-TKIs.

Author contributions

DC, KG, and XY wrote the original draft of the article and drew the illustration. RC, BW, WZ, CF, and MJ contributed to the conceptualization and revised the draft. All authors participated in the revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the Science and Technology Project for Youth Talent of Changzhou Health Commission (QN201703), Young Talent Development Plan of Changzhou Health Commission (CZQM2020024), Major Science and Technology Project of Changzhou Health Commission (ZD202004, ZD202007), and China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (2020M670064ZX).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Recondo G, Facchinetti F, Olaussen KA, Besse B, Friboulet L. Making the first move in egfr-driven or alk-driven nsclc: first-generation or next-generation tki? *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2018) 15(11):694–708. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0081-4

2. Yang Z, Hackshaw A, Feng Q, Fu X, Zhang Y, Mao C, et al. Comparison of gefitinib, erlotinib and afatinib in non-small cell lung cancer: A meta-analysis. *Int J Cancer* (2017) 140(12):2805–19. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30691

3. Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, et al. Osimertinib in untreated egfr-mutated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2018) 378(2):113–25. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1713137

4. Huang L, Fu L. Mechanisms of resistance to egfr tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Acta Pharm Sin B* (2015) 5(5):390–401. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2015.07.001

5. Shaikh M, Shinde Y, Pawara R, Noolvi M, Surana S, Ahmad I, et al. Emerging approaches to overcome acquired drug resistance obstacles to osimertinib in non-small-cell lung cancer. *J Med Chem* (2022) 65(2):1008–46. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00876

6. Zhang B, Zhang Y, Zhao J, Wang Z, Wu T, Ou W, et al. M2-polarized macrophages contribute to the decreased sensitivity of egfr-tkis treatment in patients with advanced lung adenocarcinoma. *Med Oncol* (2014) 31(8):127. doi: 10.1007/s12032-014-0127-0

7. Wang DH, Lee HS, Yoon D, Berry G, Wheeler TM, Sugarbaker DJ, et al. Progression of egfr-mutant lung adenocarcinoma is driven by alveolar macrophages. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(3):778–88. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2597

8. Chung FT, Lee KY, Wang CW, Heh CC, Chan YF, Chen HW, et al. Tumorassociated macrophages correlate with response to epidermal growth factor receptortyrosine kinase inhibitors in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 131(3):E227–35. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27403

 Zhang J, Li H, Wu Q, Chen Y, Deng Y, Yang Z, et al. Tumoral nox4 recruits M2 tumor-associated macrophages via ros/pi3k signaling-dependent various cytokine production to promote nsclc growth. *Redox Biol* (2019) 22:101116. doi: 10.1016/ j.redox.2019.101116

10. Casanova-Acebes M, Dalla E, Leader AM, LeBerichel J, Nikolic J, Morales BM, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages provide a pro-tumorigenic niche to early nsclc cells. *Nature* (2021) 595(7868):578–84. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03651-8

11. Perdiguero EG, Geissmann F. The development and maintenance of resident macrophages. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(1):2–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.3341

12. Lavin Y, Mortha A, Rahman A, Merad M. Regulation of macrophage development and function in peripheral tissues. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15 (12):731-44. doi: 10.1038/nri3920

13. Loyher PL, Hamon P, Laviron M, Meghraoui-Kheddar A, Goncalves E, Deng Z, et al. Macrophages of distinct origins contribute to tumor development in the lung. *J Exp Med* (2018) 215(10):2536–53. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180534

14. Murray PJ. Macrophage polarization. Annu Rev Physiol (2017) 79:541-66. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034339

15. Anderson NR, Minutolo NG, Gill S, Klichinsky M. Macrophage-based approaches for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2021) 81(5):1201-8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-20-2990

16. Shapouri-Moghaddam A, Mohammadian S, Vazini H, Taghadosi M, Esmaeili SA, Mardani F, et al. Macrophage plasticity, polarization, and function in health and disease. *J Cell Physiol* (2018) 233(9):6425–40. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26429

17. Yuan S, Chen W, Yang J, Zheng Y, Ye W, Xie H, et al. Tumor-associated macrophage-derived exosomes promote egfr-tki resistance in non-small cell lung cancer by regulating the akt, erk1/2 and stat3 signaling pathways. *Oncol Lett* (2022) 24(4):356. doi: 10.3892/ol.2022.13476

18. Li H, Luo F, Jiang X, Zhang W, Xiang T, Pan Q, et al. Circitgb6 promotes ovarian cancer cisplatin resistance by resetting tumor-associated macrophage polarization toward the M2 phenotype. *J Immunother Cancer* (2022) 10(3):e004029–e43. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2021-004029

19. Zhou L, Li J, Liao M, Zhang Q, Yang M. Lncrna mir155hg induces M2 macrophage polarization and drug resistance of colorectal cancer cells by regulating anxa2. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2022) 71(5):1075–91. doi: 10.1007/s00262-021-03055-7

20. Niu X, Ma J, Li J, Gu Y, Yin L, Wang Y, et al. Sodium/glucose cotransporter 1dependent metabolic alterations induce tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer by promoting macrophage M2 polarization. *Cell Death Dis* (2021) 12(6):509. doi: 10.1038/s41419-021-03781-x organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

21. Huang X, He C, Lin G, Lu L, Xing K, Hua X, et al. Induced cd10 expression during monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation identifies a unique subset of macrophages in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2020) 524(4):1064–71. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.02.042

22. Wu H, Zhang X, Han D, Cao J, Tian J. Tumour-associated macrophages mediate the invasion and metastasis of bladder cancer cells through cxcl8. *PeerJ* (2020) 8:e8721. doi: 10.7717/peerj.8721

23. Zhang X, Chen L, Dang WQ, Cao MF, Xiao JF, Lv SQ, et al. Ccl8 secreted by tumor-associated macrophages promotes invasion and stemness of glioblastoma cells via erk1/2 signaling. *Lab Invest* (2020) 100(4):619–29. doi: 10.1038/s41374-019-0345-3

24. El-Arabey AA, Denizli M, Kanlikilicer P, Bayraktar R, Ivan C, Rashed M, et al. Gata3 as a master regulator for interactions of tumor-associated macrophages with high-grade serous ovarian carcinoma. *Cell Signal* (2020) 68:109539. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2020.109539

25. Zhang QW, Liu L, Gong CY, Shi HS, Zeng YH, Wang XZ, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophages in solid tumor: A meta-analysis of the literature. *PloS One* (2012) 7(12):e50946. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050946

26. Feng PH, Yu CT, Wu CY, Lee MJ, Lee WH, Wang LS, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages in stage iiia pn2 non-small cell lung cancer after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and surgery. *Am J Transl Res* (2014) 6(5):593–603.

27. Dai F, Liu L, Che G, Yu N, Pu Q, Zhang S, et al. The number and microlocalization of tumor-associated immune cells are associated with patient's survival time in non-small cell lung cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2010) 10:220. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-220

28. Wu K, Lin K, Li X, Yuan X, Xu P, Ni P, et al. Redefining tumor-associated macrophage subpopulations and functions in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1731. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01731

29. Jia Y, Li X, Jiang T, Zhao S, Zhao C, Zhang L, et al. Egfr-targeted therapy alters the tumor microenvironment in egfr-driven lung tumors: implications for combination therapies. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 145(5):1432–44. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32191

30. Wu AA, Drake V, Huang HS, Chiu S, Zheng L. Reprogramming the tumor microenvironment: tumor-induced immunosuppressive factors paralyze T cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4(7):e1016700. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2015.1016700

31. Parker KH, Beury DW, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: critical cells driving immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment. *Adv Cancer Res* (2015) 128:95–139. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2015.04.002

32. Liu Q, Yu S, Zhao W, Qin S, Chu Q, Wu K. Egfr-tkis resistance via egfrindependent signaling pathways. *Mol Cancer* (2018) 17(1):53–61. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0793-1

33. Yuan S, Dong Y, Peng L, Yang M, Niu L, Liu Z, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages affect the biological behavior of lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells through the pi3k/akt signaling pathway. *Oncol Lett* (2019) 18(2):1840–6. doi: 10.3892/ ol.2019.10483

34. Xiao F, Liu N, Ma X, Qin J, Liu Y, Wang X. M2 macrophages reduce the effect of gefitinib by activating akt/mtor in gefitinib-resistant cell lines hcc827/gr. *Thorac Cancer* (2020) 11(11):3289–98. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.13670

35. Wan X, Xie B, Sun H, Gu W, Wang C, Deng Q, et al. Exosomes derived from M2 type tumor-associated macrophages promote osimertinib resistance in non-small cell lung cancer through mstrg.292666.16-mir-6836-5p-mapk8ip3 axis. *Cancer Cell Int* (2022) 22(1):83. doi: 10.1186/s12935-022-02509-x

36. Feng PH, Yu CT, Chen KY, Luo CS, Wu SM, Liu CY, et al. S100a9(+) mdsc and tam-mediated egfr-tki resistance in lung adenocarcinoma: the role of relb. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9(7):7631–43. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24146

37. Gou Y, Li X, Li P, Zhang H, Xu T, Wang H, et al. Estrogen receptor beta upregulates ccl2 *via* nf-kappab signaling in endometriotic stromal cells and recruits macrophages to promote the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34 (4):646–58. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez019

38. Mu J, Sun P, Ma Z, Sun P. Brd4 promotes tumor progression and nf-kappab/ ccl2-dependent tumor-associated macrophage recruitment in gist. *Cell Death Dis* (2019) 10(12):935. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-2170-4

39. Han R, Gu S, Zhang Y, Luo A, Jing X, Zhao L, et al. Estrogen promotes progression of hormone-dependent breast cancer through ccl2-ccr2 axis by upregulation of twist *via* pi3k/akt/nf-kappab signaling. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):9575. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27810-6

40. Hua H, Kong Q, Zhang H, Wang J, Luo T, Jiang Y. Targeting mtor for cancer therapy. J Hematol Oncol (2019) 12(1):71-89. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0754-1

41. Saxton RA, Sabatini DM. Mtor signaling in growth, metabolism, and disease. Cell (2017) 168(6):960-76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.004

42. Murugan AK. Mtor: role in cancer, metastasis and drug resistance. Semin Cancer Biol (2019) 59:92–111. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.07.003

43. Yu J, Zhang L, Peng J, Ward R, Hao P, Wang J, et al. Dictamnine, a novel C-met inhibitor, suppresses the proliferation of lung cancer cells by downregulating the pi3k/ akt/mtor and mapk signaling pathways. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2022) 195:114864. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2021.114864

44. Hu Y, Zhang J, Liu Q, Ke M, Li J, Suo W, et al. Torin2 inhibits the egfr-tki resistant non-small lung cancer cell proliferation through negative feedback regulation of akt/mtor signaling. *J Cancer* (2020) 11(19):5746–57. doi: 10.7150/jca.37417

45. Ishikawa D, Takeuchi S, Nakagawa T, Sano T, Nakade J, Nanjo S, et al. Mtor inhibitors control the growth of egfr mutant lung cancer even after acquiring resistance by hgf. *PloS One* (2013) 8(5):e62104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062104

46. Wu YY, Wu HC, Wu JE, Huang KY, Yang SC, Chen SX, et al. The dual pi3k/ mtor inhibitor bez235 restricts the growth of lung cancer tumors regardless of egfr status, as a potent accompanist in combined therapeutic regimens. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 38(1):282. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1282-0

47. Lai IC, Lai GM, Chow JM, Lee HL, Yeh CF, Li CH, et al. Active fraction (Hs7) from Taiwanofungus camphoratus inhibits akt-mtor, erk and stat3 pathways and induces cdk inhibitors in cl1-0 human lung cancer cells. *Chin Med* (2017) 12:33. doi: 10.1186/s13020-017-0154-9

48. Dong S, Zhang XC, Cheng H, Zhu JQ, Chen ZH, Zhang YF, et al. Everolimus synergizes with gefitinib in non-small-cell lung cancer cell lines resistant to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2012) 70(5):707–16. doi: 10.1007/s00280-012-1946-3

49. Sano T, Takeuchi S, Nakagawa T, Ishikawa D, Nanjo S, Yamada T, et al. The novel phosphoinositide 3-kinase-mamMalian target of rapamycin inhibitor, bez235, circumvents erlotinib resistance of epidermal growth factor receptor mutant lung cancer cells triggered by hepatocyte growth factor. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133(2):505–13. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28034

50. Fei SJ, Zhang XC, Dong S, Cheng H, Zhang YF, Huang L, et al. Targeting mtor to overcome epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance in nonsmall cell lung cancer cells. *PloS One* (2013) 8(7):e69104. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0069104

51. Wang G, Zhao J, Zhang M, Wang Q, Chen B, Hou Y, et al. Ferumoxytol and cpg oligodeoxynucleotide 2395 synergistically enhance antitumor activity of macrophages against nsclc with egfr(L858r/T790m) mutation. *Int J Nanomed* (2019) 14:4503–15. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S193583

52. Qu Y, Wu X, Yin Y, Yang Y, Ma D, Li H. Antitumor activity of selective mek1/2 inhibitor azd6244 in combination with pi3k/mtor inhibitor bez235 in gefitinib-resistant nsclc xenograft models. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 33(1):52. doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-33-52

53. Moran T, Palmero R, Provencio M, Insa A, Majem M, Reguart N, et al. A phase ib trial of continuous once-daily oral afatinib plus sirolimus in patients with epidermal growth factor receptor mutation-positive non-small cell lung cancer and/or disease progression following prior erlotinib or gefitinib. *Lung Cancer* (2017) 108:154–60. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.03.009

54. Yip PY. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-akt-mamMalian target of rapamycin (Pi3k-akt-mtor) signaling pathway in non-small cell lung cancer. *Transl Lung Cancer Res* (2015) 4(2):165–76. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2015.01.04

55. Botting GM, Rastogi I, Chhabra G, Nlend M, Puri N. Mechanism of resistance and novel targets mediating resistance to egfr and C-met tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer. *PloS One* (2015) 10(8):e0136155. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136155

56. He C, Zheng S, Luo Y, Wang B. Exosome theranostics: biology and translational medicine. *Theranostics* (2018) 8(1):237–55. doi: 10.7150/thno.21945

57. Kalluri R, LeBleu VS. The biology, function, and biomedical applications of exosomes. *Science* (2020) 367(6478):6977–91. doi: 10.1126/science.aau6977

58. Bauer AK, Velmurugan K, Xiong KN, Alexander CM, Xiong J, Brooks R. Epiregulin is required for lung tumor promotion in a murine two-stage carcinogenesis model. *Mol Carcinog* (2017) 56(1):94–105. doi: 10.1002/mc.22475

59. Ma S, Zhang L, Ren Y, Dai W, Chen T, Luo L, et al. Epiregulin confers egfr-tki resistance *via* egfr/erbb2 heterodimer in non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncogene* (2021) 40(14):2596–609. doi: 10.1038/s41388-021-01734-4

60. Wang X, Xu J, Chen J, Jin S, Yao J, Yu T, et al. Il-22 confers egfr-tki resistance in nsclc *via* the akt and erk signaling pathways. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:1167. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2019.01167

61. Lu GS, Li M, Xu CX, Wang D. Ape1 stimulates egfr-tki resistance by activating akt signaling through a redox-dependent mechanism in lung adenocarcinoma. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9(11):1111. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-1162-0

62. Wu Y, Yu DD, Hu Y, Cao HX, Yu SR, Liu SW, et al. Lxr ligands sensitize egfrtki-resistant human lung cancer cells *in vitro* by inhibiting akt activation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2015) 467(4):900–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.10.047

63. Kang XH, Xu ZY, Gong YB, Wang LF, Wang ZQ, Xu L, et al. Bufalin reverses hgf-induced resistance to egfr-tkis in egfr mutant lung cancer cells *via* blockage of met/

pi3k/akt pathway and induction of apoptosis. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2013) 2013:243859. doi: 10.1155/2013/243859

64. Bokobza SM, Jiang Y, Weber AM, Devery AM, Ryan AJ. Combining akt inhibition with chloroquine and gefitinib prevents compensatory autophagy and induces cell death in egfr mutated nsclc cells. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(13):4765–78. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2017

65. Wu H, Fan F, Liu Z, Shen C, Wang A, Lu Y. Norcantharidin combined with egfr-tkis overcomes hgf-induced resistance to egfr-tkis in egfr mutant lung cancer cells *via* inhibition of met/pi3k/akt pathway. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2015) 76 (2):307–15. doi: 10.1007/s00280-015-2792-x

66. Meng F, Wang F, Wang L, Wong SC, Cho WC, Chan LW. Mir-30a-5p overexpression may overcome egfr-inhibitor resistance through regulating pi3k/akt signaling pathway in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. *Front Genet* (2016) 7:197. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2016.00197

67. Xie M, He J, He C, Wei S. Gamma secretase inhibitor bms-708163 reverses resistance to egfr inhibitor *via* the pi3k/akt pathway in lung cancer. *J Cell Biochem* (2015) 116(6):1019–27. doi: 10.1002/jcb.25056

68. Lai L, Shen Q, Wang Y, Chen L, Lai J, Wu Z, et al. Polyphyllin I reverses the resistance of osimertinib in non-small cell lung cancer cell through regulation of pi3k/ akt signaling. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2021) 419:115518. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2021.115518

69. Wang F, Meng F, Wong SCC, Cho WCS, Yang S, Chan LWC. Combination therapy of gefitinib and mir-30a-5p may overcome acquired drug resistance through regulating the pi3k/akt pathway in non-small cell lung cancer. *Ther Adv Respir Dis* (2020) 14:1753466620915156. doi: 10.1177/1753466620915156

70. Clément-Duchêne C, Natale RB, Jahan T, Krupitskaya Y, Osarogiagbon R, Sanborn RE, et al. A phase ii study of enzastaurin in combination with erlotinib in patients with previously treated advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2012) 78(1):57–62. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2012.06.003

71. Noto A, De Vitis C, Roscilli G, Fattore L, Malpicci D, Marra E, et al. Combination therapy with anti-erbb3 monoclonal antibodies and egfr tkis potently inhibits non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncotarget* (2013) 4(8):1253–65. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.1141

72. Si Y, Pei X, Wang X, Han Q, Xu C, Zhang B. An anti-egfr/anti- her2 bispecific antibody with enhanced antitumor activity against acquired gefitinib-resistant nsclc cells. *Protein Pept Lett* (2021) 28(11):1290–7. doi: 10.2174/0929866528666210930170624

73. Peng H, Chen B, Huang W, Tang Y, Jiang Y, Zhang W, et al. Reprogramming tumor-associated macrophages to reverse egfr(T790m) resistance by dual-targeting codelivery of gefitinib/vorinostat. *Nano Lett* (2017) 17(12):7684–90. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b03756

74. Gori S, Foglietta J, Mameli MG, Stocchi L, Fenocchio D, Anastasi P, et al. Her-3 status by immunohistochemistry in her-2-positive metastatic breast cancer patients treated with trastuzumab: correlation with clinical outcome. *Tumori* (2012) 98(1):39–44. doi: 10.1177/030089161209800105

75. Vicencio JM, Evans R, Green R, An Z, Deng J, Treacy C, et al. Osimertinib and anti-her3 combination therapy engages immune dependent tumor toxicity *via* sting activation in trans. *Cell Death Dis* (2022) 13(3):274. doi: 10.1038/s41419-022-04701-3

76. Yan H, Bu P. Non-coding rna in cancer. *Essays Biochem* (2021) 65(4):625–39. doi: 10.1042/ebc20200032

77. Deng Q, Fang Q, Xie B, Sun H, Bao Y, Zhou S. Exosomal long non-coding rna mstrg.292666.16 is associated with osimertinib (Azd9291) resistance in non-small cell lung cancer. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2020) 12(9):8001–15. doi: 10.18632/aging.103119

78. Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Immunol Res (2017) 5 (1):3-8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-16-0297

79. Hegde S, Leader AM, Merad M. Mdsc: markers, development, states, and unaddressed complexity. *Immunity* (2021) 54(5):875-84. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2021.04.004

80. Mirzaei S, Saghari S, Bassiri F, Raesi R, Zarrabi A, Hushmandi K, et al. Nfkappab as a regulator of cancer metastasis and therapy response: A focus on epithelialmesenchymal transition. *J Cell Physiol* (2022) 237(7):2770–95. doi: 10.1002/jcp.30759

81. Yeo MK, Kim Y, Lee DH, Chung C, Bae GE. Cosuppression of nf-kappab and aicda overcomes acquired egfr-tki resistance in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancers (Basel)* (2022) 14(12):2940–50. doi: 10.3390/cancers14122940

82. Liu S, Cao H, Chen D, Yu S, Sha H, Wu J, et al. Lxr ligands induce apoptosis of egfr-tki-resistant human lung cancer cells *in vitro* by inhibiting akt-nf-kappab activation. *Oncol Lett* (2018) 15(5):7168–74. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.8182

83. Zhang Y, Zhu S, Du Y, Xu F, Sun W, Xu Z, et al. Relb upregulates pd-L1 and exacerbates prostate cancer immune evasion. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2022) 41(1):66–81. doi: 10.1186/s13046-022-02243-2

84. Peng S, Wang R, Zhang X, Ma Y, Zhong L, Li K, et al. Egfr-tki resistance promotes immune escape in lung cancer *via* increased pd-L1 expression. *Mol Cancer* (2019) 18(1):165. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1073-4

85. Sugiyama E, Togashi Y, Takeuchi Y, Shinya S, Tada Y, Kataoka K, et al. Blockade of egfr improves responsiveness to pd-1 blockade in egfr-mutated non-small cell lung cancer. *Sci Immunol* (2020) 5(43):3937–49. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aav3937

86. Gurule NJ, McCoach CE, Hinz TK, Merrick DT, Van Bokhoven A, Kim J, et al. A tyrosine kinase inhibitor-induced interferon response positively associates with

clinical response in egfr-mutant lung cancer. NPJ Precis Oncol (2021) 5(1):41. doi: 10.1038/s41698-021-00181-4

87. Ruffell B, Chang-Strachan D, Chan V, Rosenbusch A, Ho CM, Pryer N, et al. Macrophage il-10 blocks cd8+ T cell-dependent responses to chemotherapy by suppressing il-12 expression in intratumoral dendritic cells. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 26 (5):623–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.006

88. Salvagno C, Ciampricotti M, Tuit S, Hau CS, van Weverwijk A, Coffelt SB, et al. Therapeutic targeting of macrophages enhances chemotherapy efficacy by unleashing type I interferon response. *Nat Cell Biol* (2019) 21(4):511–21. doi: 10.1038/s41556-019-0298-1

89. Ruffell B, Coussens LM. Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer. Cancer Cell (2015) 27(4):462-72. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.02.015

90. Nixon BG, Kuo F, Ji L, Liu M, Capistrano K, Do M, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages expressing the transcription factor irf8 promote T cell exhaustion in cancer. *Immunity* (2022) 55(11):2044–58 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2022.10.002

91. Lin Z, Wang Q, Jiang T, Wang W, Zhao JJ. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages with sting agonism improves the antitumor efficacy of osimertinib in a mouse model of egfr-mutant lung cancer. *Front Immunol* (2023) 14:1077203. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1077203

92. Zhang Z, Zhou H, Ouyang X, Dong Y, Sarapultsev A, Luo S, et al. Multifaceted functions of sting in human health and disease: from molecular mechanism to targeted strategy. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2022) 7(1):394–422. doi: 10.1038/s41392-022-01252-z

93. Perrotta C, Cervia D, Di Renzo I, Moscheni C, Bassi MT, Campana L, et al. Nitric oxide generated by tumor-associated macrophages is responsible for cancer resistance to cisplatin and correlated with syntaxin 4 and acid sphingomyelinase inhibition. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1186. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01186

94. Navasardyan I, Bonavida B. Regulation of T cells in cancer by nitric oxide. *Cells* (2021) 10(10):2655–76. doi: 10.3390/cells10102655

95. Shinchi Y, Ishizuka S, Komohara Y, Matsubara E, Mito R, Pan C, et al. The expression of pd-1 ligand 1 on macrophages and its clinical impacts and mechanisms in lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2022) 71(11):2645–61. doi: 10.1007/s00262-022-03187-4

96. Sumitomo R, Hirai T, Fujita M, Murakami H, Otake Y, Huang CL. Pd-L1 expression on tumor-infiltrating immune cells is highly associated with M2 tam and aggressive MALIgnant potential in patients with resected non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* (2019) 136:136–44. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.08.023

97. Ding L, Kim HJ, Wang Q, Kearns M, Jiang T, Ohlson CE, et al. Parp inhibition elicits sting-dependent antitumor immunity in brca1-deficient ovarian cancer. *Cell Rep* (2018) 25(11):2972–80 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.11.054

98. Yang H, Lee WS, Kong SJ, Kim CG, Kim JH, Chang SK, et al. Sting activation reprograms tumor vasculatures and synergizes with vegfr2 blockade. *J Clin Invest* (2019) 129(10):4350–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI125413

99. Xiong H, Mittman S, Rodriguez R, Moskalenko M, Pacheco-Sanchez P, Yang Y, et al. Anti-pd-L1 treatment results in functional remodeling of the macrophage compartment. *Cancer Res* (2019) 79(7):1493–506. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-18-3208

100. Ahn MJ, Cho BC, Ou X, Walding A, Dymond AW, Ren S, et al. Osimertinib plus durvalumab in patients with egfr-mutated, advanced nsclc: A phase 1b, open-label, multicenter trial. *J Thorac Oncol* (2022) 17(5):718–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2022.01.012

101. Batista-Gonzalez A, Vidal R, Criollo A, Carreño LJ. New insights on the role of lipid metabolism in the metabolic reprogramming of macrophages. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2993. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02993

102. Chen Z, Yu D, Owonikoko TK, RaMalingam SS, Sun SY. Induction of srebp1 degradation coupled with suppression of srebp1-mediated lipogenesis impacts the response of egfr mutant nsclc cells to osimertinib. *Oncogene* (2021) 40(49):6653–65. doi: 10.1038/s41388-021-02057-0

103. Liang L, He H, Jiang S, Liu Y, Huang J, Sun X, et al. Tiam2 contributes to osimertinib resistance, cell motility, and tumor-associated macrophage M2-like polarization in lung adenocarcinoma. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23(18):10415–34. doi: 10.3390/ijms231810415

104. Jin H, He Y, Zhao P, Hu Y, Tao J, Chen J, et al. Targeting lipid metabolism to overcome emt-associated drug resistance *via* integrin beta3/fak pathway and tumor-associated macrophage repolarization using legumain-activatable delivery. *Theranostics* (2019) 9(1):265–78. doi: 10.7150/thno.27246

105. Yin W, Zhao Y, Kang X, Zhao P, Fu X, Mo X, et al. Bbb-penetrating codelivery liposomes treat brain metastasis of non-small cell lung cancer with egfr(T790m) mutation. *Theranostics* (2020) 10(14):6122–35. doi: 10.7150/thno.42234

106. Chen K, Zhou F, Shen W, Jiang T, Wu X, Tong X, et al. Novel mutations on egfr leu792 potentially correlate to acquired resistance to osimertinib in advanced nsclc. *J Thorac Oncol* (2017) 12(6):e65–e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.12.024

107. Sun Y, Dong Y, Liu X, Zhang Y, Bai H, Duan J, et al. Blockade of stat3/il-4 overcomes egfr T790m-cis-L792f-induced resistance to osimertinib *via* suppressing M2 macrophages polarization. *EBioMedicine* (2022) 83:104200. doi: 10.1016/ j.ebiom.2022.104200

108. Wu K, Chang Q, Lu Y, Qiu P, Chen B, Thakur C, et al. Gefitinib resistance resulted from stat3-mediated akt activation in lung cancer cells. *Oncotarget* (2013) 4 (12):2430–8. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.1431

109. Park HJ, Park SH, Choi YH, Chi GY. The root extract of scutellaria baicalensis induces apoptosis in egfr tki-resistant human lung cancer cells by inactivation of stat3. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(10):5181–97. doi: 10.3390/ijms22105181

110. Shu D, Xu Y, Chen W. Knockdown of lncrna blacat1 reverses the resistance of afatinib to non-small cell lung cancer *via* modulating stat3 signalling. *J Drug Target* (2020) 28(3):300–6. doi: 10.1080/1061186x.2019.1650368

111. Lu J, Li J, Lin Z, Li H, Lou L, Ding W, et al. Reprogramming of tams *via* the stat3/cd47-sirpalpha axis promotes acquired resistance to egfr-tkis in lung cancer. *Cancer Lett* (2023) 564:216205. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2023.216205

112. Dong J, Cheng XD, Zhang WD, Qin JJ. Recent update on development of small-molecule stat3 inhibitors for cancer therapy: from phosphorylation inhibition to protein degradation. *J Med Chem* (2021) 64(13):8884–915. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.1c00629

113. Zou S, Tong Q, Liu B, Huang W, Tian Y, Fu X. Targeting stat3 in cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Cancer* (2020) 19(1):145. doi: 10.1186/s12943-020-01258-7

114. Zhou D, Xia Z, Xie M, Gao Y, Yu Q, He B. Exosomal long non-coding rna sox2 overlapping transcript enhances the resistance to egfr-tkis in non-small cell lung cancer cell line H1975. *Hum Cell* (2021) 34(5):1478–89. doi: 10.1007/s13577-021-00572-6

115. Zhao B, Zhang Y, Lu S, Li M. Macrophage renewal modes affect acquired resistance to gefitinib in egfr–Mutant lung cancer pc–9 cells. *Oncol Rep* (2023) 49 (2):30–40. doi: 10.3892/or.2022.8467

116. Low-Marchelli JM, Ardi VC, Vizcarra EA, van Rooijen N, Quigley JP, Yang J. Twist1 induces ccl2 and recruits macrophages to promote angiogenesis. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(2):662–71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-12-0653

117. Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2017) 14(7):399–416. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.217

118. Cannarile MA, Weisser M, Jacob W, Jegg AM, Ries CH, Rüttinger D. Colonystimulating factor 1 receptor (Csf1r) inhibitors in cancer therapy. *J Immunother Cancer* (2017) 5(1):53. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0257-y

119. Sidorov M, Dighe P, Woo RWL, Rodriguez-Brotons A, Chen M, Ice RJ, et al. Dual targeting of egfr and mtor pathways inhibits glioblastoma growth by modulating the tumor microenvironment. *Cells* (2023) 12(4):547–65. doi: 10.3390/cells12040547

120. Schmall A, Al-Tamari HM, Herold S, Kampschulte M, Weigert A, Wietelmann A, et al. Macrophage and cancer cell cross-talk *via* ccr2 and cx3cr1 is a fundamental mechanism driving lung cancer. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2015) 191(4):437–47. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201406-1137OC

121. Sawa-Wejksza K, Kandefer-Szerszeń M. Tumor-associated macrophages as target for antitumor therapy. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* (2018) 66(2):97–111. doi: 10.1007/s00005-017-0480-8

122. Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R. Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2014) 15(3):178–96. doi: 10.1038/nrm3758

123. Buonato JM, Lazzara MJ. Erk1/2 blockade prevents epithelial-mesenchymal transition in lung cancer cells and promotes their sensitivity to egfr inhibition. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(1):309–19. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-12-4721

124. Tulchinsky E, Demidov O, Kriajevska M, Barlev NA, Imyanitov E. Emt: A mechanism for escape from egfr-targeted therapy in lung cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer* (2019) 1871(1):29–39. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2018.10.003

125. Nilsson MB, Yang Y, Heeke S, Patel SA, Poteete A, Udagawa H, et al. Cd70 is a therapeutic target upregulated in emt-associated egfr tyrosine kinase inhibitor resistance. Cancer Cell (2023) 41(2):340–55.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2023.01.007

126. Raoof S, Mulford IJ, Frisco-Cabanos H, Nangia V, Timonina D, Labrot E, et al. Targeting fgfr overcomes emt-mediated resistance in egfr mutant non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncogene* (2019) 38(37):6399–413. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0887-2

127. Ji W, Choi YJ, Kang MH, Sung KJ, Kim DH, Jung S, et al. Efficacy of the cdk7 inhibitor on emt-associated resistance to 3rd generation egfr-tkis in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. *Cells* (2020) 9(12):2596–609. doi: 10.3390/cells9122596

128. Li L, Han R, Xiao H, Lin C, Wang Y, Liu H, et al. Metformin sensitizes egfr-tkiresistant human lung cancer cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* through inhibition of il-6 signaling and emt reversal. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(10):2714–26. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-13-2613

129. Bonde AK, Tischler V, Kumar S, Soltermann A, Schwendener RA. Intratumoral macrophages contribute to epithelial-mesenchymal transition in solid tumors. *BMC Cancer* (2012) 12:35. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-35

130. Shen M, Xu Z, Xu W, Jiang K, Zhang F, Ding Q, et al. Inhibition of atm reverses emt and decreases metastatic potential of cisplatin-resistant lung cancer cells through jak/stat3/pd-L1 pathway. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 38(1):149–62. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1161-8

131. Karachaliou N, Codony-Servat J, Teixidó C, Pilotto S, Drozdowskyj A, Codony-Servat C, et al. Bim and mtor expression levels predict outcome to erlotinib in egfr-mutant non-small-cell lung cancer. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:17499–510. doi: 10.1038/srep17499

132. Long MP, Wang HL, Luo YB, Yang JH. Targeting ror1 inhibits epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human lung adenocarcinoma *via* mtor signaling pathway. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2018) 11(10):4759–70.

133. Zhang Q, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Qian J, Zhang X, Yu K. A novel mtorc1/2 inhibitor (Mti-31) inhibits tumor growth, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, metastases, and improves antitumor immunity in preclinical models of lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(12):3630–42. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2548

134. Song X, Tang W, Peng H, Qi X, Li J. Fgfr leads to sustained activation of stat3 to mediate resistance to egfr-tkis treatment. *Invest New Drugs* (2021) 39(5):1201–12. doi: 10.1007/s10637-021-01061-1

135. Yang Y, Wang W, Chang H, Han Z, Yu X, Zhang T. Reciprocal regulation of mir-206 and il-6/stat3 pathway mediates il6-induced gefitinib resistance in egfr-mutant lung cancer cells. *J Cell Mol Med* (2019) 23(11):7331–41. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14592

136. Kim SM, Kwon OJ, Hong YK, Kim JH, Solca F, Ha SJ, et al. Activation of il-6r/ jak1/stat3 signaling induces *de novo* resistance to irreversible egfr inhibitors in nonsmall cell lung cancer with T790m resistance mutation. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2012) 11 (10):2254–64. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.Mct-12-0311

137. Zheng Q, Dong H, Mo J, Zhang Y, Huang J, Ouyang S, et al. A novel stat3 inhibitor W2014-S regresses human non-small cell lung cancer xenografts and

sensitizes egfr-tki acquired resistance. *Theranostics* (2021) 11(2):824–40. doi: 10.7150/thno.49600

138. Wang Q, Lu B, Zhang Y, Yu J, Guo J, Zhou Q, et al. Stat3 inhibitor bbi608 enhances the antitumor effect of gefitinib on egfr-mutated non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Hum Cell* (2021) 34(6):1855–65. doi: 10.1007/s13577-021-00582-4

139. Parayath NN, Parikh A, Amiji MM. Repolarization of tumor-associated macrophages in a genetically engineered nonsmall cell lung cancer model by intraperitoneal administration of hyaluronic acid-based nanoparticles encapsulating microrna-125b. *Nano Lett* (2018) 18(6):3571–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.8b00689

140. Sarode P, Zheng X, Giotopoulou GA, Weigert A, Kuenne C, Gunther S, et al. Reprogramming of tumor-associated macrophages by targeting beta-catenin/fosl2/arid5a signaling: A potential treatment of lung cancer. *Sci Adv* (2020) 6(23):eaaz6105. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaz6105

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY Akihiro Yoshimura, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Japan Yuping Li, Wenzhou Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Cheng-Ta Yang Øyang1946@adm.cgmh.org.tw

RECEIVED 28 June 2023 ACCEPTED 14 September 2023 PUBLISHED 03 October 2023

CITATION

Hsu P-C, Huang C-Y, Lin Y-C, Lee S-H, Chiu L-C, Wu C-E, Kuo SC-H, Ju J-S, Huang AC-C, Ko H-W, Wang C-C and Yang C-T (2023) Sequential treatment in advanced epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated lung adenocarcinoma patients receiving first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st/2nd-generation EGFRtyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1249106. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1249106

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hsu, Huang, Lin, Lee, Chiu, Wu, Kuo, Ju, Huang, Ko, Wang and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Sequential treatment in advanced epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated lung adenocarcinoma patients receiving first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st/2ndgeneration EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Ping-Chih Hsu^{1,2}, Chun-Yao Huang³, Yu-Ching Lin^{2,4,5}, Suey-Haur Lee⁶, Li-Chung Chiu^{1,2}, Chiao-En Wu^{2,7}, Scott Chih-Hsi Kuo^{1,2}, Jia-Shiuan Ju¹, Allen Chung-Cheng Huang¹, Ho-Wen Ko^{1,2}, Chin-Chou Wang^{2,6} and Cheng-Ta Yang^{1,8,9*}

¹Division of Thoracic Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ²Department of Medicine, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ³Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care, Buddhist Tzu Chi General Hospital, New Taipei City, Taiwan, ⁴Division of Thoracic Oncology, Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Chiayi County, Taiwan, ⁶Department of Respiratory Care, Chang Gung University of Science and Technology, Chiayi County, Taiwan, ⁶Division of Pulmonary & Critical Care Medicine, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, ⁷Division of Hematology-Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital at Linkou, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ⁸Department of Respiratory Therapy, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Taoyuan, Taiwan

Introduction: The clinical outcomes of sequential treatment of advanced epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-mutated non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients with first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs are unclear. Thus, we aimed to analyze the outcomes of these patients.

Methods: Between January 2015 and December 2020, data for 102 advanced EGFR-mutated lung adenocarcinoma patients receiving first-line bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib followed by treatments at multiple institutions were retrospectively analyzed. All patients with progressive disease (PD) after first-line therapy underwent secondary T790M mutation detection.

Results: The secondary T790M mutation positive rate of all study patients was 57.9%. First-line erlotinib use and progression-free survival (PFS) after first-line therapy > 12 months were positively associated with the T790M mutation (P <0.05). The response rates (RRs) to second-line treatments were 51.7% and 22.7% for the osimertinib and nonosimertinib groups, respectively (P = 0.001).

The median PFS associated with second-line osimertinib and nonosimertinib therapy was 13.7 and 7.1 months, respectively (hazard ratio (HR) = 0.38; 95% confidence interval (CI), 0.23–0.63; P< 0.001). Patients with a secondary T790M mutation receiving second-line osimertinib treatment had a median overall survival (OS) of 54.3 months, and the median OS was 31.9 months for non-T790M-mutated patients receiving second-line nonosimertinib treatments (HR = 0.36; CI: 0.21–0.62, P < 0.001).

Conclusion: The majority of acquired resistance to first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs is associated with the T790M mutation. Sequential osimertinib treatment in patients with positive secondary T790M mutation is associated with better outcomes among these patients.

KEYWORDS

epidermal growth factor receptor mutation, tyrosine kinase inhibitor, bevacizumab, lung adenocarcinoma, T790M, osimertinib



1 Introduction

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and its downstream signaling pathway play crucial roles in the tumorigenesis of human non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (1, 2). EGFR mutations account for the majority of oncogenic driver mutations in East Asian lung adenocarcinoma patients, and the incidence rate ranges from 40 to 55% (3, 4). The exon 19 deletion (in-frame deletions within exon 19) and L858R (a point mutation at codon 858 within exon 21 by leucine-to-arginine substitution) are the two most frequent (approximately 90%) EGFR mutations in lung adenocarcinoma (1–4). First- and second-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), such as erlotinib and afatinib, have been demonstrated to be effective for treating advanced NSCLC harboring exon 19 deletion or L858R EGFR mutations (60-80% objective response rate (RR) and 10-14 months progression-free survival (PFS)) in several prospective clinical trials (5–7). Therefore, erlotinib and afatinib have been used as standard first-line therapies for advanced NSCLC harboring EGFR mutations worldwide.

The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) signaling pathway has been reported to be involved in tumor growth and progression in various cancer cells (8, 9). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is the ligand of VEGFR, and a previous study showed that EGFR-mutated NSCLC cells had increased VEGF protein expression levels compared with wild-type EGFR NSCLC cells (10). Another previous study showed that increased VEGF mRNA expression in plasma and tumor stroma

was associated with resistance to EGFR-TKIs, and combined EGFR-TKIs and VEGF inhibitors had synergistic antitumor effects in an NSCLC mouse model (11). Bevacizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody targeting VEGF and is used as an angiogenesis agent in anticancer therapies (8, 12). The efficacy of bevacizumab in combination with erlotinib or afatinib for the treatment of untreated advanced EGFR-mutated lung adenocarcinoma has been explored in several previous pivotal clinical trials and clinical studies (13–17). In these previous studies, the combination of erlotinib or afatinib with bevacizumab was demonstrated to have an objective RR of 80% and PFS of 13~24 months (13–17). Therefore, combination therapies have been suggested as a first-line therapeutic option for advanced lung

adenocarcinoma patients with EGFR mutations. The secondary T790M EGFR mutation is the most frequent cause of acquired resistance to first- and second-generation EGFR-TKIs (40%~60%) (18, 19). Osimertinib is a third-generation EGFR-TKI with active targeting of the T790M mutation and was shown to have promising efficacy (71% RR and 10.1 months PFS) in a pivotal clinical trial (AURA3 trial) (20). Therefore, osimertinib has been approved as a therapy for advanced NSCLC patients with secondary T790M mutation with progressive disease (PD) after first- or second-generation EGFR-TKI therapies.

The secondary T790M EGFR mutation appears in advanced lung adenocarcinoma with acquired resistance due to prior bevacizumab treatment combined with erlotinib or afatinib, and osimertinib is administered as a subsequent therapy for T790Mpositive patients (15, 16). However, the clinical factors associated with the appearance of a positive T790M mutation in patients receiving first-line combination therapy remain unclear. Thus, we sought to analyze the survival outcomes of patients receiving firstline bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib followed by sequential systemic therapies (e.g., osimertinib or chemotherapy) after acquired resistance to first-line combination therapy.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Patients and EGFR mutations

Data from all study patients were retrospectively retrieved from the cancer center database of Linkou, Kaohsiung, Chiayi Chang-Gung Memorial hospitals (CGMHs) and Taipei Tzu Chi Hospital. Between January 2015 and December 2020, 140 advanced lung adenocarcinoma patients with EGFR mutations receiving bevacizumab combined with first- or second-generation EGFR-TKIs as first-line therapy were screened. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients with primary EGFR mutations without *de novo* T790M; (2) patients with PD after first-line therapy; (3) patients with secondary EGFR T790M mutation tests; and (4) patients receiving subsequent systemic therapies. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) no PD after first-line therapy; (2) no tests to detect secondary EGFR T790M mutation; (3) no subsequent systemic therapy administered; and (4) small cell transformation. The summary of study subject screening is summarized in Figure 1.

Amplified refractory mutation system–Scorpion (ARMS/S) assays or next-generation sequencing (NGS) was used to detect primary EGFR mutations and secondary T790M mutations in patients with PD after first-line therapy. The NGS panel used in this study was the same as that described in a previous study (16).



2.2 Treatment response, survival evaluation, and follow-up

The baseline stages at initial diagnosis of all subjects were determined by computed tomography (CT) with contrast medium enhancement, fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-positron emission tomography (PET), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain. All study patients underwent whole-body CT scans every 3 to 4 months to evaluate treatment responses. Additional imaging studies such as sonogram, plain films, MRI and FDG-PET were ordered by physicians based on their need for assistance in disease status assessment.

Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) version 1.1. was used to assess treatment responses. The treatment responses were classified as complete response (CR), partial response (PR), stable disease (SD), and PD. The length of PFS was defined from the treatment start date to the date of first PD images detected or last follow-up. The length of overall survival (OS) was defined from the starting date of first-line therapy to the date of mortality recorded. For patients who survived through the time point of last follow-up (December 31, 2022), the OS was censored at the last recorded clinical visit date.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Categorical variables of study subjects are presented as quantitative variables, and age is presented as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Cox regression with univariate and multivariate analyses was used to determine the clinical factors associated with the T790M mutation rates. PFS and OS were estimated by Kaplan–Meier survival curves, and two-sided P values were considered statistically significant when they were smaller than 0.05. IBM SPSS Statistics version 22.0 (SPSS Corp., Chicago, IL, USA) was used to perform univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses. The PFS and OS survival curves were generated by using GraphPad Prism (Version 5.0; GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

3 Results

3.1 Baseline patient clinical characteristics and information on sequential treatments

All baseline clinical characteristics of the 102 study patients are shown in Table 1. Ninety-nine (97.1%) patients underwent tissue rebiopsy, and 8 (7.8%) patients had plasma circulating tumor (ct)-DNA liquid biopsy for secondary T790M mutation tests. Five (4.9%) patients had both tissue rebiopsy and ctDNA tests, and 3 (2.9%) patients had ctDNA tests only. Among the 5 (4.9%) patients with both tissue rebiopsy and ctDNA assessment, all the rebiopsy tissues were tested by using NGS, and according to the NGS results, 4 (3.9%) patients were negative for the T790M mutation, and the other 1 (1%) TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of all study patients.

Total	N = 102 (%)
Sex	
Male	37 (36.3%)
Female	65 (63.7%)
Age, years (mean ± SD)	57.71 ± 11.02
ECOG PS	
0-1	84 (82.4%)
≧2	18 (17.6%)
Smoking status	
Nonsmoker	25 (24.5%)
Former/current smoker	77 (75.5%)
Histology	
Adenocarcinoma	102 (100%)
Stage	
IIIB	4 (3.9%)
IV	98 (96.1%)
EGFR mutation	
L858R	48 (47.1%)
Exon 19 deletion	52 (51.0%)
Others*	2 (1.9%)
Metastatic sites	
Pleural effusion	31 (30.4%)
Brain	33 (32.4%)
Bone	43 (42.2%)
Liver	18 (17.6%)
Adrenal	6 (5.9%)
First-line EGFR-TKIs + bevacizumab	
Erlotinib	53 (52.0%)
Afatinib	49 (48.0%)
Secondary EGFR-T790M mutation detection me	ethods
Tissue rebiopsy	99 (97.1%)
Plasma circulating tumor(ct)-DNA	8 (7.8%)
Secondary T790M mutation	
Positive	59 (57.9%)
Negative	43 (42.1%)
Subsequent treatments	
Osimertinib	58 (56.9%)
Chemotherapy	42 (41.1%)
Other EGFR-TKI**	1 (1%)
	(Continued)

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

Total	N = 102 (%)		
Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs)	9 (8.8%)		
Chemotherapy + ICI	8 (7.8%)		
ICI alone	1 (1%)		
Anti-angiogenesis agents			
Bevacizumab	14		
Ramucirumab	9		

SD, standard deviation; ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; PD-1, programmed death-1; PD-L1, programmed cell death-ligand 1.

* 1 G719X, 1 S768I.

**Afatinib.

was positive. All five (4.9%) patients were negative for the T790M mutation based on ctDNA tests. In the 3 (2.9%) patients who underwent ctDNA testing alone, 2 (1.9%) were positive for the T790M mutation, and 1 (1%) was negative. In the 59 (57.9%) patients positive for the T790M mutation, 55 (53.9%) were administered osimertinib, 3 (2.9%) received platinum-based doublet chemotherapy, and 1 (1%) was switched from first-line erlotinib to afatinib and continued to receive bevacizumab as 2nd-line therapy. In 43 (42.1%) patients negative for the T790M mutation, 3 (2.9%) received osimertinib, 39 received chemotherapy-based therapy, and 1 patient received single pembrolizumab (anti-programmed death-1 (PD-1) inhibitor) as 2nd-line therapy. Twenty-three (22.5%) patients received antiangiogenic agents, including bevacizumab and ramucirumab (anti-VEGFR inhibitor), as second-line therapy. Four (3.9%) patients received second-line osimertinib with continuation of

TABLE 2 Univariate and multivariate analyses of predictors associated with acquired T790M mutation (n=59).

	Number of patients	T790M+ (%)	P value	Multivariate analysis	
				Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Basic data					
Sex			0.584		
Male	20	33.9 (%)			
Female	39	66.1 (%)			
Age (years)			0.466		
<u>≦</u> 60	30	50.8 (%)			
> 60	29	49.2 (%)			
ECOG PS			0.219		
0-1	50	84.7 (%)			
≥2	9	15.3 (%)			
Smoking			0.830		
Nonsmoker	45	76.3 (%)			
Current/former	14	23.7 (%)			
EGFR mutation			0.087		
L858R	23	39.0 (%)			
Exon 19 deletion	35	59.3 (%)			
Others	1	1.7 (%)			
Stage			0.999		
IIIB	3	5.1 (%)			
IV	56	94.9(%)			
First-line TKI used					
Afatinib	23	39.0 (%)	0.033	1	
Erlotinib	36	61.0 (%)		2.734 (1.144-6.531)	0.029
PFS (months)			0.013		
≦12	10	16.9 (%)		1	
>12	49	83.1 (%)		2.958 (1.142-7.661)	0.025

ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status; CI, confidence interval; PFS: progression-free survival; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor.

bevacizumab, and 6 (5.9%) patients received ramucirumab combined with osimertinib as second-line therapy. Ten (9.8%) patients received bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy, and 4 (3.9%) of the 10 (9.8%) patients received bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy and atezolizumab (anti-programmed cell death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) inhibitor). Three (2.9%) patients received chemotherapy combined with ramucirumab.

3.2 Clinical factors associated with secondary EGFR T790M mutation after first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st-/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs

The clinical factors associated with secondary T790M mutation after first-line therapy in this study were analyzed by using univariate and multivariate Cox regression (Table 2). In univariate analysis, the primary exon 19 deletion mutation had a trend of a higher secondary T790M mutation-positive rate than the primary L858R mutation, but no statistical significance was achieved. First-line bevacizumab combined with erlotinib had a significantly higher secondary T790M mutation-positive rate than bevacizumab combined with afatinib. In addition, a longer PFS (> 12 months) while on first-line treatment had a significantly higher T790M mutation rate than a shorter PFS (≦12 months). The multivariate analysis showed that first-line erlotinib use (vs. afatinib, odds ratio: 2.734, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.144-6.531, P = 0.029) and longer PFS while on first-line therapy (vs. ≤ 12 months PFS, odds ratio: 2.958, 95% CI: 1.142-7.661, P = 0.025) were independent predictive factors associated with secondary T790M mutation. The clinical information comparison between patients treated with first-line afatinib plus bevacizumab and erlotinib plus erlotinib is shown in Supplementary Table S1.

3.3 Analysis of PFS and OS between the two first-line therapy groups

The PFS and OS of the 2 first-line therapies were analyzed by Kaplan-Meier survival curves. There was no significant difference in the median PFS of first-line bevacizumab combined with erlotinib and first-line bevacizumab combined with afatinib (19.6 vs. 18.7 months, hazard ratio (HR) = 1.05; CI: 0.52-1.15, P = 0.201) (Figure 2A). Patients with different primary EGFR mutations (L858R and exon 19 deletion) were divided into 2 groups to analyze the PFS associated with first-line therapies. In L858R-mutated patients, the median PFS was 18.4 and 21.3 months for the bevacizumab combined with erlotinib group and bevacizumab combined with erlotinib group, respectively (HR = 1.05; CI: 0.59–1.87, P = 0.874) (Figure 2B). For patients with primary exon 19 deletion mutations, the median PFS of the first-line bevacizumab combined with erlotinib group was significantly higher than that of the first-line bevacizumab combined with afatinib group (20.7 vs. 13.9 months, HR = 0.53; CI: 0.29-0.94, P = 0.031) (Figure 2C). Regarding OS, no significant difference was noted between the 2 groups of patients receiving first-line bevacizumab combined with erlotinib and first-line bevacizumab combined with afatinib (median OS: 49.4 VS. 42.6 months, HR = 0.841; CI: 0.51-1.38, P = 0.470) (Figure 2D). Patients with baseline brain metastasis were analyzed, and the results are shown in Supplementary Figure S1. The treatment response rate of first-line combination therapy was 84.8%, and median PFS was 14.7months in patients with baseline brain metastasis (Supplementary Figures S1A, B).



FIGURE 2

Analysis of progression-free survival (PFS) for first-line treatments and overall survival (OS) for first-line treatments by Kaplan–Meier survival curves. (A) Comparison of median PFS between bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib (HR = 1.05; 95% CI, 0.52-1.15; P= 0.201). (B) The median PFS between bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib in primary L858R-mutated patients (HR = 1.05; 95% CI, 0.59-1.87; P= 0.874). (C) The median PFS between bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib in primary exon 19 deletion-mutated patients (HR = 0.53; 95% CI, 0.29-0.94; P= 0). (D) The median OS between bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib (HR = 0.841; 95% CI, 0.51-1.38; P= 0.470).

TABLE 3 Clinical response to 2nd-line therapy.

	Osimertinib N =58 (%)	Nonosimertinib N = 44 (%)	P value
CR	0	0	0.001
PR	30 (51.7%)	10 (22.7%)	
SD	26 (44.8)	24 (54.5%)	
PD	2 (3.5%)	10 (22.7%)	
RR (%)	51.7	22.7	
DCR (%)	96.5	77.3	

CR, complete response; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; PD, progressive disease; RR, response rate; DCR, disease control rate.

The median OS of patients with baseline brain metastasis was 34.3 months (Supplementary Figure S1C).

3.4 Treatment outcomes of patients with different T790M mutation statuses and subsequent treatments

Most secondary T790M mutation-positive patients (56 of 59 = 94.9%) who received osimertinib as second-line therapy were divided into osimertinib and nonosimertinib groups for comparison. Second-line osimertinib treatment had a significantly higher objective RR than nonosimertinib therapy (51.7% vs. 22.7%, P = 0.001) (Table 3). All 3 patients who underwent liquid biopsy alone received osimertinib as subsequent treatments, and all

patients had SD to osimertinib therapy. The PFS of the 3 patients ranged from 6.37 to 22.17 months. The patient who was T790M negative in liquid biopsy had a 14.83 PFS on osimertinib therapy.

Patients with secondary T790M mutation and second-line therapy had a significantly longer median PFS than those without T790M mutation (15.4 vs. 7.1 months, HR = 0.37; CI: 0.22-0.61, P < 0.001) (Figure 3A). The median PFS of those who received secondline osimertinib therapy was significantly longer than that of those who received nonosimertinib therapy (13.7 vs. 7.1 months, HR = 0.38; CI: 0.23-0.63, P < 0.001) (Figure 3B). The length of PFS of patients who received first-line plus second-line treatments (PFS1 + PFS2) was evaluated. Patients with a secondary T790M mutation had a significantly longer median PFS (1 + 2) than those without a T790M mutation (40.2 vs. 25.3 months, HR = 0.39; CI: 0.24-0.65, P < 0.001) (Figure 3C). Patients with a secondary T790M mutation who received 2nd-line osimertinib had a significantly longer median PFS (1 + 2) than those without a T790M mutation who received nonosimertinib therapy (41.8 vs. 25.9 months, HR = 0.39; CI: 0.23–0.65, P < 0.001) (Figure 3D).

We further analyzed the OS of patients with different secondary EGFR T790M mutation statuses and subsequent treatments. Patients with a secondary T790M mutation had a significantly longer median OS than those without a T790M mutation (54.3 vs. 33.5 months, HR = 0.34; CI: 0.19–0.59, P < 0.001) (Figure 4A). Patients with secondary T790M mutation who received osimertinib as subsequent treatment had a significantly longer median OS than those without T790M mutation who received a nonosimertinib subsequent therapy (54.3 VS. 31.9 months, HR = 0.36; CI: 0.21–0.62, P < 0.001) (Figure 4B).



FIGURE 3

Analysis of progression-free survival (PFS) of second-line and first-line plus second-line (PFS1 + 2) therapies by Kaplan–Meier survival curves. (A) Comparison of PFS of second-line treatments between T790M mutation-positive and T790M mutation-negative patients (HR = 0.37; 95% CI, 0.22-0.61; P< 0.001). (B) Comparison of PFS between second-line osimertinib and nonosimertinib treatments (HR = 0.38; 95% CI, 0.23-0.63; P< 0.001). (C) Comparison of PFS (1 + 2) between T790M mutation-positive and T790M mutation-negative patients (HR = 0.39; 95% CI, 0.24-0.65; P< 0.001). (D) Comparison of PFS (1 + 2) between second-line osimertinib and nonosimertinib treatments (HR = 0.39; 95% CI, 0.24-0.65; P< 0.001). (D) Comparison of PFS (1 + 2) between second-line osimertinib and nonosimertinib treatments (HR = 0.39; 95% CI, 0.23-0.65; P< 0.001).



Analysis of overall survival (OS) between different T790M mutation statuses and second-line treatments by Kaplan–Meier survival curves. (A) Comparison of OS between T790M mutation-positive and T790M mutation-negative patients (HR = 0.34; 95% Cl, 0.19–0.59; P< 0.001). (B) Comparison of OS between second-line osimertinib in T790M-positive and nonosimertinib in T790M-negative patients (HR = 0.36; 95% Cl, 0.21–0.62; P< 0.001).

4 Discussion

The results of this study provide some important clinical information regarding sequential treatments for advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients receiving first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs. First, the secondary T790M mutation rate after PD in this study was 57.9%. Second, the use of erlotinib in first-line therapy and PFS > 12 months were identified as independent predictive factors associated with higher secondary T790M mutation rates. Third, T790M-mutated patients receiving subsequent osimertinib had a significantly better treatment response and longer PFS than those without the T790M mutation receiving nonosimertinib therapy. In addition, T790M-mutated patients receiving subsequent osimertinib had significantly longer OS than those without the T790M mutation.

The acquired T790M mutation rate in this study was 57.9% and was consistent with that reported in previous studies (18, 21, 22). In contrast to previous studies, all the patients in this study received bevacizumab in addition to 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs, whereas most patients in previous studies received EGFR-TKI-alone therapies (18, 21, 22). The results of our study indicated that bevacizumab in addition to 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs does not alter the mechanism of acquired resistance in advanced primary EGFRmutated NSCLC. Some previous studies showed that prior afatinib therapy was associated with a lower secondary T790M mutationpositive rate when compared with first-generation EGFR-TKIs, and these results were similar to those in our study (23, 24). Some previous studies showed that prior afatinib therapy was not associated with a lower secondary T790M mutation-positive rate and that this rate was even higher than that for first-generation EGFR-TKIs (25, 26). Although there are differences among our study and previous studies, the acquired T790M mutation rates after afatinib therapy in previous studies ranged from 30-50% (22-26). In addition, the small sample sizes in these studies may have led to different statistical significances among these studies. A long PFS of prior EGFR-TKI therapy (> 12 months) was identified as a predictive factor associated with acquired T790M mutation positive rates in previous studies, which was similar to the result in this study (22-26). A previous study showed that prolonging afatinib therapy in EGFR-mutated NSCLC by adding bevacizumab led to a positive acquired T790M mutation conversion, and the results in the same study suggested that prolonging afatinib therapy may induce the clonal selection of acquired T790M-mutated NSCLC cells (27). This clonal selection hypothesis may explain why long PFS of prior 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKI therapies is associated with an increased secondary T790M mutation rate. In the analysis of this study, bevacizumab combined with erlotinib had a significantly longer median PFS than bevacizumab combined with afatinib among patients with exon 19 deletion mutations. In addition, more patients in the bevacizumab combined with erlotinib treatment group had a longer PFS (> 12 months) than those in the bevacizumab combined with afatinib group (40 (75.5%) vs. 32 (65.3%)). Our study mainly focused on the rebiopsy results and subsequent therapies, and the study patients were retrospectively selected by selection criteria. Therefore, selection bias may lead to statistical significance in the median PFS between the first-line afatinib and erlotinib combined with bevacizumab groups in patients with exon 19 deletion mutations. Taken together, long treatment PFS is suggested to be the main factor associated with the occurrence of secondary T790M mutation, not afatinib and erlotinib therapies.

In the results of a previous clinical trial (AURA, NCT01802632), osimertinib had a 21% RR and a median PFS of 2.8 months for treating T790M mutation-negative patients with acquired resistance to prior EGFR-TKIs. The results of the AURA trial indicated that osimertinib is less effective in T790M-negative patients than in those with secondary T790M mutations after resistance to prior EGFR-TKI treatments (21). Before osimertinib was approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (U.S. FDA, November 2015), platinum-based chemotherapy was the suggested subsequent treatment for patients who had PD after 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKI therapies (28, 29). Although osimertinib was approved for advanced NSCLC with acquired T790M mutation, chemotherapy has remained the clinically preferred subsequent treatment for T790M-negative patients with PD after 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKI therapies; furthermore, drugs targeting mutations other than T790M are still under investigation in clinical trials (29). Although immunotherapy, such as PD1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), has been shown to improve the survival of advanced NSCLC patients without driver mutations (30), the survival benefit of immunotherapy is still very limited for advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients (29, 30).

Osimertinib has been widely used as a late-line therapy for T790M-mutated NSCLC patients based on the results of AURA serial trials (20, 21, 31). In the survival analysis of the NEJ026 trial, patients treated with osimertinib in second-line or later-line therapies had significantly longer OS than those without osimertinib therapy after bevacizumab plus erlotinib or erlotinib alone treatment (32). A previous study also showed that T790Mmutated NSCLC patients receiving subsequent osimertinib therapy had significantly longer OS than those without acquired T790M mutation and subsequent osimertinib therapy. The same study showed that the use of 1st-generation or 2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs in first-line therapies did not affect OS (22). The results of our study are compatible with those shown in 2 previous clinical studies (22, 32). Taken together, these results indicated that the acquired T790M mutation is a key factor associated with OS in advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients receiving 1st-generation or 2ndgeneration EGFR-TKIs as first-line therapies.

Osimertinib is suggested as a first-line therapy for advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients because a pivotal clinical trial (FLAURA) showed that osimertinib had a median PFS of 18.9 months and OS of 38.6 months, which were significantly longer than those of comparator therapies (10.2 months of median PFS and 31.8 months of median OS) (33). The median OS associated with first-line osimertinib in the FLAURA trial was 38.6 months (33). In the FLAURA trial (33), patients in the comparator arm received gefitinib or erlotinib alone treatments, whereas all patients in our study received bevacizumab in addition to erlotinib or afatinib.

A previous prospective trial (RELAY) demonstrated that erlotinib combined with ramucirumab had a significantly longer median PFS than erlotinib combined with placebo in untreated advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients (19.4 vs. 12.4 months). Erlotinib combined with ramucirumab has been suggested as a firstline therapy choice for advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC based on the results of the RELAY trial (34). However, patients with baseline brain metastasis were excluded by the RELAY trial, and the efficacy of ramucirumab combined with erlotinib in EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients with brain metastasis was not clear (34). In the NEJ026 study, 32% of study patients had baseline brain metastasis in the erlotinib combined with bevacizumab and erlotinib alone arms (14). A previous study also reported that bevacizumab in addition to EGFR-TKIs was more effective for brain metastasis control and prevention of the progression of brain metastasis than EGFR-TKI treatment alone in NSCLC with EGFR mutations (35). In addition, some previous studies reported that systemic administration of bevacizumab was effective for the control of NSCLC-related malignant pleural effusion (36). In this study, approximately 30% of patients had baseline brain metastasis and malignant pleural effusion. Regarding the concern regarding metastatic sites and study populations in previous studies, bevacizumab in combination with 1st-/2nd- EGFR-TKIs would be considered as first-line therapy for metastatic EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients.

In the NEJ026 clinical trial, patients who received osimertinib as second-line therapy had a median OS of approximately 50 months, and those who did not receive osimertinib treatments as second-line therapy had a median survival of approximately 40 months (32). In another retrospective clinical study (GioTag study), advanced EGFRmutated NSCLC patients receiving first-line afatinib followed by osimertinib had a median OS of 37.6 months and 44.8 months in Asian patients (37, 38). A previous study also showed that patients receiving 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs followed by osimertinib had a median OS over 50 months (22). In this study, patients with acquired T790M mutations receiving subsequent osimertinib had a median OS of 54.3 months, which was compatible with the results of previous studies (22, 32, 37, 38). Together, these results suggest that the OS of advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients who received bevacizumab in combination with 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs or afatinib alone followed by second-line osimertinib is not inferior to that of patients who received first-line osimertinib therapy. In addition, the median PFS of first-line bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib in advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients shown by previous studies seems not inferior to first-line osimertinib (13-16). Therefore, bevacizumab combined with erlotinib or afatinib may be a choice of first-line therapy for advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients other than osimertinib.

Rebiopsy, either liquid biopsy or direct tissue biopsy, for secondary T790M detection is recommended as standard care for advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC with acquired resistance to 1st/ 2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs (21-26). Most patients in our study underwent tissue rebiopsy or liquid biopsy alone, and only a few (5 = 4.9%) patients underwent both procedures for tests. The second-line osimertinib therapy in this study had a 51.7% RR and a median PFS of 13.7 months, and these results indicated that the T790M mutation testing results were reliable in our study. Some previous studies have suggested that both liquid and tissue rebiopsy be performed for NGS tests because repeated biopsy by liquid or tissue increased the T790M detection rate and may also detect other genomic alterations for optimal subsequent treatment (39-41). In our study, all 5 patients who underwent both liquid and tissue rebiopsies were T790M-negative in liquid biopsy, and one was T790M-positive in tissue rebiopsy. This result indicated that a repeated tissue biopsy converts T790M-negative to T790Mpositive results in some patients and is compatible with the findings of previous studies (39-41). In the 3 patients who underwent liquid biopsy alone, 2 had T790M-positive results, and 1 was T790M-negative. Although repeated rebiopsy has been recommended to increase the diagnostic accuracy and T790M positive rate, most patients received only one tissue rebiopsy. The main concerns regarding why patients did not receive repeated biopsies include personal acceptance, procedure-related adverse events, and tumor site procedure-unapproachable tumor sites such as tiny distant metastases (42, 43). Taken together, these findings explain why most patients have a low willingness to undergo repeated tissue rebiopsy in real-world clinical practice.

Small cell lung cancer transformation is a rare (<5%) acquired resistance to previous EGFR-TKI treatment (44). In this study, 2 patients had small cell transformation according to tissue rebiopsy and were excluded from further analysis. For advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients who experienced small cell transformation after previous EGFR-TKI treatments, chemotherapy with platinum-based regimens combined with etoposide is recommended if the patient has acceptable performance status (44). For the 3 patients who underwent liquid biopsies only in this study, all of them were controlled by subsequent osimertinib treatments. Small cell transformation has also been reported as a resistance mechanism to prior osimertinib therapy in a previous study (44). According to the clinical treatment response to osimertinib in the 3 patients who underwent liquid biopsies only, the possibility of small cell transformation was very low, and the 3 patients were still included in this study.

Some limitations of this study should be clarified. First, the study population was East Asian, and whether the secondary T790M mutation rate and outcomes in other ethnic populations are similar to our results is unclear. A recent phase III clinical trial (BEVERLY) investigating the combination of bevacizumab with erlotinib for the treatment of advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC recruited study patients mainly in European countries (45). In this trial, 24 (49%) patients in the bevacizumab combined with erlotinib arm were reported to receive osimertinib as second-line therapy, but information on the acquired T790M mutation and outcomes was not available (45). Second, the first-line EGFR-TKIs administered in this study were erlotinib and afatinib, and no patients in this study received gefitinib (1st-generation) or dacomitinib (2nd-generation) as first-line treatments. Future studies may be needed to analyze the clinical outcomes of advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients receiving first-line bevacizumab combined with gefitinib or dacomitinib. Finally, the use of multiple genomic alteration detection methods, such as NGS, in NSCLC with acquired resistance to previous bevacizumab combined with erlotinib therapy increases in clinical practice, and resistant genomic alterations other than T790M, such as MET, HER2 or BRAF, can be detected by NGS (29). Targeted therapies for the abovementioned genomic alterations have been developed and explored in clinical trials (29), and patients who receive new targeted therapies may have improved outcomes in the future.

5 Conclusion

Our study clearly demonstrated the clinical perspective regarding sequential treatments with first-line bevacizumab combined with 1st/2nd-generation EGFR-TKIs in advanced lung adenocarcinoma patients harboring EGFR mutations. Secondary T790M mutation detection tests and optimal use of osimertinib may yield favorable survival outcomes.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This multicenter observational study was approved by the institutional review board (IRB) of the Chang Gung Medical Foundation (no. 202000137B0 and no. 202100379B0) and Taipei Buddhist Tzu Chi General Hospital (no. 09-X-002). Obtaining consent from study subjects was waived by the IRB because of the retrospective nature of this study. All patients in this study received standard cancer care and treatments following the protocol of Chang Gung Medical Foundation and Taipei Buddhist Tzu Chi General Hospital cancer centers. All treatment and evaluation procedures were performed in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration. No identifiable subjective information, such as personal ID or birthday, was presented in this manuscript.

Author contributions

Conception and design: P-CH, C-YH, C-TY. Acquisition of data: P-CH, C-YH, YL, S-HL, L-CC, H-WK, C-CW. Analysis and interpretation of data: P-CH, C-YH, YL, S-HL, L-CC, C-EW, SK, J-SJ, AH, H-WK, C-CW. Writing of the manuscript: P-CH, and C-TY. Review and revision of the manuscript: L-CC, C-EW, SK, H-WK, C-TY. Administrative and funding support: P-CH, C-YH, C-TY. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the Taiwan Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) (grant no. 111-2628-B-182-011- and 111-2628-B-182A-003- to P-CH).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2023.1249106/ full#supplementary-material 1. Sharma SV, Bell DW, Settleman J, Haber DA. Epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2007) 7:169–81. doi: 10.1038/nrc2088

2. Zhou H, Geng F, Chen Y, Du J, Zhang X, Liu B, et al. The mineral dust-induced gene mdig regulates angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in lung adenocarcinoma by modulating the expression of VEGF-A/C/D via EGFR and HIF-1 α signaling. Oncol Rep (2021) 45(5):60. doi: 10.3892/or.2021.8011

3. Hsu PC, Jablons DM, Yang CT, You L. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) pathway, yes-associated protein (YAP) and the regulation of programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(15):3821. doi: 10.3390/ijms20153821

4. Wei J, Meng P, Terpstra MM, van Rijk A, Tamminga M, Scherpen F, et al. Clinical value of EGFR copy number gain determined by amplicon-based targeted next generation sequencing in patients with EGFR-mutated NSCLC. *Target Oncol* (2021) 16(2):215–226y. doi: 10.1007/s11523-021-00798-2

5. Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, Vergnenegre A, Massuti B, Felip E, et al. Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small cell lung cancer (EURTAC): A multicenter, open-label, randomized phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13:239–46. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70393-X

6. Zhou C, Wu YL, Chen G, Feng J, Liu XQ, Wang C, et al. Final overall survival results from a randomized, phase III study of erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment of EGFR mutation-positive advanced non-small cell lung cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802). *Ann Oncol* (2015) 26:1877–83. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv276

7. Yang JC, Wu YL, Schuler M, Sebastian M, Popat S, Yamamoto N, et al. Afatinib versus cisplatin-based chemotherapy for EGFR mutation-positive lung adenocarcinoma (LUX-Lung 3 and LUX-Lung 6): analysis of overall survival data from two randomized, phase 3 trials. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(2):141–51. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71173-8

8. Bi J, Dixit G, Zhang Y, Devor EJ, Losh HA, Newtson AM, et al. Advantages of tyrosine kinase anti-angiogenic cediranib over bevacizumab: cell cycle abrogation and synergy with chemotherapy. *Pharm (Basel)* (2021) 14(7):682. doi: 10.3390/ph14070682

9. Shiau JP, Wu CC, Chang SJ, Pan MR, Liu W, Ou-Yang F, et al. FAK regulates VEGFR2 expression and promotes angiogenesis in triple-negative breast cancer. *Biomedicines* (2021) 9(12):1789. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9121789

10. Reinmuth N, Jauch A, Xu EC, Muley T, Granzow M, Hoffmann H, et al. Correlation of EGFR mutations with chromosomal alterations and expression of EGFR, ErbB3 and VEGF in tumor samples of lung adenocarcinoma patients. *Lung Cancer* (2008) 62:193–201. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2008.03.011

11. Naumov GN, Nilsson MB, Cascone T, Briggs A, Straume O, Akslen LA, et al. Combined vascular endothelial growth factor receptor and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) blockade inhibits tumor growth in xenograft models of EGFR inhibitor resistance. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(10):3484–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2904

12. Yang Y, Wang L, Li X, Zhang S, Yu J, Nie X, et al. Efficacy and safety of bevacizumab combined with EGFR-TKIs in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: A meta-analysis. *Thorac Cancer* (2022) 13(1):31–7. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.14214

13. Seto T, Kato T, Nishio M, Goto K, Atagi S, Hosomi Y, et al. Erlotinib alone or with bevacizumab as first-line therapy in patients with advanced nonsquamous nonsmall cell lung cancer harboring EGFR mutations (JO25567): An open-label, randomized, multicenter, phase 2 study. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15:1236-44. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70381-X

14. Saito H, Fukuhara T, Furuya N, Watanabe K, Sugawara S, Iwasawa S, et al. Erlotinib plus bevacizumab versus erlotinib alone in patients with EGFR-positive advanced nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer (NEJ026): Interim analysis of an open-label, randomized, multicenter, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20:625–35. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30035-X

15. Wang CC, Chiu LC, Tung PH, Kuo SC, Chu CH, Huang AC, et al. A real-world analysis of patients with untreated metastatic epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-mutated lung adenocarcinoma receiving first-line erlotinib and bevacizumab combination therapy. *Oncol Ther* (2021) 9(2):489–503. doi: 10.1007/s40487-021-00152-6

16. Lee SH, Lin YC, Chiu LC, Ju JS, Tung PH, Huang AC, et al. Comparison of afatinib and erlotinib combined with bevacizumab in untreated stage IIIB/IV epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated lung adenocarcinoma patients: a multicenter clinical analysis study. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2022) 14. doi: 10.1177/17588359221113278

17. Ishikawa N, Ninomiya T, Kozuki T, Kuyama S, Inoue K, Toshihide, et al. Afatinib (Afa) + bevacizumab (Bev) versus afatinib alone as first-line treatment of patients with EGFR-mutated advanced nonsquamous NSCLC: Primary analysis of the multicenter, randomized, phase II study—AfaBev-CS study. *J Clin Oncol* (2022) 16_suppl:9112–2. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2022.40.16_suppl.9112

18. Seto T, Nogami N, Yamamoto N, Atagi S, Tashiro N, Yoshimura Y, et al. Realworld EGFR T790M testing in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: A prospective observational study in Japan. *Oncol Ther* (2018) 6(2):203–15. doi: 10.1007/s40487-018-0064-8

19. Buder A, Hochmair MJ, Filipits M. The allele frequency of EGFR mutations predicts survival in advanced EGFR T790M-positive non-small cell lung cancer

patients treated with Osimertinib. Target Oncol (2021) 16(1):77-84. doi: 10.1007/s11523-020-00781-3

20. Mok TS, Wu Y-L, Ahn M-J, Garassino MC, Kim HR, Ramalingam SS, et al. Osimertinib or platinum-pemetrexed in EGFR T790M-positive lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2017) 376(7):629–40. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1612674

21. Jänne PA, Yang JC, Kim DW, Planchard D, Ohe Y, Ramalingam SS, et al. AZD9291 in EGFR inhibitor-resistant non-small cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372(18):1689–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJM0a1411817

22. Hsu PC, Chang JW, Chang CF, Huang CY, Yang CT, Kuo CS, et al. Sequential treatment in advanced non-small cell lung cancer harboring EGFR mutations. *Ther Adv Respir Dis* (2022) 16. doi: 10.1177/17534666221132731

23. Huang AC, Huang CH, Ju JS, Chiu TH, Tung PH, Wang CC, et al. First- or second-generation epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in a large, real-world cohort of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2021) 13. doi: 10.1177/17588359211035710

24. Hsieh PC, Wu YK, Huang CY, Yang MC, Kuo CY, Tzeng IS, et al. Comparison of T790M acquisition after treatment with first- and second-generation tyrosine-kinase inhibitors: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Front Oncol* (2022) 12:869390. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.869390

25. Wu SG, Chiang CL, Liu CY, Wang CC, Su PL, Hsia TC, et al. An observational study of acquired EGFR T790M-dependent resistance to EGFR-TKI treatment in lung adenocarcinoma patients in Taiwan. *Front Oncol* (2020) 4:10:1481. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.01481

26. Lin YT, Chen JS, Liao WY, Ho CC, Hsu CL, Yang CY, et al. Clinical outcomes and secondary epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) T790M mutation among first-line gefitinib, erlotinib and afatinib-treated non-small cell lung cancer patients with activating EGFR mutations. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 144(11):2887–96. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32025

27. Hata A, Katakami N, Kaji R, Yokoyama T, Kaneda T, Tamiya M, et al. Does afatinib plus bevacizumab combination therapy induce positive conversion of T790M in previously negative patients? *Oncotarget* (2018) 9(78):34765–71. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.26192

28. Hsu PC, Liu CY, Li SH, Huang SH, Wang CL, Kuo SCH, et al. Efficacy of platinum-based combination chemotherapy in advanced lung adenocarcinoma harboring sensitive epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations with acquired resistance to first-line EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI). *Cancer Treat Res Commun* (2016) 9:48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ctarc.2016.07.005

29. Magios N, Bozorgmehr F, Volckmar AL, Kazdal D, Kirchner M, Herth FJ, et al. Real-world implementation of sequential targeted therapies for EGFR-mutated lung cancer. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2021) 13. doi: 10.1177/1758835921996509

30. Digkas E, Tabiim AJ, Smith D, Valachis A. Randomized versus real-world evidence on the efficacy and toxicity of checkpoint inhibitors in cancer in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer or melanoma: A meta-analysis. *Target Oncol* (2022) 17(5):507–15. doi: 10.1007/s11523-022-00901-1

31. Yang JC, Ahn MJ, Kim DW, Ramalingam SS, Sequist LV, Su WC, et al. Osimertinib in pretreated T790M-positive advanced non-small cell lung cancer: AURA study phase II extension component. *J Clin Oncol* (2017) 35(12):1288–96. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.3223

32. Kawashima Y, Fukuhara T, Saito H, Furuya N, Watanabe K, Sugawara S, et al. Bevacizumab plus erlotinib versus erlotinib alone in Japanese patients with advanced, metastatic, EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer (NEJ026): overall survival analysis of an open-label, randomized, multicenter, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Respir Med* (2022) 10 (1):72–82. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00166-1

33. Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in untreated, EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med (2020) 382(1):41–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1913662

34. Nakagawa K, Garon EB, Seto T, Nishio M, Ponce Aix S, Paz-Ares L, et al. Ramucirumab plus erlotinib in patients with untreated, EGFR-mutated, advanced non-small cell lung cancer (RELAY): a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20(12):1655–69. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30634-5

35. Feng PH, Chen KY, Huang YC, Luo CS, Wu SM, Chen TT, et al. Bevacizumab reduces \$100A9-positive MDSCs linked to intracranial control in patients with EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. *J Thorac Oncol* (2018) 13(7):958–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.03.032

36. Zhao J, Liu N, Zhang B, He X, Ma Q, et al. The role of angiogenesis in Malignant pleural effusion: from basic research to clinical application. *Am J Cancer Res* (2022) 12 (11):4879–91.

37. Hochmair MJ, Morabito A, Hao D, Yang CT, Soo RA, Yang JC, et al. Sequential afatinib and osimertinib in patients with EGFR mutation-positive non-small cell lung cancer: updated analysis of the observational GioTag study. *Future Oncol* (2019) 15 (25):2905–14. doi: 10.2217/fon-2019-0346

38. Hochmair MJ, Morabito A, Hao D, Yang CT, Soo RA, Yang JC, et al. Sequential afatinib and osimertinib in patients with EGFR mutation-positive non-small cell lung cancer: final analysis of the GioTag study. *Future Oncol* (2020) 16(34):2799–808. doi: 10.2217/fon-2020-0740

39. Chiang CL, Huang HC, Shen CI, Luo YH, Chen YM, Chiu CH. PostProgression survival in secondary EGFR T790M-mutated non-small cell lung cancer patients with and without Osimertinib after failure of a previous EGFR TKI. *Target Oncol* (2020) 15 (4):503–12. doi: 10.1007/s11523-020-00737-7

40. Popat S, Jung HA, Lee SY, Hochmair MJ, Lee SH, Escriu C, et al. Sequential afatinib and osimertinib in patients with EGFR mutation-positive NSCLC and acquired T790M: A global noninterventional study (UpSwinG). *Lung Cancer* (2021) 162:9–15. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.09.009

41. Leonetti A, Sharma S, Minari R, Perego P, Giovannetti E, Tiseo M. Resistance mechanisms to osimertinib in EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer. *Br J Cancer* (2019) 121(9):725–37. doi: 10.1038/s41416-019-0573-8

42. Hasegawa T, Sawa T, Futamura Y, Horiba A, Ishiguro T, Marui T, et al. Feasibility of rebiopsy in non-small cell lung cancer treated with epidermal growth

factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Intern Med (2015) 54(16):1977-80. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.54.4394

43. Kim TO, Oh IJ, Kho BG, Park HY, Chang JS, Park CK, et al. Feasibility of rebiopsy and EGFR mutation analysis in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Thorac Cancer* (2018) 9(7):856–64. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.12762

44. Sato Y, Saito G, Fujimoto D. Histologic transformation in lung cancer: when one door shuts, another opens. *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2022) 14. doi: 10.1177/17588359221130503

45. Piccirillo MC, Bonanno L, Garassino MC, Esposito G, Dazzi C, Cavanna L, et al. Addition of bevacizumab to erlotinib as first-line treatment of patients with EGFR-mutated advanced nonsquamous NSCLC: the BEVERLY multicenter randomized phase 3 trial. *J Thorac Oncol* (2022) 17(9):1086–97. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2022.05.008

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Paola Ulivi, Scientific Institute of Romagna for the Study and Treatment of Tumors (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY Mario Cioce, Campus Bio-Medico University, Italy Amir Feizi, Novo Nordisk Research Centre Oxford (NNRCO), United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE William W. Lockwood

RECEIVED 31 August 2023 ACCEPTED 14 December 2023 PUBLISHED 08 January 2024

CITATION

Luu JK, Johnson FD, Jajarmi J, Sihota T, Shi R, Lu D, Farnsworth D, Spencer SE, Negri GL, Morin GB and Lockwood WW (2024) Characterizing the secretome of EGFR mutant lung adenocarcinoma. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1286821. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1286821

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Luu, Johnson, Jajarmi, Sihota, Shi, Lu, Farnsworth, Spencer, Negri, Morin and Lockwood. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Characterizing the secretome of EGFR mutant lung adenocarcinoma

Jennifer K. Luu^{1,2}, Fraser D. Johnson^{1,3}, Jana Jajarmi^{1,3}, Tianna Sihota^{1,2}, Rocky Shi^{1,3}, Daniel Lu^{1,3}, Dylan Farnsworth^{1,3}, Sandra E. Spencer⁴, Gian Luca Negri⁴, Gregg B. Morin^{4,5} and William W. Lockwood^{1,2,3*}

¹Department of Integrative Oncology, British Columbia (BC), Cancer Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ²Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ³Interdisciplinary Oncology Program, University of British Columbia (UBC), Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁴Michael Smith Genome Sciences Centre, BC Cancer Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁵Department of Medical Genetics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Background: Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer related death worldwide, mainly due to the late stage of disease at the time of diagnosis. Non-invasive biomarkers are needed to supplement existing screening methods to enable earlier detection and increased patient survival. This is critical to *EGFR*-driven lung adenocarcinoma as it commonly occurs in individuals who have never smoked and do not qualify for current screening protocols.

Methods: In this study, we performed mass spectrometry analysis of the secretome of cultured lung cells representing different stages of mutant *EGFR* driven transformation, from normal to fully malignant. Identified secreted proteins specific to the malignant state were validated using orthogonal methods and their clinical activity assessed in lung adenocarcinoma patient cohorts.

Results: We quantified 1020 secreted proteins, which were compared for differential expression between stages of transformation. We validated differentially expressed proteins at the transcriptional level in clinical tumor specimens, association with patient survival, and absolute concentration to yield three biomarker candidates: MDK, GDF15, and SPINT2. These candidates were validated using ELISA and increased levels were associated with poor patient survival specifically in EGFR mutant lung adenocarcinoma patients.

Conclusions: Our study provides insight into changes in secreted proteins during *EGFR* driven lung adenocarcinoma transformation that may play a role in the processes that promote tumor progression. The specific candidates identified can harnessed for biomarker use to identify high risk individuals for early detection screening programs and disease management for this molecular subgroup of lung adenocarcinoma patients.

KEYWORDS

lung cancer, EGFR, secretome, transformation, early detection

Background

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer mortality in men and women worldwide, contributing to 1.8 million deaths in 2020 alone (1). Lung cancer consists of two subtypes, small cell lung cancer and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which comprise 15% and 85% of cases, respectively (2). The most common NSCLC subtype is lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD), which comprises ~60% of NSCLC cases (3). LUAD can be classified into oncogenic driver subgroups, where mutations in KRAS and EGFR are common (4). KRAS mutations are associated with smoking; in contrast, EGFR mutations are associated with never smokers, especially in women and in East Asia (5, 6). LUAD is thought to arise from a stepwise process of genetic and epigenetic changes, which begins with histologically normal epithelial cells and ends with invasive carcinoma (7, 8). The majority of in vitro studies aiming to investigate the genetic alterations required to enable transformation have centered on KRAS-driven LUAD, with limited investigation into EGFR-driven LUAD (9, 10).

Lung cancer, including LUAD, is typically diagnosed in late or metastatic stages; in these stages, long term patient survival is limited due to less effective treatment methods available such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy (2, 11). Prognosis and clinical stage are directly related, incentivizing earlier lung cancer detection for improvements to patient survival (12). Patients diagnosed at stage I have a five-year survival rate of 68.4%, in contrast with those diagnosed at stage IV, where the five-year survival rate is 5.8% (13, 14). Lose dose computed tomography (LDCT), a radiographic scanning technique used to image the lungs, is the standard for lung cancer screening (15). LDCT was initially demonstrated as an effective annual screening technique for high-risk individuals in the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST), where there was a 20% reduction in lung cancer mortality (16, 17). However, LDCT is limited by non-specificity, over diagnosis of benign pulmonary nodules, and potential harms of repeated radiation (16, 18). Furthermore, LDCT screening is not universally applicable to all populations susceptible to cancer; never smokers were not included in the NSLT study and its effectiveness for this group is unclear (19, 20). One proposed strategy to supplement LDCT for better screening practices is the use of biomarkers of early cancer development (21). Biomarkers would complement LDCT by reducing screening costs through criteria refinement, supporting clinical decision making in unclear situations such as indeterminate pulmonary nodules, and personalized patient screening and treatment planning (21). Blood biomarkers are of particular interest, due to their capability for inexpensive and relatively non-invasive collection (22). However, there are few confirmed protein biomarkers for LUAD and current candidates including NSE, proGRP, CEA, SCCA, and CYRFA 21-1 are non-specific for lung cancer and cannot be used to distinguish histology nor molecular subtype (23).

The secretome consists of proteins transported from a cell into the extracellular space and it is estimated to comprise 15% of all human proteins (24). Secretome proteins include cytokines, growth factors, extracellular matrix-degrading proteinases, and cell motility factors involved in local and systemic signaling (24, 25). A regulated secretome is important in maintaining homeostasis and changes in secretome protein abundance have been implicated in cancer (26). Tumor cells can release proteins that can affect functions such as angiogenesis, immunomodulation, basement membrane degradation, and extracellular matrix modeling (27). Secreted proteins enter bodily fluids such as blood and urine, which enables non-invasive collection and potential biomarker analysis (25, 28). A recent study of 32 types of primary tumors and normaladjacent tissues found that proteins often found in the secretome are altered at the transcriptional level specifically in cancer, and found common expression decreases of proteins implicated in functions including adhesion and tumor suppression (29). These findings highlight the broad scope changes in the secretome during tumor progression and metastasis; in addition, this study showed the potential of the secretome as a reservoir of biomarker candidates such as matrix metalloprotease (MMP) family members, including MMP9 in breast and lung cancer (29-31). In NSCLC, recent secretome studies have identified proteins affecting erlotinib resistance, biomarkers for cisplatin response, and metastasis (32-34). However, secretome studies often profile immortalized cell lines, where cells are established from patient tumors and have already undergone malignant transformation (35, 36). Studying changes in secreted proteins that occur during the different steps of cancer progression from normal epithelium to invasive and metastatic cancer may therefore generate potential biomarker candidates to aid in early detection, diagnosis and prognosis. This is urgently needed in EGFR-driven LUAD, as the transformation process has not been fully elucidated and there are no concrete screening guidelines for the never smoker demographic where mutant EGFR LUAD cases are enriched (20, 37).

In this study, we investigated changes in the secretome during malignant transformation and identified potential biomarker candidates by performing proteomic analysis using an in vitro model of mutant EGFR driven transformation. We generated cell lines modeling the stepwise genetic alterations that occur during transformation, using non-transformed human bronchial epithelial cells (HBEC), and compared these against established LUAD cell lines to profile differences between stages of transformation (38). We initially identified 1020 secretome proteins and progressed through a series of groupwise and individual cell line comparisons to uncover 499 differentially expressed proteins between the untransformed and transformed states. Key selected proteins were validated with gene expression and patient survival data, to determine five biomarker candidates including MDK, GDF15, and SPINT2. This provides the first description of secretome changes during mutant EGFR-driven LUAD transformation and provides insight into the biological processes that can be applied for biomarker development.

Abbreviations: BCCA, British Columbia Cancer Agency; DPE, Differential protein expression; DNA, Deoxyribonucleic acid; EGFR, Epidermal growth factor receptor; ELISA, Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; GFP, Green fluorescent protein; GSEA, Gene set enrichment analysis; GO, Gene ontology; HBEC, Human bronchial epithelial cells; KRAS, Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog; LFC, Log fold change; LDCT, Lose dose computed tomography; LUAD, Lung adenocarcinoma; MS, Mass spectrometry; NLST, National Lung Screening Trial; NSCLC, Non-small cell lung cancer; PCA, Principal component analysis; RNA, ribonucleic acid.

Methods

Cell culture

All cell lines used were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) or gifted from Dr. Adi Gazdar (UT Southwestern Medical Center). PC-9, H1975 (NCI-H1975), HCC4006, HCC4011, H3255 (NCI-H3255) were cultured in RPMI-1640 (Thermo Fisher Scientific), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific). HBEC (HBEC3-KT) cells were cultured in Keratinocyte serum-free medium (KSFM; Thermo Fisher Scientific), supplemented with accompanying bovine pituitary extract (BPE; Thermo Fisher Scientific), human recombinant epidermal growth factor (EGF; Thermo Fisher Scientific), and 1% Pencillin-Streptomycin. All cell lines were cultured at 37°C, in 5% CO₂.

Expression constructs and cell line generation

Lentiviral vector and overexpression plasmids used to construct overexpression constructs for EGFR L858R (Plasmids #82906, #17451) and GFP (Plasmid #17445) were obtained from Addgene. Retroviral TP53 c-terminal fragment (CT) overexpression construct and pCX4 hisD vector control were gifted from Dr. Romel Somwar (Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Centre, NY). Lentivirus was produced using HEK 293TD cells (ATCC), psPAX2 (Plasmid #12260; Addgene) and pMD2.G (Plasmid #12259; Addgene). Retrovirus was produced using Phoenix-AMPHO cells (ATCC). HBEC cell lines expressing GFP, EGFR L858R, with TP53 Cterminal (CT) domain dominant negative mutations were generated by lentiviral and retroviral infection, and selected with 5µg/mL blasticidin (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and 2mg/mL Lhistidinol (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The HBEC cell line expressing EGFR L858R and TP53 CT was additionally selected in 10µM Nutlin-3a for 6 days (SelleckChem).

Western blot analysis

Protein from cell lysates were obtained by rinsing cells with cold Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and lysed in RIPA buffer (VWR) with Halt protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Samples were collected on ice, vortexed, and frozen at -80°C before being sonicated and centrifuge-separated at 15,000xg, 4°C for 10 minutes. Protein concentrations were detected using a Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), then samples were heated in 1x diluted NuPAGE LDS sample buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) containing 1:10 diluted 2-Mercaptoethanol (MilliporeSigma) at 75°C, for 10 minutes. 20-25µg of samples were run on NuPAGE 4-12% Bis-Tris protein gels (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in NuPAGE MOPS SDS running buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 200V, for 50 minutes. Samples were transferred from Bis-Tris gel to Immobilon-P PVDF (MilliporeSigma) either at 70V, 4°C, for 2 hours or 30V, 4°C overnight. Membranes were incubated in TBS-T (0.1% Tween-20) (TBS, Bio-Rad; Tween-20, Thermo Fisher Scientific) containing 5% BSA (MilliporeSigma) until primary antibody incubation.

Primary antibodies were prepared following manufacturer's instructions in TBS-T containing 5% BSA or 5% milk (MKP3); specific dilutions are noted. The following primary antibodies were used: p-ERK1/2(Thr202/Tyr204) (p-p44/42 (Thr202/Tyr204); Cell Signaling Technology, 9101); ERK1/2(p44/p42; Cell Signaling Technology, 4695); p-MEK1/2(Ser217/221) (Cell Signaling Technology, 9121); MEK1/2 (Cell Signaling Technology, 9122); p-EGFR(Tyr1068) (Cell Signaling Technology, 2234); EGFR L858R (Cell Signaling Technology, 3197); EGFR (Cell Signaling Technology, 2232); MKP3 (DUSP6) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-377070, 1:200); p53(Cell Signaling Technology, 2527); p53, to detect TP53 CT (MilliporeSigma, SAB4503011); GFP (Cell Signaling Technology, 2956); β-Actin (Cell Signaling Technology, 12620, 1:2000). Membranes were incubated in primary antibodies at 4°C overnight, then HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies according to manufacturer recommendations (Cell Signaling Technology). Proteins were detected after incubation with ECL, SuperSignal West Pico Plus Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) or SuperSignal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) on a ChemiDoc MP imager (Bio-Rad).

Secretome sample collection

Cells were seeded at approximately 80% confluency in 6cm plates in triplicate overnight: 900,000 (HBEC); 1,000,000 (PC-9); 1,000,000 (H1975); 3,500,000 (HCC4006); 7,000,000 (HCC4011); 2,500,000 (H3255). Plates were rinsed twice with DPBS and media was changed to supplement-free KSFM containing 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin (HBEC) or serum-free RPMI-1640 containing 1% Pencillin-Streptomycin (PC-9, H1975, HCC4006, HCC4011, H3255). Plates containing only media were also prepared, and all plates were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. Conditioned media was collected, centrifuged at 1000 RPM for 5 minutes, at 4°C, and filtered with a 0.45µM filter (Sarstedt) to remove cell debris. The complete 4mL volume of filtered conditioned media was centrifuged in a Vivaspin Turbo 3kDa ultrafiltration unit at 3220xg, at 8°C until media was concentrated to approximately 150-200µL. Concentrated media was buffer exchanged, where samples were centrifuged twice with 4mL 50mM HEPES buffer, pH 7.0, then once with 1mL HEPES at 3220xg, at 8°C to a final volume of 150-300uL. Samples were stored at -80°C until mass spectrometry sample preparation.

Proteomic analysis

Samples were prepared for tandem mass spectrometry (MS/ MS) analysis through a protocol of reduction, alkylation, and protein digestion. Samples were reduced by incubating with 16µL of 200 mM dithiothreitol (DTT, Bio-Rad) for 30 minutes at 55°C, then alkylated by incubating with 32 µL of 400 mM iodoacetamide (IAA, Bio-Rad) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Samples were quenched with an additional 16 µL 200 mM DTT. Trypsin/Lys-C mix was prepared for sample digestion, where 200µL of 200 mM HEPES pH 8.0 was added to 20 µg Trypsin/Lys-C (Promega). Samples were digested by incubating with 16µL Trypsin/Lys-C mix on a ThermoMixer (Eppendorf) at 1000 RPM, overnight at 37°C. One tenth of each sample was pooled and prepared to confirm quality. Peptides were acidified by adding 10% (v/v) trifluoroacetic acid (TFA, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and diluted to a concentration of 1% TFA, then desalted following a Stop And Go Extraction (STAGE) tip protocol (39). Briefly, STAGE tips were packed with 3 punches of C18 resin which was washed (100 uL 0.1% TFA in acetonitrile) and equilibrated (2x100 uL 0.1% TFA in 18 M Ω water) then peptide was loaded. Salts were removed by rinsing (200 uL 0.1% formic acid in HPLC water) then eluted in 100 uL 0.1% formic acid in 60/40 acetonitrile/HPLC water. Desalted peptides were eluted and solvent evaporated by centrifuging samples in a SpeedVac Vacuum Concentrator (Thermo Fisher Scientific) until dry. Peptides were reconstituted in a 0.1% formic acid, 1% DMSO aqueous solution and assessed for quality on a LTQ Orbitrap VelosTM (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

The remaining digested peptides were tandem mass tag (TMT) labeled using a TMT 11-plex kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) following manufacturer's instructions. Post-labeling, samples were pooled, dried by speed vacuum to evaporate excess solvent, and acidified with TFA as described above. Peptides were desalted following the STAGE tip protocol and excess solvent was reduced by vacuum centrifugation (39). Peptides were constituted in a 0.1% formic acid, 1% DMSO aqueous solution and run on an Orbitrap EclipseTM mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) set to MS2 mode. MS spectra were searched with Proteome Discoverer suite (v.2.4.0.305, Thermo Fisher Scientific) against Swissprot human reference database (20585 sequences, October 2020). Precursor and fragment ion tolerance were set to 20 ppm and 0.05 Da, respectively. Dynamic modifications included Oxidation (+15.995 Da, M), Acetylation (+42.011 Da, N-Term), and static modification included Carbamidomethyl (+57.021 Da, C) and TMT (+229.163 Da, K, N-Term). Peptide-spectrum matches (PSMs) were validated with Percolator, where only PSMs with false discovery rate (FDR)< 0.01 were retained in the analysis.

PSMs were filtered by removing PSMs with average signal-tonoise (SN) ratio lower than 10 and isolation interference higher than 50% and SN was summarized to the protein level for analysis. Protein level data was log₂-transformed and median normalized, where normalization was performed by taking the median total signal, calculating respective normalization factors for samples and media controls, and then missing values were imputed. Samples were compared against the appropriate media control (HBEC, KSFM; other cell lines, RPMI) on the log₂ scale, and enriched proteins were determined by analyzing the intersection between sample and media. Differences between technical replicates and cell lines were assessed with principal component analysis (PCA). Proteins were filtered prior to statistical analysis, where only proteins seen in 2 or more technical replicates were retained. The average \log_2 HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} signal intensity was subtracted from all samples to generate average \log_2 fold changes. Sample \log_2 fold changes were analyzed with the limma package (40) (version 3.50.0) with the moderated *t*-test in R, and adjusted *P*-values were calculated with the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure, with those<0.05 considered significant (R version 4.0.5).

Protein annotation and gene ontology enrichment analysis

The high-throughput model of DeepLoc 2.0 was used for the prediction of subcellular localization for the identified proteins (41). Functioning as a multi-label predictor, it possesses the capability to anticipate one or more localizations for a given protein. Selected gene lists were analyzed for Gene Ontology (GO) terms using the clusterProfiler package in R for enrichment in biological processes, molecular function, and cellular compartments (42). *P*-values were adjusted using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure and terms with adjp < 0.05 were retained (R version 4.0.5). Reactome enrichment analysis was performed using ShinyGO 0.77 with EnsemblIDs corresponding to the individual proteins where available (43, 44). The 'Curated.Reactome' database was assessed using default settings, consisting of FDR< 0.05, min pathway size n=2, and max pathway size n=2000 and the top 20 pathways were plotted, sorted by fold enrichment.

Microarray analysis

Z-score normalized Affymetrix gene expression data collected from 199 primary lung tumors was retrieved from Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center (45). Statistical analysis was performed with the Wilcoxon rank-sum test (Mann-Whitney U test) and adjusted P-values were calculated using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure. Analysis was performed using base R functions (version 4.0.5). Statistically significant microarray probes were mapped to their corresponding gene with the R package hgu133a.db (46) (version 3.2.3). Genes were filtered for optimal 1:1 probe:gene mapping with the R package jetset (47) (version 3.4.0) to yield a final gene list.

Survival analysis

Differentially expressed genes were analyzed for differences in patient survival with NCBI GEO gene expression dataset GSE31210 (48). Probes were mapped to the corresponding genes with the R package hgu133plus2.db (49) (version 3.2.3). Median overall survival was calculated by applying a median split in gene expression and the Logrank test in Graphpad Prism 6. Quantification of GDF-15 in the secretome was performed using the Human GDF-15 Quantikine ELISA Kit (R&D Systems, DGD150) according to the kit instructions. MDK and SPINT2 were quantified using the Human MDK ELISA Kit (Invitrogen, EH319RB) and SPINT2 (HAI-2) Human ELISA Kit (Invitrogen, EH319RB and EHSPINT2) according to kit instructions. Quantification was performed on conditioned media samples collected under secretome collection conditions, in parallel with secretome experiment collection. All samples were run in duplicate. Sample concentrations were determined by subtracting the media background control signal, then interpolating with a standard curve. Differences in concentrations were statistically computed with the unpaired Student's T-test in Graphpad Prism6.

Trypan Blue viability stain

Cells were seeded at approximately 80% confluency in 6-well plates overnight: 350 000 (HBEC); 340,000 (PC-9); 340,000 (H1975); 1,200,000 (HCC4006); 2,400,000 (HCC4011); 850,000 (H3255). Plates were rinsed twice with PBS and media was changed to supplement-free or serum-free conditions and incubated for 24 hours. HBECs were incubated with either supplement-free KSFM and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin, or KSFM supplemented with BPE (50µg/mL), EGF (5ng/mL), and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin. NSCLC cell lines were incubated with either serum-free RPMI-1640 and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin, or RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin. Post-incubation, cells were trypsinized with 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA (Thermo Fisher Scientific; HBEC) or 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA (Thermo Fisher Scientific; NSCLC). Trypsinization was neutralized with either trypsin neutralizer (Thermo Fisher Scientific; HBEC) or RPMI-1640 containing 10% FBS (NSCLC), cells mixed in 0.4% Trypan Blue solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at a 1:1 ratio, and live cell population determined with a TC20 automated cell counter (Bio-Rad). The average percent live cell population was determined from the average of 3 wells with the unpaired Student's T-test in Graphpad Prism6 (2 counts per well).

Propidium Iodide viability stain

Cells were seeded and treated under supplement-free or serum-free conditions for 24 hours as described in the Trypan Blue viability analysis section. Post-treatment, cells were incubated with 1µg/mL Hoescht 33342 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 30 minutes, and 1µg/mL propidium iodide (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 10 minutes, respectively. Stained cells were imaged with an EVOS FL fluorescence microscope (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Live cell population was determined by quantifying the average live cell population from 2 images per well using ImageJ software, and applying the unpaired Student's T-test in Graphpad Prism6. The formula 100 % – ((*PI stained cell population* \div *Hoescht* 3342 *cell popul ation*) \times 100) was used to determine the live population.

Results

Mass-spectrometry secretome profiling of mutant EGFR lung cell models

To study potential changes in secreted proteins during malignant mutant EGFR-driven LUAD transformation, we generated an in vitro model approximating mutant EGFR malignant transformation with HBEC stable cell lines and selected EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines (Figure 1A). HBECs, a bronchial epithelial cell line immortalized with non-viral proteins hTERT and CDK4, was selected due to its ability to maintain a non-transformed phenotype post-immortalization in vitro and in vivo (38). HBEC cell lines stably expressing EGFR^{L858R} or GFP control, with or without dominant negative p53 C-terminal domain alterations (p53^{CT}) (GFP;p53^{wt,} GFP; p53^{CT}), EGFR^{L858R};p53^{wt}, EGFR^{L858R};p53^{CT} represent a profile of commonly mutated genes observed in EGFR mutant LUAD (4, 50). To confirm gene expression, HBEC cells were treated with the MDM2 inhibitor Nutlin-3a for 24 hours to assess p53 levels (51). HBEC GFP;p53^{CT} showed minor changes in p53 expression, consistent with a mutant p53 phenotype, comparable to the mutant p53 NSCLC cell line H1975 (52) (Figure 1B). Cell lines expressing p53^{wt} showed increased p53 expression, which is consistent with Nutlin treatment (53). Expression of EGFR^{L858R} was confirmed using mutant specific antibodies (Figure 1B).

For secretome collection and analysis, HBEC and *EGFR* mutant NSCLC cell lines were starved under supplement-free and serumfree conditions for 24 hours, with cell-free media serving as controls (Figure 1C). This was performed to improve the detection of low abundance proteins masked by FBS and minimize non-human contamination, which is common practice in secretome experiments (54). However, starvation conditions can negatively affect cell viability and increase cell cytolysis, potentially contaminating media with intracellular proteins (35, 54). To investigate whether supplement- or serum-free conditions would have an effect in this regard, we assessed cell viability prior to secretome collection (Supplementary Figures 1, 2). Cell lines treated with Alamar Blue or propidium iodide (PI) showed no major changes in cell viability, measured as a live cell population percentage (Supplementary Figures 2B, C).

Upon secretome collection, samples were analyzed by TMT-11 MS/MS. To improve detection of low abundance proteins, conditioned media was concentrated prior to mass spectrometry (Figure 1C). Data was checked for quality and potential sources of variation introduced during sample processing using principle component analysis (PCA), confirming that technical replicates were generally clustered per cell line tumor or tissue origin, separate from media control samples (Supplementary Figure 3). We identified 1020 proteins post-secretome collection. The initial output was filtered to identify proteins in conditioned media by removing the intersection between media control and cell line samples, yielding 852 candidate secreted proteins (see methods). We then assessed this subset for those predicted to contain a signal peptide for secretion and their predicted subcellular localization



mutations in EGFR-driven transformation represent an intermediate pre-malignant stage, and EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines expressing M1975, HCC4011, and H3255 represent the transformed, malignant state. (B) Western blot expression validation of HBEC stable cell lines expressing GFP, EGFR L858R, in combination with p53 CT. Cell lines were treated with 10µM Nutlin 3-a, an MDM2 inhibitor, for 24 hours to confirm mutant p53 expression. EGFR L858R basal expression was also confirmed. H1975 was used as a positive control. (C) Schematic overview of the secretome collection experiment. (D) Bar plots showing the top 20 GO enrichment terms sorted by adjusted p-value (p adj< 0.05, Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment) for biological processes, molecular functions, and cellular components, for proteins identified in 2 or more technical replicates (prior to statistical analysis).

using DeepLoc 2.0 (41, see methods). This predictive model can distinguish among 10 distinct localization and has the ability to forecast the presence of sorting signal peptides that influence the prediction of subcellular localization.

In total, image 359 (42%) of the candidate proteins are predicted to contain a signal peptide and 217 (26%) are predicted to have extracellular localization (Supplementary Table 1). This includes the proteins HSPG2, LAMA5, and AGRN that have previously been
demonstrated to be secreted (33). An additional 123 (14%) of the candidate secreted proteins were predicted to be localized to the cell membrane, including EGFR which is known to undergo shedding into the extracellular space (Supplementary Table 1) (55).

The enriched protein subset was examined for associated GO terms to further assess if proteins were secreted (Figure 1D). Cellular component GO terms were commonly associated with vesicular protein transport; the top enriched terms included "vesicle lumen", "secretory granule lumen", and "cytoplasmic vesicle lumen" (Figure 1D) (56). Other terms were associated with cellular compartments such as the lysosome and endoplasmic reticulum, which could suggest affiliation with either conventional or unconventional secretion (57, 58). Secretion-associated cellular component terms were complemented by biological process terms that are associated with extracellular proteins, with examples including "neutrophil degranulation", "extracellular matrix organization", and "platelet degranulation" (59-61). Of the molecular function GO terms identified, cadherin binding was the most significantly enriched; this may be attributed to cadherin and the associated catenin binding to facilitate cell adhesion (62). Proteolysis terms, such as peptidase and endopeptidase regulation, were also enriched (Figure 1D). These terms are consistent with protease functions, which range from cell proliferation to the immune response (63). To interrogate specific signaling pathways associated with the identified proteins we performed a separate enrichment analysis interrogating the Reactome database (see methods). This revealed the top enriched pathways to include post-translational protein phosphorylation, IGF signaling among others including platelet/neutrophil degranulation and non-integrin membrane-ECM interactions that closely resemble the results from the GO analyses (Supplementary Figure 4).

Identification of differentially expressed secreted proteins corresponding to stages of mutant EGFR mediated lung cell transformation

Differential protein expression (DPE) analysis was performed to investigate differences in secreted proteins between the premalignant and malignant stages of *EGFR* mutant LUAD transformation (Figure 1A). This was performed by comparing HBEC cell lines expressing mutant *EGFR* and/or p53 to *EGFR* mutant LUAD cell lines and assessing differences specific to each group (Figure 2A). 91 proteins were found to be differentially expressed, with 64 under-expressed and 27 over-expressed in the malignant vs non-malignant states, respectively (Figure 2A). Hierarchical clustering based on the differentially expressed proteins revealed distinct grouping between HBEC cell lines and *EGFR* mutant NSCLC cell lines (Figure 2B). This suggests that there may be distinct secretome profiles between pre-malignant and malignant stages of lung transformation. We assessed the top five over-expressed and under-expressed proteins in malignant vs nonmalignant states for their potential as biomarker candidates and found that two, NPC2 and MDK - both of which are predicted to have a signal peptide and extracellular localization (Supplementary Table 1) - have been found to be over-expressed in mouse LUAD plasma and NSCLC patient serum, respectively, confirming their secretion (64, 65). We queried the 91 differentially expressed proteins for GO terms associated with biological processes, molecular functions, and cellular components (Figure 2C). Four of the top five enriched cellular compartment GO terms were associated with secretory pathways, such as "secretory granule lumen" and "cytoplasmic vesicle lumen", suggesting the presence of secreted proteins or proteins involved in secretion; this includes conventional secretion, but also unconventional secretion mediated by lysosomes, autophagosomes, and multivesicular bodies that become exosomes (58, 66). "Collagen-containing extracellular matrix" was the top enriched cellular component GO term, which could reflect the predominant role of collagen in extracellular matrix formation and integrity, as well as functions such as cell adhesion (67, 68). Similar to the observations made during initial secretome profiling, terms related to proteolysis represented the top 5 molecular function terms (Figures 1B, 2C). This is reflective of the broad functions of proteases which include extracellular matrix assembly and remodeling and aligns with the top GO cellular component terms (69). Likewise, protease-related functions were represented in biological process GO terms; interestingly, immune cell functions were also represented (Figure 1B). The presence of immune cell-related terms suggests changes in immune regulatory programs that occur during transformation. This aligns with previous observations where PD-L1, a key protein in immune homeostasis, was upregulated in EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines and expression associated with clinical LUAD samples (70, 71). Reactome analysis also revealed enrichment in numerous immune related signaling pathways in addition to ATF6 and JAK-STAT signaling (Supplementary Figure 5).

To investigate the differences in secreted proteins during transformation, we analyzed differences in secreted proteins between untransformed and pre-malignant stages (Figure 1A, Supplementary Figure 6). This was done through comparison across the HBEC cell lines expressing different mutant proteins. DPE analysis was performed where HBEC GFP;p53^{CT}, HBEC EGFR^{L858R};p53^{wt}, and HBEC EGFR^{L858R};p53^{CT} were individually compared to HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} cells. In contrast to the malignant vs non-malignant comparison, only PFKP, FN1, SERPINA3, and SERPINB7 were found to be differentially expressed in the premalignant and non-transformed states (Supplementary Figures 6A-C). SERPINA3 and SERPINB7 were also differentially expressed in the malignant vs non-malignant comparison (Figure 2B). This suggests that their expression levels may change during multiple stages of transformation. As few differentially secreted proteins were identified through this analysis, it is possible that expression of cancer genes alone is insufficient to dramatically alter the secretome or that the pre-malignant stage of transformation may not be distinct from the histologically normal, untransformed stage in terms of secreted profiles.



FIGURE 2

Groupwise comparison between HBEC cell lines and EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines. (A) Schematic showing comparison performed during statistical analysis and volcano plot of \log_2 fold change (LFC) differentially expressed proteins identified from MS/MS analysis. The top 20 significantly over- and under-expressed proteins (*p* adj< 0.05 and absolute LFC > 0.6) are colored in red or blue, respectively, and labeled. (B) Heatmap of differentially expressed proteins identified from group-wise comparison in A., with hierarchical clustering (n=91) (cell line and protein, hierarchical clustering; cell line clustering distance, complete; protein clustering distance, average). (C) Bar plots showing the top 20 GO enrichment terms sorted by adjusted p-value (*p* adj< 0.05, Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment) for biological processes, molecular functions, and cellular components for differentially expressed proteins found during MS/MS analysis.

Identification of secreted biomarker candidates specific to the malignant state

To identify protein candidates for further analysis and validation, we also performed DPE analysis of *EGFR* mutant

NSCLC cell lines individually against HBEC GFP;p53^{wt}, defined as the initial, untransformed stage (Figure 1A). This was done to capture cell line-specific differentially expressed proteins not observed in a group-wise comparison. Figure 3A outlines the filtering pipeline to identify potential protein biomarker candidates using p adj< 0.05 and LFC > 0.6. The number of differentially expressed proteins ranged from 119 to 316 per LUAD cell line, in contrast to 91 from the group-wise comparison (Supplementary Figure 7). Individual comparisons may highlight specific genetic alterations per cell line, as each cell line has varying EGFR and TP53 mutations (72-74). Clustering based on differentially expressed proteins demonstrated that EGFR L858R driver mutation cell lines HCC4011 and H1975 grouped together, while EGFR exon19 deletion cell lines HCC4006 and PC-9 clustered together. The exception was H3255, an EGFR L858R mutant, which may be attributed to other differences in genetic alterations; an example is H1975 possessing CDKN2A and PIK3CA mutations that are not found in H3255 (74, 75). We then profiled the 499 differentially expressed proteins found across all LUAD cells compared to the non-transformed state for enrichment in GO terms associated with biological processes, molecular functions, and cellular compartments (Figure 3C). Similar to the group-wise comparison, GO cellular component terms were associated with the extracellular matrix, such as "collagen-containing extracellular matrix", "laminin complex", and "basement membrane" (60, 76). Also common were secretion associated terms, with "secretory granule lumen", "cytoplasmic lumen", and "vesicle lumen" comprising 3 of the top 5 cellular component terms (Figure 3D) (58, 66). Reactome analysis revealed enrichment in similar signaling pathways as the groupwise comparison, with the noted addition of MET related signaling as one of the most enriched pathways (Supplementary Figure 8).

Proteins identified from the individual cell line comparisons were filtered for further analysis (Figure 3A). Differentially expressed proteins were filtered for overlap in three or more EGFR mutant LUAD cell lines, and then for expression in the same direction. This resulted in 130 proteins for further investigation. As there was no relevant EGFR mutant LUAD proteomic dataset available, we aimed to assess whether the expression of the secreted proteins are specific to EGFR mutant LUADs using transcriptomic data. Differential gene expression analysis was performed on a cohort of 39 EGFR mutant and 154 EGFR wild-type tumors (45). This analysis revealed 16 genes differentially expressed between EGFR mutant and wild-type LUAD tumors with corresponding proteins that were differentially secreted in the EGFR mutant LUAD cell lines (Table 1, Figure 3D). NPC2 demonstrated the highest level of expression, consistent with previous findings where NPC2 expression was greater in LUAD compared to other lung tumor types (77, 78). ENO1 and RAC1 also showed high levels of expression in EGFR mutant LUADs (Figure 3D) aligning with previous studies demonstrating that ENO1 expression is greater in LUAD tumor samples relative to non-cancerous tissue, and the RAC1 splice variant RAC1B enhances LUAD tumor formation in vivo (79, 80). The analysis of our MS/MS results identified differentially expressed proteins from our secretome experiment with evidence that they may be useful candidate biomarkers in the clinical setting.

Secreted proteins with gene expression levels associated with poor outcome in EGFR mutant LUAD

The 16 protein candidates found to have EGFR specific expression levels in LUAD tumors were subsequently analyzed for survival difference between 125 EGFR mutant and 68 wildtype patient tumors in an independent dataset (Table 1) (48). Kaplan-Meier curves were plotted, where overall survival duration between patients with high and low expression of genes was compared based on EGFR mutation status (Figure 4). High expression of ENO1 (p< 0.001), PFKP (p< 0.05), RAC1 (p< 0.001), and SPINT2 (p< 0.05) in patients with EGFR mutant tumors was associated with shorter overall survival than EGFR mutant tumors with low gene expression (Figures 4A-D). The association with poor survival was not seen in patients with EGFR wild-type tumors, suggesting that survival differences could be EGFR mutation-specific. High MDK expression was also associated with lower overall survival, in EGFR mutant and wildtype patient tumors (p < 0.05) (Figure 4E). This observation aligns with a previous study where NSCLC patients displayed increased protein expression of serum MDK compared to healthy individual controls, and expression was associated with lower overall survival (65).

Orthogonal validation of secreted proteins

To validate levels of secreted protein expression in the EGFR mutant LUAD cell lines, MDK, GDF15, and SPINT2 were assessed by ELISA assays (Table 1, Figure 5). MDK and SPINT2 were selected due to the observed differences in overall survival while GDF15 levels have been associated with different stages of lung cancer in patients (81). Protein concentration was measured in conditioned media samples collected and concentrated in parallel with the MS/MS samples. As we were interested in comparing between malignant and untransformed, histologically normal states, we compared protein concentration between HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} and the selected LUAD EGFR mutant cell lines (Figure 5). The mean MDK concentration in LUAD cell lines ranged from 0.94 - 17.28 ng/mL, and when compared to HBEC GFP;p53^{wt}, concentrations were significantly different (p< 0.01; Figure 5A). GDF15 mean protein concentration in NSCLC cell lines varied between 5.85 pg/mL - 6.44 ng/mL, compared to the mean HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} concentration of 2.41 pg/mL. This corresponded to an increase of secreted GDF15 concentration in NSCLC cell lines up to 2000x that observed in HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} (PC-9, p< 0.0001; HCC4006, p< 0.001; H1975, *p*< 0.001; HCC4011, *p*< 0.001; H3255, *p*< 0.0001; Figure 5B). SPINT2 mean protein concentration in NSCLC cell lines ranged between 98.30 - 580.97 pg/mL, relative to 98.58 pg/mL in HBEC GFP;p53^{wt}. With the exception of PC-9, protein concentrations were significantly greater than HBEC GFP;53^{wt}, where concentrations were 1.7- 5.9 times greater (HCC4006, p<



FIGURE 3

Individual EGFR mutant NSCLC cell line comparison against HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} and filtering pipeline. (A) Filtering pipeline used to identify protein candidates for biomarker validation. Differentially expressed proteins from cell line comparisons with HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} (p adj< 0.05, absolute LFC > 0.6) were determined, and filtered for microarray gene expression validation if found in 3 or more *EGFR* mutant cell line comparisons and LFC expression was in the same direction (LFC values were all positive or negative). Filtered differentially expressed proteins were analyzed for differential gene expression with Z-score normalized Affymetrix gene expression data from 199 primary LUAD tumors (45), and differentially expressed genes that were found to be significant (p adj< 0.05, Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment) were further filtered for optimal 1:1 probe to gene mapping for additional stringency (47). (B) Heatmap of differentially expressed genes found from individual comparison between *EGFR* mutant NSCLC cell lines and HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} (cell line and protein, hierarchical clustering; cell line clustering distance, complete; protein clustering distance, average). LFC ranges from high (red) to low (blue). (C) Bar plots showing the top 20 GO enrichment terms sorted by adjusted p-value (p adj< 0.05, Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment) for biological processes, molecular functions, and cellular components for differentially expressed genes post-microarray analysis for further validation (p adj< 0.05). Samples are grouped by EGFR status (mutant, wild type) (gene clustering method, Euclidean; gene clustering distance, complete).

Accession	Gene	Peptides	Unique peptides	Quantified peptides	adj.P.Val
Q08380	LGALS3BP	23	23	20	9.5519E-05
P61916	NPC2	10	10	10	9.5519E-05
O43291	SPINT2	2	2	1	0.001714715
P06733	ENO1	30	28	27	0.003759408
P21741	MDK	12	12	11	0.003759408
P63000	RAC1	3	2	1	0.005590461
Q01813	PFKP	2	2	1	0.007683377
P31431	SDC4	7	7	5	0.012165019
Q99988	GDF15	6	6	4	0.020488018
P02749	АРОН	2	2	2	0.02368962
P36952	SERPINB5	14	14	8	0.027201045
P10586	PTPRF	19	19	15	0.031704624
P07339	CTSD	20	20	20	0.034872449
O94907	DKK1	7	7	7	0.034872449
P03956	MMP1	2	2	2	0.035149978
Q9BY76	ANGPTL4	6	6	4	0.03699355

TABLE 1 Protein candidates identified from microarray gene expression analysis, listed by gene symbol, sorted by adjusted p value (p adj< 0.05; Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment).

0.001; H1975, p < 0.0001; HCC4011, p < 0.01; H3255, p < 0.01; Figure 5C). Together, these assays confirm the MS results, validating the increased secretion in EGFR mutant LUAD.

Discussion

Earlier detection of LUAD is key to long-term patient survival, where LDCT screening could benefit from the inclusion of biomarkers to complement screening (12). This is especially important given that LDCT screening for never smokers, which have increased incidence of EGFR mutant LUAD, does not have concrete guidelines (20, 37). Compared to ever smokers, one study found that the rate of diagnosis with LDCT screening for a never smoker cohort was 0.45%, which was lower than the NLST ever smoker rate of 1.0% (18, 82). More recently, a LDCT screening study for primarily non-smoking Asian women, the demographic commonly associated with EGFR mutant LUAD, found an increase in cancer incidence in early-stage cancers (stages 0-I) yet no change in late-stage incidence (stages II-IV) (83). These findings suggested that additional cases identified by LDCT were attributed to overdiagnosis, and that LDCT would have limited use for populations affected by EGFR mutant LUAD, furthering the necessity of biomarker-based detection to inform clinical decisions (21, 83). Currently, NSCLC biomarker candidates are limited and are neither specific for lung cancer nor histology (23). The cancer secretome is a valuable resource to uncover prognostic and diagnostic biomarker candidates (25, 84).

To date, secretome studies focusing on NSCLC have primarily analyzed established cancer cell lines, identifying changes in secreted proteins that provide further insight into processes such as tumor growth and metastasis (33, 85). However, cancer cell lines may not capture changes that occur during earlier stages of malignant transformation, resulting in missing potential biomarkers for earlier detection. Using an in vitro model representative of malignant transformation, this study analyzed the secretome of EGFR-driven LUAD malignant transformation in vitro. Our study began with generating a model and serum-free culture conditions compatible with mass spectrometry analysis to profile the secretome. Due to the lack of a transformation phenotype in vitro and in vivo, the HBEC cell line was selected to serve as an untransformed basal state to compare secretome changes during different transformation stages (38). By introducing common genetic alterations found in EGFR and p53 into HBECs, we could also profile secretome changes during an intermediate, pre-malignant stage of transformation (50, 86, 87). An additional benefit to the HBEC cell line was its ability to be cultured in non-serum conditions; serum proteins often obscure low abundance proteins and may introduce non-human contamination (33, 54).

Together with selected *EGFR* mutant NSCLC cell lines representing the transformed state, we generated a model that represents key genetic alterations occurring during *EGFR*-driven malignant transformation (Figures 1A, B) (9, 50). We initially identified 1020 proteins, where 852 proteins from secretome conditioned media were enriched. HSPG2, LAMA5, and AGRN were identified which is consistent with a previous NSCLC secretome study, suggesting that secreted proteins could be detected with our approach (33). We further validated the presence of secreted proteins by performing GO analyses, where



cellular component terms referenced secretory pathways or locations associated with secretion (Figure 1D) (58, 66). We identified 91 differentially expressed proteins in *EGFR* mutant NSCLC cell lines relative to HBEC cell lines (Figures 2A, B) with secretome profiles of the transformed states including changes in immune functions. This aligns with previous NSCLC studies where EGFR mutations were associated with immune changes such as increased expression of PD-1 and PD-L1, and decreased CD8+ T cell infiltration (Figure 2C) (88, 89). We were unable to identify notable differences when comparing the basal HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} cell



line to HBEC cell lines expressing *EGFR* and *p53* alterations (Supplementary Figure 5) suggesting the introduction of additional genetic alterations may be needed to establish a more advanced pre-malignant state (9).

To broaden the pool of potential candidates and identify the most notable differences between untransformed and transformed states, we also compared *EGFR* mutant NSCLC cell lines individually to the basal HBEC cell line (Figure 3). 499 proteins across all comparisons were identified, with 130 proteins differentially expressed (Figures 3A, B). The secretome profile of the LUAD cell lines had a broad scope of biological functions (Figure 3C) which may be due to additional genetic changes specific to each NSCLC cell line, beyond EGFR and p53, such as p16 that can affect the secretome profile (90, 91). Using transcriptome data, we found genes for 16 of these proteins which were expressed specifically in EGFR mutant LUAD, suggesting they may be biomarker candidates for this molecular subtype of lung cancer (Figure 3D) (65, 78). A subset of these were also associated with patient survival in EGFR mutant LUAD, and we validated MDK, GDF15, and SPINT2 by ELISA, confirming their secretion and association with the malignant state.

MDK is a growth factor that binds to heparin and is involved in promoting cell growth and survival in vitro and tumor growth in vivo in a model of LUAD (92). GDF15 is a member of the transforming growth factor- β superfamily and varying biological effects have been observed with expression changes (93). In one study, GDF15 overexpression suppressed cell proliferation in vitro and tumor formation in vivo, while in another study overexpression promoted tumor growth in vivo, and proliferation in vitro when stimulated with C5a (94, 95). SPINT2 is a serine protease inhibitor where decreased expression facilitated STYK1-mediated tumor progression (96). With the exception of the PC-9 cell line when measuring SPINT2 concentration, EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines had significantly higher concentrations of the selected proteins than HBEC GFP;p53^{wt} (Figure 5). This suggests that there may be changes in MDK, GDF15, and SPINT2 expression during EGFRdriven malignant transformation that could be indicative of progression and studied for biomarker use (81, 97, 98).

While our study sought to identify changes in the secretome during LUAD transformation in vitro, there are limitations that should be considered for future studies. Firstly, the HBEC cell lines which represented the pre-malignant model stages were not validated for transformation capacity anchorage-independent growth in vitro or growth in vivo (99). As a result, this hampered the accuracy of the model when compared to clinical stepwise transformation and thus the accuracy of secretome changes occurring during the pre-malignant stage (50). Secondly, there may be additional genetic alterations that occur during EGFRdriven transformation. A previous study modeling transformation in HBECs found that EGFR and TP53 mutations were unable to promote transformation in vivo, while another identified that alterations in APC, RB1, and RBM10 promoted tumor growth in vivo (9, 100). Thirdly, limited incubation time under serum-free conditions can restrict the scope of secretome profiling, as secretome protein abundance has been observed to increase over time, despite minimizing cell death (35, 101, 102).

Conclusions

In summary, we have profiled the secretome of nontransformed and EGFR mutant transformed lung cells and identified 3 protein candidates that were validated for differential expression in EGFR mutant patients. These proteins show promise as candidates for lung cancer biomarker applications, although further mechanistic and validation studies are needed. The data and findings shown provide an insight into secretome changes under a variety of conditions and will serve as a valuable resource to support future studies in LUAD biomarker discovery and molecular changes occurring during EGFR-driven malignant transformation.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: [ProteomeXchange/PXD045328].

Ethics statement

Ethical approval was not required for the studies on humans in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements because only commercially available established cell lines were used.

Author contributions

JL: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. FJ: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. JJ: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. TS: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. RS: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. DL: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. DF: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. SS: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. SS: Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. GM: Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. WL: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR, MOP-142313, PJT – 169129 and PJT-148725) and BC Cancer Foundation to WL.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2023.1286821/ full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Cell viability analysis of HBEC stable cell lines under secretome conditions. HBEC cell lines were seeded and incubated overnight, then media was changed to secretome media conditions (KSFM, 1% PenStrep) or standard culture conditions (KSFM, supplemented with BPE, EGF, and 1% PenStrep) for 24 hours, then cell viability was assessed with Trypan Blue and Propidium lodide (PI) staining. (A) Quantification of HBEC live cell population, as stained with Trypan Blue. (B) Quantification of HBEC live cell population, as stained with PI. (C) Representative images of DAPI and PI channels used to quantify PI staining. Experiment was performed in biological triplicate. *n.s.* non-significant.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

Cell viability analysis of EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines under secretome conditions. Cell lines were seeded and incubated overnight, then media was changed to secretome media conditions (RPMI, 1% PenStrep) or standard culture conditions (RPMI, supplemented with 10% FBS, and 1% PenStrep) for 24 hours, then cell viability was assessed with Trypan Blue and Propidium Iodide (PI) staining. (A) Quantification of live cell population, as stained with Trypan Blue. (B) Quantification of live cell population, as stained with PI. (C) Representative images of DAPI and PI channels used to quantify PI staining. Experiment was performed in biological triplicate. ** p < 0.01, n.s. non-significant.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3

Secretome experiment PCA. PCA was performed on all proteins identified during MS/MS (A) PCA excluding media control samples. (B) PCA including media control samples.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 4

Reactome pathway analysis of candidate secreted proteins from all cell lines. Plot showing the top 20 pathways identified using the Curated.Reactome database (FDR< 0.05). Minimum pathway size was n = 2, maximum pathway size n = 2000.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 5

Groupwise Reactome analysis of secreted proteins between HBEC cell lines and EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines. Plot showing the top 20 pathways identified using the Curated.Reactome database (FDR< 0.05). Minimum pathway size was n = 2, maximum pathway size n = 2000.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 6

Differential protein expression analysis of HBEC cell lines expressing EGFR L858R, with or without expression of p53 c-terminal, relative to HBEC GFP; p53^{wt} with different absolute LFC parameters to identify differentially expressed proteins. The top 20 significantly over- and under-expressed proteins (p adj< 0.05 and absolute LFC > 0.6) are colored in red or blue, respectively, and labeled. (A) HBEC GFP; p53^{CT} i) minimum absolute LFC < 0.3 (B) HBEC EGFR^{L858R}; p53^{wt} i) minimum absolute LFC < 0.6 ii) minimum absolute LFC < 0.6 iii) minimum absolute LFC < 0.3 (C) HBEC EGFR^{L858R}; p53^{CT} i) minimum absolute LFC < 0.3 (d) Venn diagram describing overlap in differentially expressed proteins among HBEC stable cell lines. "abs" = absolute.

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21660

2. Herbst RS, Heymach JV, Lippman SM. Lung cancer. New Engl J Med (2008) 359 (13):1367–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0802714

3. Arbour KC, Riely GJ. Systemic therapy for locally advanced and metastatic nonsmall cell lung cancer. JAMA (2019) 322(8):764. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.11058

4. Skoulidis F, Heymach JV. Co-occurring genomic alterations in non-small-cell lung cancer biology and therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2019) 19(9):495–509. doi: 10.1038/ s41568-019-0179-8

5. Takamochi K, Oh S, Suzuki K. Differences in EGFR and KRAS mutation spectra in lung adenocarcinoma of never and heavy smokers. *Oncol Lett* (2013) 6(5):1207–12. doi: 10.3892/ol.2013.1551

6. Herbst RS, Morgensztern D, Boshoff C. The biology and management of nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Nature* (2018) 553(7689):446–54. doi: 10.1038/nature25183

7. Larsen JE, Minna JD. Molecular biology of lung cancer: clinical implications. *Clinics Chest Med* (2011) 32(4):703–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2011.08.003

8. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Nicholson AG, Yatabe Y, Austin JHM, Beasley MB, et al. The 2015 world health organization classification of lung tumors. *J Thorac Oncol* (2015) 10(9):1243–60. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0000000000000030

 Sato M, Vaughan MB, Girard L, Peyton M, Lee W, Shames DS, et al. Multiple Oncogenic Changes (K-RAS(V12), p53 Knockdown,Mutant EGFRs, p16 Bypass, Telomerase) Are Not Sufficient to Confer a Full Malignant Phenotype on Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(4):2116–28. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2521

10. Sato M, Shay JW, Minna JD. Immortalized normal human lung epithelial cell models for studying lung cancer biology. *Respir Invest* (2020) 58(5):344–54. doi: 10.1016/j.resinv.2020.04.005

11. Lemjabbar-Alaoui H, Hassan OU, Yang Y-W, Buchanan P. Lung cancer: Biology and treatment options. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) - Rev Cancer* (2015) 1856(2):189–210. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2015.08.002

12. Mithoowani H, Febbraro M. Non-small-cell lung cancer in 2022: A review for general practitioners in oncology. *Curr Oncol* (2022) 29(3):1828–39. doi: 10.3390/ curroncol29030150

13. Goldstraw P, Chansky K, Crowley J, Rami-Porta R, Asamura H, Eberhardt WEE, et al. The IASLC lung cancer staging project: proposals for revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (Eighth) edition of the TNM classification for lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol* (2016) 11(1):39–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2015.09.009

14. Ganti AK, Klein AB, Cotarla I, Seal B, Chou E. Update of incidence, prevalence, survival, and initial treatment in patients with non-small cell lung cancer in the US. *JAMA Oncol* (2021) 7(12):1824. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.4932

15. Nooreldeen R, Bach H. Current and future development in lung cancer diagnosis. Int J Mol Sci (2021) 22(16):8661. doi: 10.3390/ijms22168661

16. Tammemagi MC, Lam S. Screening for lung cancer using low dose computed tomography. *BMJ* (2014) 348(may27 7):g2253–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g2253

17. Gierada DS, Black WC, Chiles C, Pinsky PF, Yankelevitz DF. Low-dose CT screening for lung cancer: evidence from 2 decades of study. *Radiology: Imaging Cancer* (2020) 2(2):e190058. doi: 10.1148/rycan.2020190058

18. The National Lung Screening Trial Research Team. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. *New Engl J Med* (2011) 365(5):395–409. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1102873

19. Sun S, Schiller JH, Gazdar AF. Lung cancer in never smokers — a different disease. Nat Rev Cancer (2007) 7(10):778–90. doi: 10.1038/nrc2190

20. Lam S. Lung cancer screening in never-smokers. J Thorac Oncol (2019) 14 (3):336-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.12.019

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 7

Differential protein expression analysis of EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines, relative to HBEC GFP; $p53^{wt}$. The top 20 significantly over- and underexpressed proteins (p adj< 0.05 and absolute LFC > 0.6) are colored in red or blue, respectively, and labeled. (A) PC-9. (B) HCC4006. (C) H1975 (D) HCC4011 (E) H3255.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 8

Reactome pathway enrichment of proteins detected in individual EGFR mutant NSCLC cell lines vs HBEC GFP; $p53^{wt}$. Plot showing the top 20 pathways identified using the Curated.Reactome database (FDR< 0.05). Minimum pathway size was n = 2, maximum pathway size n = 2000.

21. Seijo LM, Peled N, Ajona D, Boeri M, Field JK, Sozzi G, et al. Biomarkers in lung cancer screening: achievements, promises, and challenges. *J Thorac Oncol* (2019) 14 (3):343–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.11.023

22. Sozzi G, Boeri M. Potential biomarkers for lung cancer screening. Trans Lung Cancer Res (2014) 3(3):139-48. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-6751.2014.06.04

23. Duffy MJ, O'Byrne K. Tissue and blood biomarkers in lung cancer: A review. Adv Clin Chem (2018) 86:1–21. doi: 10.1016/bs.acc.2018.05.001

24. Uhlén M, Karlsson MJ, Hober A, Svensson A-S, Scheffel J, Kotol D, et al. The human secretome. *Sci Signaling* (2019) 12(609). doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaz0274

25. Xue H, Lu B, Lai M. The cancer secretome: a reservoir of biomarkers. J Trans Med (2008) 6(1):52. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-6-52

26. Madden EC, Gorman AM, Logue SE, Samali A. Tumour cell secretome in chemoresistance and tumour recurrence. *Trends Cancer* (2020) 6(6):489–505. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2020.02.020

27. Ritchie S, Reed DA, Pereira BA, Timpson P. The cancer cell secretome drives cooperative manipulation of the tumour microenvironment to accelerate tumourigenesis. *Faculty Rev* (2021) 10. doi: 10.12703/r/10-4

28. Hsiao Y-C, Chu LJ, Chen J-T, Yeh T-S, Yu J-S. Proteomic profiling of the cancer cell secretome: informing clinical research. *Expert Rev Proteomics* (2017) 14(9):737–56. doi: 10.1080/14789450.2017.1353913

29. Robinson JL, Feizi A, Uhlén M, Nielsen J. A systematic investigation of the Malignant functions and diagnostic potential of the cancer secretome. *Cell Rep* (2019) 26(10):2622–2635.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.02.025

30. Izbicka E, Streeper RT, Michalek JE, Louden CL, Diaz A, Campos DR. Plasma biomarkers distinguish non-small cell lung cancer from asthma and differ in men and women. *Cancer Genomics Proteomics* (2012) 9(1):27–35.

31. Yousef EM, Tahir MR, St-Pierre Y, Gaboury LA. MMP-9 expression varies according to molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2014) 14(1):609. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-609

32. Bosse K, Haneder S, Arlt C, Ihling CH, Seufferlein T, Sinz A. Mass spectrometrybased secretome analysis of non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. *PROTEOMICS* (2016) 16(21):2801–14. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201600297

33. Hu R, Huffman KE, Chu M, Zhang Y, Minna JD, Yu Y. Quantitative secretomic analysis identifies extracellular protein factors that modulate the metastatic phenotype of non-small cell lung cancer. *J Proteome Res* (2016) 15(2):477–86. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.5b00819

34. Böttger F, Schaaij-Visser TB, de Reus I, Piersma SR, Pham TV, Nagel R, et al. Proteome analysis of non-small cell lung cancer cell line secretomes and patient sputum reveals biofluid biomarker candidates for cisplatin response prediction. *J Proteomics* (2019) 196:106–19. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2019.01.018

35. Brandi J, Manfredi M, Speziali G, Gosetti F, Marengo E, Cecconi D. Proteomic approaches to decipher cancer cell secretome. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2018) 78:93–101. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.06.030

36. Hynds RE, Frese KK, Pearce DR, Grönroos E, Dive C, Swanton C. Progress towards non-small-cell lung cancer models that represent clinical evolutionary trajectories. *Open Biol* (2021) 11(1). doi: 10.1098/rsob.200247

37. Rudin CM, Avila-Tang E, Harris CC, Herman JG, Hirsch FR, Pao W, et al. Lung cancer in never smokers: molecular profiles and therapeutic implications. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(18):5646–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0377

38. Ramirez RD, Sheridan S, Girard L, Sato M, Kim Y, Pollack J, et al. Immortalization of human bronchial epithelial cells in the absence of viral oncoproteins. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(24):9027–34. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3703

39. Rappsilber J, Ishihama Y, Mann M. Stop and go extraction tips for matrixassisted laser desorption/ionization, nanoelectrospray, and LC/MS sample pretreatment in proteomics. *Analytical Chem* (2003) 75(3):663–70. doi: 10.1021/ ac026117i 40. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43(7):e47–7. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv007

41. Thumuluri V, Almagro Armenteros JJ, Johansen AR, Nielsen H, Winther O. DeepLoc 2.0: multi-label subcellular localization prediction using protein language models. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2022) 50(W1):W228–34. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkac278

42. Wu T, Hu E, Xu S, Chen M, Guo P, Dai Z, et al. clusterProfiler 4.0: A universal enrichment tool for interpreting omics data. *Innovation* (2021) 2(3):100141. doi: 10.1016/j.xinn.2021.100141

43. Durinck S, Spellman PT, Birney E, Huber W. Mapping identifiers for the integration of genomic datasets with the R/Bioconductor package biomaRt. *Nat Protoc* (2009) 4(8):1184–91. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2009.97

44. Ge SX, Jung D, Yao R. ShinyGO: a graphical gene-set enrichment tool for animals and plants. *Bioinformatics* (2020) 36(8):2628–9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ btz931

45. Chitale D, Gong Y, Taylor BS, Broderick S, Brennan C, Somwar R, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of lung cancer reveals loss of DUSP4 in EGFR-mutant tumors. *Oncogene* (2009) 28(31):2773–83. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.135

46. Carlson M. hgu133a.db. Bioconductor (2017).

47. Li Q, Birkbak NJ, Gyorffy B, Szallasi Z, Eklund AC. Jetset: selecting the optimal microarray probe set to represent a gene. *BMC Bioinf* (2011) 12(1):474. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-12-474

48. Okayama H, Kohno T, Ishii Y, Shimada Y, Shiraishi K, Iwakawa R, et al. Identification of genes upregulated in ALK-positive and EGFR/KRAS/ALK-negative lung adenocarcinomas. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(1):100–11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1403

49. Carlson M. hgu133plus2.db. Bioconductor (2017).

50. Inamura K. Clinicopathological characteristics and mutations driving development of early lung adenocarcinoma: tumor initiation and progression. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19(4):1259. doi: 10.3390/ijms19041259

51. Zhao Y, Aguilar A, Bernard D, Wang S. Small-molecule inhibitors of the MDM2-p53 protein-protein interaction (MDM2 inhibitors) in clinical trials for cancer treatment. J Medicinal Chem (2015) 58(3):1038–52. doi: 10.1021/jm501092z

52. Inoue Y, Nikolic A, Farnsworth D, Shi R, Johnson FD, Liu A, et al. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase mediates chromatin rewiring and lineage transformation in lung cancer. *ELife* (2021) 10. doi: 10.7554/eLife.66524

53. Kucab JE, Hollstein M, Arlt VM, Phillips DH. Nutlin-3a selects for cells harbouring TP53 mutations. Int J Cancer (2017) 140(4):877-87. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30504

54. Shin J, Rhim J, Kwon Y, Choi SY, Shin S, Ha C-W, et al. Comparative analysis of differentially secreted proteins in serum-free and serum-containing media by using BONCAT and pulsed SILAC. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):3096. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39650-z

55. Gazdar AF, Minna JD. Deregulated EGFR signaling during lung cancer progression: mutations, amplicons, and autocrine loops. *Cancer Prev Res* (2008) 1 (3):156–60. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-08-0080

56. Bonifacino JS, Glick BS. The mechanisms of vesicle budding and fusion. *Cell* (2004) 116(2):153-66. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)01079-1

57. Nickel W. Pathways of unconventional protein secretion. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* (2010) 21(5):621-6. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2010.06.004

58. Rabouille C. Pathways of unconventional protein secretion. *Trends Cell Biol* (2017) 27(3):230-40. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2016.11.007

59. Lacy P. Mechanisms of degranulation in neutrophils. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol (2006) 2(3):98. doi: 10.1186/1710-1492-2-3-98

60. Yue B. Biology of the extracellular matrix. JGlaucoma(2014) 23:S20–3. doi: 10.1097/IJG.00000000000108

61. Golebiewska EM, Poole AW. Platelet secretion: From haemostasis to wound healing and beyond. *Blood Rev* (2015) 29(3):153-62. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.10.003

62. Kaszak I, Witkowska-Piłaszewicz O, Niewiadomska Z, Dworecka-Kaszak B, Ngosa Toka F, Jurka P. Role of cadherins in cancer—A review. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21 (20):7624. doi: 10.3390/ijms21207624

63. López-Otín C, Bond JS. Proteases: multifunctional enzymes in life and disease. J Biol Chem (2008) 283(45):30433-7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R800035200

64. Taguchi A, Politi K, Pitteri SJ, Lockwood WW, Faça VM, Kelly-Spratt K, et al. Lung cancer signatures in plasma based on proteome profiling of mouse tumor models. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20(3):289–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.08.007

65. Stern L, Mueller E, Bellon E, Reeh M, Grotelueschen R, Guengoer C, et al. Serum midkine as non-invasive biomarker for detection and prognosis of non-small cell lung cancer. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11(1):14616. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-94272-8

66. Meldolesi J. Unconventional protein secretion dependent on two extracellular vesicles: exosomes and ectosomes. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2022) 10:877344. doi: 10.3389/ fcell.2022.877344

67. Frantz C, Stewart KM, Weaver VM. The extracellular matrix at a glance. *J Cell Sci* (2010) 123(24):4195–200. doi: 10.1242/jcs.023820

68. Rozario T, DeSimone DW. The extracellular matrix in development and morphogenesis: A dynamic view. *Dev Biol* (2010) 341(1):126-40. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.10.026

69. Werb Z. ECM and cell surface proteolysis: regulating cellular ecology. *Cell* (1997) 91(4):439–42. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80429-8

70. Azuma K, Ota K, Kawahara A, Hattori S, Iwama E, Harada T, et al. Association of PD-L1 overexpression with activating EGFR mutations in surgically resected nonsmall-cell lung cancer. *Ann Oncol* (2014) 25(10):1935–40. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdu242

71. Chen N, Fang W, Zhan J, Hong S, Tang Y, Kang S, et al. Upregulation of PD-L1 by EGFR activation mediates the immune escape in EGFR-driven NSCLC: implication for optional immune targeted therapy for NSCLC patients with EGFR mutation. *J Thorac Oncol* (2015) 10(6):910–23. doi: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000500

72. Kubo T, Yamamoto H, Lockwood WW, Valencia I, Soh J, Peyton M, et al. MET gene amplification or EGFR mutation activate MET in lung cancers untreated with EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Int J Cancer* (2009) 124(8):1778–84. doi: 10.1002/ ijc.24150

73. Pikor LA, Lockwood WW, Thu KL, Vucic EA, Chari R, Gazdar AF, et al. YEATS4 is a novel oncogene amplified in non-small cell lung cancer that regulates the p53 pathway. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(24):7301–12. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1897

74. Ghandi M, Huang FW, Jané-Valbuena J, Kryukov GV, Lo CC, McDonald ER, et al. Next-generation characterization of the cancer cell line encyclopedia. *Nature* (2019) 569(7757):503–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1186-3

75. Heavey S, Cuffe S, Finn S, Young V, Ryan R, Nicholson S, et al. In pursuit of synergy: An investigation of the PI3K/mTOR/MEK co-targeted inhibition strategy in NSCLC. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(48):79526–43. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12755

76. Jayadev R, Sherwood DR. Basement membranes. Curr Biol (2017) 27(6):R207-11. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.02.006

77. Pernemalm M, De Petris L, Eriksson H, Brandén E, Koyi H, Kanter L, et al. Use of narrow-range peptide IEF to improve detection of lung adenocarcinoma markers in plasma and pleural effusion. *PROTEOMICS* (2009) 9(13):3414–24. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200800814

78. Shoshan-Barmatz V, Bishitz Y, Paul A, Krelin Y, Nakdimon I, Peled N, et al. A molecular signature of lung cancer: potential biomarkers for adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(62):105492–509. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.22298

79. Zhou C, Licciulli S, Avila JL, Cho M, Troutman S, Jiang P, et al. The Rac1 splice form Rac1b promotes K-ras-induced lung tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* (2013) 32(7):903–9. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.99

80. Fu Q-F, Liu Y, Fan Y, Hua S-N, Qu H-Y, Dong S-W, et al. Alpha-enolase promotes cell glycolysis, growth, migration, and invasion in non-small cell lung cancer through FAK-mediated PI3K/AKT pathway. *J Hematol Oncol* (2015) 8(1):22. doi: 10.1186/s13045-015-0117-5

81. Deng J, Zhang M, Zhang H, Lu C, Hou G, Feng Y, et al. Value of growth/ differentiation factor 15 in diagnosis and the evaluation of chemotherapeutic response in lung cancer. *Clin Ther* (2021) 43(4):747–59. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2021.02.001

82. Kang H-R, Cho JY, Lee SH, Lee YJ, Park JS, Cho Y-J, et al. Role of low-dose computerized tomography in lung cancer screening among never-smokers. *J Thorac Oncol* (2019) 14(3):436–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.11.002

83. Gao W, Wen CP, Wu A, Welch HG. Association of computed tomographic screening promotion with lung cancer overdiagnosis among Asian women. JAMA Internal Med (2022) 182(3):283. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.7769

84. Makridakis M, Vlahou A. Secretome proteomics for discovery of cancer biomarkers. J Proteomics (2010) 73(12):2291–305. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2010.07.001

85. Hartwig T, Montinaro A, von Karstedt S, Sevko A, Surinova S, Chakravarthy A, et al. The TRAIL-induced cancer secretome promotes a tumor-supportive immune microenvironment via CCR2. *Mol Cell* (2017) 65(4):730–742.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2017.01.021

86. Soh J, Toyooka S, Ichihara S, Asano H, Kobayashi N, Suehisa H, et al. Sequential molecular changes during multistage pathogenesis of small peripheral adenocarcinomas of the lung. *J Thorac Oncol* (2008) 3(4):340–7. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e318168d20a

87. Siegelin MD, Borczuk AC. Epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung adenocarcinoma. *Lab Invest* (2014) 94(2):129-37. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2013.147

88. Akbay EA, Koyama S, Carretero J, Altabef A, Tchaicha JH, Christensen CL, et al. Activation of the PD-1 pathway contributes to immune escape in EGFR-driven lung tumors. *Cancer Discovery* (2013) 3(12):1355–63. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0310

89. Le X, Negrao MV, Reuben A, Federico L, Diao L, McGrail D, et al. Characterization of the immune landscape of EGFR-mutant NSCLC identifies CD73/adenosine pathway as a potential therapeutic target. *J Thorac Oncol* (2021) 16 (4):583–600. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.12.010

90. Tam KW, Zhang W, Soh J, Stastny V, Chen M, Sun H, et al. CDKN2A/p16 inactivation mechanisms and their relationship to smoke exposure and molecular features in non-small-cell lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol* (2013) 8(11):1378–88. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182a46c0c

91. Buj R, Leon KE, Anguelov MA, Aird KM. Suppression of p16 alleviates the senescence-associated secretory phenotype. *Aging* (2021) 13(3):3290-312. doi: 10.18632/aging.202640

92. Hao H, Maeda Y, Fukazawa T, Yamatsuji T, Takaoka M, Bao X-H, et al. Inhibition of the growth factor MDK/midkine by a novel small molecule compound to

treat non-small cell lung cancer. PloS One (2013) 8(8):e71093. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071093

93. Wischhusen J, Melero I, Fridman WH. Growth/differentiation factor-15 (GDF-15): from biomarker to novel targetable immune checkpoint. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:951. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00951

94. Lu X, He X, Su J, Wang J, Liu X, Xu K, et al. EZH2-mediated epigenetic suppression of GDF15 predicts a poor prognosis and regulates cell proliferation in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids* (2018) 12:309–18. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2018.05.016

95. Zhao C, Li Y, Qiu W, He F, Zhang W, Zhao D, et al. C5a induces A549 cell proliferation of non-small cell lung cancer via GDF15 gene activation mediated by GCN5-dependent KLF5 acetylation. *Oncogene* (2018) 37(35):4821–37. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0298-9

96. Ma Z, Liu D, Li W, Di S, Zhang Z, Zhang J, et al. STYK1 promotes tumor growth and metastasis by reducing SPINT2/HAI-2 expression in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cell Death Dis* (2019) 10(6):435. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1659-1

97. Pereira MSCRV. Study of epigenetic silencing of the tumor suppressor gene SPINT2 in lung cancer. Integrated Master's Degree in Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal (2019). Available at: https://repositorio-aberto.up.pt/handle/10216/121546.

98. Filippou PS, Karagiannis GS, Constantinidou A. Midkine (MDK) growth factor: a key player in cancer progression and a promising therapeutic target. *Oncogene* (2020) 39(10):2040–54. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-1124-8

99. Ahuja D, Sáenz-Robles MT, Pipas JM. SV40 large T antigen targets multiple cellular pathways to elicit cellular transformation. *Oncogene* (2005) 24(52):7729–45. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209046

100. Foggetti G, Li C, Cai H, Hellyer JA, Lin W-Y, Ayeni D, et al. Genetic determinants of EGFR-driven lung cancer growth and therapeutic response *in vivo. Cancer Discovery* (2021) 11(7):1736–53. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-1385

101. Hammond DE, Kumar JD, Raymond L, Simpson DM, Beynon RJ, Dockray GJ, et al. Stable isotope dynamic labeling of secretomes (SIDLS) identifies authentic secretory proteins released by cancer and stromal cells. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2018) 17(9):1837–49. doi: 10.1074/mcp.TIR117.000516

102. Bajaj R, Rodriguez BL, Russell WK, Warner AN, Diao L, Wang J, et al. Impad1 and Syt11 work in an epistatic pathway that regulates EMT-mediated vesicular trafficking to drive lung cancer invasion and metastasis. *Cell Rep* (2022) 40 (13):111429. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111429

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sharon R. Pine, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, United States

REVIEWED BY Gonzalo Recondo.

Norberto Quirno Medical Education and Clinical Research Center (CEMIC), Argentina

*CORRESPONDENCE Giuseppe Bronte g.bronte@staff.univpm.it

RECEIVED 06 October 2023 ACCEPTED 26 December 2023 PUBLISHED 09 January 2024

CITATION

Bronte G, Belloni A, Calabrò L and Crinò L (2024) The great need to overcome osimertinib resistance in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: from combination strategies to fourth-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1308460. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1308460

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Bronte, Belloni, Calabrò and Crinò. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The great need to overcome osimertinib resistance in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: from combination strategies to fourth-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Giuseppe Bronte^{1,2*}, Alessia Belloni², Luana Calabrò^{3,4} and Lucio Crinò⁵

¹Clinic of Laboratory and Precision Medicine, National Institute of Health and Sciences on Ageing (IRCCS INRCA), Ancona, Italy, ²Department of Clinical and Molecular Sciences (DISCLIMO), Università Politecnica delle Marche, Ancona, Italy, ³Department of Oncology, University Hospital of Ferrara, Cona, Italy, ⁴Department of Translational Medicine, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ⁵Department of Medical Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Romagnolo Per Lo Studio Dei Tumori (IRST) "Dino Amadori", Meldola, Italy

KEYWORDS

non-small cell lung cancer, osimertinib, resistance, tyrosine kinase inhibitor, allosteric inhibitor

1 Introduction

Lung cancer remains the leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide, surpassing the mortality of breast, colorectal and prostate cancers combined. The 5-year overall survival is around 18% including all stages of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). It is likely that screening, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy will improve this poor prognosis in the coming years (1).

Currently, the choice of the treatment for patients with advanced NSCLC is based on the integrated evaluation of some parameters: histology (squamous versus non-squamous); presence of driver molecular alterations (sensitizing mutations of EGFR and/or BRAF, and rearrangements of ALK and/or ROS1 and/or NTRK); PD-L1 expression level; patient clinical characteristics such as age, performance status (PS) and comorbidities. The presence or absence of those driver molecular alterations allows distinguishing oncogene-addicted disease from non-oncogene-addicted disease, which presents different therapeutic approaches (2).

Many driver molecular alterations have been known in NSCLC till now. Some of these can be already targeted by means of specific drugs, while others could be targetable. These include: KRAS gene mutations (20-30%), EGFR (10-15% of Caucasian patients and up to 40% of Asian patients), BRAF (2-4%), ALK rearrangements (3-7%), ROS1 (1-2%), RET (1-2%), NTRK (0.5-1%), HER2 gene mutations (1-2%) and MET gene amplifications or mutations (2-4%) (3).

EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) represent the recommended first-line treatment in patients with advanced NSCLC and common mutations, i.e. exon 19 deletions (Ex19dels) and exon 21 point mutation (L858R). Many randomized phase III trials showed, in patients with advanced NSCLC and common EGFR mutations, the superiority of EGFR TKIs, i.e. gefitinib, erlotinib, afatinib, in the first line of treatment compared to standard platinum-based chemotherapy, in terms of both RR and PFS (4). The majority of patients treated with these drugs, around a half, develop the resistance point mutation T790M. To overcome this resistance mechanism, osimertinib was developed as secondline treatment. Subsequently its superiority in terms of overall survival (OS) over first- and second-generation TKIs was demonstrated also in the first-line setting (5, 6). As a consequence, osimertinib had been the best option for the treatment of advanced NSCLC patients with activating EGFR mutations until now (2). However, the recent results of FLAURA-2 trial and MARIPOSA trial showed that upfront combination strategies delayed resistance occurrence. Indeed, osimertinib plus platinum-pemetrexed and amivantamab plus lazertinib, respectively, achieved longer PFS compared to single agent osimertinib (7, 8).

2 Osimertinib resistance

Osimertinib has largely improved the survival of advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR mutation both in the first- or second-line setting, but the emergence of acquired resistance remains a great need.

The resistance mechanisms to osimertinib may be different depending on whether this drug is administered in the first or in the subsequent lines. In fact, osimertinib was initially developed exclusively for patients who had developed a T790M mutation during treatment with first or second generation TKIs. In this setting, the most frequent on-target resistance mechanism (approximately 14%) is the point mutation of EGFR exon 20, C797S. Instead, MET amplification occurred in 19% of patients, in 7% in conjunction with the C797S mutation. Furthermore, HER2 and PIK3CA amplifications, RET and NTRK rearrangements, and BRAF V600E mutation were each observed in 3–5% of cases (9, 10).

As regards the use of osimertinib as first-line treatment, some literature data reported an intrinsic resistance. The relative mechanisms include the HER2 and MET amplifications, as observed in *in vitro* studies, but also the combination of the KRAS G12D mutation and PTEN loss, and CDCP1 or AXL RNA overexpression, as reported in some NSCLC patients (11–13).

The main information about the acquired resistance to first-line osimertinib derives from the phase III trial FLAURA, while some other literature data are from case reports or small case series. Cellfree DNA from blood samples of patients included in FLAURA trial was analyzed via NGS (14). The authors did not find emergent T790M mutation. The most common resistance mechanism was MET amplification (15%), followed by less frequent EGFR amplification (9%), as well as C797S mutation (7%). S768I mutation or other combined EGFR mutations, such as exon 19 deletion + G724S (exon 18), L718Q (exon 18) + EGFR exon 20 insertion (exon 18 + 20), L718Q + C797S or L718Q + L797S (exon 18 + 20), are very rare (<1%). These findings suggest that secondary EGFR mutations are not the main mechanism of resistance to osimertinib.

Many EGFR-independent mechanisms were observed when resistance to first- or second-line osimertinib developed. These mechanisms are more evident with osimertinib than on-target mutations possibly because of its stronger EGFR inhibition compared to first or second-generation TKIs (15). Moreover, during the treatment with osimertinib EGFR-independent resistance mechanisms tend to occur earlier than EGFR-dependent ones, maybe because of pre-existent subclones rapidly arising under the selective pressure of treatment (16). This kind of mechanisms includes MET amplifications, HER2 amplifications, PI3KCA, BRAF and RAS mutations, ALK or RET rearrangements, cell cycle gene alterations (17). The ongoing ELIOS trial (NCT03239340) is designed to investigate prospectively the mechanisms of acquired resistance to first-line osimertinib, given that paired tissue biopsies (pre-treatment and at progression) are collected. Moreover, HER3 expression was found in around 80% of NSCLC and in more than 85% of those harboring EGFR activating mutations. It emerged as a further mechanism of resistance to EGFR TKIs and favors metastatic progression and worse prognosis (18).

Finally, phenotypic changes were also observed as resistance mechanisms in up to 15% of patients treated with first- or later-line osimertinib. These include the epithelial-mesenchymal transition and the transformation of adenocarcinoma to small-cell carcinoma, this latter associated with RB1 and TP53 mutations (19).

Patients experiencing progression during first-line osimertinib should receive chemotherapy regimens used in non-squamous NSCLC. The combination of carboplatin, paclitaxel, bevacizumab and atezolizumab could represent a treatment option for them (20). Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 drugs as monotherapy have not proven to be a successful option in this subgroup of patients (21). However, three phase III trials studied chemoimmunotherapy after osimertinib resistance. CheckMate-722 confirmed the lack of benefit in these patients (22). KEYNOTE-789 and ORIENT-31 are still ongoing.

To prolong the benefit obtainable with osimertinib, similarly to first-generation TKIs, this drug could be continued "beyond progression" in selected cases with some conditions, such as exclusively radiological progression of mild entity, slow tumor kinetics, absence of clinical symptoms, and in case of oligoprogressive disease local therapies can be associated (23).

Here, we discuss the evolution of treatment strategies to achieve the best outcomes for patients progressing during first-line osimertinib. The majority of the studies addressing this aim are still ongoing.

3 Combination strategies

Many trials were designed to combine osimertinib with other new targeted agents directed against the emerging resistance mechanisms. These drugs can be classified in specific inhibitors, antibody-drug conjugates, and bispecific antibodies (24) (Table 1). Given that MET alterations are the most frequent resistance mechanism to osimertinib, three MET inhibitors were developed and combined with osimertinib, i.e. savolitinib, tepotinib and capmatinib. However, other specific inhibitors are available against MEK (selumetinib), AXL (DS-1205c), ERK (ERAS-007), mTOR (sapanisertib), PI3K α/δ (TQ-B3525), JAK1 (itacitinib), CDK4/6 (abemaciclib), AURKA (alisertib).

Antibody-drug conjugates (ADC) are composed of a link between a specific monoclonal antibody directed against a tumor molecule and a cytotoxic payload. After the bond of the monoclonal antibody with its own target, the drug is internalized and the linker is degenerated releasing the cytotoxic payload, with consequent antitumor effect. Some of these drugs have been already available in trials for NSCLC patients and specifically target MET (telisotuzumab vedotin), HER2 (trastuzumab deruxtecan), HER3 (patritumab deruxtecan), TROP2 (datopotamab deruxtecan and SKB264). All these antibody-drug conjugates are studied after osimertinib resistance. However, only patritumab deruxtecan and telisotuzumab vedotin are combined with osimertinib. Interestingly, the efficacy results from phase I and phase II trials with patritumab deruxtecan were achieved across a broad range of pretreatment HER3 expression in the tumor membrane and across the various EGFR-TKI resistance mechanisms (25, 26).

Finally, the category of bispecific antibodies in this setting is represented only by amivantamab until now. This is a fully humanized antibody directed against mutated EGFR and mutated or amplified MET. It exerts its function both via the inhibition of the ligand binding and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (27). This drug is combined with lazertinib, a potent brainpenetrant third-generation EGFR TKI, and investigated in three clinical trials (CHRYSALIS, CHRYSALIS-2, MARIPOSA-2) for patients progressing during or after osimertinib.

ORCHARD is a biomarker-directed Phase II platform trial. This study is evaluating the optimal treatment strategy depending on the underlying resistance mechanism to first-line osimertinib. For this reason, treatment assignment is based on a molecular tumor characterization from a tissue biopsy performed at progression during osimertinib. Each patient will be assigned to treatment with the combination of osimertinib and a specific targeted drug for the resistance mechanism detected, e.g.

Target	Category	Name	3 rd gen EGFR TKI combined	Trial phase advancement
EGFR-directed	Allosteric inhibitors	BLU-701	Yes	I/II
		BLU-945	Yes	I/II
		BBT-176	No	I/II
		JIN-A02	No	I/II
Other- target-directed	MET inhibitors	Savolitinib	Yes	III
		Tepotinib	Yes	II
		Capmatinib	Yes	III
	MEK inhibitors	Selumetinib	Yes	Ib
	ERK inhibitors	ERAS-007	Yes	I/II
	PI3K inhibitors	TQ-B3525	Yes	I/II
	mTOR inhibitors	Sapanisertib	Yes	Ι
	CDK4/6 inhibitors	Abemaciclib	Yes	II
	AXL inhibitors	DS-1205c	Yes	Ι
	JAK1 inhibitors	Itacitinib	Yes	I/II
	AURKA inhibitors	Alisertib	Yes	Ι
	EGFR-MET bispecific antibodies	Amivantamab	Yes	III
	Antibody-drug conjugate	Trastuzumab deruxtecan	No	Ib
		Patritumab deruxtecan	Yes	III
		Datopotomab deruxtecan	No	III
		SKB264	Yes	III
		Telisotuzumab vedotin	Yes	III

osimertinib + savolitinib for MET amplification, osimertinib + necitumumab for EGFR amplification, and so on. If a resistance mechanism is not found, the patient will be assigned to platinumbased chemotherapy with durvalumab. Those patients with resistance mechanisms not targetable will be treated according to local practice. This trial also includes an adaptive design to allow the addition of new emerging drugs (28). Recently, an interim analysis of safety and efficacy showed that osimertinib + necitumumab in patients with a secondary gene alteration in EGFR, i.e. amplification, L718 or G724 mutation, exon 20 insertion, met futility criterion so that recruitment for this treatment was closed (29).

4 Fourth-generation EGFR-TKIs

The therapeutic strategies for the acquired resistance to osimertinib we discussed before are suitable for EGFR-independent resistance mechanisms, which are more frequent for patients treated with first-line osimertinib. However, some of these patients develop on-target EGFR mutations, such as C797S point mutation in exon 20, mainly in cis with the activating mutation. To target this alteration a specific drug does not yet exist. Brigatinib, an ALK inhibitor showed activity against cells with this mutation, but it needed the combination with cetuximab to be effective in vivo (30). In a retrospective analysis including 15 patients who developed resistance to osimertinib because of C797S mutation, brigatinib plus cetuximab achieved the 10% objective response rate and 60% disease control rate (31).

Among the various EGFR inhibitors under development, there are new TKIs, which are "fourth generation" or allosteric EGFR inhibitors (Table 1). It means that these drugs bind to the receptor outside the ATP pocket of the kinase domain. This bond selectively alters EGFR conformation and bypasses the resistance mechanisms mediated by new mutations in the ATP-binding domain, mainly C797S (32). Among these drugs, a limited activity was obtained with EAI-045, the first one identified in this class, when used as a single agent, but it has to be combined with cetuximab to be effective in cell lines with triple EGFR mutations (L858R/T790M/C797S). Similarly, JBJ-04-125-02 achieved increased cell death and more effective inhibition of cell proliferation when combined with osimertinib, compared with single agent alone (33). CH7233163, a further fourth generation EGFR TKI, exhibited even more potent antitumor activity against the EGFR triple mutation (ex19del/T790M/C797S) (34). Some other allosteric EGFR inhibitors were included in the design of phase I/II clinical trials, i.e. BLU-701 (HARMONY trial), BLU-945 (SYMPHONY trial), BBT-176, JIN-A02. The first two of these are studied both as single agent and in combination with osimertinib in patients who progressed during or after a previous EGFR TKI.

5 Discussion

From the scenario of these new therapeutic strategies emerges the possibility of avoiding or delaying the chemotherapy option for patients who develop resistance to first-line osimertinib. We still do not have sufficient efficacy data available to allow considering some therapeutic strategies over others. However, based on the molecular



Future scenario for treating patients who developed resistance during or after osimertinib according to post-progression molecular characterization EGFR, Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor; MET, MET Proto-Oncogene, Receptor Tyrosine Kinase; HER2, Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2; HER3, Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 3; 4G, fourth generation; Dato-DXd, Datopotamab Deruxtecan; HER3-DXd, Patritumab Deruxtecan; Teliso-V, Telisotuzumab Vedotin; T-DXd, Trastuzumab Deruxtecan; SCLC, small cell lung cancer; Sq-NSCLC, squamous non-small cell lung cancer

targets at which these new drugs are directed, when patients treated with osimertinib become refractory to this drug, it is necessary to evaluate which resistance mechanism has developed. The search for these resistance mechanisms involves the need to carry out tissue biopsies, possibly associated with a blood sample for the detection of gene alterations in cell-free DNA. This combined, liquid and tissue, evaluation would allow defining the prevailing resistance mechanism, on the basis of which the most appropriate molecular treatment can be indicated. In principle, the therapeutic choice could be oriented towards combination strategies of osimertinib plus a specific inhibitor or antibody-drug conjugate or bispecific antibody in the case of EGFR-independent resistance mechanisms (e.g. MET overexpression or MET amplification, as highlighted in the biomarker analysis of CHRYSALIS-2 trial) (35). Instead, the use of allosteric EGFR TKIs would be more suitable in case of the prevalence of new EGFR mutations, especially at the ATP-binding site. A relevant issue that could be resolved by the results of these ongoing clinical trials concerns the usefulness of combining these new drugs with the continuation of osimertinib versus its suspension. We summarized a possible future scenario in Figure 1 to attribute a next-generation therapeutic option to each of the more frequent mechanisms of resistance to first-line osimertinib. On the basis of the findings that are emerging from many clinical trials, we suppose that in the next future oncologists will be able to address each patient, who experience resistance to upfront osimertinib, toward a different treatment strategy according to the molecular alterations highlighted via circulating cell-free DNA and/ or DNA from tumor tissue biopsy. However, the results of upfront combination strategies, such as those investigated in FLAURA-2 and MARIPOSA trial, will further change the scenario, and we think that a different spectrum of resistance mechanisms could emerge. To face with the complexity of gene alterations that can lead to the resistance to first-line treatment, i.e. osimertinib single agent or combination strategies, liquid biopsy will be mandatory and, if not informative, it can be completed with tissue biopsy. However, we believe that the design of platform trials could be the best option to manage the complexity of resistance occurrence.

Author contributions

GB: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AB: Data curation, Investigation, Software, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. LCa: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. LCr: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

LCa has served as consultant or advisor to Bristol-Myers Squibb, Merck Sharp and Dohme, and has received compensated educational activities from Bristol Myers Squibb, Astrazeneca, and Sanofi.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Howlader N, Forjaz G, Mooradian MJ, Meza R, Kong CY, Cronin KA, et al. The effect of advances in lung-cancer treatment on population mortality. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 383:640–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1916623

2. Hendriks LE, Kerr KM, Menis J, Mok TS, Nestle U, Passaro A, et al. Nononcogene-addicted metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol* (2023) 34:358–76. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2022.12.013

3. Hendriks LE, Kerr KM, Menis J, Mok S, Nestle U, Passaro A, et al. EGC. Oncogene-addicted metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol* (2023) 34:339–57. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2022.12.009

4. Lee CK, Davies L, Wu Y-L, Mitsudomi T, Inoue A, Rosell R, et al. Gefitinib or erlotinib vs chemotherapy for EGFR mutation-positive lung cancer: individual patient data meta-analysis of overall survival. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2017) 109(6). doi: 10.1093/jnci/djw279

5. Mok TS, Wu Y-L, Ahn M-J, Garassino MC, Kim HR, Ramalingam SS, et al. Osimertinib or platinum-pemetrexed in EGFR T790M-positive lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2017) 376:629–40. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1612674 6. Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in untreated, EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med (2020) 382:41–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1913662

7. Planchard D, Jänne PA, Cheng Y, Yang JC-H, Yanagitani N, Kim S-W, et al. Osimertinib with or without chemotherapy in EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med (2023) 389:1935–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJM0a2306434

8. Cho BC, Felip E, Spira AI, Girard N, Lee J, Lee S, et al. LBA14 - Amivantamab plus lazertinib vs osimertinib as first-line treatment in patients with EGFR-mutated, advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Primary results from MARIPOSA, a phase III, global, randomized, controlled trial. *Ann Oncol* (2023) 34:S1254–335. doi: 10.1016/annonc/annoc1358

9. Thress KS, Paweletz CP, Felip E, Cho BC, Stetson D, Dougherty B, et al. Acquired EGFR C797S mutation mediates resistance to AZD9291 in non-small cell lung cancer harboring EGFR T790M. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:560–2. doi: 10.1038/nm.3854

10. Oxnard GR, Hu Y, Mileham KF, Husain H, Costa DB, Tracy P, et al. Assessment of resistance mechanisms and clinical implications in patients with EGFR T790M-positive lung cancer and acquired resistance to osimertinib. *JAMA Oncol* (2018) 4:1527–34. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.2969

11. Santoni-Rugiu E, Melchior LC, Urbanska EM, Jakobsen JN, de SK, Grauslund M, et al. Intrinsic resistance to EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors in EGFR-mutant nonsmall cell lung cancer: differences and similarities with acquired resistance. *Cancers* (*Basel*) (2019) 11(7):923. doi: 10.3390/cancers11070923

12. Karachaliou N, Chaib I, Cardona AF, Berenguer J, Bracht JWP, Yang J, et al. Common co-activation of AXL and CDCP1 in EGFR-mutation-positive non-smallcell lung cancer associated with poor prognosis. *EBioMedicine* (2018) 29:112–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.02.001

13. Ortiz-Cuaran S, Scheffler M, Plenker D, Dahmen L, Scheel AH, Fernandez-Cuesta L, et al. Heterogeneous mechanisms of primary and acquired resistance to thirdgeneration EGFR inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2016) 22:4837–47. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1915

14. Gray JE, Okamoto I, Sriuranpong V, Vansteenkiste J, Imamura F, Lee JS, et al. Tissue and plasma EGFR mutation analysis in the FLAURA trial: osimertinib versus comparator EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor as first-line treatment in patients with EGFR-mutated advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2019) 25:6644–52. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-1126

15. Schoenfeld AJ, Yu HA. The evolving landscape of resistance to osimertinib. J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer (2020) 15:18–21. doi: 10.1016/ j.jtho.2019.11.005

16. Schoenfeld AJ, Chan JM, Kubota D, Sato H, Rizvi H, Daneshbod Y, et al. Tumor analyses reveal squamous transformation and off-target alterations as early resistance mechanisms to first-line osimertinib in EGFR-mutant lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2020) 26:2654–63. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-3563

17. Chmielecki J, Gray JE, Cheng Y, Ohe Y, Imamura F, Cho BC, et al. Candidate mechanisms of acquired resistance to first-line osimertinib in EGFR-mutated advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Nat Commun* (2023) 14:1070. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-35961-y

18. Engelman JA, Zejnullahu K, Mitsudomi T, Song Y, Hyland C, Joon OP, et al. MET amplification leads to gefitinib resistance in lung cancer by activating ERBB3 signaling. *Science* (2007) 316:1039–43. doi: 10.1126/science.1141478

19. Offin M, Chan JM, Tenet M, Rizvi HA, Shen R, Riely GJ, et al. Concurrent RB1 and TP53 Alterations Define a Subset of EGFR-Mutant Lung Cancers at risk for Histologic Transformation and Inferior Clinical Outcomes. J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer (2019) 14:1784–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.06.002

20. Reck M, Mok TSK, Nishio M, Jotte RM, Cappuzzo F, Orlandi F, et al. Atezolizumab plus bevacizumab and chemotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer (IMpower150): key subgroup analyses of patients with EGFR mutations or baseline liver metastases in a randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. *Lancet Respir Med* (2019) 7:387–401. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(19)30084-0

21. Mazieres J, Drilon A, Lusque A, Mhanna L, Cortot AB, Mezquita L, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors for patients with advanced lung cancer and oncogenic driver alterations: results from the IMMUNOTARGET registry. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol* (2019) 30:1321–8. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz167

22. Lee ATM, Nagasaka M. CheckMate-722: the rise and fall of nivolumab with chemotherapy in TKI-refractory EGFR-mutant NSCLC. *Lung Cancer (Auckland NZ)* (2023) 14:41–6. doi: 10.2147/LCTT.S408886

23. Bennouna J, Girard N, Audigier-Valette C, le Thuaut A, Gervais R, Masson P, et al. Phase II study evaluating the mechanisms of resistance on tumor tissue and liquid biopsy in patients with EGFR-mutated non-pretreated advanced lung cancer receiving

osimertinib until and beyond radiologic progression: the MELROSE trial. *Clin Lung Cancer* (2020) 21:e10–4. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2019.09.007

24. Araki T, Kanda S, Horinouchi H, Ohe Y. Current treatment strategies for EGFRmutated non-small cell lung cancer: from first line to beyond osimertinib resistance. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* (2023) 53:547–61. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyad052

25. Jänne PA, Baik C, Su W-C, Johnson ML, Hayashi H, Nishio M, et al. Efficacy and safety of patritumab deruxtecan (HER3-DXd) in EGFR inhibitor-resistant, EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Discovery* (2022) 12:74–89. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-0715

26. Yu HA, Goto Y, Hayashi H, Felip E, Chih-Hsin Yang J, Reck M, et al. HERTHENA-lung01, a phase II trial of patritumab deruxtecan (HER3-DXd) in epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer after epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy and platinum-based chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2023) 41(35):5363–5375. doi: 10.1200/JCO.23.01476

27. Cho BC, Simi A, Sabari J, Vijayaraghavan S, Moores S, Spira A. Amivantamab, an epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and mesenchymal-epithelial transition factor (MET) bispecific antibody, designed to enable multiple mechanisms of action and broad clinical applications. *Clin Lung Cancer* (2023) 24:89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2022.11.004

28. Yu HA, Goldberg SB, Le X, Piotrowska Z, Goldman JW, De Langen AJ, et al. Biomarker-directed phase II platform study in patients with EGFR sensitizing mutation-positive advanced/metastatic non-small cell lung cancer whose disease has progressed on first-line osimertinib therapy (ORCHARD). *Clin Lung Cancer* (2021) 22:601–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2021.06.006

29. Riess JW, De Langen JA, Piotrowska Z, Goldberg SB, Goldman JW, Okamoto I, et al. 329P ORCHARD: Osimertinib + necitumumab in patients (pts) with advanced NSCLC whose disease progressed on first-line (1L) osimertinib. *Ann Oncol* (2022) 33: S1571–2. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2022.10.368

30. Uchibori K, Inase N, Araki M, Kamada M, Sato S, Okuno Y, et al. Brigatinib combined with anti-EGFR antibody overcomes osimertinib resistance in EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:14768. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14768

31. Wang Y, Yang N, Zhang Y, Li L, Han R, Zhu M, et al. Effective treatment of lung adenocarcinoma harboring EGFR-activating mutation, T790M, and cis-C797S triple mutations by brigatinib and cetuximab combination therapy. *J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer* (2020) 15:1369–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.04.014

32. Jia Y, Yun C-H, Park E, Ercan D, Manuia M, Juarez J, et al. Overcoming EGFR (T790M) and EGFR(C797S) resistance with mutant-selective allosteric inhibitors. *Nature* (2016) 534:129–32. doi: 10.1038/nature17960

33. To C, Jang J, Chen T, Park E, Mushajiang M, De Clercq DJH, et al. Single and dual targeting of mutant EGFR with an allosteric inhibitor. *Cancer Discovery* (2019) 9:926–43. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0903

34. Kashima K, Kawauchi H, Tanimura H, Tachibana Y, Chiba T, Torizawa T, et al. CH7233163 overcomes osimertinib-resistant EGFR-del19/T790M/C797S mutation. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2020) 19:2288–97. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-20-0229

35. Besse B, Baik CS, Marmarelis ME, Sabari JK, Goto K, Shu CA, et al. Predictive biomarkers for treatment with amivantamab plus lazertinib among EGFR-mutated NSCLC in the post-osimertinib setting: Analysis of tissue IHC and ctDNA NGS. J Clin Oncol (2023) 41(16):S9013. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2023.41.16_suppl.9013

Glossary

ADC	Antibody-drug conjugate
ALK	anaplastic lymphoma kinase
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
AXL	AXL receptor tyrosine kinase
BRAF	v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1
CDCP1	CUB-domain-containing protein 1
CDK4/6	Cyclin-dependent kinase 4 and 6
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
ERK	Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase
HER2	Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2
HER3	Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 3
JAK1	Janus kinase 1
KRAS	Kristen Rat Sarcoma viral oncogene
MEK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MET	MET Proto-Oncogene, Receptor Tyrosine Kinase
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NGS	next-generation sequencing
NSCLC	Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer
NTRK	Neurotrophic tyrosine receptor kinase
OS	Overall survival
PD-1	Programmed death-1
PD-L1	programmed death-ligand 1
PFS	Progression-free survival
ΡΙ3Κα/ δ	Phosphoinositide 3-kinases α/δ
PI3KCA	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit alpha
PTEN	Phosphatase and TENsin homolog deleted on chromosome 10
RB1	retinoblastoma susceptibility gene 1
RET	rearranged during transfection
ROS1	ROS Proto-Oncogene 1
RR	Response rate
ТКІ	Tyrosine-Kinase Inhibitor
TP53	Tumor protein P53
TROP2	trophoblast antigen 2

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY Horace C. W. Choi, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China Alberto Pavan, Azienda ULSS 3 Serenissima, Italy Lin Zhou, Sichuan University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Hongying Liao, ⊠ liaohy2@mail.sysu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 12 June 2023 ACCEPTED 21 December 2023 PUBLISHED 09 January 2024

CITATION

Zheng H, Qin X, Zheng Y, Yang X, Tan J, Cai W, He S and Liao H (2024), Addition of bevacizumab to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in advanced NSCLC: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Pharmacol.* 14:1238579. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2023.1238579

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Zheng, Qin, Zheng, Yang, Tan, Cai, He and Liao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Addition of bevacizumab to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in advanced NSCLC: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis

Haosheng Zheng[†], Xianyu Qin[†], Yuzhen Zheng, Xingping Yang, Jian Tan, Weijie Cai, Shiyun He and Hongying Liao*

¹Department of Thoracic Surgery, The Sixth Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China

Background: The synergistic effects of antiangiogenic inhibitor bevacizumab and epidermal growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKI) therapy were encouraging in patients with EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC, though some controversy remains. The specific subgroup of patients who might benefit most from the EGFR-TKI and bevacizumab combination therapy is yet to be determined.

Methods: Randomized clinical trials (RCTs) that had compared the clinical efficacy of EGFR-TKI and bevacizumab combination therapy with EGFR-TKI monotherapy in treating EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients published before 23 December 2022 were searched in the Cochrane, PubMed and Embase. We performed a meta-analysis for the overall survival (OS), progression-free survival (PFS), objective response rate (ORR), and treatment-related adverse events with a grade equal or more than 3 (grade≥3 TRAEs). Subgroup analyses of PFS and OS stratified by clinical characteristics and treatment were conducted.

Results: We included 10 RCTs involving 1520 patients. Compared with EGFR-TKI monotherapy, addition of bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI resulted in a significantly higher PFS (hazard ratio (HR) = 0.74, 95% confidence interval (95% CI): 0.62-0.87)) and ORR (risk ratio (RR) = 1.07, 95% CI: 1.01-1.13). However, no significant difference in OS (HR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.83-1.12) was noticed. Patients with EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC receiving combination therapy showed PFS improvement regardless of gender (male or female), Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (0 or 1), baseline central nervous system (CNS) metastasis (presence or absence) and EGFR mutation type (19del or 21L858R). Subgroup analyses showed that, with the treatment of bevacizumab and EGFR-TKI, patients who ever smoked achieved significantly better OS and PFS benefits (HR = 0.68, 95% CI: 0.48-0.95; HR = 0.59, 95% CI: 0.46-0.74, respectively), and those aged <75 years and the Asian population had significantly prolonged PFS (HR = 0.69, 95% CI: 0.52-0.91; HR = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.58-0.87; respectively). The superiority of EGFR-TKI and bevacizumab combination therapy against EGFR-TKI monotherapy in improving PFS was more significant in the erlotinib regimen subgroup. The risk of grade≥3 TRAEs was remarkably higher in the combination therapy group (HR = 1.73, 95% CI: 1.39-2.16).

Conclusion: Addition of bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI therapy provided significantly better PFS and ORR for EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients, though with higher risk of grade≥3 TRAEs. Patients who ever smoked, aged <75 years, and Asian population might benefit more from the combination regimen.

Systematic Review Registration: This systematic review and meta-analysis was registered in the PROSPERO database (CRD42023401926)

KEYWORDS

Lung cancer is one of the most common leading causes of death

worldwide (Miller and Hanna, 2021). Non-small cell lung cancer

(NSCLC) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC) account for nearly 85%

EGFR, NSCLC, bevacizumab, EGFR-TKI, combination therapy

Introduction

and 15% of all lung cancers, respectively (Molina et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2021). Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), a transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase in the ERBB family, plays fundamental role in cell proliferation and survival (Jorissen et al., 2003). The overall EGFR mutation frequency was about 50% in Asia-Pacific patients and 15%–



TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of included studies in the meta-analysis.

Study/year	Design	Histology/ Stage	Treatment		Treatment line	Median follow-up	Randomization	Outcomes
AfaBev-CS (2022)(26) jRCTs061180006	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC	Afatinib (30 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Afatinib once daily (40 mg)	First-line	31.3 months	1:1	PFS, ORR, AE
ARTEMIS- CTONG1509 (2021)(25) NCT02759614	Phase III	NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV, recurrence	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	NA	1:1	PFS, OS, ORR, AEs
BEVERLY (2022)(31) NCT02633189	Phase III	NSCLC/Stage IIIB, IV	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	36.3 months	1:1	PFS, OS, ORR, AEs
BOOSTER (2021)(18) NCT03133546	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV	Osimertinib (80 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Osimertinib once daily (80 mg)	Second-line	33.8 months	1:1	PFS, OS, ORR, AEs
JO25567 (2014)(20) JapicCTI-111390	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV, recurrence	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	20.4 months for PFS	1:1	PFS, ORR
JO25567 (2018)(24) JapicCTI-111390	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV, recurrence	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	34.7 months for OS	1:1	OS
JO25567 (2018)(21) JapicCTI-111390	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV, recurrence	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	27 months for monotherapy; 25.9 months for combination therapy	1:1	AEs
NEJ026 (2019)(22) UMIN000017069	Phase III	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB–IV	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	12.4 months for PFS	1:1	PFS, ORR, AEs
NEJ026 (2022)(27) UMIN000017069	Phase III	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB–IV	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	39.2 months for OS	1:1	OS
Stinchcombe et al. (2019)(19) NCT01532089	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	33 months	1:1	PFS, OS, ORR

(Continued on following page)

Study/year	Design	Histology/ Stage	Treatment		Treatment line	Median follow-up	Randomization	Outcomes
WJOG8715L (2021)(23) UMIN000023761	Phase II	NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV, recurrence	Osimertinib (80 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Osimertinib once daily (80 mg)	Not First-line	16.2 months for monotherapy;16.0 months for combination therapy	1:1	PFS, OS, ORR, AEs
WJOG9717L (2022)(28) UMIN000030206	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV, recurrence	Osimertinib (80 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Osimertinib once daily (80 mg)	First-line	19.8 months	1:1	ORR, AEs
WJOG9717L (2022)(30) UMIN000030206	Phase II	Non-squamous NSCLC/Stage IIIB-IV, recurrence	Osimertinib (80 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Osimertinib once daily (80 mg)	First-line	36 months	1:1	Updated PFS, OS
Youngjoo Lee et al. (2022)(29) NCT03126799	Phase II	Stage IIIB/IV NSCLC	Erlotinib (150 mg) once daily + bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) every 21 days	Erlotinib once daily (150 mg)	First-line	38.9 months	1:1	PFS, OS, ORR, AEs

TABLE 1 (Continued) Baseline characteristics of included studies in the meta-analysis.

20% in western NSCLC patients, with higher frequency in women compared with men, as well as in non-smokers compared with eversmokers (Midha et al., 2015). Moreover, exon 19 (19del) deletion and L858R point mutation are most prevalent (Lee, 2017). The mutation and overexpression of EGFR was the pharmaceutical basis for the development and employment of EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKI), and it has been widely adopted in front-line treatment for NSCLC patients with EGFR mutation (Lau et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Ito et al., 2020). Nevertheless, most patients inevitably develop resistance to these TKIs within 9-13 months (Lee, 2017), which has been found to be associated with increased vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels (Hung et al., 2016). It is reported that inhibition of angiogenesis could effectively enhance the anti-tumor activity of EGFR-TKI by targeting both the EGFR and VEGF pathways (Zhang et al., 2020; Watanabe et al., 2021). Therefore, addition of antiangiogenic agents might be able to prevent EGFR-TKI resistance and exert synergistic antitumor effects.

Bevacizumab is a kind of recombinant, anti-VEGF monoclonal antibody, which targets vascular endothelial growth factor-A (Goyal et al., 2022). The addition of bevacizumab to chemotherapy or immune check point inhibitors in the treatment of advanced NSCLC was demonstrated to be favorable (Systematic review and meta, 2013; Socinski et al., 2021; Sugawara et al., 2021), whereas its role in EGFR-TKI combination therapy remains controversy. The combination of erlotinib and bevacizumab was shown to be encouraging and has been accepted as an alternative choice of frontline therapy (Hsu et al., 2018). However, in the trials that mostly included non-Asian patients, no superiority of the combination regimen was found in terms of the anti-tumor effect, as compared with EGFR-TKI alone (Stinchcombe et al., 2019; Soo et al., 2021).

As more clinical trials had reported the outcome of combination therapy involving bevacizumab and different EGFR-TKIs, the

present study aimed to clarify the clinical value of bevacizumab and EGFR-TKI combination therapy in EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients, and further explore its role in predefined subgroups, in an attempt to provide evidence for selection of NSCLC individuals who might benefit most by adding bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI.

Methods

Search strategy

This systematic review and meta-analysis was registered in the International prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO) database (CRD42023401926). We conducted a thorough search to identify relevant RCTs that had compared the clinical efficacy of combination EGFR-TKI and bevacizumab therapy with EGFR-TKI monotherapy in the treatment of advanced NSCLC using the following databases: PUBMED, EMBASE, and Cochrane. The last retrieval was performed on 23 December 2022. The keywords used were as follows: all terms related to "NSCLC," "bevacizumab," "erlotinib," "gefitinib," "icotinib," "afatinib," "Osimertinib," and other EGFR-TKIs, "epidermal growth factor receptor," "EGFR," all terms related to clinical trial. The retrieval strategy for the PubMed database is listed in Supplementary Table S1.

Eligibility criteria

Studies fulfilling all the following criteria were included (Miller and Hanna, 2021) RCTs; (Molina et al., 2008) studies that had

				-				
Study/year	Treatment	Patients (n, female%)	Age (median, years)	Smoking history (never smoker, smoker, other)	Ethnicity	EGFR mutation (19del, L858R, other)	ECOG score (0, 1, 2)	CNS metastasis
AfaBev-CS (2022)(26)	Afatinib + Bev	50	NA	NA	Japanese centers	NA	NA	NA
jRCTs061180006	Afatinib	50	NA	NA	Japanese centers	NA	NA	NA
ARTEMIS-	Erlotinib + Bev	157 (61.8)	57 (33–78)	NA	Asian (100%)	(82, 75, 0)	(25, 132, 0)	44 (28%)
CTONG1509 (2021)(25) NCT02759614	Erlotinib	154 (62.3)	59 (27–77)	NA	Asian (100%)	(79, 75, 0)	(17, 137, 0)	47 (30.5%)
BEVERLY (2022)(31)	Erlotinib + Bev	80 (65%)	65.9 (57.9–71.8)	(46, 34, 0)	Italian centers	(44, 34, 2)	(52, 26, 2)	None
NCT02633189	Erlotinib	80 (62.5%)	67.7 (60.7–73.6)	(37, 43, 0)	Italian centers	(44, 32, 4)	(47, 29, 4)	None
BOOSTER (2021)(18)	Osimertinib + Bev	78 (60.3%)	68 (34-85)	(44, 34, 0)	Asian (41%)	(58, 20, 0)	(22, 51, 5)	13 (16.7%)
NCT03133546	Osimertinib	77 (63.6%)	66 (41-83)	(49, 28, 0)	Asian (40.3%)	(51, 26, 0)	(25, 48, 4)	8 (10.4%)
JO25567 (2014)(20)	Erlotinib + Bev	75 (60%)	67 (59–73)	(42, 9, 24)*	Asian (100%)	(40, 35, 0)	(43, 32, 0)	None
JapicCTI-111390	Erlotinib	77 (66%)	67 (69–73)	(45, 6, 26)*	Asian (100%)	(40, 37, 0)	(41, 36, 0)	None
NEJ026 (2019)(22)	Erlotinib + Bev	112 (63%)	67 (61–73)	(65, 47, 0)	Asian (100%)	(56, 56, 0)	(64, 48, 0)	36 (32%)
UMIN000017069	Erlotinib	112 (65%)	68 (62–73)	(64, 48, 0)	Asian (100%)	(55, 57, 0)	(68, 42, 2)	36 (32%)
Stinchcombe et al. (2019)(19)	Erlotinib + Bev	43 (72%)	65 (31-84)	(25, 17, 1)	Non- Asian (96%)	(29, 14, 0)	(24, 19, 0)	11 (26%)
NCT01532089	Erlotinib	45 (69%)	63 (47-84)	(23, 22, 0)	Non- Asian (94%)	(30, 15, 0)	(19, 26, 0)	14 (31%)
WJOG8715L (2021)(23)	Osimertinib + Bev	40 (60%)	68 (43-82)	(21, 19, 0)	Asian (100%)	(22, 18, 0)	(20, 20, 0)	12 (30%)
UMIN000023761	Osimertinib	41 (59%)	70 (41-82)	(20, 21, 0)	Asian (100%)	(28, 13, 0)	(17, 24, 0)	9 (22%)
WJOG9717L (2022)(28)	Osimertinib + Bev	61 (60.7%)	67 (59–74)	(38, 23, 0)	Asian (100%)	(35, 26, 0)	(32, 29, 0)	NA
UMIN000030206	Osimertinib	61 (62.3%)	66 (60-74)	(30, 31, 0)	Asian (100%)	(36, 25, 0)	(34, 27, 0)	NA
Youngjoo Lee et al.	Erlotinib + Bev	64 (68.8%)	31 (48.4%)#	(41, 23, 0)	Asian (100%)	(37, 27, 0)	(33, 31, 0)	29 (45.3%)
(2022)(29) NCT03126799	Erlotinib	63 (63.5%)	24 (38.1%)#	(42, 21, 0)	Asian (100%)	(37. 26, 0)	(28, 35, 0)	30 (47.6%)

TABLE 2 Baseline characteristics of patients included in the meta-analysis.

*indicates (never smoker, former light smoker, other).

#indicates number of participants who aged ${\geq}65$ years (percentage%).

compared combination EGFR-TKI and bevacizumab therapy with EGFR-TKI monotherapy in treating advanced NSCLC (Wang et al., 2021); studies included patients with EGFR mutations (Jorissen et al., 2003); with at least one of the following reported outcomes: overall survival (OS), progression-free survival (PFS), objective response rate (ORR) and treatment-related adverse events with a grade equal or more than 3 (grade≥3 TRAEs) (Midha et al., 2015); studies with a sample size of at least 40 patients. For the overlapping reports obtained from the same group of patients, the latest and most complete reports were included. Duplicate publications, review articles, meta-analyses, editorials, case reports, letters, animal or

cellular experiments and studies with incomplete data were excluded.

Data extraction

Data extraction was performed independently by two investigators according to the predefined criteria. The information extracted from each study was as follows: the name of study, year of publication, trial number and design, ethnicity involved, sample size (female%), treatment regimens, follow-up



(A) Forest plot of HRs for PFS in the overall population. (B) Forest plot of HRs for OS in the overall population. Afa, Afatinib; Bev, Bevacizumab; Erlo, Erlotinib; Osimer, Osimertinib; CI, confidence interval.

time, age (median, range, years), Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (ECOG PS), smoking status, baseline central nervous system (CNS) metastasis condition, pathological features, EGFR mutation status, outcomes including PFS, OS, ORR and grade≥3 TRAEs. A third investigator was consulted when there were any disagreements during the process, and the discrepancies were resolved by discussion.

Quality assessment

The quality assessment of included trials was conducted independently by two investigators. The quality of RCT was evaluated according to the Cochrane Collaboration tool, with a total of 6 items included: selection bias, performance bias, detection bias, attrition bias, reporting bias, and other bias (Supplementary Figure S1). There are three levels for each item, that is, a high, low or unclear risk of bias. A third investigator was consulted when there were any disagreements during the process, and the discrepancies were resolved by discussion.

Statistical analysis

R software (version 4.1.0) with package meta was adopted to perform meta-analysis. The primary outcomes were OS and PFS, and the secondary outcomes were ORR and grade \geq 3 TRAEs. Hazard ratios (HR) with 95% CIs for OS and PFS, odds ratios (OR) with 95% CIs for ORR and grade \geq 3 TRAEs were extracted from the original report.

For each outcome, statistical heterogeneity was evaluated using the Cochran's Q test and the I^2 measure. An I^2 value greater than 50% or *p*-value equal or less than 0.1 is generally considered to indicate a substantial level of heterogeneity, which requires a random effects model for pooled analysis and initiates subsequent sensitivity analysis to identify the source. Otherwise, a fixed effects model was adopted. The Egger regression test with a funnel plot was used to evaluate the publication bias, and a *p*-value of less than 0.10 was considered to indicate significant asymmetry and publication bias. When there was publication bias, trim-and-fill method was used for data correction. Subgroup analyses were conducted with the following stratifications: gender, age, baseline

a ORR

Study	Treatment	Experin Events		Co Events	ontrol Total	Risk Ratio	RR	95%-CI	Weight
AfaBev-CS (2022)	Afa+bev vs. Afa	39	50	36	50		1.08	[0.86; 1.36]	6.8%
ARTEMIS-CTONG1509 (2021)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	132	152	127	150			[0.94; 1.12]	24.1%
BEVERLY (2022)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	56	80	40	80	□ □ □ □	- 1.40	[1.08; 1.82]	7.5%
JO25567 (2014)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	52	75	49	77		1.09	[0.87; 1.37]	9.1%
NEJ026 (2019)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	81	112	74	112		1.09	[0.92; 1.30]	13.9%
Stinchcombe et al. (2019)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	35	43	35	42		0.98	[0.80; 1.19]	6.7%
Youngjoo Lee et al. (2022)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	55	64	52	62		1.02	[0.88; 1.19]	10.0%
BOOSTER (2021)	Osimer+bev vs. Osimer	43	78	42	77		1.01	[0.76; 1.34]	8.0%
WJOG8715L (2021)	Osimer+bev vs. Osimer	27	40	23	41		1.20	[0.85; 1.70]	4.3%
WJOG9717L (2022)	Osimer+bev vs. Osimer	50	61	50	58		0.95	[0.81; 1.11]	9.7%
Fixed effect model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, $p =$	0.45		755		749	┌──┤	1.07	[1.01; 1.13]	100.0%
					Fav	0.75 1 1.5 or EGFR-TKI Favor EGF	R-TKI +	Bev	

в Grade≥3 TRAEs



FIGURE 3

(A) Forest plot of RRs for ORR in the overall population. (B) Forest plot of RRs for grade≥3 TRAEs in the overall population. Afa, Afatinib; Bev, Bevacizumab; Erlo, Erlotinib; Osimer, Osimertinib; CI, confidence interval.

CNS metastasis, EGFR mutation type, smoking status, different type of EGFR-TKI, treatment line, ethnicity, and ECOG PS.

Results

Study selection and characteristics

We identified 797 records from the databases. After excluding 153 duplicates and 604 reports for irrelevant titles and abstracts, a total of 40 studies were reviewed for full-text assessment. Finally, 14 studies from 10 trials were included in our work (Seto et al., 2014; Kato et al., 2018; Saito et al., 2019; Stinchcombe et al., 2019; Akamatsu et al., 2021; Soo et al., 2021; Yamamoto et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2022; Nakamura et al., 2022; Piccirillo et al., 2022), with 1 trial only reported in conference abstract (Ishikawa et al., 2022) (Figure 1).

The detailed information of the 14 studies were shown in Table 1 and Table 2. A total of 1520 patients were included in our work, with 760 in the combination therapy group and 760 in the monotherapy group. One out of 10 trials had evaluated the efficacy of afatinib plus bevacizumab as compared with afatinib alone (Ishikawa et al., 2022), 6 had compared erlotinib plus bevacizumab with erlotinib alone (Seto et al., 2014; Kato et al., 2018; Saito et al., 2019; Stinchcombe et al., 2019; Yamamoto et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2021; Kawashima et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2022; Piccirillo et al., 2022), and 3 had compared osimertinib plus bevacizumab with osimertinib monotherapy (Akamatsu et al., 2021; Kenmotsu et al., 2022; Nakamura et al., 2022). There were 3 phase III RCTs and 7 phase II RCTs. The majority of the included patient population was Asian. There were 8 RCTs adopted the EGFR-TKI regimen as first-line treatment (Seto et al., 2014; Saito et al., 2022; Kenmotsu et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2021; Ishikawa et al., 2022; Kenmotsu et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2022; Piccirillo et al., 2022). Most patients were ECOG PS 0-1.

Overall population

There were 10 studies involving 1520 patients with EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC eligible for the pooling analysis of PFS. The pooled PFS result derived from a random-effect model showed that the

ABLE 3 Subgroup	analyses of progres	sion-free survival a	and overall survival.			
Subgroup	Studies (patients, n)	HR for PFS (95%CI)	Heterogeneity p-value, I ² (%)	Studies (patients, n)	HR for OS (95%CI)	Heterogeneity p-value, I ² (%)
Gender						
Male	8 (494)	0.63 (0.51-0.78)	$p = 0.2, I^2 = 29\%$	4 (253)	0.92 (0.65–1.3)	$p = 0.29, I^2 = 21\%$
Female	8 (838)	0.76 (0.59-0.97)	$p = 0.06, I^2 = 48\%$	4 (438)	0.86 (0.66-1.12)	$p = 0.44, I^2 = 0\%$
Age (years)						
<75	5 (770)	0.69 (0.52-0.91)	$p = 0.09, I^2 = 50\%$	NA	NA	NA
≥75	4 (114)	0.6 (0.33-1.09)	$p = 0.26, I^2 = 26\%$	NA	NA	NA
ECOG PS						
0	8 (568)	0.68 (0.55-0.84)	$p = 0.15, I^2 = 35\%$	4 (362)	0.86 (0.63-1.18)	$p = 0.92, I^2 = 0\%$
1	8 (756)	0.71 (0.59-0.84)	$p = 0.49, I^2 = 0\%$	4 (321)	0.87 (0.66-1.16)	$p = 0.39, I^2 = 0\%$
Baseline CNS me	tastasis					
Yes	5 (284)	0.63 (0.47-0.85)	$p = 0.58, I^2 = 0\%$	NA	NA	NA
No	7 (873)	0.70 (0.56-0.88)	$p = 0.09, I^2 = 45\%$	NA	NA	NA
Smoking status					-	
Never-smoker	7 (599)	0.9 (0.66-1.24)	$p = 0.03, I^2 = 58\%$	4 (407)	1.05 (0.8–1.38)	$p = 0.39, I^2 = 0\%$
Smoker	7 (409)	0.59 (0.46-0.74)	$p = 0.43, I^2 = 0\%$	4 (271)	0.68 (0.48-0.95)	$p = 0.15, I^2 = 43\%$
EGFR mutation ty	ype					
19del	7 (694)	0.68 (0.57-0.82)	$p = 0.35, I^2 = 11\%$	5 (549)	1.03 (0.78–1.35)	$p = 0.77, I^2 = 0\%$
L858R	7 (551)	0.67 (0.54-0.83)	$p = 0.43, I^2 = 0\%$	5 (447)	0.85 (0.63-1.14)	$p = 0.63, I^2 = 0\%$
Ethnicity			1	- 1		1
Asian	8 (1180)	0.71 (0.58-0.87)	$p = 0.07, I^2 = 46\%$	7 (1080)	0.96 (0.81-1.15)	$p = 0.84, I^2 = 0\%$
Non-Asian	3 (340)	0.84 (0.59–1.19)	$p = 0.12, I^2 = 52\%$	3 (340)	1.03 (0.67-1.58)	$p = 0.14, I^2 = 50\%$
Different type of EGFR-TKI						
Afatinib	1 (100)	0.86 (0.54-1.39)	NA	NA	NA	NA
Erlotinib	6 (1062)	0.63 (0.54-0.73)	$p = 0.65, I^2 = 0\%$	6 (1062)	0.93 (0.78-1.1)	$p = 0.51, I^2 = 0\%$
Osimertinib	3 (358)	1 (0.78–1.28)	$p = 0.34, I^2 = 8\%$	3 (358)	1.1 (0.8–1.5)	$p = 0.83, I^2 = 0\%$
Treatment line						
First-line	8 (1284)	0.66 (0.58-0.76)	$p = 0.49, I^2 = 0\%$	7 (1184)	0.95 (0.81-1.12)	$p = 0.5, I^2 = 0\%$
Non-first-line	2 (291)	1.06 (0.79–1.43)	$p = 0.2, I^2 = 38\%$	2 (291)	1.03 (0.71-1.5)	$p = 0.98, I^2 = 0\%$
	1	1	1	1	1	1

TABLE 3 Subgroup analyses of progression-free survival and overall survival.

combination therapy group had a significantly longer PFS as compared with the EGFR-TKI monotherapy group (HR = 0.74, 95% CI: 0.62–0.87, Cochran's Q p = 0.06, I^2 = 44%; Figure 2A). The funnel plot and Egger's test both demonstrated publication bias (Supplementary Figure S2A, p = 0.0227). Thus, trim-and-fill method was adopted. The data after correction also suggested significant PFS benefit in the combination therapy group (HR = 0.655, 95% CI: 0.5439–0.7889; Supplementary Figure S2B). Sensitivity analysis showed that removal of any study did not affect the pooled HR, which indicates stability of the result (Supplementary Figure S3A).

A total of 9 studies including 1420 patients with EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC were enrolled for the pooling analysis of OS. The

pooled HR was 0.96 (95% CI: 0.83–1.12), with no heterogeneity (Cochran's Q p = 0.7, $l^2 = 0\%$; Figure 2B), suggesting that there was no significant difference in OS between the combination therapy group and EGFR-TKI monotherapy group. The funnel plot and Egger's test showed no publication bias (Supplementary Figure S2C, p = 0.1486). Sensitivity analysis showed that removal of any study did not affect the pooled HR, which indicates stability of the result (Supplementary Figure S3B).

There were 10 studies with 1520 EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients provided the ORR outcome. The pooled RR was 1.07 (95% CI: 1.01–1.13), with no heterogeneity (Cochran's Q p = 0.45, $I^2 = 0\%$; Figure 3A), indicating a slightly better response in the



combination therapy group, as compared with the EGFR-TKI monotherapy group. The funnel plot and Egger's test showed no publication bias (Supplementary Figure S2D, p = 0.1524). Nevertheless, sensitivity analysis showed that removal of the BEVERLY research would affect the pooled RR, which indicates instability of the result (Supplementary Figure S3C). This data should be interpreted with caution.

There were 7 studies with 1250 EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients reported data on grade \geq 3 TRAEs. The pooled RR was 1.73 (95% CI: 1.39–2.16), with high heterogeneity (Cochran's Q p < 0.01, $I^2 = 71\%$; Figure 3B), which suggests a significantly higher risk of grade \geq 3 TRAEs with combination therapy, as compared with the EGFR-TKI monotherapy. The funnel plot and Egger's test showed no publication bias (Supplementary Figure S2E, p = 0.6441). Sensitivity analysis showed that removal of any study did not affect the pooled RR, indicating stability of the result (Supplementary Figure S3D). Moreover, the most reported grade \geq 3 TRAEs were listed in Supplementary Table S2. Of those, the increased risks of hypertension, proteinuria and rash in the combination therapy group were statistically significant, as compared with monotherapy group.

Subgroup analyses

Subgroup analyses of PFS and OS were conducted with the following stratifications: gender, age, baseline CNS metastasis

condition, EGFR mutation type, smoking status, different type of EGFR-TKI, treatment line, ethnicity, and ECOG PS (Table 3).

The stratified analysis showed that addition of bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI therapy could significantly improve the PFS for all EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients irrespective of the differences in gender, EGFR mutation type, ECOG PS, and baseline CNS metastasis (Table 3). However, significant PFS benefit of combination therapy was noticed in patients with age below 75 years (HR = 0.69, 95% CI: 0.52–0.91, Cochran's Q p = 0.09, $I^2 = 50\%$; Figures 4A,B), in the smoker population (HR = 0.59, 95%) CI: 0.46–0.74, Cochran's Q p = 0.43, $I^2 = 0\%$; Figures 5A,B), and in the Asian population (HR = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.58-0.87, Cochran's Q p = 0.07, $I^2 = 46\%$; Figures 6A,B). Moreover, patients treated with erlotinib and bevacizumab combination therapy yielded remarkably better PFS (HR = 0.63, 95% CI: 0.54–0.73, Cochran's Q p = 0.65, $I^2 =$ 0%; Figure 7), whereas those treated with osimertinib or afatinib and bevacizumab had comparable efficacy with those treated with EGFR-TKI monotherapy (For osimertinib, HR = 1, 95% CI: 0.78–1.28, Cochran's Q p = 0.34, $I^2 = 8\%$; Figure 7). Further analyses revealed that EGFR-TKI and bevacizumab had significantly better PFS outcome when adopted as first-line treatment (HR = 0.66, 95% CI: 0.58-0.76, Cochran's Q p = 0.49, $I^2 = 0\%$; Figure 8).

Adding bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI therapy did not affect the OS for all EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients, regardless of their gender, EGFR mutation type, different type of EGFR-TKI, treatment

PFS of smoker subgroup Α Study Treatment **Hazard Ratio** HR 95%-CI Weight BEVERLY (2022) Erlo+bev vs. Erlo 0.49 [0.29; 0.84] 19.5% JO25567 (2014) Erlo+bev vs. Erlo 0.35 [0.17; 0.73] 10.4% NEJ026 (2019) Erlo+bev vs. Erlo 0.63 [0.35; 1.12] 16.9% Youngjoo Lee et al. (2022) Erlo+bev vs. Erlo 0.80 [0.43; 1.50] 14.3% BOOSTER (2021) Osimer+bev vs. Osimer 0.57 [0.33; 0.98] 19.0% WJOG8715L (2021) Osimer+bev vs. Osimer 1.06 [0.50; 2.25] 10.0% WJOG9717L (2022) Osimer+bev vs. Osimer 0.48 [0.23; 1.02] 10.0% Common effect model 0.59 [0.46; 0.74] 100.0% Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 < 0.0001$, p = 0.430.2 0.5 1 2 Favor EGFR-TKI + Bev Favor EGFR-TKI

B PFS of never-smoker subgroup



c OS of smoker subgroup

Study	Treatment	Hazaro	I Ratio	HR	95%-CI	Weight
BEVERLY (2022) JO25567 (2020) NEJ026 (2021) BOOSTER (2021)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Osimer+bev vs. Osimer			0.60 → 1.16	[0.21; 0.80] [0.27; 1.33] [0.63; 2.15] [0.33; 1.23]	25.4% 18.0% 30.0% 26.6%
Common effect mod Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 43\%$				0.68 [0.48; 0.95]	100.0%
, in the second s		0.2 0.5 or EGFR-TKI + Bev	1 Favor	2 EGFR-TK	L	

D OS of never-smoker subgroup

Study	Treatment		Hazard F	Ratio	HR	95%-CI	Weight	
BEVERLY (2022) JO25567 (2020) NEJ026 (2021) BOOSTER (2021)	Erlo+bev vs. Erl Erlo+bev vs. Erl Erlo+bev vs. Erl Osimer+bev vs. Os	0			0.91 0.80	[0.70; 2.64] [0.55; 1.49] [0.47; 1.36] [0.82; 2.40]	16.9% 30.4% 27.0% 25.7%	
Common effect mod Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$		0.2	0.5	<u> </u>	1.05	[0.80; 1.38]	100.0%	
		Favor EGFR-		Favo	∠ or EGFR-TK	Ľ		

FIGURE 5

(A) Forest plot of HRs for PFS in smoker subgroup. (B) Forest plot of HRs for PFS in never-smoker subgroup. (C) Forest plot of HRs for OS in smoker subgroup. (D) Forest plot of HRs for OS in never-smoker subgroup. Note: There were 13 former light smokers from the NEJ026 study excluded from the analysis. The 15 former light smokers from the JO25567 study were included in the never-smoker subgroup. Afa, Afatinib; Bev, Bevacizumab; Erlo, Erlotinib; Osimer, Osimertinib; CI, confidence interval.

99



line, and ECOG PS (Table 3). Interestingly, significant OS benefit of combination therapy was observed in the smoker subgroup, with no heterogeneity (HR = 0.68, 95%CI: 0.48–0.95, Cochran's Q p = 0.15, I^2 = 43%; Figures 5C,D).

Discussion

The results of this meta-analysis showed that adding bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI therapy provided significantly better PFS and ORR results for NSCLC patients harboring EGFR mutations, though this benefit failed to translate into prolonging OS. The subgroup analyses stratified by patients' clinical features also proved that EGFR-TKI and bevacizumab combination therapy consistently resulted in longer PFS regardless of the gender, ECOG PS, baseline CNS metastasis and EGFR mutation type. Interestingly, in the smoker subgroup (former or current smoker), addition of bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI could significantly prolong the PFS and OS. Moreover, as compared with those aged equal or more than 75 years, combination therapy provided with significantly favorable PFS results for EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients who aged less than 75 years.

VEGF, a family of polypeptide growth factors, mainly included VEGF-A, -B, -C and -D (32). Of those, VEGF-A is the most investigated variant, which primarily binds to VEGF receptor 1 and 2, thus inducing angiogenesis (Ferrara and Adamis, 2016). Bevacizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody directed against VEGF-A, has been approved for the treatment of NSCLC globally. Given that the VEGF and EGFR pathways share common downstream signaling pathway that regulate cellular proliferation, it is suggested that EGFR-mutant tumors are more VEGFdependent, thus dual inhibition of EGFR and VEGF might yield better antitumor effects (Abid et al., 2004; Le et al., 2021). In addition, it has been found that VEGF contributes to the acquired EGFR-TKI resistance, which supports the hypothesis that dual inhibition of EGFR and VEGF could delay resistance to EGFR-TKI, thus prolonging antitumor activity (Byers and Heymach, 2007; Le et al., 2021).

Subgroup analyses showed that the PFS benefit was consistently observed in EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients of different gender (male or female), patients with different ECOG PS (0 or 1), baseline CNS metastasis (presence or absence) and EGFR mutation type (19del or 21L858R). The finding is echoed with the same subgroup analyses in the study of Deng et al., 2021. In addition, we

Study	Treatment	Hazard Ratio	HR	95%-CI	Weight
Treatment = Afa+bev vs. Afa AfaBev−CS (2022)	Afa+bev vs. Afa		0.86 [0	0.54; 1.39]	6.7%
Treatment = Erlo+bev vs. Erlo ARTEMIS-CTONG1509 (2021) BEVERLY (2022) JO25567 (2014) NEJ026 (2019) Stinchcombe et al. (2019) Youngjoo Lee et al. (2022) Common effect model Heterogeneity: l^2 = 0%, τ^2 = 0, p = 0	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Erlo+bev vs. Erlo Erlo+bev vs. Erlo		0.66 [0 0.54 [0 0.60 [0 0.81 [0 0.74 [0	0.41; 0.73] 0.47; 0.92] 0.36; 0.80] 0.42; 0.88] 0.50; 1.31] 0.51; 1.08] 0.54; 0.73]	18.0% 13.3% 9.7% 10.8% 6.5% 10.6% 68.9%
WJOG8715L (2021)	Dsimer+bev vs. Osimer Dsimer+bev vs. Osimer Dsimer+bev vs. Osimer		→ 1.44 [0 0.86 [0	0.66; 1.33] 0.83; 2.51] 0.55; 1.36] 0.78; 1.28]	12.2% 4.9% 7.3% 24.4%
Common effect model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 44\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0293$ Test for subgroup differences: $\chi_2^2 = 10$		0.5 1	0.72 [0 2).63; 0.81]	100.0%
	Favor EGFR-	TKI + Bev Fav	or EGFR-T	'KI	
FIGURE 7 Forest plot of HRs for PFS based on differen confidence interval.	nt types of EGFR-TKI. Afa, Afatinib; Be	v, Bevacizumab; Erlo, Erlotinik	o; Osimer, Os	simertinib; CI,	

found that combination bevacizumab and EGFR-TKI therapy significantly improved the PFS and OS result in smokers rather than those who never smoked, which is in line with the findings of Dafni et al., 2022. One possible explanation of this phenomenon is that TP53 mutation triggered by cigarette exposure would lead to increased sensitivity to anti-VEGF therapy (Schwaederlé et al., 2015). Moreover, we also noticed a significantly improved PFS in patients younger than 75 years old, as compared with those aged equal or more than 75 years. This finding is contradictory to that of Deng et al. (Deng et al., 2021). Nevertheless, it should be noted that the sample size of patients who aged equal or more than 75 years were too small in the ARTEMIS-CTONG1509 study and the PFS of the population could not be calculated, the number of patients aged equal or more than 75 years included was much less than those aged less than 75 years. In terms of different types of EGFR-TKI, our work included trials using all three generations of EGFR-TKI. Our data found that patients treated with erlotinib and bevacizumab combination therapy resulted in significantly better PFS than monotherapy, whereas the regimen involving osimertinib did not. The result may be partially explained by the fact that osimertinib and bevacizumab combination therapy adopted in both BOOSTER and WJOG8715L trials were used as non-first-line treatment. In the WJOG9717L trial, in which osimertinib and bevacizumab combination therapy was used in un-treated EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients, bevacizumab was administered with a median duration of 33.4 weeks, which is shorter than that used with erlotinib (11-12 months) (Kenmotsu et al., 2022). There is another

clinical trial (NCT04181060) currently evaluating the efficacy of osimertinib and bevacizumab combination therapy in un-treated EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients, and the results are anticipated. Currently, most published work had focused on the Asian population. Our data showed that Asian population experienced significantly prolonged PFS than the non-Asian group. However, it should be noted that the sample size of non-Asian population is limited. There are several ongoing RCTs of EGFR-TKI with or without bevacizumab in EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC that had primarily included non-Asian population (NCT04181060, NCT02971501), and the results are anticipated.

Noteworthy, several studies aimed to investigate the clinical value of multi-drugs therapy in treatment-naïve EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients. The recently published FLAURA2 study confirmed significantly prolonged PFS in EGFRmutant advanced NSCLC patients treated with osimertinib and chemotherapy, as compared with osimertinib alone (median PFS 25.5 months vs. 16.7 months, HR = 0.62, *p* < 0.001) (Planchard et al., 2023). The MARIPOSA study proved the superiority of amivantamab (with dual activity against EGFR and MET) and Lazertinib (a third-generation EGFR-TKI with CNS permeability) combination therapy in un-treated EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients, as compared with osimertinib alone (median PFS 23.7 months vs. 16.6 months, HR = 0.7, p < 0.001) (Soria et al., 2013). The updated median PFS of the osimertinib monotherapy arm in the WJO9717L study was 20.2 months, which is longer than that reported in the FLAURA2 and MARIPOSA study. The reason

					Weight	Weight	
Study	Treatment	Hazard Ratio	HR	95%-CI	(common)		
Line = First							
AfaBev-CS (2022)	Afa+bev vs. Afa		0.86	[0.54; 1.39]	6.7%	8.1%	
ARTEMIS-CTONG1509 (202	1) Erlo+bev vs. Erlo		0.55	[0.41; 0.73]	18.0%	13.9%	
BEVERLY (2022)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo		0.66	[0.47; 0.92]	13.3%	12.0%	
JO25567 (2014)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	<u> </u>	0.54	[0.36; 0.80]	9.7%	10.2%	
NEJ026 (2019)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo		0.60	[0.42; 0.88]	10.8%	10.8%	
Stinchcombe et al. (2019)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo	<u> </u>	0.81	[0.50; 1.31]	6.5%	7.9%	
Youngjoo Lee et al. (2022)	Erlo+bev vs. Erlo		0.74	[0.51; 1.08]	10.6%	10.7%	
WJOG9717L (2022)	Osimer+bev vs. Osimer		0.86	[0.55; 1.36]	7.3%	8.5%	
Common effect model		-	0.66	[0.58; 0.76]	82.9%		
Random effects model		-	0.66	[0.58; 0.76]		82.0%	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $\tau^2 = 0$, p	= 0.49	6 6 6					
Line = Non-first							
BOOSTER (2021)	Osimer+bey vs. Osimer		0.94	[0.66; 1.33]	12.2%	11.5%	
WJOG8715L (2021)	Osimer+bev vs. Osimer	{_ _		[0.83; 2.51]	4.9%	6.4%	
Common effect model				[0.79; 1.43]	17.1%		
Random effects model				[0.73; 1.64]		18.0%	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 38\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0$)349, <i>p</i> = 0.20	6		[]			
		6 6 6					
Common effect model		•		[0.63; 0.81]	100.0%		
Random effects model			0.74	[0.62; 0.87]		100.0%	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 44\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0$ Test for subgroup differences (co Test for subgroup differences (ran	2293, $p = 0.06$ 0.2 mmon effect): $\chi_1^2 = 8.13$, df = 1 (p - ndom effects): $\chi_1^2 = 5.51$, df = 1 (p	0.5 1 < 0.01) = 0.02)	2				
	Favor EGFR-T	KI + Bev Fa	avor EGF	R-TKI			
FIGURE 8							

Forest plot of HRs for PFS based on different treatment lines. Afa, Afatinib; Bev, Bevacizumab; Erlo, Erlotinib; Osimer, Osimertinib; Cl, confidence interval.

may be that both FLAURA2 and MARIPOSA study had included more patients with CNS metastasis at baseline. With the emerging evidence of various combination therapy, the optimal choice for EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC patients awaits further exploration.

However, the increased risk of combination therapy is nonneglectable. The most frequently observed grade \geq 3 TRAEs were hypertension, proteinuria, thrombotic events, rash, diarrhea and increased aminotransferase, which were similar to the established profiles of bevacizumab and EGFR-TKI, with no new safety concerns. Though it had been reported that the adverse effects of combination therapy were manageable (Kato et al., 2018), combination therapy of bevacizumab and EGFR-TKI should be applied with caution, and the occurrence of adverse events should be monitored carefully.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the meta-analysis that had included the most recently published RCTs comparing the clinical efficacy of combination therapy of bevacizumab and EGFR-TKI with EGFR-TKI monotherapy, and it is also the first meta-analysis that had performed subgroup analyses for both PFS and OS outcomes. However, some limitations should be taken under consideration. First, the majority of included trials had only involved Asian patients, and the non-Asian population is limited, which may affect the subgroup comparison between Asian group and non-Asian group. Second, the OS data of the AfaBev-CS study is immature and the subgroup analyses result are not reported, thus we failed to include the information in our work.

Conclusion

Addition of bevacizumab to EGFR-TKI therapy provided significantly better PFS and ORR results for NSCLC patients harboring EGFR mutations, but no obvious OS benefit was observed and the risk of grade≥3 AEs was higher. Patients who ever smoked, aged <75 years old, and the Asian population might benefit more from the combination regimen, whereas gender, ECOG PS, baseline CNS metastasis and EGFR mutation type did not lead to significant differences.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusion of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

HZ, XQ, and HL contributed to the study conceptualization and design. HZ, YZ, and XY contributed to data acquisition and formal analysis. XQ, JT, and WC contributed to manuscript writing. HL and SH contributed to manuscript revision and study supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

2013). Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised, phase II/III trials adding bevacizumab to platinum-based chemotherapy as first-line treatment in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann. Oncol. official J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol.* 24 (4), 1133. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt075

Abid, M., Guo, S., Minami, T., Spokes, K., Ueki, K., Skurk, C., et al. (2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor activates PI3K/Akt/forkhead signaling in endothelial cells. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, Vasc. Biol.* 24 (2), 294–300. doi:10.1161/01.ATV. 0000110502.10593.06

Akamatsu, H., Toi, Y., Hayashi, H., Fujimoto, D., Tachihara, M., Furuya, N., et al. (2021). Efficacy of osimertinib plus bevacizumab vs osimertinib in patients with EGFR t790mmutated non-small cell lung cancer previously treated with epidermal growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor: west Japan Oncology group 8715L phase 2 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* 7 (3), 386–394. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.6758

Byers, L., and Heymach, J. (2007). Dual targeting of the vascular endothelial growth factor and epidermal growth factor receptor pathways: rationale and clinical applications for non-small-cell lung cancer. *Clin. lung cancer* 8 Suppl 2, S79–S85. doi:10.3816/clc.2007.s.006

Dafni, U., Soo, R., Peters, S., Tsourti, Z., Zygoura, P., Vervita, K., et al. (2022). Impact of smoking status on the relative efficacy of the EGFR TKI/angiogenesis inhibitor combination therapy in advanced NSCLC-a systematic review and meta-analysis. *ESMO open* 7 (3), 100507. doi:10.1016/j.esmoop.2022.100507

Deng, Z., Qin, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y., and Lu, Y. (2021). Role of antiangiogenic agents combined with EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in treatment-naive lung cancer: a meta-analysis. *Clin. lung cancer* 22 (1), e70–e83. doi:10.1016/j.cllc.2020.08.005

Ferrara, N., and Adamis, A. (2016). Ten years of anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 15 (6), 385-403. doi:10.1038/nrd.2015.17

Goyal, P., Vats, B., Subbarao, M., Honnappa, C., Kabadi, P., Rohil, S., et al. (2022). Analytical similarity assessment of MYL-1402O to reference Bevacizumab. *Expert Opin. Biol. Ther.* 22 (2), 271–298. doi:10.1080/14712598.2021.1973426

Hsu, W., Yang, J., Mok, T., and Loong, H. (2018). Overview of current systemic management of EGFR-mutant NSCLC. *Ann. Oncol. official J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol.* 29, 13–19. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdx702

Hung, M., Chen, I., Lin, P., Lung, J., Li, Y., Lin, Y., et al. (2016). Epidermal growth factor receptor mutation enhances expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in lung cancer. *Oncol. Lett.* 12 (6), 4598–4604. doi:10.3892/ol.2016.5287

Ishikawa, N., Ninomiya, T., Kozuki, T., Kuyama, S., Inoue, K., Yokoyama, T., et al. (2022). Afatinib (Afa) + bevacizumab (Bev) versus afatinib alone as first-line treatment of patients with EGFR-mutated advanced non-squamous NSCLC: primary analysis of the multicenter, randomized, phase II study?AfaBev-CS study. J. Clin. Oncol. 40 (16), 9112. doi:10.1200/jco.2022.40.16_suppl.9112

Ito, K., Murotani, K., Kubo, A., Kunii, E., Taniguchi, H., Shindoh, J., et al. (2020). Propensity score analysis of overall survival between first- and second-generation EGFR-TKIs using real-world data. *Cancer Sci.* 111 (10), 3705–3713. doi:10.1111/cas.14560

Jorissen, R., Walker, F., Pouliot, N., Garrett, T., Ward, C., and Burgess, A. (2003). Epidermal growth factor receptor: mechanisms of activation and signalling. *Exp. Cell Res.* 284 (1), 31–53. doi:10.1016/s0014-4827(02)00098-8

Kato, T., Seto, T., Nishio, M., Goto, K., Yamamoto, N., Okamoto, I., et al. (2018). Erlotinib plus bevacizumab phase ll study in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (JO25567): updated safety results. *Drug Saf.* 41 (2), 229–237. doi:10.1007/s40264-017-0596-0

Kawashima, Y., Fukuhara, T., Saito, H., Furuya, N., Watanabe, K., Sugawara, S., et al. (2022). Bevacizumab plus erlotinib versus erlotinib alone in Japanese patients with advanced, metastatic, EGFR-mutant non-small-cell lung cancer (NEJ026): overall survival analysis of an open-label, randomised, multicentre, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Respir. Med.* 10 (1), 72–82. doi:10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00166-1

Kenmotsu, H., Wakuda, K., Mori, K., Kato, T., Sugawara, S., Kirita, K., et al. (2022). Randomized phase 2 study of osimertinib plus bevacizumab versus osimertinib for organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2023.1238579/ full#supplementary-material

untreated patients with nonsquamous NSCLC harboring EGFR mutations: WJOG9717L study. J. Thorac. Oncol. 17 (9), 1098–1108. doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2022.05.006

Lau, S., Chooback, N., Ho, C., and Melosky, B. (2019). Outcome differences between first- and second-generation EGFR inhibitors in advanced EGFR mutated NSCLC in a large population-based cohort. *Clin. lung cancer* 20 (5), e576–e583. doi:10.1016/j.cllc. 2019.05.003

Le, X., Nilsson, M., Goldman, J., Reck, M., Nakagawa, K., Kato, T., et al. (2021). Dual EGFR-VEGF pathway inhibition: a promising strategy for patients with EGFR-mutant NSCLC. *J. Thorac. Oncol. official Publ. Int. Assoc. Study Lung Cancer* 16 (2), 205–215. doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2020.10.006

Lee, D. (2017). Treatments for EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): the road to a success, paved with failures. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 174, 1–21. doi:10.1016/j. pharmthera.2017.02.001

Lee, Y., Kim, H. R., Hong, M. H., Lee, K. H., Park, K. U., Lee, G. K., et al. (2022). A randomized Phase 2 study to compare erlotinib with or without bevacizumab in previously untreated patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer with EGFR mutation. *Cancer* 129, 405–414. doi:10.1002/cncr.34553

Li, H., Wang, C., Wang, Z., Hu, Y., Zhang, G., Zhang, M., et al. (2019). Efficacy and long-term survival of advanced lung adenocarcinoma patients with uncommon EGFR mutations treated with 1st generation EGFR-TKIs compared with chemotherapy as first-line therapy. *Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Neth.* 130, 42–49. doi:10.1016/j.lungcan. 2019.02.001

Midha, A., Dearden, S., and McCormack, R. (2015). EGFR mutation incidence in non-small-cell lung cancer of adenocarcinoma histology: a systematic review and global map by ethnicity (mutMapII). *Am. J. cancer Res.* 5 (9), 2892–2911.

Miller, M., and Hanna, N. (2021). Advances in systemic therapy for non-small cell lung cancer. *BMJ Clin. Res. ed*) 375, n2363. doi:10.1136/bmj.n2363

Molina, J., Yang, P., Cassivi, S., Schild, S., and Adjei, A. (2008). Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 83 (5), 584–594. doi:10.4065/83.5.584

Nakamura, A., Kenmotsu, H., Sakai, K., Mori, K., Kato, T., Kirita, K., et al. (2022). Final results and biomarker analysis of a randomized phase II study of osimertinib plus bevacizumab versus osimertinib monotherapy for untreated patients with nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer harboring EGFR mutations: WJOG9717L study. *Ann. Oncol.* 33, S1000–S1. doi:10.1016/j.annonc.2022.07.1110

Piccirillo, M. C., Bonanno, L., Garassino, M. C., Esposito, G., Dazzi, C., Cavanna, L., et al. (2022). Addition of bevacizumab to erlotinib as first-line treatment of patients with EGFR-mutated advanced nonsquamous NSCLC: the BEVERLY multicenter randomized phase 3 trial. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 17, 1086–1097. doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2022. 05.008

Planchard, D., Jänne, P., Cheng, Y., Yang, J., Yanagitani, N., Kim, S., et al. (2023). Osimertinib with or without chemotherapy in *EGFR*-mutated advanced NSCLC. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 389 (21), 1935–1948. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2306434

Saito, H., Fukuhara, T., Furuya, N., Watanabe, K., Sugawara, S., Iwasawa, S., et al. (2019). Erlotinib plus bevacizumab versus erlotinib alone in patients with EGFR-positive advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (NEJ026): interim analysis of an open-label, randomised, multicentre, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 20 (5), 625–635. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30035-X

Schwaederlé, M., Lazar, V., Validire, P., Hansson, J., Lacroix, L., Soria, J., et al. (2015). VEGF-A expression correlates with TP53 mutations in non-small cell lung cancer: implications for antiangiogenesis therapy. *Cancer Res.* 75 (7), 1187–1190. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2305

Seto, T., Kato, T., Nishio, M., Goto, K., Atagi, S., Hosomi, Y., et al. (2014). Erlotinib alone or with bevacizumab as first-line therapy in patients with advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring EGFR mutations (JO25567): an open-label, randomised, multicentre, phase 2 study. *lancet Oncol.* 15 (11), 1236–1244. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70381-X Socinski, M., Nishio, M., Jotte, R., Cappuzzo, F., Orlandi, F., Stroyakovskiy, D., et al. (2021). IMpower150 final overall survival analyses for atezolizumab plus bevacizumab and chemotherapy in first-line metastatic nonsquamous NSCLC. *J. Thorac. Oncol. official Publ. Int. Assoc. Study Lung Cancer* 16 (11), 1909–1924. doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2021. 07.009

Soo, R. A., Han, J. Y., Dafni, U., Cho, B. C., Yeo, C. M., Nadal, E., et al. (2021). A randomised phase II study of osimertinib and bevacizumab versus osimertinib alone as second-line targeted treatment in advanced NSCLC with confirmed EGFR and acquired T790M mutations: the European Thoracic Oncology Platform (ETOP 10-16) BOOSTER trial. *Ann. Oncol.* 33, 181–192. doi:10.1016/j.annonc.2021.11.010

Soria, J., Mauguen, A., Reck, M., Sandler, A., Saijo, N., Johnson, D., et al. (2013). Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised, phase II/III trials adding bevacizumab to platinum-based chemotherapy as first-line treatment in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann. Oncol. official J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol.* 24 (1), 20–30.

Stinchcombe, T. E., Jänne, P. A., Wang, X., Bertino, E. M., Weiss, J., Bazhenova, L., et al. (2019). Effect of erlotinib plus bevacizumab vs erlotinib alone on progression-free survival in patients with advanced EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer: a phase 2 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* 5 (10), 1448–1455. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol. 2019.1847

Sugawara, S., Lee, J., Kang, J., Kim, H., Inui, N., Hida, T., et al. (2021). Nivolumab with carboplatin, paclitaxel, and bevacizumab for first-line treatment of advanced

nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann. Oncol. official J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol. 32 (9), 1137-1147. doi:10.1016/j.annonc.2021.06.004

Wang, M., Herbst, R., and Boshoff, C. (2021). Toward personalized treatment approaches for non-small-cell lung cancer. *Nat. Med.* 27 (8), 1345–1356. doi:10. 1038/s41591-021-01450-2

Watanabe, H., Ichihara, E., Kayatani, H., Makimoto, G., Ninomiya, K., Nishii, K., et al. (2021). VEGFR2 blockade augments the effects of tyrosine kinase inhibitors by inhibiting angiogenesis and oncogenic signaling in oncogene-driven non-small-cell lung cancers. *Cancer Sci.* 112 (5), 1853–1864. doi:10.1111/cas.14801

Yamamoto, N., Seto, T., Nishio, M., Goto, K., Yamamoto, N., Okamoto, I., et al. (2021). Erlotinib plus bevacizumab vs erlotinib monotherapy as first-line treatment for advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer: survival follow-up results of the randomized JO25567 study. *Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Neth.* 151, 20–24. doi:10.1016/j.lungcan.2020.11.020

Zhang, K., Wang, L., Wei, A., Jia, X., and Liu, X. (2020). CM082, a novel angiogenesis inhibitor, enhances the antitumor activity of gefitinib on epidermal growth factor receptor mutant non-small cell lung cancer *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Thorac. cancer* 11 (6), 1566–1577. doi:10.1111/1759-7714.13430

Zhou, Q., Xu, C. R., Cheng, Y., Liu, Y. P., Chen, G. Y., Cui, J. W., et al. (2021). Bevacizumab plus erlotinib in Chinese patients with untreated, EGFR-mutated, advanced NSCLC (ARTEMIS-CTONG1509): a multicenter phase 3 study. *Cancer Cell* 39 (9), 1279–1291.e3. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2021.07.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY Alberto Pavan, Azienda ULSS 3 Serenissima, Italy Jan Von Der Thüsen, Erasmus Medical Center, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE Myriam Mirza Mmirza@crai.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[†]Steering committee members (study supervisors)

RECEIVED 30 October 2023 ACCEPTED 31 December 2023 PUBLISHED 23 January 2024

CITATION

Mirza M, Shrivastava A, Matthews C, Leighl N, Ng CSH, Planchard D, Popat S, Rotow J, Smit EF, Soo R, Tsuboi M, Yang F, Stiles B, Grohe C and Wu Y-L (2024) Treatment decision for recurrences in non-small cell lung cancer during or after adjuvant osimertinib: an international Delphi consensus report. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1330468. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1330468

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Mirza, Shrivastava, Matthews, Leighl, Ng, Planchard, Popat, Rotow, Smit, Soo, Tsuboi, Yang, Stiles, Grohe and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Treatment decision for recurrences in non-small cell lung cancer during or after adjuvant osimertinib: an international Delphi consensus report

Myriam Mirza^{1*}, Aseem Shrivastava¹, Cecile Matthews², Natasha Leighl^{3†}, Calvin S. H. Ng^{4†}, David Planchard^{5,6†}, Sanjay Popat^{7,8,9†}, Julia Rotow^{10†}, Egbert F. Smit^{11†}, Ross Soo^{12†}, Masahiro Tsuboi^{13†}, Fan Yang^{14†}, Brendon Stiles^{15‡}, Christian Grohe^{16‡} and Yi-Long Wu^{17‡}

¹Charles River Associates, Munich, Germany, ²Charles River Associates, Cambridge, United Kingdom, ³Department of Medical Oncology & Hematology, Princess Margaret Cancer Centre, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁴Department of Surgery, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ⁵Department of Medical Oncology, Thoracic Group and International Center for Thoracic Cancers (CICT), Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France, ⁶Faculty of Medicine, Paris-Saclay University, Paris, France, ⁷National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College, London, United Kingdom, ⁸Lung Unit, The Royal Marsden, London, United Kingdom, ⁹Division of Clinical Studies, The Institute of Cancer Research, London, United Kingdom, ¹⁰Lowe Center for Thoracic Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, United States, ¹¹Department of Thoracic Oncology, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ¹²Department of Haematology-Oncology, National University Hospital, Singapore, Singapore, ¹³Department of Thoracic Surgery and Oncology, National Cancer Center Hospital East, Kashiwa, Japan, ¹⁴Thoracic Surgery Department, Peking University People's Hospital, Beijing, China, ¹⁵Thoracic Surgery and Surgical Oncology, Albert Einstein College of Medicine and Montefiore Medical Centre, New York, NY, United States, ¹⁶Department of Pneumology, Evangelische Lungenklinik (ELK) Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ¹⁷Guangdong Lung Cancer Institute, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital and Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences, Guangzhou, China

Introduction: Osimertinib is recommended by major guidelines for use in the adjuvant setting in patients with EGFR mutation-positive NSCLC following the significant improvement in disease-free survival observed in the Phase III ADAURA trials. Due to limited real-world data in the adjuvant setting, little guidance exists on how to approach potential recurrences either during or after the completion of the treatment. This study aimed to reach a broad consensus on key treatment decision criteria in the events of recurrence.

Methods: To reach a broad consensus, a modified Delphi panel study was conducted consisting of two rounds of surveys, followed by two consensus meetings and a final offline review of key statements. An international panel of experts in the field of NSCLC (n=12) was used to provide clinical insights regarding patient management at various stages of NSCLC disease including patient monitoring, diagnostics, and treatment approach for specific recurrence scenarios. This study tested recurrences occurring 1) within or outside the central nervous system (CNS), 2) during or after the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen in NSCLC disease which is 3) amenable or not amenable to local consolidative therapy.

Results: Panellists agreed on various aspects of patient monitoring and diagnostics including the use of standard techniques (e.g., CT, MRI) and tumour biomarker assessment using tissue and liquid biopsies. Consensus was reached on 6 statements describing treatment considerations for the specific NSCLC recurrence scenarios. Panellists agreed on the value of osimertinib as a monotherapy or as part of the overall treatment strategy within the probed recurrence scenarios and acknowledged that more clinical evidence is required before precise recommendations for specific patient populations can be made.

Discussion: This study provides a qualitative expert opinion framework for clinicians to consider within their treatment decision-making when faced with recurrence during or after adjuvant-osimertinib treatment.

KEYWORDS

osimertinib, non-small cell lung cancer, adjuvant treatment, EGFR mutation, recurrence, treatment sequencing

1 Introduction

A significant number of NSCLC patients harbor EGFR driver mutations (EGFRm NSCLC) which activate EGFR tyrosine kinase to have a ligand-independent activity, resulting in tumorigenesis (1-3). In US plus Europe and Asia, EGFRm NSCLC patients account for ~10-15% and ~30-50% of all NSCLC cases, respectively (4). The two most common EGFR mutations are short in-frame deletions of exon 19 and a point mutation in exon 21 which result in the substitution of leucine by arginine at codon 858 (L858R), together, accounting for ~85% of all EGFR mutations in NSCLC (4). EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) have been shown to significantly improve disease-free survival (DFS) in patients with resected early-stage EGFRm NSCLC (5, 6). Osimertinib is a third-generation EGFR-TKI approved in many countries around the world for both EGFR-TKI sensitizing (exon 19 deletion & L858R point mutation in exon 21) and T790M resistance mutations in advanced stage NSCLC patients (7). In 2020, primary analysis of the pivotal phase 3 ADAURA trial demonstrated a substantial DFS benefit in patients with EGFR-mutated NSCLC who underwent complete tumor resection, with hazard ratios of 0.17 (99% CI 0.11 to 0.26; p < 0.001) for stage II to IIIA disease and 0.20 (99% CI 0.14 to 0.30; p < 0.001) for stage IB to IIIA disease compared to placebo. Due to the significant improvement in DFS, the independent data monitoring committee recommended reporting the trial results two years earlier than originally planned, allowing patients to continue in the trial (8). Updated data with an additional 2 years of follow-up continued to show a sustained DFS benefit (hazard ratios of 0.23 in stage II and IIIA disease and 0.27 in stage IB and IIIA disease, respectively), In addition, recurrences among all the patients with stage IB to IIIA disease were less frequent with osimertinib (93 patients [27%]) than with placebo (205 patients [60%]). Recurrences in the osimertinib group included distant metastases only (45 patients [13%]), local/ regional only (42 patients [12%]), as well as both local/regional and distance (6 patients [2%]) (9).

Most recently, published data on overall survival (OS) in the overall population (patients with stage IB to IIIA disease) report an OS HR of 0.49 (95% CI 0.34 to 0.70; p < 0.0001) with a 5-year OS rate of 88% with osimertinib vs 78% with placebo. In stage II–IIIA disease, OS HR was reported to be 0.49 (95% CI 0.33 to 0.73; p=0.0001) and the 5-year OS rate was 85% with osimertinib vs 73% with placebo. The median OS was not reached in either population or treatment group (10).

While adjuvant-osimertinib demonstrated an unprecedented patient benefit in terms of OS improvements, there is a need to understand better the optimal management of patients who show tumor recurrence either during or after the completion of the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen. Given the anticipated emergence of a patient population with disease relapse following adjuvant osimertinib treatment, and the absence of real-world data or trial data, creating formal guidelines on how to approach and manage recurrent patients either during or after completion of adjuvantosimertinib is not yet possible. The knowledge gap regarding the appropriate approach for patient monitoring, diagnostics, and treatment sequencing decisions in cases of various recurrence scenarios can be bridged via clinical consensus studies. Recent

Abbreviations: CNS, central nervous system; CT, computerized tomography; DFS, disease-free survival; EGFRm, Epidermal growth factor receptor mutation; HR, hazard ratio; HRQoL, Health-related quality of life; MDT, multi-disciplinary team; MRD, minimal residual disease; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; NGS, next-generation sequencing); OS, overall survival; PET, positron emission tomography; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; SRS, stereotactic radiosurgery; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; NSCLC,non-small-cell lung cancer; WBRT, whole-brain radiotherapy.

consensus studies echoed the need for further clinical trial data to create formal guidelines (11, 12) and outlined the appropriate treatment options (including osimertinib) for different recurrence scenarios (12). In this consensus paper, we discuss the key clinical factors that can be considered during treatment decision-making as well as clinical value of osimertinib for various recurrence scenarios.

2 Materials and methods

The study utilized a modified Delphi method which included two rounds of surveys, followed by two consensus meetings and a final offline review by an expert panel. The key topics addressed in this study are listed in Table 1.

2.1 Panel selection

In this study, an international panel of experts was recruited with significant expertise in NSCLC as well as patient management with *EGFR*-TKIs or other systemic therapies (n=12). Experts who fulfil the following criteria were selected as panelists in this study: a physician specializing in NSCLC (medical oncologist or thoracic surgeon); based in a specialist lung cancer treatment and research center; significant years of experience in practice since completing residence/fellowship; over 60% of combined professional time dedicated to clinical practice and research activities related to NSCLC; regularly treating and managing patients across all stages

TABLE 1 Key topics addressed in this studyⁱ.

1	General treatment decision influencers within NSCLC and recurrence scenarios: Patient characteristics and history including age, smoking status, the initial stage of the disease, and the subsequent treatment methodology
2	Patient monitoring approach within adjuvant setting: Different techniques used and the monitoring frequency both during and after the completion of the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen
3	Diagnostic approach upon recurrence suspicion: Different diagnostic approaches and their potential impact on the ongoing adjuvant-osimertinib regimen
4	Treatment and management approaches for CNS and ex-CNS recurrence: Treatment decision-making process considering recurrence type, timing, and other clinically relevant factors ⁱⁱ
5	 Variation in patient management based on the recurrence scenarios: Potential differences in the patient monitoring, diagnostic and/or treatment approaches for the following distinct recurrence scenarios: Ex-CNS or CNS recurrences during the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen that are amenable to local consolidative therapyⁱⁱⁱ Ex-CNS or CNS recurrences post-adjuvant osimertinib regimen that are amenable to local consolidative therapy Ex-CNS or CNS recurrences during the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen that are not amenable to local consolidative therapy Ex-CNS or CNS recurrences post-adjuvant-osimertinib regimen that are not amenable to local consolidative therapy

ⁱThe table displays the key topics related to disease recurrence events during or after adjuvant osimertinib treatment for EGFRm NSCLC.

of NSCLC (stage I-III); active advisor/member of a national or international society for lung cancer with participation in guideline creation for NSCLC in the last 5 years; has published on the topic of stage I-III NSCLC in international peer-reviewed journals within the last 5 years.

The steering committee consisted of two medical oncologists and one thoracic surgeon from different geographies (Asia, Europe, and the USA) to ensure geographic as well as different clinical expertise were incorporated in the development of materials.

2.2 Delphi methodology and statement development

Both surveys were composed of a series of open and close ended question and shared via email. All materials tested in the study were co-developed and reviewed by the steering committee. In Survey 1, panelists were presented with six hypothetical patient case studies representing distinct real-world EFGRm NSCLC patients who recur during or after the treatment with adjuvantosimertinib and were surveyed on their approach to patient monitoring, diagnostic workup, and treatment sequencing (see Supplementary Data 1 - Table 1 for hypothetical patient cases). Most questions were asked in an open-ended style to capture individual approach as well as clinical considerations. After analysis, topics that reached clinical consensus were reported back in Survey 2 as anonymized consolidated feedback and those that did not reach consensus were further probed using new clinical statements based on insights from Survey 1 (see Supplementary Data 2 for both survey 1 and 2). The insights gathered from Survey 2 were analyzed to find topics of clinical consensus. Statements or insights where clinical consensus was not achieved were brought forward to a series of consensus meetings (see Supplementary Data 1 - Table 2).

Two virtual consensus meetings were held where a final set of statements were discussed and amended live during the meeting. The level of consensus on the amended statements was probed through anonymous polls. The statement modification process was iterated until an overall clinical consensus (\geq 80% panelist agreement) was achieved for all six statements (see Supplementary Data 1 – Table 3 for the evolution of the survey statements pre- and post-consensus meeting). The final set of consensus statements were shared with all panelists for offline review and to capture their final level of agreement.

2.3 Defining consensus

Closed statements were ranked on the Likert scale of 1 to 9, where 1 equals "strongly disagree with the statement," and 9 equals "strongly agree with the statement,". Likert scale rating of 7 or higher for a given statement from a minimum of 80% of panelists was defined as a threshold for a consensus on the statement. In contrast, a rating of 3 or lower for a given statement from a minimum of 80% of panelists indicated consensus had been reached of disagreement with the statement.

ⁱⁱClinical considerations of treatment sequencing decisions and potential geographic differences in the recommended treatment sequencing were also captured.

ⁱⁱⁱLocal consolidative therapy includes surgery, ablation (percutaneous/endoscopic ablations including thermal/cryo ablation), radiotherapy, conformal radiotherapy, or stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT).
2.4 Limiting bias

To limit bias, all surveys were conducted anonymously, and identity of experts was revealed only during the consensus meetings. Furthermore, results from rating exercises were provided as median scores and anonymous votes were held to finalize the consensus statements. In addition, offline review of the final statements was conducted individually without revealing the level of agreement from other panelists.

An independent third-party vendor, Charles River Associates (CRA) designed the survey, moderated the consensus meetings, analyzed the data and supported the manuscript development. The sponsor of the study (AstraZeneca Ltd.) did not participate in consensus meetings.

3 Results

Surveys 1 and 2 were used to gather a greater understanding of the factors influencing treatment sequencing within the adjuvantosimertinib setting, including recurrence type and timing. A summary of the key insights gathered from Surveys 1 and 2 is shown in Table 2.

3.1 Survey 1

In Survey 1, six distinct hypothetical NSCLC patient case studies were used to understand how panelists approach management of different patient types and understand the potential differences under varying recurrence scenarios. Patients within the case studies had varying *EGFRm* mutations, ethnicities (Asian/non-Asian), age groups (40-65 years old), smoking status, past experience with adjuvant chemotherapies, recurrence either during or after adjuvant-osimertinib and details of the recurrence. All patients within the case studies were given a performance status (PS) score of 1.

Overall, panelists agreed that all the hypothetical patient cases are representative of real-world profiles and the use of adjuvantosimertinib in these hypothetical patient cases is approved under the ADAURA label. Panelists also agreed on the monitoring and diagnostic approaches laid out, albeit frequency of monitoring and how molecular analysis is conducted remained unclear. Moreover, although some panelists mentioned the use of monitoring techniques such as minimal residual disease (MRD) tests and blood tests (e.g., CEA - carcinoembryonic antigen), it was unclear if these techniques would be used for all patients or in specific circumstances. Finally, there was a lack of agreement on the value of liquid biopsy within the diagnostic process. Overall, despite no diagnostic procedural differences between oligometastatic and disseminated recurrences being reported there remained a lack of clarity as to whether adjuvant-osimertinib regimen should be continued during diagnostic workup and up until a new treatment strategy is confirmed.

TABLE 2 Survey 1 and Survey 2 outcomes – Major insights with an overall panellists' agreement.

Survey 1 and 2 Outcomes					
	Insights Agreement				
Key topic		insights	reached		
	1	Patients monitoring during or after ADAURA regimen is conducted using CT scan and brain MRI in line with local guidelines.	Survey 1		
	2	Additional patient monitoring techniques like MRD and blood tests (e.g., Carcinoembryonic antigen assay) can be used as add- on techniques but caution is recommended as currently there is no clinically validated MRD assay	Survey 2		
Patient	3	Tissue biopsy is performed for histological and molecular analysis to look for actionable targets (e.g., EGFR, PDL-1, others) in all feasible cases	Survey 1		
Patient monitoring during or after adjuvant- osimertinib regimen	4	Liquid biopsies are performed when tissue biopsy is difficult or as a second diagnostic method. Factors such as patient or doctor preference for non-invasive procedure also influence the decision to perform liquid biopsies but they have secondary priority	Survey 2		
	5	NGS or other molecular analysis procedures are always performed if progression is observed	Survey 2		
	6	In case of recurrence, osimertinib is used during the entire diagnostic workup and up until a new treatment regimen is decided • Use of osimertinib can help avoid disease flare (as observed in metastatic setting) and decrease the risk of progression in the CNS • Osimertinib might be part of the new treatment regimen depending on the re-biopsy results	Survey 2		
Treatment approach: ex- CNS and/or CNS recurrence (amenable to local consolidative therapy)	7	Treatment for oligometastatic distant recurrence includes local consolidative therapies – surgery, percutaneous/endoscopic ablations including thermal/cryo ablation, radiotherapy, conformal radiotherapy, or stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT)	Survey 1		
	8	Treatment strategies for CNS recurrence include combination of local consolidative therapies (surgery or radiotherapy) with systemic therapies • Surgery will be performed only when anatomically feasible • Stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) and whole-brain radiation therapy (WBRT) are the preferred radiotherapy options for oligometastatic and disseminated	Survey 1		

(Continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

Survey 1 and 2 Outcomes			
Key topic		Insights	Agreement reached
		CNS recurrences, respectively • Continuation of osimertinib is a treatment option depending on the recurrence histology	
	9	In case of recurrence during the adjuvant osimertinib regimen that is amenable to local consolidative therapy, local consolidative therapy is performed in parallel to continuation of adjuvant osimertinib use, if possible	Survey 2
	10	In case of recurrence after the adjuvant osimertinib regimen is completed, local consolidative therapy is performed in parallel to rechallenge with osimertinib, if possible	Survey 2
Treatment	11	Treatment approach for disseminated distant recurrence involves systemic therapies based on the newly obtained histology. Systemic therapies mentioned include targeted drugs against the resistance mechanism (other TKIs), chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and combinational approach (e.g., chemo + TKI, chemo + immunotherapy) ⁱ	Survey 1
approach: ex- CNS and/or CNS recurrence (not amenable to local consolidative therapy)	12	In case of ex-CNS or CNS recurrence during the adjuvant osimertinib regimen and local consolidative therapy is not an option, systemic therapy based on the re-biopsy result is recommended with potential to include osimertinib depending on patient case	Survey 2
	13	In case of recurrence ex-CNS and/ or CNS after completion of adjuvant osimertinib regimen, therapeutic approach will be based on re-biopsy results and in conjunction with the MDT with potential to include osimertinib depending on patient case pproach with osimertinib and immunoth	Survey 2

'Combination treatment approach with osimertinib and immunotherapy was flagged a unsuitable by KEEs and additional caution was recommended in case of sequential use.

Panelists agreed on treatment approaches for local and distant oligometastatic CNS/ex-CNS recurrence as well as disseminated CNS/ex-CNS recurrence. However, treatment sequencing decision for both ex-CNS and CNS recurrences and the associated driving factors were unclear. No consensus was observed on how patients treated with the preferred initial treatment (e.g., ablative therapy) are therapeutically followed up and to what extent osimertinib would be considered a therapeutic option.

3.2 Survey 2

Gaps identified in Survey 1 were explored in Survey 2, where agreement was reached on all outstanding aspects of diagnosis and monitoring. Panelists were presented with different scenarios to better understand the treatment sequencing drivers and how adjuvant-osimertinib would be considered in the overall treatment strategy. These scenarios focused on understanding the impact of recurrence location (CNS versus ex-CNS), amenability to local consolidative therapy, timing (during or after adjuvantosimertinib regimen) as well as time points (3, 6, 18 months after initiation of adjuvant-osimertinib versus 3, 12 and 36 months after completion with adjuvant-osimertinib regimen).

While panelists agreed that continuing with adjuvantosimertinib is clinically suitable during the diagnostic process and can be considered within treatment decision-making in the described CNS/ex-CNS recurrence scenarios, how its use would be decided remained unclear. Furthermore, there was no consensus on how long treatment with osimertinib would continue within recurrence scenarios and what considerations would influence this decision. Finally, some panelists suggested temporarily pausing the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen upon recurrence and resuming after ablative therapy, but the recommended pause duration and its applicability to all ablative therapy procedures are not clear. For recurrences after completing the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen, a combination of ablative therapy and osimertinib rechallenge was proposed, but it remains unclear whether the rechallenge would be performed alongside ablative therapy or after its completion.

3.3 Consensus meeting

Gaps in key treatment decision factors and the value of osimertinib across tested recurrence scenarios were addressed during 2 virtual consensus meetings, where experts amended wording of original proposed statements in line with best clinical practice and experience given limited randomized evidence. A summary of the statements that reached a consensus is shown in Table 3.

4 Discussion

A lack of clinical guidance on how to treat recurrences during or after the completion of the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen has been raised in recent publications (11, 12). Our Delphi consensus study surveyed an international panel of experts on patient-specific as well as recurrence scenario-specific considerations when making treatment decisions in the absence of extensive clinical data and formalized guidelines.

Our study approach enables experts to share their own opinions based on clinical experience, and, where relevant, knowledge of the ADAURA phase 3 data, with the aim of fostering the integration of these viewpoints. Overall, our research shows a high consensus

TABLE 3 Final consensus statements with an overall panelist agreement.

Recurrence scenarios		Final Consensus Statement	Panelist Agreement
ex-CNS or CNS recurrence	1	If a patient experiences an ex-CNS or CNS recurrence amenable to local consolidative therapy during the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen, in absence of existing evidence, I would use the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen in parallel with local consolidative therapy, considering the risk of toxicities, site of recurrence, method of local consolidative therapy and after discussion with the MDT	Consensus reached 11 out of 12 panelists agreed
amenable to local consolidative therapy 2		If a patient experiences an ex-CNS or CNS recurrence amenable to local consolidative therapy after completion of the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen, I would consider rechallenging with osimertinib as an option after local consolidative therapy, after discussion with MDT	
ex-CNS and/or CNS recurrence during adjuvant- osimertinib regimen not amenable to local consolidative therapy 4		If a patient experiences CNS-only recurrence not amenable to local consolidative therapy during the adjuvant- osimertinib regimen, I would consider continuing with osimertinib as a part of the overall treatment strategy when a patient has asymptomatic progression, if fits with the best clinical practice	Consensus reached 10 out of 12 panelists agreed
		In the absence of randomized evidence, if a patient experiences ex-CNS recurrence not amenable to local consolidative therapy during the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen, I would consider continuation with osimertinib as a part of the overall treatment strategy if a patient has asymptomatic progression and if fits with the current guideline recommendations	Consensus reached 10 out of 12 panelists agreed
ex-CNS and/or CNS recurrence post-adjuvant- osimertinib regimen not amenable to local consolidative therapy	5	If a patient experiences an ex-CNS and/or CNS recurrence after completion of the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen, and local consolidative therapy is not an option, I would rechallenge with monotherapy osimertinib or osimertinib as a part of the overall treatment strategy irrespective of when the recurrence happens after treatment completion, if fits with the best clinical practice and is supported by re-biopsy in all feasible cases	Consensus reached 12 out of 12 panelists agreed
All ex-CNS and/or CNS recurrence types	6	If a patient experiences an ex-CNS and/or CNS recurrence during or after the completion of the adjuvant- osimertinib regimen and I choose to continue with osimertinib as part of the overall treatment strategy, I would continue the osimertinib therapy until the clinical situation mandates a change or stop in therapy	Consensus reached 11 out of 12 panelists agreed

regarding patient considerations and approaches to various recurrence scenarios. Statements and considerations that garnered consensus can serve as valuable guidance in clinical practice when combined with a tailored patient approach and recommendations from multidisciplinary teams.

4.1 Key considerations for adjuvantosimertinib and *EGFRm* NSCLC patient monitoring & diagnostic work-up

Our results show that the decision to use adjuvant-osimertinib is not driven by patient's gender, ethnicity, age, smoking or alcohol use status, or previous treatment experience with adjuvantchemotherapy. However, the decision to use adjuvant-osimertinib might change if a patient has poor PS score (PS >1), has high comorbidities or is likely to be less compliant with the dosing regimen.

Furthermore, patients receiving adjuvant-osimertinib should be monitored using local guidelines which broadly align with international guidelines such as ESMO (Table 2 – statement 1).

In our study, tissue biopsy is recommended in all feasible cases in case of progression to assess the suitability of different treatment options based on tumor biomarker/mutation profile. The diagnostic result from liquid biopsy was highlighted to be less sensitive and contingent on site and burden of the recurrence (Table 2 – statements 3-5). Therefore, only when tissue biopsy is not possible should liquid biopsy be used as it is unable to capture histologic transformation and has limited sensitivity from amplifications and fusions (12). Moreover, liquid biopsies may give false negative or positive results, especially in cases of low volume disease with lower than threshold circulating ctDNA (13). These recommendations are echoed in the ESMO expert consensus on the management of *EGFRm* NSCLC (12). The panel's consensus is to continue use of adjuvant-osimertinib during the diagnostic workup and up until a new treatment regimen is decided for patients who present with recurrence during the adjuvantosimertinib regimen. The continued use of osimertinib can help avoid disease flare, a well-established scenario for metastatic disease, and to additionally protect against CNS progression (Table 2 – statement 6) (9, 14, 15).

4.2 Key considerations in treatment sequencing for adjuvant-osimertinib recurrence scenarios

Across all tested scenarios, treatment decisions are taken on a patient-by-patient basis and taking input from the multidisciplinary team (MDT), aligning with major guidelines (16–21). The following key clinical criteria should be considered during the treatment sequencing decision process (Table 2 – statements 7-13):

 Pattern and location – Number of lesions, size and location determine if the recurrence is oligometastatic and amenable to local consolidative therapy or disseminated and requires treatment with a systemic therapy. Furthermore, limited metastases which may include lesions in contralateral lung, lymph node, CNS or other organs could be managed with a combination of local consolidative therapy and a systemic therapy. Panelists did not rule out the treatment value of osimertinib in various recurrence scenarios solely based on pattern and location.

- Timing of recurrence whether and when recurrence occurs during or after the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen can indicate if the recurrent lesion is sensitive or resistant to osimertinib in addition to genetic profiling. Recurrence during the adjuvantosimertinib regimen (especially ex-CNS) might be a sign of acquired resistance to osimertinib, while recurrence after the completion of the regimen might indicate a disease flare posttreatment cessation.
- Molecular characterization of the recurrence Confirming molecular histology or biomarker profile informs the presence of any actionable target and is necessary when considering further treatment with osimertinib.

It is important to note here that while panelists acknowledge osimertinib to be a valuable treatment option for patients with complex clinical presentations, including the emergence of distinct resistance mechanisms (e.g., MET amplification, PIK3CA mutation, BRAF mutation) and/or progression to acquire other genetic alterations (e.g., ALK mutation), these specific recurrence scenarios were not explored in this study.

4.2.1 Therapeutic value of osimertinib: ex-CNS or CNS recurrences during the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen that are amenable to local consolidative therapy

For ex-CNS or CNS recurrences which occur during the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen and are amenable to local consolidative therapy (surgery, ablation, or radiotherapy), the panel recommended to continue adjuvant-osimertinib treatment along with local consolidative therapy if found clinically suitable (Table 3 – consensus statement 1). A consensus was achieved in pausing osimertinib regimen during radiotherapy due to severe toxicity risk in case of combined use, however, length of pause was not specified. Pausing the use of therapies such as osimertinib during radiotherapy was also recently highlighted in published consensus recommendations by the EORTC-ESTRO OligoCare consortium, where a consensus was reached to not perform SBRT within one week of the administration of anti-EGFR antibody (22).

However, in the absence of safety data in combining local consolidative therapy with osimertinib treatment, recommendations on pausing or continuing with osimertinib during ablative or surgical procedures could not be reached and instead in the absence of treatment guidelines, the decision to pause osimertinib should be based on treatment experience from the metastatic setting, i.e., considering the extent of recurrence including location, size and number of the lesions (note that the treatment guidelines for metastatic settings are also not yet established). Additionally, caution was recommended when patients are given other drugs (e.g., prophylactic antibiotics before local consolidative therapy) that could show drug-drug interactions with osimertinib.

4.2.2 Therapeutic value of osimertinib: ex-CNS or CNS recurrences post-adjuvant osimertinib regimen that are amenable or not amendable to local consolidative therapy

While the place of osimertinib within the treatment strategy is dependent on multiple factors (see Section 4.2), the treatment value of rechallenging with osimertinib was thought to increase as duration between time to recurrence and completion of the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen increases. However, no consensus was achieved on the minimum recurrence free time (3, 12 or 36 months) to consider osimertinib for rechallenge.

In cases of post-adjuvant osimertinib regimen recurrence scenarios that are amenable to local consolidative therapy and rechallenging with osimertinib is suitable, the consensus is to rechallenge with osimertinib after the completion of the local consolidative therapy (Table 3 – consensus statement 2), especially in the case of radiotherapy where parallel use of osimertinib is not recommended due to the risk of toxicities. However, it is still to be determined whether stand-alone local consolidative therapy is sufficient and has curative potential in some patient cases or whether it should always be followed with osimertinib rechallenge to prevent potential distant metastasis.

In case of post-adjuvant osimertinib regimen recurrence scenarios that are not amenable to local consolidative therapy, rechallenge with osimertinib may be of high clinical value and should therefore be considered either as osimertinib monotherapy or as a part of treatment strategy involving other therapies (Table 3 – consensus statement 5).

4.2.3 Therapeutic value of osimertinib: ex-CNS or CNS recurrences during the adjuvant-osimertinib regimen that are not amenable to local consolidative therapy

Our study found that ex-CNS recurrence in the first 6 months is an indication of treatment failure of adjuvant-osimertinib, requiring change of treatment to either chemotherapy, other targeted therapies, or a combination of both. However, for later recurrences, continuation of osimertinib as a part of a broad treatment strategy could be potentially valuable (Table 3 – consensus statement 4) as it may prevent brain metastases, especially in case of ex-CNS recurrence.

For CNS-only recurrences, the consensus is that continuation of osimertinib as a part of a broad treatment strategy could be an effective treatment option (Table 3 – consensus statement 3). For indolent CNS recurrences, continuation of osimertinib monotherapy could also be a valuable treatment option, given the CNS recurrence could stem from underexposure to osimertinib. However, further evidence is needed on the appropriate osimertinib dosing regimen and/or combination with other therapies before these treatment approaches are considered outside clinical trials. The use of osimertinib for both ex-CNS and CNS-only recurrence was identified to be more suitable for patients with asymptomatic progression which indicates that the tumor growth is gradual and the risk of resistance to osimertinib is relatively lower than within symptomatic progression (Table 3 – consensus statements 3 & 4).

4.2.4 Osimertinib treatment duration for all indicated CNS and/or ex-CNS recurrences

In cases where osimertinib was considered as a treatment option within the recurrence scenarios, the consensus was that treatment would continue until disease progression or toxicities were observed, or patient quality of life deteriorated. For a low progression risk patient (e.g., indolent oligometastatic progression), the duration of osimertinib treatment should be limited and a decision to stop treatment should be taken after monitoring the efficacy and patient's health profile and considering the safety and tolerance profile of osimertinib and patient wishes (Table 3 – consensus statement 6). For a high progression risk patient, the treatment duration would be longer compared to a low progression risk patient with an aim to avoid any residual disease flare after osimertinib treatment cessation.

5 Conclusion

Outcomes from the phase 3 ADAURA trial show significant improvements in DFS and OS for EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients with stage IB to IIIA disease. Nonetheless, patterns of recurrence were reported within the osimertinib group, although lower compared with placebo (9, 10). In the absence of clinical guidance on how to treat recurrences during or after the completion of the adjuvantosimertinib regimen, our consensus study offers a qualitative framework for clinicians in such scenarios, drawing from international expert consensus. While recognizing the importance of additional clinical data from trials and real-world settings, the study provides broader treatment considerations. It also considers osimertinib's efficacy, as supported by FLAURA, AURA3, and ADAURA trials (7, 9, 23), with panelists acknowledging its potential benefits across various recurrence scenarios, including oligometastatic CNS recurrences and CNS metastases. In addition, panelists acknowledged the potential treatment value of combination therapies using osimertinib with local consolidative therapy, chemotherapy, and other systemic therapies; however, further efficacy and safety data is needed. The suitability of each combination approach under different recurrence scenarios was not tested in this study indicating the need for more discussion on clinical experience in the absence of concrete data.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

MM: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AS: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. CM: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. NL: Writing – review & editing. CN: Writing – review & editing. DP: Writing – review & editing. SP: Writing – review & editing. JR: Writing – review & editing. ES: Writing – review & editing. RS: Writing – review & editing. MT: Writing – review & editing. FY: Writing – review & editing. BS: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. CG: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. Y-LW: Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by AstraZeneca, Cambridge, UK. An independent third party, Charles River Associates (CRA), designed the study, moderated the consensus meeting, and supported manuscript development.

Acknowledgments

All named authors meet the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) criteria for authorship for this manuscript, take responsibility for the integrity of the work as a whole, and have given final approval for the version to be published.

Conflict of interest

NL reports research funding from Amgen, AstraZeneca Canada, Baver, EMD Serono, Guardant Health, Lilly, MSD, MSD Oncology, Roche Canada, and Takeda; travel and accommodation support from Merck Sharp & Dohme. CN reports advisor to Medtronic, Johnson & Johnson; speaker fees from AstraZeneca, Merck Sharp & Dohme, Roche, Medtronic, Johnson & Johnson. DP reports being an advisor to AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Boehringer Ingelheim, Celgene, Daiichi Sankyo, Eli Lilly, Merck, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Janssen, and Abbvie; honoraria from AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Celgene, Eli Lilly, Merck, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Janssen, and Abbvie; travel and accommodation grants from AstraZeneca, Roche, Novartis, and Pfizer; and conducting clinical trials research as principal or coinvestigator institutional financial interests for AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Boehringer Ingelheim, Eli Lilly, Merck, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Medimmun, Sanofi-Aventis, Taiho Pharma, Novocure, Daiichi Sankyo, Abbvie, and Janssen. SP reports consultancy to Amgen, AstraZeneca, Bayer, BeiGene, Blueprint, BMS, Boehringer Ingelheim, Daiichi Sankyo, EQRx, GlaxoSmithKline, Guardant Health, Janssen, Lilly, Merck KGaA, MSD, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi, Seattle Genetics, Takeda, and Turning Point Therapeutics. JR reports being an advisor to AbbVie, Amgen, AstraZeneca, BioAtla, BMS, Daichi-Sankyo, G1 Therapeutics, Genentech, Gritstone Bio, Guardant, Janssen, Lilly, Jazz, Summit Therapeutics Takeda; speaker fees from AstraZeneca;

institutional research funding from BioAtla, AbbVie, AstraZeneca, Blueprint, RedCloud, Loxo Oncology, Daiichi Sankyo, Enliven, ORIC, and Summit. ES reports being an advisor to AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Daiichi Sankyo, Lilly, Merck KGaA, MSD Oncology, Novartis, Roche/ Genentech, Seagen, and Takeda; honoraria from AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Daiichi Sankyo/Astra Zeneca, and Merck KGaA; research funding from AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Roche/Genentech. RS reports being an advisor to Amgen, AstraZeneca, Bayer, BMS, Boehringer Ingelheim, Janssen, Lilv, Merck, Merck Serono, Novartis, Pfizer, Puma, Roche, Taiho, Takeda, Thermo Fisher, Yuhan and has received research grants from AstraZeneca and Boehringer Ingelheim. MT reports being an advisor to AstraZeneca Japan, Chugai Pharma, Lilly Japan, MSD, Novartis and MiREXS; honoraria from AstraZeneca Japan, Bristol-Myers Squibb Japan, Chugai Pharma, Johnson & Johnson, Lilly Japan, Medtronic, MSD K.K, Novartis, Ono Pharmaceutical, Taiho Pharmaceutical, and Teijin Pharma; research funding from AstraZeneca Japan, Boehringer Ingelheim KK, Bristol-Myers Squibb KK, Merck, Ono Pharmaceutical, BMG Incorporated, and MiREXS. FY reports speaker fees from MSD, Pfizer, Roche, AstraZeneca, and Bristol-Myers Squibb. BS reports wife's employment with PPD and Xalud Therapeutics; leadership at Verrica Pharmaceuticals; stock and other ownership interests in Pfizer, PPD, and Xalud Therapeutics; personal honoraria from AstraZeneca, Bristol Myers Squibb, Genentech, and Pfizer; consulting or advisor role at AstraZeneca, Gala Therapeutics, Medtronic, Arcus Biosciences, and Pfizer; research funding from Bristol Myers Squibb Foundation; patents, royalties, and other intellectual property related with a therapeutic antibody targeting ART1, an extracellular mono-ADP ribosyltransferase, for the treatment of cancer patent application filed; other relationship with Lung Cancer Research Foundation and Lungevity. CG reports being an advisor to AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, and MSD Oncology; honoraria from AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Lilly, MSD Oncology, Novartis, Roche, and Takeda; research funding from AstraZeneca; travel and accommodation support from Boehringer Ingelheim, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Roche. Y-LW reports being an advisor to AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Roche, and Takeda; honoraria from AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Bristol-Myers Squibb/ China, Hengrui Pharmaceutical, Lilly, MSD Oncology, Pfizer, and Roche; research funding from Boehringer Ingelheim, Pfizer, and Roche.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2023.1330468/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. American Lung Association. *EGFR and lung Cancer* (2022). Available at: https:// www.lung.org/lung-health-diseases/lung-disease-lookup/lung-cancer/symptomsdiagnosis/biomarker-testing/egfr (Accessed 13 February 2023).

2. O'Leary C, Gasper H, Sahin KB, Tang M, Kulasinghe A, Adams MN, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). *Pharmaceuticals* (2020) 13(10):273. doi: 10.3390/ph13100273

3. Ellison G, Zhu G, Moulis A, Dearden S, Speake G, McCormack R. EGFR mutation testing in lung cancer: a review of available methods and their use for analysis of tumor tissue and cytology samples. *J Clin pathol* (2013) 66(2):79–89. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2012-201194

4. Melosky B, Kambartel K, Häntschel M, Bennetts M, Nickens DJ, Brinkmann J, et al. Worldwide prevalence of epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in nonsmall cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. *Mol Diagn Ther* (2022) 26(1):7–18. doi: 10.1007/ s40291-021-00563-1

5. Roviello G, Imperatori M, Aieta M, Sollitto F, Landriscina M. Adjuvant treatment for EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer: do we have a major breakthrough? *J Thorac Disease* (2018) 10(Suppl 18):S2114. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.06.114

6. Zhao P, Zhen H, Zhao H, Zhao L, Cao B. Efficacy and safety of adjuvant EGFR-TKIs for resected non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis based on randomized control trials. *BMC cancer* (2022) 22(1):1–5. doi: 10.1186/s12885-022-09444-0

7. Mok TS, Wu YL, Ahn MJ, Garassino MC, Kim HR, Ramalingam SS, et al. Osimertinib or platinum-pemetrexed in EGFR T790M-positive lung cancer. *New Engl J Med* (2017) 376(7):629–40. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1612674

8. Wu YL, Tsuboi M, He J, John T, Grohe C, Majem M, et al. Osimertinib in resected EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer. *New Engl J Med* (2020) 383(18):1711–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2027071

9. Herbst RS, Wu YL, John T, Grohe C, Majem M, Wang J, et al. Adjuvant osimertinib for resected EGFR-mutated stage IB-IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer: updated results from the phase III randomized adaura trial. *J Clin Oncol* (2023) 41 (10):1830. doi: 10.1200/jco.22.02186

10. Tsuboi M, Herbst RS, John T, Kato T, Majem M, Grohé C, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in resected EGFR-mutated NSCLC. *New Engl J Med* (2023) 389:137–47. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2304594

11. Isla D, Felip E, Garrido P, Insa A, Majem M, Remon J, et al. A Delphi consensus panel about clinical management of early-stage EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in Spain: A Delphi consensus panel study. *Clin Trans Oncol* (2023) 25 (1):283–91. doi: 10.1007/s12094-022-02941-5

12. Passaro A, Leighl N, Blackhall F, Popat S, Kerr K, Ahn MJ, et al. ESMO expert consensus statements on the management of EGFR mutant non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann Oncol* (2022) 33(5):466–87. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2022.02.003

13. College of American Pathologists. *The Liquid Biopsy*. Available at: https://www.cap.org/member-resources/articles/the-liquid-biopsy (Accessed 03 August 2023).

14. Kunimasa K, Mimura C, Kotani Y. Erlotinib is effective for leptomeningeal carcinomatosis due to disease flare after osimertinib treatment failure. *J Thorac Oncol* (2017) 12(7):e93–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.02.025

15. Takahashi T, Umeguchi H, Tateishi A, Yoshida T, Motoi N, Ohe Y. Disease flare of leptomeningeal metastases without radiological and cytological findings after the

discontinuation of osimertinib. Lung Cancer (2021) 151:1-4. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2020.11.010

16. Popat S, Navani N, Kerr KM, Smit EF, Batchelor TJ, Van Schil P, et al. Navigating diagnostic and treatment decisions in non-small cell lung cancer: expert commentary on the multidisciplinary team approach. *Oncol* (2021) 26(2):e306–15. doi: 10.1002/onco.13586

17. NCCN. Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Version 4.2019, NCCN Guidelines (2019). Available at: https://www.nccn.org/guidelines/guidelines-process/transparencyprocess-and-recommendations/GetFileFromFileManagerGuid?FileManagerGuidId= 8fc17b3b-ec6c-4758-b0c7-15c51649fc64.

18. Planchard D, Popat ST, Kerr K, Novello S, Smit EF, Faivre-Finn C, et al. Metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol* (2018) 29:iv192–237. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy275

19. Park K, Vansteenkiste J, Lee KH, Pentheroudakis G, Zhou C, Prabhash K, et al. Pan-Asian adapted ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with locally-advanced unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer: a KSMO-ESMO initiative endorsed by CSCO, ISMPO, JSMO, MOS, SSO and TOS. Ann Oncol (2020) 31(2):191-201. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2019.10.026

20. Wu YL, Planchard D, Lu S, Sun H, Yamamoto N, Kim DW, et al. Pan-Asian adapted Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: a CSCO–ESMO initiative endorsed by JSMO, KSMO, MOS, SSO and TOS. *Ann Oncol* (2019) 30(2):171–210. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy554

21. Postmus PE, Kerr KM, Oudkerk M, Senan S, Waller DA, Vansteenkiste J, et al. Early and locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol* (2017) 28: iv1–21. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx222

22. Kroeze SG, Pavic M, Stellamans K, Lievens Y, Becherini C, Scorsetti M, et al. Metastases-directed stereotactic body radiotherapy in combination with targeted therapy or immunotherapy: systematic review and consensus recommendations by the EORTC–ESTRO OligoCare consortium. *Lancet Oncol* (2023) 24(3):e121–32. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00752-5

23. Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in untreated, EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. *New Engl J Med* (2020) 382(1):41–50. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1913662

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY Yuping Li, First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, China Andrea Alberti, University of Brescia, Italy Salvatore Grisanti, University of Brescia, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Jingmin Deng Idyyy666@163.com Zhiyi He zhiyi-river@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 24 July 2023 ACCEPTED 26 December 2023 PUBLISHED 25 January 2024

CITATION

Yang M, Yu P, He Z and Deng J (2024) Case report: Target and immunotherapy of a lung adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation, *EGFR* mutation, and high microsatellite instability. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1266304. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1266304

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Yang, Yu, He and Deng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: Target and immunotherapy of a lung adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation, *EGFR* mutation, and high microsatellite instability

Meiling Yang^{1†}, Pengli Yu^{2†}, Zhiyi He^{1*} and Jingmin Deng^{1*}

¹Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China, ²Department of Medicine, Geneplus Beijing, Beijing, China

Background: Pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma (PEAC) is a rare histological subtype of non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with a predominant (>50%) enteric differentiation component. The frequency of high microsatellite instability (MSI-H) is very low in lung cancer. EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors and immunotherapy are standard treatment for NSCLC patients, but their effectiveness in lung adenocarcinoma with pulmonary enteric differentiation is unknown.

Case presentation: This report describes a 66-year-old man who was initially diagnosed with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with *EGFR* mutation based on pleural fluid. A lung biopsy was obtained after 17 months of first-line icotinib treatment. Histological analysis of biopsy samples and endoscopic examination resulted in a diagnosis of adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation. Next-generation sequencing of 1,021 genes showed *EGFR* E19del, T790M, and MSI-H, while immunohistochemical assay showed proficient expression of mismatch repair (MMR) proteins. Consequently, the patient was treated with osimertinib and had a progression-free survival (PFS) of 3 months. His treatment was changed to chemotherapy with/without bevacizumab for 6.5 months. Then, the patient was treated with one cycle of camrelizumab monotherapy and camrelizumab plus chemotherapy, respectively. The tumor continued to grow, and the patient suffered pneumonia, pulmonary fungal infections, and increased hemoptysis. He received gefitinib and everolimus and died 2 months later and had an overall survival of 30 months.

Conclusion: In summary, our case describes a rare pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma with an *EGFR*-activating mutation and MSI-H, responding to an EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor and poorly benefiting from an immune checkpoint inhibitor.

KEYWORDS

pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma, EGFR, MSI-H, immune checkpoint inhibitor, pMMR

Introduction

Pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma (PEAC) is a rare variant of lung adenocarcinoma. According to the 2015 World Health Organization (WHO) classification, PEAC has been defined as primary pulmonary adenocarcinoma with more than 50% of intestinal differentiation components, and the tumor cells should be positive for at least one immunohistochemical marker of enteric differentiation, including CK20, CDX2, and MUC2 (1). The pathogenesis of PEAC and specific treatment plans have not been fully determined. At present, the treatment strategy for PEAC is similar to that of lung adenocarcinoma. The strategy methods derived from the literature for PEAC are mainly surgery and chemotherapy. Although several case reports have described immunotherapies in patients with PEAC, few have reported targeted therapy (2).

KRAS and DNA mismatch repair (MMR) genes are more frequently mutated in PEAC compared with those in other lung adenocarcinomas (3, 4). The high frequency of MMR mutation rates may facilitate the possibility of checkpoint-blocking immunotherapy for PEAC patients. The positive rate of *EGFR* mutations is approximately 16.7%, much lower than that of *KRAS* (3, 4). Few reports to date have described the effects of treatment with sequential *EGFR* tyrosine kinase inhibitors in PEAC. The present report describes the targets and immunotherapy of a lung adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation, *EGFR*-activating mutation, and high microsatellite instability (MSI-H).

Case report

In February 2019, a 66-year-old man visited the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University due to a 2-month history of cough, sputum, and shortness of breath. The chest computed tomography (CT) scan showed a suspicious central right lung mass, with hilum of right lung, bilateral lung, and mediastinal lymph node metastasis; right-sided pleural effusion; and a small amount of pericardial effusion and atelectasis of the middle and lower lobes of the right lung (Figure 1A). The patient was a former heavy smoker with a smoking index of 20 packs/year. Cytological examination of pleural fluid revealed the diagnosis of malignant pleural effusion with the tumor cells positive staining for NapsinA and thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1; Figures 2A–C). The patient was diagnosed with a metastatic lung adenocarcinoma (cT4N2M1, stage IV).

The patient immediately received one cycle of pemetrexed disodium (500 mg/m²) plus carboplatin (AUC 5) after diagnosis while waiting for the results of next-generation sequencing (NGS). Molecular analysis of pleural fluid by NGS based on a nine-gene panel was performed and showed the common *EGFR* exon 19



FIGURE 1

Radiographic evaluations of main lesions during the disease course. (A) Computed tomography (CT) scan at diagnosis. (B) CT scan showed lesions shrank after 1 month of first-line icotinib; (C) CT scan after resistance to icotinib. (D) CT scan after 3 months of osimertinib treatment; (E) CT scan before the second cycle of nedaplatin-pemetrexed-bevacizumab showing partial response; (F) CT after 6 months of third-line therapy showing disease progression; (G) CT scan after 2 months of immunotherapy. RUL, right upper lobe; RLL, right lower lobe; RML, right middle lobe; PR, partial response.



Hematoxylin and eosin staining and immunohistochemical findings of samples at different disease courses. (A) Circulating tumor cells in pleural fluid on hematoxylin and eosin staining at diagnosis. (B, C) Immunohistochemical staining was positive for NapsinA (B) and TTF-1 (C). (D) Hematoxylin and eosin staining of lung biopsy after resistance to first-line icotinib showed cylindrical morphology and formed glandular tubular structures. (E–H) Immunohistochemical staining was positive for NapsinA (E), TTF-1 (F), CK7 (G), and CK20 (H). (I–L) Immunohistochemical staining was positive for four MMR proteins. Magnification x40 (A–C, E–G, I–L); magnification x200 (D, H). NapsinA, novel aspartic proteinase of the pepsin family A; TTF-1, thyroid transcription factor-1; CK, cytokeratin; CDX2, caudal-type homeobox transcription factor 2; MMR, mismatch repair.

mutation (p.E746_A750del). The patient then received continuous oral icotinib (125 mg tid). After 1 month, CT showed a partial response (PR; Figure 1B). The clinical and morphological response was confirmed after 6 months since icotinib treatment. The patient continued icotinib beyond slow progression after 17 months of icotinib. The tumor continued to grow slowly over 3 months (Figure 1C), and a lung biopsy was obtained. The lung biopsy showed enteric differentiation components, which exceeded 50% (Figure 2D). Unfortunately, cell block at diagnosis was not available for further examination. Abdominal CT and colonoscopy examination revealed no evidence of gastrointestinal disease. Immunohistochemical (IHC) assays showed that the tumor was positive for TTF-1, NapsinA, CK7, and CDX2 (Figures 2D–H) and negative for programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1; SP263 antibody), resulting in a diagnosis of an intestinal-type adenocarcinoma of the lung. IHC analysis for DNA mismatch repair proteins (MLH1, PMS2, MSH2, MSH6) revealed that the patient had proficient DNA mismatch repair (pMMR) positive for all microsatellite markers (Figures 21–L). To identify actionable mutations, the tumor biopsy specimen was sequenced by capture-based next-generation DNA sequencing with a panel containing 1,021 cancer-related genes [(5) Beijing Geneplus Technology Co., Ltd.]. The mean effective depth of coverage of the sequence was 800×. A total of 35 somatic mutations were identified, including *EGFR* E19del, an acquired *EGFR* T790M mutation, and *MLH1* (c.332C>T, p.A111V mutation) with the highest variant allele fraction (VAF) of 45.2%, MSI-H, and high tumor mutation burden (TMB-H; 29.76 Muts/Mb) (Supplementary Table 1). No germline mutation in the coding

region of MSH2, MSH6, MLH1, or PMS2 was identified. The patient received osimertinib (80 mg daily), which allowed an improvement for 3 months until reassessment CT revealed pulmonary progression (Figure 1D), accompanied with increased hemoptysis and cough. From November 2020 to April 2021, he received two cycles of nedaplatin (180 mg)-pemetrexed (900 mg)-bevacizumab (600 mg) therapy, then four cycles of combination therapy with nedaplatin (180 mg) plus pemetrexed (900 mg), and one cycle of pemetrexed (900 mg) monotherapy. Pulmonary CT scans showed PR after first cycle of nedaplatin-pemetrexed-bevacizumab treatment and disease progression in May 2021 [progression-free survival (PFS) 6.5 months, Figures 1E, F]. Then, the patient received camrelizumab (anti-PD1, 200 mg) monotherapy (PFS 1 month) and camrelizumab (200 mg, q 3 weeks) plus pemetrexed (900 mg) therapy (Figure 1G). The patient's condition worsened with multiple complications, including hemoptysis, pneumonia, and pulmonary fungal infections. He received supporting treatment and underwent another next-generation DNA sequencing test, which included 73 cancer-related genes (Beijing Geneplus Technology Co., Ltd.) with peripheral blood. The NGS results of plasma circulating tumor DNA showed loss of the T790M mutation with sustained presence of the EGFR exon 19 mutation (4.6% abundance, Supplementary Table 1). The patient started to receive gefitinib (250 mg/day) and everolimus (10 mg/day) therapy. He died 2 months later and had an overall survival of 30 months.

Descriptions of adjuvant therapies or systemic therapies are available in 34 PEAC patients derived from the literature and the case report reported above. The treatment regimens are summarized in Supplementary Table 2 (6–19). Two cases with early-stage diseases received adjuvant chemotherapy with a regimen of unspecified drugs. As for patients with advanced disease, 22/34 received lung cancer-oriented chemotherapy, 2/34 received immunotherapy plus platinum-containing chemotherapy, 1/34 received icotinib without *EGFR* mutation and then nivolumab monotherapy, and 6/34 patients received colorectal canceroriented chemotherapy.

Discussion

PEAC is a rare subtype of non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which was first reported by Tsao and Fraser as a case in 1991 (20). To date, over 200 cases have been reported (21). PEAC was officially defined as a rare variant of invasive lung adenocarcinoma by the WHO classification in 2015, with more than 50% of intestinal differentiation components, and the tumor cells should be positive for at least one immunohistochemical marker of enteric differentiation (1). The present case was first diagnosed as lung adenocarcinoma containing an *EGFR* mutation using tumor cells from pleural fluid. Then, the patient was diagnosed with adenocarcinoma with intestinal differentiation components from lung biopsy after resistance to first-line icotinib treatment. It may be difficult to diagnose PEAC using circulating tumor cells or a small sample of lung biopsy. Given the fact that PEAC is a mixed histological subtype of lung adenocarcinoma, the molecular

differences between intestinal differentiation components and other non-intestinal differentiation components remain unknown. *EGFR* in-frame deletion of exon 19 (E19del) was reported in pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma (1/10) (22). *EGFR* mutation may present in ordinary lung adenocarcinoma components, which decreased with the use of icotinib, while the intestinal differentiation components were insensitive to icotinib and increased during treatment. More molecular studies about the origin and intratumor heterogeneity of PEAC are needed in the future.

Owing to the rarity of disease, the molecular characteristics of PEAC have not been comprehensively determined. Several studies have described the genomic landscape of PEAC. High *KRAS* and *MMR* gene mutation rates and a low *EGFR* mutation rate were observed in PEAC (3, 4). The present case had a common *EGFR* E19del mutation and had a PFS of 17 months on first-line icotinib treatment. Genomic sequencing of tumor biopsy after icotinib resistance revealed *EGFR* T790M mutation. The patient received a third-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI), osimertinib, and achieved a PFS of 3 months. This study is the first to describe *EGFR* tyrosine kinase inhibitors in a PEAC patient with an *EGFR*-sensitive mutation. The first- and second-line target therapies indicated that a PEAC patient with an *EGFR*-activating mutation could also benefit from *EGFR*-TKI, and an NGS test after first-line TKI resistance could guide subsequent therapy.

At present, the treatment plan of PEAC has not been fully studied in previous literature. The present treatment strategy for advanced PEAC is the same as that of primary lung adenocarcinoma, including chemotherapy and radiotherapy and/or targeted therapy. Immunotherapy might be a useful treatment option for PEAC because of its high frequency of MMR mutation (21). According to IMpower150, the atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1) plus bevacizumab plus chemotherapy regimen showed a progressionfree and overall survival benefit when compared with the standardof-care bevacizumab plus chemotherapy regimen in EGFRm-TKI progressed patients (23). The ORIENT-31 trial consistently demonstrated that combination therapy of sintilimab plus chemotherapy with or without bevacizumab biosimilar IBI305 significantly improved PFS compared with chemotherapy alone in EGFRm-TKI progressed patients (24). To date, only two case studies have demonstrated checkpoint inhibitor therapy in PEAC and exhibited controversial results. A recently published case showed that a metastatic PEAC patient with a KRAS G12C mutation suffered hyperprogressive disease after one cycle of first-line paclitaxel plus carboplatin, along with sindilizumab (25). However, another recently published study demonstrated that primary and metastatic lesions were effectively treated by pembrolizumab plus carboplatin and pemetrexed in a PEAC with a KRAS G12D mutation (26). The discrepancy of clinical benefits between the two PEAC cases receiving first-line chemoimmunotherapy might be explained by the different NGS panels used and metastatic status, and the latter case received palliative radiation for bone metastases. The effectiveness of combination therapy with a checkpoint inhibitor and chemotherapy in PEAC remained uncertain.

Our patient only received a bevacizumab plus chemotherapy regimen, without combination with a checkpoint inhibitor after progressing on treatment with icotinib and osimertinib. Then, the patient changed to ICI monotherapy or chemoimmunotherapy after progressing on treatment with bevacizumab plus chemotherapy, but he benefited poorly from those treatments. The presence of an *EGFR* mutation and *PTEN* and *JAK1* truncation mutations were negative predictors of immunotherapy (27–29) and might account for the treatment failure of the case. Accumulation of clinical experience in immunotherapy is necessary for better treatment of this rare lung cancer. Our case indicates poor benefit from immunotherapy for PEAC with an EGFR-sensitive mutation and MSI-H in later-line settings.

As we know, MSI-H is a more common molecular feature observed in colorectal and endometrial cancer compared with other solid tumors, while few studies concerned MSI status in lung cancer. Patients with MSI-H are more likely to benefit from immunotherapy across cancers (30). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-, IHC-, and NGS-based MSI analyses were commonly used in most clinical laboratories. However, it has been reported that approximately 5% of colorectal cancers that display retention of all four MMR proteins may indeed be MSI-H, possibly due to the heterogeneous expression of MMR proteins, or proteins emanating from abrogated MMR genes were still detected by IHC (31). The MLH1 c.332C>T mutation, a germline pathogenic mutation reported in colorectal cancers (32), was detected in the lung biopsy of our case with the highest VAF. Missense mutations of MMR genes in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tumor tissues were also detected in colorectal cancer cases with pMMR and MSI-H (31). In lung cancer, 0.17% (2/1,153) and 0.5% (66/12,484) patients were reported to be MSI-H via IHC and the NGS-based method, respectively (33, 34). Recent studies showed all tumor tissue samples were microsatellite stable (MSS) in PEAC according to PCR- (17 cases) or IHC-based (8 cases) MSI analysis. The present case was a rare lung adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation, pMMR, and MSI-H. Further studies in cases with somatic MMR gene mutations and MSI-H may help elucidate the phenomena.

In summary, this is the first case to describe an *EGFR*-mutated lung adenocarcinoma that had enteric differentiation components, *EGFR* T790M, and MSI-H after resistance to first-line icotinib and responded poorly to osimertinib and immunotherapy. Few reports to date have described the sequential treatment of PEAC with EGFR-TKIs and immunotherapy. The findings observed in this patient, including diagnoses, treatments, and the association between clinical outcomes and driver genes, may lead to future studies on the origin, diagnosis, and treatment of patients with PEAC.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committee of First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

MY: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PY: Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ZH: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. JD: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

Author PY is employed by the company Geneplus, Beijing. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1266304/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Burke AP, Marx A, Nicholson AG. Introduction to the 2015 World Health Organization classification of tumors of the lung, pleura, thymus, and heart. J Thorac Oncol (2015) 10:1240–2. doi: 10.1097/JTO.00000000000663

2. Li H, Cao W. Pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma: a literature review. J Thorac Dis (2020) 12:3217–26. doi: 10.21037/jtd-19-4171

3. Chen M, Liu P, Yan F, Xu S, Jiang Q, Pan J, et al. Distinctive features of immunostaining and mutational load in primary pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma: implications for differential diagnosis and immunotherapy. *J Transl Med* (2018) 16 81. doi: 10.1186/s12967-018-1449-z

4. Zhang J, Xiang C, Han Y, Teng H, Li X, Shao J, et al. Differential diagnosis of pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma and metastatic colorectal carcinoma with the assistance of next-generation sequencing and immunohistochemistry. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2019) 145:269–79. doi: 10.1007/s00432-018-2788-0

5. Ai X, Cui J, Zhang J, Chen R, Lin W, Xie C, et al. Clonal architecture of EGFR mutation predicts the efficacy of EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors in advanced NSCLC: A prospective multicenter study (NCT03059641). *Clin Cancer Res* (2021) 27:704–12. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-3063

6. Li HC, Schmidt L, Greenson JK, Chang AC, Myers JL. Primary pulmonary adenocarcinoma with intestinal differentiation mimicking metastatic colorectal carcinoma: case report and review of literature. *Am J Clin Pathol* (2009) 131:129–33. doi: 10.1309/AJCPB04XWICTFERL

7. Qureshi A, Furrukh M. Enteric adenocarcinoma lung: a rare presentation in an Omani woman. *BMJ Case Rep* (2013) 2013. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2012-007667

8. Metro G, Valtorta E, Siggillino A, Lauricella C, Cenci M, Ludovini V, et al. Enteric-type adenocarcinoma of the lung harbouring a novel KRAS Q22K mutation with concomitant KRAS polysomy: a case report. *Ecancermedicalscience* (2015) 9:559. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2015.559

9. Garajova I, Funel N, Fiorentino M, Agostini V, Ferracin M, Negrini M, et al. MicroRNA profiling of primary pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma in members from the same family reveals some similarities to pancreatic adenocarcinoma-a step towards personalized therapy. *Clin Epigenet* (2015) 7:129. doi: 10.1186/s13148-015-0162-5

10. Lin LI, Xu CW, Zhang BO, Liu RR, Ge FJ, Zhao CH, et al. Clinicopathological observation of primary lung enteric adenocarcinoma and its response to chemotherapy: A case report and review of the literature. *Exp Ther Med* (2016) 11:201–7. doi: 10.3892/ etm.2015.2864

11. El Hammoumi MM, El Ochi R, Kabiri el H. Primary lung adenocarcinoma with enteric morphology associated with primary colon adenocarcinoma. *Arch Bronconeumol* (2016) 52:221. doi: 10.1016/j.arbres.2015.05.012

12. Shiina T, Agatsuma H, Saito G, Toishi M, Kondo R, Yoshida K. A case of pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma followed up as metastatic colorectal cancer. J Japanese Assoc Chest Surg (2016) 30:696–702. doi: 10.2995/jacsurg.30.696

13. de Castria TB, de Azevedo Souza MCL. Pulmonary adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation: A distinctive histologic subtype. *J Case Rep Images Oncol* (2016) 2:23–7. doi: 10.5348/Z10-2016-15-CS-6

14. Lin L, Zhuang W, Wang W, Xu C, Chen R, Guan Y, et al. Genetic mutations in lung enteric adenocarcinoma identified using next-generation sequencing. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2017) 10:9583–90.

15. Prakobkit R, Churk-Nam Auyeung W, Xu L, Berry GJ. Pulmonary adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation presenting with bronchorrhea. J Thorac Oncol (2017) 12:e120–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.04.005

16. Miyaoka M, Hatanaka K, Iwazaki M, Nakamura N. CK7/CK20 double-negative pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma with histopathological evaluation of transformation zone between enteric adenocarcinoma and conventional pulmonary adenocarcinoma. *Int J Surg Pathol* (2018) 26:464–8. doi: 10.1177/1066896918756737

17. Todisco A, Interno V, Stucci LS, Ostuni C, Lovero D, D'Oronzo S, et al. Cutaneous metastasis as a primary presentation of a pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma. *Int J Biol Markers* (2019) 34:421–6. doi: 10.1177/1724600819877190

18. Tu LF, Sheng LY, Zhou JY, Wang XF, Wang YH, Shen Q, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of primary pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma: Report of Six cases. *World J Clin cases* (2021) 9:9236–43. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i30.9236

19. Fassi E, Mandruzzato M, Zamparini M, Bianchi S, Petrelli F, Baggi A, et al. Clinical presentation and outcome of patients with enteric-type adenocarcinoma of the lung: A pooled analysis of published cases. *Lung Cancer* (2023) 179:107176. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2023.107176

20. Tsao MS, Fraser RS. Primary pulmonary adenocarcinoma with enteric differentiation. *Cancer* (1991) 68:1754–7. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19911015) 68:8<1754::aid-cncr2820680818>3.0.co;2-e

21. Gong J, Fan Y, Lu H. Pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma. *Transl Oncol* (2021) 14:101123. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2021.101123

22. Xie M, Chen D, Li Y, Liu X, Kuang D, Li X. Genetic mutation profiles and immune microenvironment analysis of pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma. *Diagn Pathol* (2022) 17:30. doi: 10.1186/s13000-022-01206-7

23. Reck M, Mok TSK, Nishio M, Jotte RM, Cappuzzo F, Orlandi F, et al. Atezolizumab plus bevacizumab and chemotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer (IMpower150): key subgroup analyses of patients with EGFR mutations or baseline liver metastases in a randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. *Lancet Respir Med* (2019) 7:387–401. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(19)30084-0

24. Lu S, Wu L, Jian H, Cheng Y, Wang Q, Fang J, et al. Sintilimab plus chemotherapy for patients with EGFR-mutated non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer with disease progression after EGFR tyrosine-kinase inhibitor therapy (ORIENT-31): second interim analysis from a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Respir Med* (2023) 11:624–36. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600 (23)00135-2

25. Hu CH, Shi S, Dong W, Xiao L, Zang H, Wu F. Hyperprogressive disease after immunotherapy: A case report of pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma. *Front Oncol* (2022) 12:799549. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.799549

26. Teranishi S, Sugimoto C, Nagayama H, Segawa W, Miyasaka A, Hiro S, et al. Combination of pembrolizumab with platinum-containing chemotherapy for pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Diagn Progn* (2022) 2:253–7. doi: 10.21873/cdp.10102

27. Marabelle A, Aspeslagh S, Postel-Vinay S, Soria JC. JAK mutations as escape mechanisms to anti-PD-1 therapy. *Cancer Discovery* (2017) 7:128–30. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-1439

28. Peng W, Chen JQ, Liu C, Malu S, Creasy C, Tetzlaff MT, et al. Loss of PTEN promotes resistance to T cell-mediated immunotherapy. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6:202–16. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0283

29. Rizvi H, Sanchez-Vega F, La K, Chatila W, Jonsson P, Halpenny D, et al. Molecular determinants of response to anti-programmed cell death (PD)-1 and antiprogrammed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) blockade in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer profiled with targeted next-generation sequencing. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36:633– 41. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.75.3384

30. Marabelle A, Le DT, Ascierto PA, Di Giacomo AM, De Jesus-Acosta A, Delord JP, et al. Efficacy of pembrolizumab in patients with noncolorectal high microsatellite instability/mismatch repair-deficient cancer: results from the phase II KEYNOTE-158 study. *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38:1–10. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.02105

31. McCarthy AJ, Capo-Chichi JM, Spence T, Grenier S, Stockley T, Kamel-Reid S, et al. Heterogenous loss of mismatch repair (MMR) protein expression: a challenge for immunohistochemical interpretation and microsatellite instability (MSI) evaluation. J Pathol Clin Res (2019) 5:115–29. doi: 10.1002/cjp2.120

32. Kurzawski G, Suchy J, Lener M, Klujszo-Grabowska E, Kladny J, Safranow K, et al. Germline MSH2 and MLH1 mutational spectrum including large rearrangements in HNPCC families from Poland (update study). *Clin Genet* (2006) 69:40–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0004.2006.00550.x

33. Yanagawa N, Yamada N, Sugimoto R, Osakabe M, Uesugi N, Shiono S, et al. The frequency of DNA mismatch repair deficiency is very low in surgically resected lung carcinoma. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:752005. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021. 752005

34. Tian J, Wang H, Lu C, Liu L, Zhang X, Xie Y, et al. Genomic characteristics and prognosis of lung cancer patients with MSI-H: A cohort study. *Lung Cancer* (2023) 181:107255. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2023.107255

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Santiago Viteri, UOMI Cancer Center. Clínica Mi Tres Torres, Spain

REVIEWED BY

Stephanie Dobersch, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States Rohazila Hanafiah, Islamic Science University of Malaysia, Malaysia

*CORRESPONDENCE Xingya Li lixingya0925@vip.163.com Huixian Zhang huixianeight@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 31 October 2023 ACCEPTED 02 February 2024 PUBLISHED 22 February 2024

CITATION

Yan N, Guo S, Huang S, Zhang H and Li X (2024) The efficacy of furmonertinib in untreated advanced NSCLC patients with sensitive EGFR mutations in a real-world setting: a single institutional experience. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1331128. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1331128

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Yan, Guo, Huang, Zhang and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The efficacy of furmonertinib in untreated advanced NSCLC patients with sensitive EGFR mutations in a real-world setting: a single institutional experience

Ningning Yan[†], Sanxing Guo[†], Siyuan Huang, Huixian Zhang^{*} and Xingya Li^{*}

Department of Oncology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, Henan, China

Background: Furmonertinib is the standard treatment option in the first-line setting for advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with sensitive epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations in China. However, there are limited real-world data available.

Methods: We conducted a retrospective study at a single center, analyzing a cohort of 73 NSCLC patients who tested positive for EGFR mutations and were treated with furmonertinib as their initial therapy between August 2022 and December 2023. The primary endpoint was progression-free survival (PFS), with secondary endpoints including objective response rate (ORR), overall survival (OS), and safety profile.

Results: The median observation period was 9 months (95% confidence interval [CI], 8.0–20.0). The median PFS was 19.5 months (95% CI, 14.6–24.4). OS data were not yet mature. Univariate analysis showed no significant correlation between PFS and factors such as Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (ECOG PS) score, presence of brain or liver metastases, sex, age, EGFR mutation status, or number of metastatic sites. However, multivariate analysis indicated a potential trend toward extended PFS in patients younger than 65 years (p = 0.053, 95% CI, 0.10-1.02), although the p-value was only marginally significant. The most common adverse events were diarrhea (24%), anemia (36%), and liver injury (32%); however, only four cases experienced severe adverse events.

Conclusion: In a real-world setting, furmonertinib appears to be a favorable treatment option for EGFR-mutated patients. The manageable nature of adverse events further supports its use in clinical practice.

KEYWORDS

furmonertinib, non-small cell lung cancer, EGFR-mutated, epidermal growth factor receptor, real-world setting

Introduction

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide, with a mortality rate of 18% (1). In China, lung cancer is also the most common cancer in terms of incidence and is the leading cause of cancer-related mortality (2). Among the different subtypes of lung cancer, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is the most frequently diagnosed histological subtype at initial diagnosis, with adenocarcinoma being the most common subtype. Approximately 60% of NSCLC patients with adenocarcinoma harbor oncogenic driver mutations, with the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation being the most commonly found and targetable driver mutation in NSCLC (3).

Current standard treatment for NSCLC patients with EGFRsensitive mutations, such as exon 19 deletion (19DEL) and substitution of lysine with arginine in exon 21 (21L858R), involves the use of EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). These TKIs have been shown to prolong the survival of EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients (4-10). Currently, there are three generations of EGFR-TKIs approved for use in EGFR-mutated NSCLC. In China, a total of eight agents targeting EGFR mutations are approved. First-generation EGFR-TKIs have demonstrated an objective response rate (ORR) of approximately 60%-80% and a median progression-free survival (mPFS) of 8-13 months (4, 5, 10, 11). Second-generation agents targeting EGFR mutations have shown an extended mPFS of 11-16.5 months (6, 12). The third generation of EGFR-TKIs, including osimertinib, almonertinib, and furmonertinib, have shown even better efficacy with an mPFS of 18.9-20.8 months (7-9). Due to their improved efficacy and ability to penetrate the brain, third-generation agents are now recommended as the preferred treatment option for EGFRmutated NSCLC.

Furmonertinib, a third-generation EGFR-TKI, is an original drug developed by a Chinese pharmaceutical company. Furmonertinib is a potent irreversible inhibitor of EGFR that specifically targets mutations in the receptor. It is effective against two types of mutations: resistance mutations (T790M) and activating mutations (L858R and exon 19 deletions). Furmonertinib is more effective at inhibiting tumor cells with these mutations compared to cells with the normal, wild-type EGFR. In the FURLONG study, a randomized Phase III trial that included previously untreated advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR-sensitive mutations, furmonertinib demonstrated superior PFS compared to gefitinib (20.8 versus 11.1 months, hazard ratio [HR] 0.44, 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.34–0.58, p < 0.0001) (9). The PFS achieved with furmonertinib was numerically longer than that observed with other third-generation EGFR-TKIs such as osimertinib and almonertinib, making it the longest achieved PFS to date. It is worth noting that the FURLONG study was conducted in China, exclusively including Chinese NSCLC patients. This suggests that furmonertinib may be particularly well-suited for Chinese NSCLC patients with EGFR mutations. However, the superiority of furmonertinib in terms of overall survival (OS) remains unreported due to the immaturity of OS data. Thus, realworld evidence regarding furmonertinib as a first-line treatment option for EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients, as well as clinically measurable prognostic factors, remains limited.

The objective of this report is to explore real-world data on the efficacy and safety of furmonertinib as a first-line treatment option in routine clinical practice.

Patients and methods

Study design

This retrospective study was conducted at a single center with the objective of examining the effectiveness of furmonertinib in patients diagnosed with previously untreated NSCLC harboring EGFR mutations. The study included patients treated at the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University between October 1, 2021, and July 19, 2023.

Patients

Consecutive cases of advanced/metastatic NSCLC with EGFR mutations, who received furmonertinib as their initial treatment between October 2021 and July 2023 at the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, were included in this retrospective study. The data cutoff date was September 24, 2023. The key inclusion criteria were as follows: 1) patients aged 18 years or older; 2) patients pathologically confirmed with unresectable locally advanced (stage IIIB/C: unfit for radical surgery or local radiotherapy) or metastatic (stage IV) NSCLC with EGFR actionable genomic mutations according to the TNM staging system, American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) 8th edition; 3) no previous treatments given, with a treatment interval of at least 12 months after radical mastectomy for those who received neoadjuvant or adjuvant therapies; 4) presence of at least one measurable target lesion based on Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors, version 1.1 (RECIST v1.1) (13); 5) expected survival of over 3 months. Key exclusion criteria were as follows: 1) concurrent receipt of other anticancer treatments or any previous anticancer treatments prior to furmonertinib administration; 2) tumors mixed with small cell lung cancer (SCLC) components; 3) allergy to furmonertinib or its metabolic product; 4) history of interstitial pulmonary disease (IPD) or any uncontrolled/severe complicating comorbidity. Clinicopathological variables such as age, sex, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (PS), smoking status, histology, stage, metastatic organs, EGFR mutation types, concomitant mutations, and programmed deathligand 1 (PD-L1) expression were retrospectively collected from documented health records. The present report obtained approval from the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou.

At the start of the study, tests for EGFR mutations were performed using either real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) or nextgeneration sequencing (NGS). For evaluating PD-L1 expression, tumor samples were analyzed using immunohistochemistry (IHC) with the DAKO 22C3 PharmDx antibody (Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA). The levels of PD-L1 were determined by the tumor proportion score (TPS), which measures the percentage of positive tumor cells.

Intervention

Patients received furmonertinib 80 mg orally once daily until disease progression or severe or unmanageable toxicities were developed.

Outcome measure

The primary endpoint was PFS, as assessed by the investigators using RECIST 1.1 criteria. Key secondary endpoints included OS, ORR, disease control rate (DCR), and safety data. The ORR encompassed the percentage of patients achieving either a complete response (CR) or a partial response (PR) to the therapy. The DCR was defined as the number of patients who experienced a CR, a PR, or a stable disease (SD). PFS was defined as the duration from the first dose of furmonertinib until progressive disease (PD) or death. OS was calculated as the time from the start of treatment until death from any cause. Patients were considered censored if they were still alive at the time of their last recorded visit.

Safety

Safety data were collected whenever adverse events (AEs) led to modifications in treatment or serious adverse events (SAEs) occurred.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS version 21.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA), and all charts were created using GraphPad Prism version 8.0. Descriptive statistics were applied to all variables where appropriate. Continuous variables were presented with the number of patients, median, and range (minimum and maximum values). Categorical variables were shown as frequency counts and percentages. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant. Survival curves were generated using the Kaplan–Meier method, and survival analysis was conducted using a stratified log-rank test. HRs and 95% CIs were calculated using Cox regression analysis.

Results

Patients' clinicopathological characteristics

From October 1, 2021, to July 19, 2023, we performed a retrospective review of 73 patients with advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC diagnosed at the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University. Out of these patients, a total of 32 (43.8%) were found to have brain metastases at the time of initial diagnosis, with an

additional two patients presenting leptomeningeal metastases when first diagnosed. The majority of patients (69 out of 73, or 94.5%) had adenocarcinoma, while two patients had squamous cell carcinoma, and two had adenosquamous carcinoma. Notably, 35 patients (47.9%) were male, and 16 patients (21.9%) were current or former smokers (with quitting time less than 15 years). The median age of the group was 61 years (ranging from 30 to 85 years), which is consistent with the typical clinical profile of patients with EGFRmutated NSCLC. The EGFR exon 19 deletion mutation occurred in 35 patients and the L858R point mutation in 31 patients. Two patients exhibited primary resistance mutations (T790M point mutation in exon 20) to first- or second-generation EGFR TKIs, and compound mutations were observed in five patients, including one with a rare G719A/S768I mutation (as shown in Figure 1). Additionally, co-occurring TP53 mutations were found in seven patients, with one patient also having concurrent EGFR 21L858R, TP53, and RET-IGR fusion mutations. Other details are summarized and presented in Table 1.

Treatment efficacy

In this series, PFS events occurred in 19 out of 73 patients, with a median follow-up period of 9 months (95% CI, 7.0-11.0, data cutoff date of September 24, 2023). Of these patients, 49 achieved a PR, resulting in an ORR of 67.1% (49/73 patients, with a 95% CI ranging from 56.1% to 78.2%). The ORRs for patients with 19DEL or 21 L858R were 67.6% (95% CI, -51.7 to 83.4) and 64.6% (95% CI, 47.8-81.6), respectively (as indicated in Table 2). There were 32 patients who had brain metastases at the time of initial diagnosis. Of these, 26 had measurable and evaluable target lesions within the brain, and the intracranial ORR was 84.6% (95% CI, 69.8-99.5), with all 26 patients experiencing some degree of tumor reduction (Table 3). The estimated median PFS for all patients with EGFR-mutated NSCLC undergoing treatment with furmonertinib was 19.5 months (95% CI, 14.6-24.4 months), as shown in Figure 2A. The median intracranial PFS was 16 months (95% CI, 15.6-16.4 months), which is detailed in Figure 2B. We further explored the



TABLE 1 Baseline clinicopathological characteristics.

Parameters	N (%)
Total patients	73 (100.0)
Median age (range), years	61 (30-85)
Gender	
Male	35 (47.9)
Female	38 (52.1)
Smoking history	
No	52 (71.2)
Yes	21 (28.9)
Histology	
Adenocarcinoma	69 (94.5)
Squamous	2 (2.7)
Adenosquamous	2 (2.7)
Stage	
IV	73 (100)
ECOG PS	
0	19 (26.0)
1	46 (63.0)
2	8 (11.0)
Mutation status	
19DEL	35 (47.9)
21L858R	31 (42.5)
Rare	2 (2.7)
Compound	5 (6.8)
Metastatic sites	
<3	58 (79.5)
≥3	15 (20.5)
	15 (20.5)
Brain metastases Yes	32 (43.8)
Yes	
INO	41 (56.2)
Liver metastases	
Yes	4 (5.5)
No	69 (94.5)
Bone metastases	
Yes	36 (49.3)
No	37 (50.7)
Adrenal metastases	
Yes	6 (8.2%)
No	67 (91.8)

ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status.

relationship between PFS and several factors: the presence of brain metastases, PD-L1 status (less than 1% vs. 1% or greater), EGFR mutation subtype (exon 19 deletion vs. 21L858R point mutation), and the presence of TP53 co-mutations. The analyses revealed no statistically significant associations between these factors (as presented in Figures 3A–D). As of the last data update, OS had not been reached due to immature data. In the univariate analysis, gender (p = 0.04) and liver metastasis (p = 0.03) showed a significant association with progression-free survival (PFS) (Table 4). However, other clinicopathological factors did not show any significant associations with PFS (all p > 0.05) (Table 4). In the multivariate Cox regression analysis model, which included all factors significantly associated with

TABLE 2 Best clinical response of patients receiving furmonertinib.

Best response	All patients (N = 73), n%	Patients with 19DEL mutations (N = 37), n%	Patients with 21L858R mutations (N = 34), n%
CR	0	0	0
PR	49 (67.1)	25 (67.6)	22 (64.7)
SD	21 (28.8)	11 (29.7)	10 (29.4)
PD	3 (4.1)	1 (2.7)	2 (5.9)
ORR	49 (67.1; 95% CI, 56.1–78.2)	25 (67.6; 95% CI, -51.7 to 83.4)	22 (64.7; 95% CI, 47.8–81.6)
DCR	70 (95.9, 95% CI, 91.2–100.6)	36 (97.3; 95% CI, -91.8 to 102.8)	32 (94.1; 95% CI, 85.8–102.5)

CR, complete response; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; PD, progressive disease; ORR, objective response rate; DCR, disease control rate.

PFS from the univariate analysis, no factors were found to be significantly associated with PFS (Table 4).

Safety profiles

Adverse events were noted in 25 patients who received furmonertinib as a first-line treatment. Diarrhea (24%), anemia (36%), and liver injury (32%) were the most frequently reported adverse events. There were serious adverse events in four patients (16%): one experienced diarrhea, one had thrombocytopenia, another suffered liver injury, and the last had an increase in blood creatinine. There was only one case of grade 1 interstitial lung disease reported, and no patients stopped treatment due to adverse events. Additional adverse events are compiled in Table 5. Overall, the toxicity profile for furmonertinib-treated patients was manageable and largely aligned with that reported in previous studies.

TABLE 3 Best intracranial clinical response for patients with brain metastases receiving furmonertinib.

Best intracranial response	All patients (N = 26), n%
CR	7 (26.9)
PR	15 (57.7)
SD	4 (15.4)
PD	0 (0)
ORR	22 (84.6; 95% CI, 69.8-99.5)
DCR	26 (100, 95% CI, 100-100)

CR, complete response; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; PD, progressive disease; ORR, objective response rate; DCR, disease control rate.



PFS of total population and patients with evaluable brain metastases. (A) PFS of all the patients treated with furmonertinib. (B) the median intracranial PFS of patients with brain metastases treated with furmonertinib. PFS, progression-free survival.

Discussion

As far as we know, this is both the first and largest observational study conducted in China on using furmonertinib as an initial treatment in everyday clinical practice. Our research encompassed a diverse patient group, including those with poor PS, elderly individuals over the age of 75, patients with uncommon and complex EGFR mutations, and those with active brain metastases, including leptomeningeal involvement—populations typically not included in prospective and randomized clinical trials. The findings from our study validate the use of furmonertinib as a viable first-line treatment option for patients with EGFR mutations in real-world conditions, just as it has been shown in controlled clinical trials. Nonetheless, given the small sample size and the retrospective nature of our study, additional research is needed to confirm these results.

Our current study included 35 male patients displaying EGFR mutations, accounting for nearly half of the participants, thereby emphasizing the importance of molecular testing in NSCLC patients regardless of sex. This finding appears to contradict previous research that suggested a lower incidence of EGFR mutations in men (14, 15). Moreover, the study involved 32 patients (43.8%) with brain metastases at the time of their initial diagnosis, which is a higher incidence compared to what has been reported in clinical trials (9). This greater prevalence of brain metastases in a real-world setting could potentially affect the



PFS stratified with brain metastases, PD-L1 expression level, EGFR mutation status, and co-mutation TP53. (A) PFS stratified with brain metastases (yes or no). (B) The correlation between PFS and PD-L1 levels (<1% vs. ≥1%). (C) The correlation between PFS and mutation type (19DEL vs. 21L858R). (D) The correlation between PFS and co-mutation TP53 (yes vs. no). PFS, progression-free survival; PD-L1, programmed death-ligand 1; 19DEL, exon 19 deletion; 21L858R, a substitution of lysine with arginine in exon 21; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor.

TABLE 4 Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses of PFS.

Parameters	Univariate analysis		Multivariat	e analysis
	HR (95% CI)	p-Value	HR (95% CI)	p-Value
Sex: male vs. female	1.26 (0.61–2.28)	0.41		
Age: <65 vs. ≥65	2.64 (1.05-6.65)	0.04		0.053
Smoking: yes vs. no	0.95 (0.33-2.74)	0.43		
ECOG PS: 0−1 <i>vs</i> . ≥2	2.17 (0.72-6.53)	0.16		
Mutation status 19DEL 21L858R Compound Rare		0.40		
Stage IVA vs. IVB	0.50 (0.12-2.04)	0.33		
Number of metastatic organs: <3 vs. ≥3	1.26 (0.42–3.79)	0.98	2.226 (1.313-3.773)	
Brain metastases: yes vs. no	0.71 (0.28-1.83)	0.48		
Liver metastases: yes vs. no	2.16 (0.28-16.43)	0.03		0.087
Bone metastases: yes vs. no	0.72 (0.30-1.76)	0.48		
Adrenal metastases: yes vs. no	2.26 (0.33-15.44)	0.41	1.855 (1.181–2.914)	

PFS, progression-free survival; ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status.

TABLE 5 Adverse	event	profiles.
-----------------	-------	-----------

Event	Treated population (25 patients have documented side effects)		
	Any grade	Grades 3, 4, 5	
Diarrhea	6/25 (24%)	1/25 (4.0%)	
Rash	4/25 (16%)	0	
Anemia	9/25 (36.0%)	0	
Decreased white blood cell count	4/25 (16%)	0	
Neutropenia	4/25 (16.0%)	0	
Thrombocytopenia	4/25 (16%)	1/25 (4%)	
Interstitial lung disease	1/25 (4.0%)	0	
Liver injury (elevated ALT or AST)	8/25 (32.0%)	1/25 (4.0%)	
Hypothyroidism	1/25 (4.0%)	0	
Hypokalemia	3/25 (12%)	0	
Hyperlipidemia	1/25 (4.0%)	0	
Increased blood creatinine	1/25 (4.0%)	1/25 (4.0%)	

ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase.

survival outcomes observed in this study. An additional noteworthy detail of our report is that all included patients were diagnosed with stage IV cancer, unlike the population in the FURLONG trial. Our study found that the median PFS was 19.5 months, which is less than what was documented in the FURLONG study. Possible explanations for this shorter PFS may include the inclusion of a higher number of male patients, more patients with brain metastases, and a greater number of cases at stage IV.

It is widely recognized that PD-L1 is a key biomarker for predicting responses to ICIs. Some studies have also indicated a correlation between PD-L1 expression and the effectiveness of EGFR-TKIs, though this theory remains the subject of debate (16-20). Quite a few studies have found no significant link between PD-L1 expression levels and the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs (21). In our study, we evaluated PD-L1 expression in 32 patients, finding that the majority were negative (PD-L1 < 1%), aligning with prior research suggesting that individuals with EGFR mutations tend to have low PD-L1 expression levels (22-24). Dong and colleagues compiled data from 15 studies, proposing that PD-L1 expression is inversely related to EGFR mutation status (25). Their investigation into the correlation between mRNA and PD-L1 protein levels in surgical samples from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and an internal database (Guangdong Lung Cancer Institute (GLCI)) supported the notion that EGFR-wild type tumors have higher PD-L1 expression compared to EGFRmutated tumors. Contrarily, there have been reports asserting the opposite (26). Thus, the association between PD-L1 expression and EGFR mutations remains a topic of debate. In our case, the data showed no differences in PFS when categorizing by PD-L1 levels. However, due to the small number of cases included in the study, these findings should be approached with caution.

Previous literature has indicated that the effectiveness of EGFR-TKIs can vary based on the type of EGFR mutation present (7-9). For instance, in the FLAURA China study, individuals with EGFR 19DEL achieved a longer PFS than those with the L858R point mutation in exon 21 (27). Similarly, the AENEAS study showed that patients with the 19DEL mutation had a more favorable response compared to those with the 21L858R mutation, despite achieving comparable benefits to the control group (8). The findings of the FURLONG study echo these observations, suggesting that patients with the 19DEL mutation could be considered a subgroup with a potentially better prognosis compared to those with the 21L858R mutation (9). These results have prompted some experts to propose that patients with 19DEL and 21L858R mutations might benefit from distinct therapeutic approaches. However, in our current research, we observed no significant difference in PFS between patients with 19DEL and 21L858R mutations. The discrepancy with the FURLONG study's results could be due to the limited sample size in our study. Looking to enhance the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs for patients with 21L858R mutations, some researchers have explored the combination of EGFR-TKIs with anti-angiogenesis drugs. Various studies have suggested that combining first-generation EGFR-TKIs with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) inhibitors might extend PFS for patients with the 21L858R mutation to levels similar to those with the 19DEL mutation (28-31). Nevertheless, intriguingly, the addition of VEGF inhibitors does not seem to improve the effectiveness of osimertinib, which is a third-generation EGFR-TKI (32-34). The question of whether firstgeneration EGFR-TKIs combined with VEGF inhibitors are superior to monotherapy with third-generation EGFR-TKIs for patients with EGFR-sensitive mutations remains open for investigation. Nevertheless, third-generation EGFR-TKIs are currently the preferred treatment option for patients with such sensitive mutations.

In both univariate and multivariate analyses, we observed that PFS was not associated with Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status, the number of metastatic sites, the presence of brain or liver metastases, or other factors. This finding differs from that of previous studies. A possible reason for this discrepancy could be the limited number of cases and the retrospective nature of our study.

Our research has several limitations. First, the follow-up period may not be adequately long, which could introduce bias into our conclusions. Also, due to the limited duration of observation, the OS data were not mature. We plan to provide an update on OS once sufficient events have occurred and an appropriate follow-up duration has been reached. Second, our study was retrospective and included a limited number of cases. Potential concerns should be noted: efficacy evaluations were performed according to RECIST 1.1 by investigators, which could lend toward more objective outcomes. Therefore, further research is necessary.

Conclusions

In conclusion, our study suggests that furmonertinib could be a preferred treatment option as a first-line therapy for patients with EGFR-sensitive mutations. We observed comparable PFS in the real-world setting relative to that in randomized clinical trials. These findings underscore the potential of furmonertinib as a viable choice in real-world clinical practice.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Current work was retrospective study and individuals' information will not be shared, hence, the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University exempted the informed consent.

Author contributions

NY: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Project administration, Resources, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SG: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SH: Formal analysis, Methodology, Resources, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. HZ: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft,

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: Globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. Wu F, Wang L, Zhou C. Lung cancer in China: current and prospect. Curr Opin Oncol. (2021) 33:40–6. doi: 10.1097/cco.000000000000703

3. Li S, Choi YL, Gong Z, Liu X, Lira M, Kan Z, et al. Comprehensive characterization of oncogenic drivers in Asian lung adenocarcinoma. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2016) 11:2129–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.08.142

4. Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, Yang CH, Chu DT, Saijo N, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. *N Engl J Med.* (2009) 361:947–57. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0810699

5. Zhou C, Wu YL, Chen G, Feng J, Liu XQ, Wang C, et al. Erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with advanced egfr mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (Optimal, ctong-0802): A multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2011) 12:735–42. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(11)70184-x

6. Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, O'Byrne K, Hirsh V, Mok T, et al. Phase iii study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with egfr mutations. *J Clin Oncol.* (2013) 31:3327–34. doi: 10.1200/ jco.2012.44.2806

7. Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, et al. Osimertinib in untreated egfr-mutated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:113–25. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1713137

Writing – review & editing. XL: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The Joint construction project of Henan Province and Ministry (No. LHGJ20190013) supported this work.

Acknowledgments

We thank the patients and their families who participated in this study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Lu S, Dong X, Jian H, Chen J, Chen G, Sun Y, et al. Aeneas: A randomized phase iii trial of aumolertinib versus gefitinib as first-line therapy for locally advanced or metastaticnon-small-cell lung cancer with egfr exon 19 deletion or L858r mutations. *J Clin Oncol.* (2022) 40:3162–71. doi: 10.1200/jco.21.02641

9. Shi Y, Chen G, Wang X, Liu Y, Wu L, Hao Y, et al. Furmonertinib (Ast2818) versus gefitinib as first-line therapy for Chinese patients with locally advanced or metastatic egfr mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (Furlong): A multicentre, double-blind, randomised phase 3 study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2022) 10:1019–28. doi: 10.1016/s2213-2600(22)00168-0

10. Maemondo M, Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Sugawara S, Oizumi S, Isobe H, et al. Gefitinib or chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer with mutated egfr. *N Engl J Med.* (2010) 362:2380–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0909530

11. Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, Vergnenegre A, Massuti B, Felip E, et al. Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for european patients with advanced egfr mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (Eurtac): A multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2012) 13:239–46. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(11)70393-x

12. Wu YL, Cheng Y, Zhou X, Lee KH, Nakagawa K, Niho S, et al. Dacomitinib versus gefitinib as first-line treatment for patients with egfrmutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (Archer 1050): A randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2017) 18:1454–66. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(17)30608-3 13. Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised recist guideline (Version 1.1). *Eur J Cancer*. (2009) 45:228–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.10.026

14. Zhang YL, Yuan JQ, Wang KF, Fu XH, Han XR, Threapleton D, et al. The prevalence of egfr mutation in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:78985–93. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12587

15. Tseng CH, Chen KC, Hsu KH, Tseng JS, Ho CC, Hsia TC, et al. Egfr mutation and lobar location of lung adenocarcinoma. *Carcinogenesis*. (2016) 37:157-62. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgv168

16. D'Incecco A, Andreozzi M, Ludovini V, Rossi E, Capodanno A, Landi L, et al. Pd-1 and pd-L1 expression in molecularly selected non-small-cell lung cancer patients. *Br J Cancer.* (2015) 112:95–102. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.555

17. Su S, Dong ZY, Xie Z, Yan LX, Li YF, Su J, et al. Strong programmed death ligand 1 expression predicts poor response and *de novo* resistance to egfr tyrosine kinase inhibitors among nsclc patients with egfr mutation. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2018) 13:1668–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.07.016

18. Soo RA, Kim HR, Asuncion BR, Fazreen Z, Omar MFM, Herrera MC, et al. Significance of immune checkpoint proteins in egfr-mutant non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*. (2017) 105:17–22. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.01.008

19. Yang CY, Liao WY, Ho CC, Chen KY, Tsai TH, Hsu CL, et al. Association between programmed death-ligand 1 expression, immune microenvironments, and clinical outcomes in epidermal growth factor receptor mutant lung adenocarcinoma patients treated with tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Eur J Cancer*. (2020) 124:110–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2019.10.019

20. Liu J, Itchins M, Nagrial A, Cooper WA, De Silva M, Barnet M, et al. Relationship between pd-L1 expression and outcome in egfr-mutant lung cancer patients treated with egfr tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Lung Cancer*. (2021) 155:28–33. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.03.004

21. Brown H, Vansteenkiste J, Nakagawa K, Cobo M, John T, Barker C, et al. Programmed cell death ligand 1 expression in untreated egfr mutated advanced nsclc and response to osimertinib versus comparator in flaura. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2020) 15:138–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.09.009

22. Yang L, He YT, Dong S, Wei XW, Chen ZH, Zhang B, et al. Single-cell transcriptome analysis revealed a suppressive tumor immune microenvironment in egfr mutant lung adenocarcinoma. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2022) 10:1–16. doi: 10.1136/ jitc-2021-003534

23. Gainor JF, Shaw AT, Sequist LV, Fu X, Azzoli CG, Piotrowska Z, et al. Egfr mutations and alk rearrangements are associated with low response rates to pd-1 pathway blockade in non-small cell lung cancer: A retrospective analysis. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:4585–93. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-15-3101

24. Schoenfeld AJ, Rizvi H, Bandlamudi C, Sauter JL, Travis WD, Rekhtman N, et al. Clinical and molecular correlates of pd-L1 expression in patients with lung adenocarcinomas. *Ann Oncol.* (2020) 31:599–608. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.01.065

25. Dong ZY, Zhang JT, Liu SY, Su J, Zhang C, Xie Z, et al. Egfr mutation correlates with uninflamed phenotype and weak immunogenicity, causing impaired response to pd-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1356145. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2017.1356145

26. Sugiyama E, Togashi Y, Takeuchi Y, Shinya S, Tada Y, Kataoka K, et al. Blockade of egfr improves responsiveness to pd-1 blockade in egfr-mutated non-small cell lung cancer. *Sci Immunol.* (2020) 5:1–13. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aav3937

27. Cheng Y, He Y, Li W, Zhang HL, Zhou Q, Wang B, et al. Osimertinib versus comparator egfr tki as first-line treatment for egfr-mutated advanced nsclc: flaura China, a randomized study. *Target Oncol.* (2021) 16:165–76. doi: 10.1007/s11523-021-00794-6

28. Nakagawa K, Garon EB, Seto T, Nishio M, Ponce Aix S, Paz-Ares L, et al. Ramucirumab plus erlotinib in patients with untreated, egfr-mutated, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (Relay): A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:1655–69. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(19)30634-5

29. Saito H, Fukuhara T, Furuya N, Watanabe K, Sugawara S, Iwasawa S, et al. Erlotinib plus bevacizumab versus erlotinib alone in patients with egfr-positive advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (Nej026): interim analysis of an open-label, randomised, multicentre, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:625–35. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(19)30035-x

30. Zhou Q, Xu CR, Cheng Y, Liu YP, Chen GY, Cui JW, et al. Bevacizumab plus erlotinib in chinese patients with untreated, egfr-mutated, advanced nsclc (Artemisctong1509): A multicenter phase 3 study. *Cancer Cell*. (2021) 39:1279–91.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2021.07.005

31. Gridelli C, Rossi A, Ciardiello F, De Marinis F, Crinò L, Morabito A, et al. Beverly: rationale and design of a randomized open-label phase iii trial comparing bevacizumab plus erlotinib versus erlotinib alone as first-line treatment of patients with egfr-mutated advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. *Clin Lung Cancer.* (2016) 17:461-5. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2016.04.001

32. Akamatsu H, Toi Y, Hayashi H, Fujimoto D, Tachihara M, Furuya N, et al. Efficacy of osimertinib plus bevacizumab vs osimertinib in patients with egfr T790mmutated non-small cell lung cancer previously treated with epidermal growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor: West Japan oncology group 8715l phase 2 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* (2021) 7:386–94. doi: 10.1001/ jamaoncol.2020.6758

33. Kenmotsu H, Wakuda K, Mori K, Kato T, Sugawara S, Kirita K, et al. Randomized phase 2 study of osimertinib plus bevacizumab versus osimertinib for untreated patients with nonsquamous nsclc harboring egfr mutations: wjog9717l study. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2022) 17:1098–108. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2022.05.006

34. Soo RA, Han JY, Dafni U, Cho BC, Yeo CM, Nadal E, et al. A randomised phase ii study of osimertinib and bevacizumab versus osimertinib alone as second-line targeted treatment in advanced nsclc with confirmed egfr and acquired T790m mutations: the European thoracic oncology platform (Etop 10-16) booster trial. *Ann Oncol.* (2022) 33:181-92. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.11.010



OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Gennaro Daniele, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY

Adriana Estrada-Bernal, University of Pittsburgh, United States Lorenzo Belluomini, University of Verona, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Stefano Indraccolo Stefano.indraccolo@unipd.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work and share last authorship

RECEIVED 29 December 2023 ACCEPTED 14 February 2024 PUBLISHED 11 March 2024

CITATION

Bao LC, Padovan A, Boscolo Bragadin A, Calvetti L, Guarneri V, Bonanno L and Indraccolo S (2024) Efficacy of osimertinib and the role of sequential liquid biopsy in patients diagnosed with NSCLC harboring EGFR and BRAF mutations at baseline: insights from two case reports. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1363069. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1363069

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Bao, Padovan, Boscolo Bragadin, Calvetti, Guarneri, Bonanno and Indraccolo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Efficacy of osimertinib and the role of sequential liquid biopsy in patients diagnosed with NSCLC harboring EGFR and BRAF mutations at baseline: insights from two case reports

Loc Carlo Bao^{1†}, Alessia Padovan^{2†}, Andrea Boscolo Bragadin², Lorenzo Calvetti³, Valentina Guarneri^{1,4}, Laura Bonanno^{1,4†} and Stefano Indraccolo^{1,2*†}

¹Department of Surgery, Oncology and Gastroenterology, University of Padua, Padua, Italy, ²Basic and Translational Oncology, Veneto Institute of Oncology IOV – IRCCS, Padua, Italy, ³Department of Oncology, Azienda ULSS 8 Berica, San Bortolo General Hospital, Vicenza, Italy, ⁴Medical Oncology 2, Veneto Institute of Oncology IOV – IRCCS, Padua, Italy

Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) and B-Raf (BRAF) mutations are two of the most important drivers identified in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). This report highlights two cases of patients diagnosed with metastatic NSCLC bearing concurrent EGFR and BRAF mutations at baseline and treated with osimertinib as first-line treatment. Molecular profiling was conducted in the tissue and plasma at the time of initial diagnosis, and subsequent repeated liquid biopsy examinations were planned after 10 days, 28 days, and at the time of radiological progression in the frame of the prospective translational study REM. These cases suggest that osimertinib may maintain its therapeutic effectiveness even in patients presenting with a baseline BRAF co-mutation. Notably, radiological responses align with liquid biopsy observations: in both instances, follow-up liquid biopsies indicate the clearance of EGFR-mutated circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA).

KEYWORDS

liquid biopsy, EGFR, NSCLC, BRAF, co-mutation, NGS, osimertinib

Introduction

In the last two decades, the introduction of targeted therapies for oncogene-addicted diseases changed the natural history of nonsmall-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (1–4). Oncogene addiction is a term used to describe the reliance of certain neoplasms on a single activated oncogenic protein or pathway in order to maintain malignant properties and serves as a rationale for target therapy (5).

Currently, several targeted therapies are approved for patients with oncogene-addicted tumors. EGFR and BRAF are two of the most important driver mutations, accounting for an overall prevalence of 32% and 1%–3% of NSCLC cases, respectively (6, 7).

Following the results of the FLAURA trial, osimertinib, a third generation TKI, became the standard first-line treatment for EGFR mutated metastatic NSCLC (mNSCLC) (1).

Nevertheless, the magnitude of clinical benefit is heterogeneous, and new-combination therapeutic strategies recently demonstrated to be associated with improved progression-free survival (8, 9). While reliable predictive markers are not yet available for clinical practice, the presence of co-mutations, such as p53 and PIK3CA, was found to be associated with limited clinical benefit, albeit little is known about the role of BRAF co-mutations in this particular setting (10). Interestingly, BRAF mutations have been described as a possible mechanism of acquired resistance to EGFR-TKIs (11).

Additionally, even though oncogene driver mutations are generally mutually exclusive (12), the presence of two actionable driver mutations represents a significant clinical challenge in terms of selection of treatment and management.

Here, we present two cases of patients diagnosed with mNSCLC harboring both EGFR and BRAF mutations at baseline. The patients were treated with first-line osimertinib, and tumor molecular profiling was performed in the tissue and plasma at diagnosis and monitored through repeated liquid biopsies at different time points according to the schedule of the REM clinical study. REM is an ongoing multicentric, prospective, observational clinical study that enrolls EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients receiving first-line osimertinib aiming to identify concomitant genetic alterations in plasma at baseline and at progression and to monitor EGFR mutation in plasma to correlate it with the radiological response and the outcome. In this setting, plasma samples were collected before the initiation of treatment and then after 10 days and 28 days of treatment. Three different tests were used to analyze patients' cfDNA: a real-time PCR technique (Cobas EGFR mutation test V2, Roche) and two nextgeneration sequencing (NGS) tests that included the main EGFR and BRAF mutations (Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit, Roche, and PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit, Sysmex). The study design and informed consent were submitted and approved by the local Ethics Committee.

Case description

Case 1

The first case that we report here is one of an 81-year-old female Caucasian never-smoker patient.

In February 2023, she experienced dyspnea and underwent a CT scan that demonstrated the presence of a left inferior lobe lesion, multiple pleural homolateral nodules, pleural effusion, and a single cerebral lesion, a benign meningioma, that had already been reported in her previous clinical history. Histological diagnosis was obtained by CT-guided percutaneous needle biopsy and was compatible with lung adenocarcinoma. Real-time PCR (RT-PCR) testing in the tissue revealed the presence of both BRAF V600E mutation and EGFR exon 19 deletion (ex19del). No quantitative data of mutation frequency was available, making it impossible to distinguish whether these mutations are clonal or subclonal. Liquid biopsy at baseline confirmed the presence of EGFR ex19del at low levels in cfDNA, with correspondence among the results of three different methods used: Cobas EGFR mutation test V2 ISQ 9.79; Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit VAF 0.34%; Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit VAF 0.25% (16 mutant molecules-MM). Conversely, the BRAF V600E mutation was not detected by both NGS tests in plasma.

The patient was in good clinical condition (ECOG PS 0) and had no relevant medical history, apart from controlled hypertension. Considering clinical staging, histological diagnosis, lack of smoking history, and molecular profile, the patient started on osimertinib, and close clinical and radiological monitoring was performed.

Subsequent radiological tumor assessments were performed according to clinical practice, and best radiological response was stable disease according to RECIST 1.1. The treatment was well tolerated, and the only adverse event recorded was a G1 platelet count decrease (according to CTCAE 5.0).

Liquid biopsy testing was performed initially by Cobas EGFR mutation test V2 RT-PCR at different time points, revealing clearance of the EGFR mutation coherent with the clinical response to treatment; indeed, cfDNA samples from T1 to T5 resulted in non-mutated EGFR. Consistently, analysis of serial cfDNA samples by Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit detected minimal residual molecular disease at T1 (VAF, 0.046%; 4.22 MM) and T2 (VAF, 0.029%; 2.34 MM) with a kinetics showing gradual reduction in the EGFR mutation during treatment. Indeed, in the following time points (T3–T4–T5), NGS analysis indicated complete clearance of the mutation in plasma. Notably, the BRAF mutation found in tissue biopsy was not detected in any of the cfDNA samples analyzed by Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit.

After 12 months, the patient is still on treatment with osimertinib, and she is maintaining a good clinical and radiological response. Further plasma monitoring and re-characterization in the tissue and plasma at the time of progression has been planned.

Case 2

The second case is that of a 77-year-old Caucasian woman.

Following the onset of dyspnea in July 2022, she underwent a CT scan showing bilateral lung nodules and left pleural effusion for which she underwent left thoracentesis with immediate clinical benefit. A CT-scan-guided needle biopsy of one of the lung nodules performed for diagnostic purposes enabled to make the histological diagnosis of lung adenocarcinoma, with no evidence of extra-

thoracic disease. Molecular profiling on the tissue revealed the presence of EGFR L858R and BRAF E501K mutations, without available variant allele fraction information. NGS testing of cfDNA at baseline confirmed the presence of both mutations. Specifically, Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit detected EGFR L858R with VAF = 0.35% and Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit detected the same mutation with VAF = 0.15%. Cobas EGFR mutation test V2 RT-PCR analysis was in line with these results, revealing EGFR L858R mutation with ISQ = 5.99. BRAF mutation E501K was confirmed in plasma only by Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit (VAF 0.31%), since this mutation is not covered by Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit. The similarity in VAF detected for EGFR and BRAF mutations may suggest the clonal nature of the BRAF mutation.

Considering the good performance status, clinical staging, and molecular characterization of disease, the patient started her firstline systemic treatment with osimertinib.

RT-PCR testing for EGFR was then performed on liquid biopsy at time points T1 and T2, revealing clearance of EGFR mutation right after 10 days since the start of systemic treatment. NGS monitoring by Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit was performed only at T2 due to insufficient amount of cfDNA available at T1 and confirmed the clearance of EGFR mutation. BRAF mutation monitoring was not possible because the E501K mutation is not included in the Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD panel.

The first radiological assessment revealed a partial response according to RECIST 1.1 with a 70% reduction in the sum of target lesions. At the

time of writing, 17 months after diagnosis, the patient is still on treatment and maintains both radiological response and clinical benefit.

Timeline

The results of longitudinal liquid biopsies and radiological assessment for the patient described in case 1 are reported in Figures 1, 2, while those for case 2 are shown in Figures 3, 4.

Molecular diagnostic assessment

According to the REM protocol, cfDNA samples were collected before starting treatment (T0) and after 10 (T1) and 28 days (T2).

The patient described in case 1 displayed both EGFR and BRAF mutations at tissue biopsy, so she was monitored through longitudinal liquid biopsy at every medical appointment, resulting in a total of six samples (from T0 to T5) being evaluated. The first three blood samples were taken as described, while the additional three samples were collected approximately every 2 months. Regarding case 2, cfDNA samples were collected as planned before and after early time points from osimertinib administration (T0–T1–T2).

We used three methods to test patient's cfDNA: Cobas EGFR mutation test V2 (Roche), Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit (Roche), and PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit (Sysmex).



FIGURE 1

The figure shows longitudinal monitoring of EGFR ex19del mutation in the patient described as Case 1. (A) Results of NGS analysis: baseline T0 shows VAF values from both Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit and Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit analysis. The data reported from T1 to T5 indicate the VAF values detected by Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit panel after the start of treatment with osimertinib. (B) Monitoring of EGFR mutation by RT-PCR Cobas EGFR Mutation Test V2. Time-points were the same as in (A). T0: 02/09/2023; T1: 02/17/2023; T2: 03/09/2023; T3: 04/06/2023; T4: 06/09/2023; T5: 08/24/2023. VAF, Variant Allele Fraction; ISQ, Semi-Quantitative Index.



The first method is a RT-PCR technique developed to detect EGFR mutations present in exons 18,19, 20, and 21, and it was performed for all samples of plasma collected.

The second and third methods are NGS tests, and both panels include EGFR and BRAF most common mutations as targets. Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit, a relatively large panel of 77 genes, was used only at diagnosis, while the Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit, which includes five genes in specific hotspots, guarantees higher sensitivity, and this kind of targeted approach was ideal to monitor the minimal residual disease.

All prepared libraries were sequenced on an Illumina Nextseq 550 instrument with high output kit (300 cycles) in pair-end mode (151×2) for Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit and the mid output kit (150 cycles) in single-end mode (150 cycles) for Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit.

Discussion

These two cases suggest that osimertinib might maintain its efficacy even in patients with a BRAF co-mutation at baseline. Since the patients are respectively at their 12th and 17th month on treatment with persistence of clinical benefit and clearance of EGFR mutation in plasma, we suggest that patients carrying BRAF co-mutations might represent a different molecular subset of EGFR mutated patients, when compared with other comutations and in particular p53 and KRAS co-mutations (13, 14).

Radiological response was accompanied by liquid biopsy findings: for both cases, subsequent liquid biopsies showed a clearance in the EGFR-mutated cfDNA. Curiously, for the first patient, BRAF V600E was only found in tissue NGS analysis. This could be attributed to the fact that the patient only presented with intrathoracic disease with limited ctDNA shedding. Alternatively, considering that EGFR mutation tested positive in plasma at relatively low levels, we might speculate that the BRAF V600E was subclonal in the tumor of this patient, and therefore, it was missed by cfDNA testing because it was under the detection limit of the NGS assays used. This case clearly illustrates the potential of liquid biopsy in shedding light on tumor heterogeneity and differentiating biological significance of two driver alterations.

Notably, the second patient carried a non-V600 BRAF mutation located in the kinase domain of the protein (15). However, this mutation is currently considered inconclusive because there is conflicting and/or weak data describing the biological significance of the BRAF E501K mutation. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated that this mutation might be inactivating as measured by decreased BRAF kinase activity in a cell line with a second BRAF mutation compared to controls (16). However, another pre-clinical study found increased downstream pathway output compared to wild type (17). Nevertheless, it is still relevant to emphasize that, in this clinical case, this mutation does not seem to have a negative impact on the efficacy of osimertinib.

According to the REM protocol, RT-PCR and NGS cfDNA testing are planned also at radiological progression of disease in order to further investigate possible acquired resistance mechanism. It will be interesting to see whether BRAF mutations will be among



FIGURE 3

The figure shows longitudinal monitoring of EGFR ex19del mutation in the patient described as Case 2. (A) Results of NGS analysis: baseline T0 shows VAF values from both Avenio ctDNA Expanded kit and Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit analysis. The data reported as T2 indicate the VAF value detected by Sysmex PSS Solid Cancer IVD kit panel after the start of treatment with osimertinib. (B) Monitoring of EGFR mutation by RT-PCR Cobas EGFR Mutation Test V2. T0 and T2 were the same as in (A), T1 was the first sample after the start of treatment with osimertinib. T0: 09/06/2022; T1: 09/14/2022; T2: 09/26/2022. VAF, Variant Allele Fraction; ISQ, Semi-Quantitative Index.



FIGURE 4

The figure shows subsequent radiological assessments (CT scans) that were performed according to clinical practice for the patient described as Case 2. The sum of target lesions was assessed following RECIST 1.1. CT1: 07/01/2022; CT2: 02/07/2023; CT3: 08/22/2023.

these, since combination therapies with anti-EGFR and anti-BRAF TKIs have been described in this setting (18–20).

These two cases demonstrate that liquid biopsy can have an important role in monitoring patients during treatment, showing that molecular response is associated with clinical response and can be evaluated before radiological assessment. In addition, specifically in the context of co-mutations, further data collections are awaited to understand its potential role in unveiling tumor heterogeneity and differential role of concomitant genetic alterations.

In the end, we conclude that a molecular survey of patients' plasma has clinical validity in this setting and can aid to follow EGFR TKI effects also in the rare event of BRAF co-mutations.

Data availability statement

The data presented in the study are deposited in the ENA (European Nucleotide Archive) repository, accession number ERP158121.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by ethics committee for clinical trials, Veneto Institute of Oncology IOV – IRCCS, Padua, Italy. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

LCB: Data curation, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. AP: Data curation, Investigation,

References

1. Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in untreated, EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med. (2020) 382:41–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1913662

2. Mok T, Camidge DR, Gadgeel SM, Rosell R, Dziadziuszko R, Kim DW, et al. Updated overall survival and final progression-free survival data for patients with treatment-naive advanced ALK-positive non-small-cell lung cancer in the ALEX study. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. (2020) 31:1056–64. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.04.478

3. Shaw AT, Riely GJ, Bang YJ, Kim DW, Camidge DR, Solomon BJ, et al. Crizotinib in ROS1-rearranged advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): updated results, including overall survival, from PROFILE 1001. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol.* (2019) 30:1121-6. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz131

4. Planchard D, Besse B, Groen HJM, Hashemi SMS, Mazieres J, Kim TM, et al. Phase 2 study of dabrafenib plus trametinib in patients with BRAF V600E-mutant metastatic NSCLC: updated 5-year survival rates and genomic analysis. *J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer*. (2022) 17:103–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2021.08.011

5. Weinstein IB, Joe A. Oncogene addiction. Cancer Res. (2008) 68:3077-80. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-3293

6. Zhang YL, Yuan JQ, Wang KF, Fu XH, Han XR, Threapleton D, et al. The prevalence of EGFR mutation in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic

Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ABB: Data curation, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. LC: Writing – review & editing, Investigation. VG: Writing – review & editing, Supervision. LB: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Methodology. SI: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Methodology.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study received funding from Ricerca Corrente - Ministero della Salute and Astra Zeneca. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

review and meta-analysis. Oncotarget. (2016) 7:78985-93. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12587

 Marchetti A, Felicioni L, Malatesta S, Grazia Sciarrotta M, Guetti L, Chella A, et al. Clinical features and outcome of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harboring BRAF mutations. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. (2011) 29:3574–9. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2011.35.9638

8. Cho BC, Felip E, Hayashi H, Thomas M, Lu S, Besse B, et al. MARIPOSA: phase 3 study of first-line amivantamab + lazertinib versus osimertinib in EGFR-mutant non-smallcell lung cancer. *Future Oncol Lond Engl.* (2022) 18:639–47. doi: 10.2217/fon-2021-0923

9. Planchard D, Jänne PA, Cheng Y, Yang JCH, Yanagitani N, Kim SW, et al. Osimertinib with or without chemotherapy in EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med. (2023) 389:1935–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2306434

10. Hellyer JA, White MN, Gardner RM, Cunanan K, Padda SK, Das M, et al. Impact of tumor suppressor gene co-mutations on differential response to EGFR TKI therapy in EGFR L858R and exon 19 deletion lung cancer. *Clin Lung Cancer*. (2022) 23:264–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2021.09.004

11. Rosell R, González-Cao M, Codony-Servat J, Molina-Vila MA, de Las Casas CM, Ito M. Acquired BRAF gene fusions in Osimertinib resistant EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer. *Transl Cancer Res.* (2023) 12:456–60. doi: 10.21037/tcr-22-2888 12. Dearden S, Stevens J, Wu YL, Blowers D. Mutation incidence and coincidence in non small-cell lung cancer: meta-analyses by ethnicity and histology (mutMap). *Ann Oncol.* (2013) 24:2371–6. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdt205

13. Pavan A, Bragadin AB, Calvetti L, Ferro A, Zulato E, Attili I, et al. Role of next generation sequencing-based liquid biopsy in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors: impact of STK11, KRAS and TP53 mutations and co-mutations on outcome. *Transl Lung Cancer Res.* (2021) 10:202–20. doi: 10.21037/tlcr-20-674

14. Nardo G, Carlet J, Marra L, Bonanno L, Boscolo A, Dal Maso A, et al. Detection of low-frequency KRAS mutations in cfDNA from EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients after first-line EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Front Oncol.* (2020) 10:607840. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.607840

15. Owsley J, Stein MK, Porter J, In GK, Salem M, O'Day S, et al. Prevalence of class I-III BRAF mutations among 114,662 cancer patients in a large genomic database. *Exp Biol Med Maywood NJ.* (2021) 246:31–9. doi: 10.1177/1535370220959657

16. Razzaque MA, Nishizawa T, Komoike Y, Yagi H, Furutani M, Amo R, et al. Germline gain-of-function mutations in RAF1 cause Noonan syndrome. *Nat Genet.* (2007) 39:1013-7. doi: 10.1038/ng2078

17. Niihori T, Aoki Y, Narumi Y, Neri G, Cavé H, Verloes A, et al. Germline KRAS and BRAF mutations in cardio-facio-cutaneous syndrome. *Nat Genet*. (2006) 38:294–6. doi: 10.1038/ng1749

18. Sun M, Wang X, Xu Y, Sun C, Guo Y, Qiu S, et al. Combined targeting of EGFR and BRAF triggers regression of osimertinib resistance by using osimertinib and vemurafenib concurrently in a patient with heterogeneity between different lesions. *Thorac Cancer.* (2022) 13:514-6. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.14295

19. Ribeiro MFSA, Knebel FH, Bettoni F, Saddi R, Sacardo KP, Canedo FSNA, et al. Impressive response to dabrafenib, trametinib, and osimertinib in a metastatic EGFRmutant/BRAF V600E lung adenocarcinoma patient. *NPJ Precis Oncol.* (2021) 5:5. doi: 10.1038/s41698-021-00149-4

20. Meng P, Koopman B, Kok K, Ter Elst A, Schuuring E, van Kempen LC, et al. Combined osimertinib, dabrafenib and trametinib treatment for advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer patients with an osimertinib-induced BRAF V600E mutation. *Lung Cancer Amst Neth.* (2020) 146:358–61. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan. 2020.05.036

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY Po-Lan Su, National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan Guoxing Feng, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Chong Li Zeyou06@163.com Hao Ding 18052885715@189.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 10 October 2023 ACCEPTED 11 March 2024 PUBLISHED 08 April 2024

CITATION

Hu S, Ming H, He Q, Ding M, Ding H and Li C (2024) A study of high dose furmonertinib in EGFR exon 20 insertion mutation-positive advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1314301. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1314301

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Hu, Ming, He, Ding, Ding and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A study of high dose furmonertinib in EGFR exon 20 insertion mutation-positive advanced non-small cell lung cancer

Song Hu 1† , Hao Ming 1† , Qian He 1 , Ming Ding 2 , Hao Ding 3* and Chong Li 1*

¹Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Third Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, Changzhou, China, ²Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Affiliated Hospital of Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China, ³Division of Respiratory Disease, Affiliated People's Hospital of Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China

Background: The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) ex20ins mutation, as a rare subtype of mutation, has gradually attracted attention. Its heterogeneity is high, its prognosis is extremely poor, and the efficacy of existing traditional treatment plans is limited. In this study, we aimed to evaluate efficacy of high dose furmonertinib as a first-line treatment for EGFR ex20ins-positive NSCLC.

Methods: This is a retrospective, multi-center, non-interventional study. From May 2021 to March 2023, 9 NSCLC patients with EGFR ex20ins were enrolled. Efficacy and safety of 160 mg furmonertinib were evaluated. Objective response rate (ORR), disease control rate (DCR), median progression-free survival (PFS) and treatment related adverse events (TRAEs) were assessed.

Results: Of the evaluated patients, six patients experienced partial remission (PR), two patients experienced stable disease (SD) and one patient experienced progress disease (PD). Data indicated 66.7% ORR and 88.9% DCR. The median progression free survival (PFS) was 7.2 months (95% CI: 6.616 - 7.784). Besides, a longgest PFS with 18 months was found in one patient with p.H773_V774insGTNPH mutation. No \geq level 3 adverse events have been found.

Conclusions: The study proved the potential efficacy of 160mg furmonertinib in patients with advanced NSCLC with EGFR ex20ins. Meanwhile, 160mg furmonertinib had a good safety profile.

KEYWORDS

the epidermal growth factor receptor, exon 20 insertion, furmonertinib, non-small cell lung cancer, first-line treatment

1 Introduction

According to the global cancer statistics in 2020, the incidence of lung cancer ranks second in the world, with 2.2 million new cases per year, accounting for 11.4% of the total number of new tumors, and the death rate of lung cancer is the first cause of cancer death, accounting for 14.3% of the total number of tumor deaths (1). Lung cancer has become one of the most tumors threatening human health, among which non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is the main pathological type of lung cancer, accounting for 80%-85%, and most patients are found to be in advanced stages of the disease. Platinum-based chemotherapy is the main treatment for advanced NSCLC. In recent years, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is gradually being recognized. Multiple studies have shown that targeted therapy, represented by EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs), not only significantly prolongs the progression free survival (PFS) of patients with advanced NSCLC, but also improves their quality of life, which has revolutionized the treatment of patients with advanced NSCLC.

The EGFR gene is cmposed of 28 exons, and most of the mutations occur in exons 18-21. Common mutations include exon 19 inframe deletion (ex19del) and exon 21 L858R alterations (ex21L858R), which accounts for 80%-85% of all EGFR mutations (2). These two classical EGFR mutations have good sensitivity to first-generation EGFR-TKIs (erlotinib, gefitinib), second-generation EGFR-TKIs (afatinib, dacotinib) and third-generation EGFR-TKIs (osimertinib) drugs. The remaining EGFR mutations are known as rare mutations. Among rare mutations, EGFR ex20ins mutation is the most common. The incidence of EGFR ex20ins in EGFR mutated NSCLC patients is 4% -12%, while in NSCLC patients, the incidence is 1.8% -2.3% (3).

Before Mobosetinib and Amivantamab were approved for EGFR ex20ins NSCLC by FDA, the main treatment for patients with EGFR ex20ins mutation were traditional EGFR-TKIs, platinum-containing chemotherapy and immunotherapy. However, these treatment options have limited benefits (4–6). Hence, better treatment plans are needed for these patients.

Furmonertinib is an irreversible, selective, third-generation EGFR-TKI. The FURLONG study (NCT03787992) (7) showed that first-line treatment with furmonertinib in Chinese patients with advanced EGFR gene mutation NSCLC resulted in a median PFS of 20.8 months, which was 9.7 months longer than the 11.1 months in the gefitinib group. In terms of safety, the median drug exposure time of patients in the furmonertinib group was longer than that in the gifitinib group (18.3 months vs. 11.2 months), but the incidence of \geq Level 3 adverse events in the furmonertinib group was lower than that in the gifitinib group (11% vs. 18%). On March 3, 2021, the National Medical Products Administration (NMPA) approved the use of furmonertinibb for second-line treatment in adult patients with locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC carrying EGFR 20 exon T790M (T790M) resistance mutations. Nowadays, the efficacy of furmonertinib as a first-line treatment for EGFR ex20ins-positive NSCLC is currently being studied. Preclinical data and Phase Ib study results published by furmonertinib showed that receiving 240 mg/d of furmonertinib treatment resulted in an ORR of 60% and a DCR of 100%, with no \geq grade 3 adverse events occurring (8). However, there is still a lack of results about the effect of 160 mg/d of furmonertinib on EGFR ex20ins-positive NSCLC.

In this study, we retrospectively analyzed the efficacy and safety of first-line treatment with 160 mg/d of furmonertinib in patients with advanced NSCLC harboring EGFR ex20ins mutations. We also collected and analyzed the clinical pathological and molecular characteristics of NSCLC patients with EGFR ex20ins mutations.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Study design

This was a retrospective, multi-center, non-interventional study. Patients received furmonertinib 160mg once daily for firstline treatment. We collected the clinical information of patients, including age, sex, pathological type, smoking history, metastatic site, gene status, efficacy assessment, and adverse events (AEs). Our study was approved by the ethics committee of the First Hospital of Changzhou.

2.2 Inclusion criteria

a) Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) diagnosed by histology or cytology at the age of 18 or older. b) Tumor driven gene testing has confirmed the presence of EGFR20 exon insertion mutations in tissue or blood samples. c) Stage IV NSCLC patients who did not undergo any systemic treatment before their first medication. d) Having at least one measurable tumor lesion (according to RECIST 1.1). e) The ECOG score was 0-1, and there was no significant deterioration of the disease within the two weeks prior to screening.

2.3 Efficacy and safety assessments

All patients who received at least one dose of furmonertinib were included in the efficacy and safety assessment. Patients with measurable disease at baseline and had been re-examined were evaluated for efficacy analysis. Radiographic tumor assessments were completed every 4–8 weeks. Response was assessed by the investigators according to the Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST), version 1.1. Adverse events were recorded from the clinical data. The PFS was calculated from the first day of treatment with furmonertinib to disease progression or death or the last follow-up visit. Adverse events were graded according to the NCI Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE), version 4.0.

2.4 Statistical analyses

The descriptive statistics for clinical and demographic characteristics were summarized with numbers and percentages of categorical variables. The ORR and DCR were indicated by the rate of responses. The PFS were calculated by Kaplan-Meier method. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software version 26.0 (IBM Corp., NY, USA).

3 Results

3.1 Patient characteristics

Between May 2021 to March 2023, 9 patients were enrolled in this study. The characteristics of 9 patients evaluated in this study are summarized in Table 1. Median age was 59 years (range 49–75), 33.3% (n=3) of patients were female, 66.7% (n=6) of patients were male, and 44.4% (n=4) were never-smokers. The most common sites of metastasis at baseline were bone (55.6%) and lung (44.4%). In addition, the most common progressive lesion is brain metastasis.

3.2 Molecular characterization of EGFR ex20ins mutations

NGS (Next-generation sequencing technology) analysis determined the mutation types of 9 patients. Three patients harbored EGFR p.S768_D770dup, two patients harbored p.P771_P772insT, one patient harbored p.H773_V774insGTNPH, one patient harbored p.P772_H773insT, one patient harbored p.V769_D770insCV and one patient harbored p.P772_H773insPNP mutations (Figure 1). Besides, more than 20 co-mutations detected by NGS and the most common co-mutation is TP53 (66.7%), TERT (33.3%) (Figure 2).

3.3 Efficacy analysis

Of the nine evaluated patients, six patients experienced PR, two patients experienced SD and one patient experienced PD. These data indicated 66.7% ORR and 88.9% DCR. Besides, median PFS time was 7.2 months (95% CI: 6.616 - 7.784) (Figure 3A). PFS of one patients with H773_V774insGTNPH is up to 18 months. In four patients with H773_V774insGTNPH, S768_D770dup, V769_D770insCV and P772_H773insT, lung cancer remained stable for more than 10 months. In two patients with p.P771_P772insT, the tumor was progressing rapidly. Besides, in two patients without co-mutation, they each obtained longer PFS (18 months and 12.7 months) (Figure 3B). These data indicate variable efficacy pattern among patients with EGFR ex20ins positive NSCLC.

3.4 Safety analysis

In general, furmonertinib treatment was well tolerated. The safety profile of this study is summarized in Table 2. Increased γ -glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) was observed in one patient. Patient's liver function returns to normal after dose reduction to 120 mg once daily. One patient developed diarrhea and one patient developedoral ulcers. In summary, safety profile of furmonertinib 160 mg is well accepted.

TABLE 1 Basic characteristics of the patients included in this study.

	No. of patients	(%)				
Total enrolled	9					
Aged (years)						
Median(range)	59(49-75)					
Sex						
Male	6	66.7				
Female	3	33.3				
ECOG performance st	atus (pre-treatment)					
0	6	66.7				
1	3	33.3				
Histology						
Adenocarcinoma	8	88.9				
Squamous	1	11.1				
Disease stage						
IV A	1	11.1				
IV B	8	88.9				
Site of metastasis						
Bone	5	55.6				
Pleura	3	33.3				
Lung	4	44.4				
adrenal	1	11.2				
Central nervous system	2	22.2				
smoking history						
Yes	5	55.6				
No	4	44.4				
EGFR mutation status						
p.H773_V774insGTNPH	1	11.1				
p.P772_H773insT	1	11.1				
p.S768_D770dup	3	33.3				
p.P772_H773insPNP	1	11.1				
p.V769_D770insCV	1	11.1				
p.P771_P772insT	2	22.2				

ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.

4 Discussion

The majority of EGFR ex20ins mutations occur on the Cterminal loop after the C-helix, with a few occurring within the C-helix (9). According to the different positions of insertion mutations, EGFR ex20ins mutations can be divided into C-helix insertion, proximal insertion, and distal insertion. In our study, mutations in eights patients were located in near-loop and just one patients was located in far-loop. It is worth noting that EGFR



ex20ins has strong molecular heterogeneity. To date, over 100 EGFR ex20ins variant types have been reported (10, 11). Studies shown that the most frequent variant was A767_V769dup (34.9%), S768_D770dup (15.5%) and N771_H773dup (6.2%). However, our study shown that the most frequent variant was S768_D770dup (33.3%) and P771_P772insT (22.2%), which may be related with a smaller sample size of our study. We also found that the most frequent co-mutation were TP53 (66.7%), which was consistent with literature (12, 13). As we know, TP53 is closely related to prognosis of advanced NSCLC with EGFR mutation. A study showed that TP53 was associated with faster resistance in EGFRmutant NSCLC and mediated acquisition of resistance mutations to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (14). In our study, we also found that neither of the two patients with the longest PFS had TP53 mutations. However more cases are needed to ensure the impact of co-occurring TP53 mutations.

In the real-world, the first-line treatment of patients with advanced EGFR ex20ins NSCLC mostly use chemotherapy.

A retrospective study showed that the ORR and DCR at 6 months of advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR ex20ins treated with firstline platinum based chemotherapy were 19.2% and 41.3% (10). The median PFS was 6.4 months. The first generation TKI drugs (gefitinib, erlotinib) are a reversible ATP competitive inhibitor that can selectively inhibit the ex19del and ex21L858R mutant EGFR, but have almost no effect on the ex20ins mutation. Previous studies have shown that the median PFS of advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR ex20ins mutations receiving first-generation EGFR-TKIs treatment was only 1.9 months (15). As the third-generation orally highly efficient and irreversible EGFR-TKIs, the therapeutic effect of osimitinib on EGFR ex20ins is quite controversial in various studies. A small sample study reported that six advanced EGFR ex20ins NSCLC patients treated with osimitinib with an objective response rate (ORR) of 100%, mPFS of 6. 2 months and a good safety profile (16). A single arm phase II study was conducted on NSCLC patients with EGFR ex20ins mutation, in which the dose of osimitinib was increased to 160 mg. The results showed that the ORR of 20





patients was 25%, with a median PFS of 9.7 months and a median DOR was 5.7 months (17). This result indicates that high-dose osetinib can be used as a treatment option for patients with good tolerance. However, there are unreasonable aspects to this research data, such as the median DOR is much smaller than the median PFS. Considering that the survival curve of small sample studies often presents a stepped shape, it indicates that the estimation of median PFS may not be stable. Besides, VAN VEGGEL et al. (18) found that osimitinib had limited effect on EGFR ex20ins NSCLC. After increasing the dose of osimitinib, they found that the ORR was 6.5% and median PFS was only 2.3 months, which did not show a better treatment effect. In September 2021, the FDA accelerated the approval of mobocertinib for the treatment of locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC patients with EGFR ex20ins mutations confirmed by FDA approved testing methods during or after platinum chemotherapy. The data from a phase I/II multicenter study (NCT02716116) showed that among advanced EGFR ex20ins mutant NSCLC patients who had previously received containing platinum chemotherapy, the ORR receiving mobocertinib (160 mg/d) was 43%, the median DOR was 13.9 months, the DCR was 86%, and the median PFS was 7.3 months (19). Another Phase I/II study published at the 2022 European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) conference showed a confirmed ORR of 28.1%, DCR of 78%, median PFS of 7.3 months, and median OS of 20.2 months (20). However, it lacks more data on first-line treatment.

Furmonertinib is one of the third generation EGFR-TKIs drug. The preclinical studies showed that the half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) of furmonertinib for EGFR ex20ins type was 5-10 times lower than that of EGFR wild, which indicates furmonertinib has shown encouraging anti-tumor activity in

TABLE 2 Tre	eatment-related	adverse	events.
-------------	-----------------	---------	---------

TRAEs,n (%)	Grades 1–2	Grades 3–5
Diarrhea	1	0
Oral ulcer	1	0
Liver function damage	1	0

EGFR 20ins (8). The FAVOUR Ib phase study targeting EGFR ex20ins mutant patients showed that the ORR of first-line treatment with furmonertinib 240 mg was 69%, the DCR was 96.6%, and the median PFS was 10.7 months (21). Another study targeting EGFR ex20ins mutant NSCLC patients with \geq 2 lines showed that the overall ORR and DCR of 15 patients receiving furmonertinib treatment were 53.5%, 100%, and the 3-month PFS rate was 100% (22). Moreover, both of the above studies have shown good safety and tolerability of furmonertinib, and no \geq level 3 adverse events have been found. However, they did not explore the efficacy of the furmonertinib 160mg as a first-line treatment on EGFR ex20ins mutant patients. In our study, we found that the ORR of first-line treatment with furmonertinib 160 mg was 66.7%, the DCR was 88.9% and the median PFS was 7.2 months (95% CI: 6.616 -7.784)months. Our results showed the first-line treatment efficacy of furmonertinib was superior to traditional chemotherapy and classic EGFR-TKI drugs, such as gefitinib, erlotinib and osimitinib. Moreover, compared with furmonertinib 240 mg daily, our study showed that furmonertinib 160 mg daily also could produce good therapeutic effects on EGFR ex20ins mutant patients.

As we known, EGFR ex20ins has strong molecular heterogeneity and different insertion sites result in different drug efficacy. John V Heymach et al. found that poziotinib sensitivity was highly dependent on the insertion location, with near-loop insertions (amino acids A767 to P772) being more sensitive than far-loop insertions (23). In our study, we also have an interesting discovery that the PFS of one patient with p.H773_V774insGTNPH is up to 18 months. We noticed that the patient only had an EGFR ex20ins mutation and there is no concomitant mutation, which may be one of the reasons why patients have long PFS. Moreover, we noticed that the patients with N771_H772insT are more likely to develop central nervous system metastases and have poor response to furmonertinib. So far, no literature has reported this result. This result also requires a larger sample size to confirm. Hence, we can pay more attentions on the therapeutic effect of furmonertinib on different insertion location of EGFR ex20ins.

In summary, this study has demonstrated that furmonertinib had good anti-tumor activity and tolerance in NSCLC patients with EGFR ex20ins mutation. In first-line treatment, it is superior to traditional targeted drugs and platinum containing chemotherapy regimens. Therefore, furmonertinib may be as a first-line treatment option for patients with advanced EGFR ex20ins NSCLC. In addition, the efficacy of furmonertinib may associated with different EGFR ex20ins variant types.

5 Conclusions

The study proved the potential efficacy of 160mg furmonertinib in patients with advanced NSCLC with EGFR ex20ins. Meanwhile, 160mg furmonertinib had a good safety profile.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the ethics committee of the First Hospital of Changzhou. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/ next of kin because this is a retrospective, multi-center, noninterventional study.

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. Batra U, Biswas B, Prabhash K, Krishna MV. Differential clinicopathological features, treatments and outcomes in patients with Exon 19 deletion and Exon 21 L858R EGFR mutation-positive adenocarcinoma non-small-cell lung cancer. *BMJ Open Respir Res.* (2023) 10:e001492. doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2022-001492

3. Yang Y, Wang Y. Targeting exon 20 insertion mutations in lung cancer. *Curr Opin Oncol.* (2023) 35:37–45. doi: 10.1097/CCO.00000000000919

4. Zhou C, Ramalingam SS, Kim TM, Kim SW, Yang JC, Riely GJ, et al. Treatment outcomes and safety of mobocertinib in platinum-pretreated patients with EGFR exon 20 insertion-positive metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: A phase 1/2 open-label nonrandomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* (2021) 7:e214761. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.4761

5. Chon K, Larkins E, Chatterjee S, Mishra-Kalyani PS, Aungst S, Wearne E, et al. FDA approval summary: amivantamab for the treatment of patients with non-small cell lung cancer with EGFR exon 20 insertion mutations. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2023) 29:3262–6. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-22-3713

6. Brazel D, Kroening G, Nagasaka M. Non-small cell lung cancer with EGFR or HER2 exon 20 insertion mutations: diagnosis and treatment options. *BioDrugs*. (2022) 36:717–29. doi: 10.1007/s40259-022-00556-4

7. Shi Y, Chen G, Wang X, Liu Y, Wu L, Hao Y, et al. Furmonertinib (AST2818) versus gefitinib as first-line therapy for Chinese patients with locally advanced or metastatic EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (FURLONG): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised phase 3 study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2022) 10:1019–28. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(22)00168-0

8. Han B, Zhou C, Wu L, Yu X, Li Q, Liu F, et al. 1210P Preclinica l and preliminary clinical investigations of furmonertinib in NSCLC with EGFR exon 20 insertions (20ins). *Ann Oncol.* (2021) 32:s964. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.08.1815

Author contributions

SH: Data curation, Writing – original draft. HM: Data curation, Writing – original draft. QH: Writing – original draft. MD: Writing – review & editing, Data curation. HD: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. CL: Methodology, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Yasuda H, Park E, Yun CH, Sng NJ, Lucena-Araujo AR, Yeo WL, et al. Structural, biochemical, and clinical characterization of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) exon 20 insertion mutations in lung cancer. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:216ra177. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007205

10. Riess JW, Gandara DR, Frampton GM, Madison R, Peled N, Bufill JA, et al. Diverse EGFR exon 20 insertions and co-occurring molecular alterations identified by comprehensive genomic profiling of NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol. (2018) 13:1560–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.06.019

11. Yang G, Li J, Xu H, Yang Y, Yang L, Xu F, et al. EGFR exon 20 insertion mutations in Chinese advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients: Molecular heterogeneity and treatment outcome from nationwide real-world study. *Lung Cancer*. (2020) 145:186–94. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2020.03.014

12. Jiao XD, Qin BD, You P, Cai J, Zang YS. The prognostic value of TP53 and its correlation with EGFR mutation in advanced non-small cell lung cancer, an analysis based on cBioPortal data base. *Lung Cancer*. (2018) 123:70–5. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.07.003

 Fu Y, Wang A, Zhou J, Feng W, Shi M, Xu X, et al. Advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR T790M harboring TP53 R273C or KRAS G12V cannot benefit from osimertinib based on a clinical multicentre study by tissue and liquid biopsy. *Front* Oncol. (2021) 11:621992. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.621992

14. Vokes NI, Chambers E, Nguyen T, Coolidge A, Lydon CA, Le X, et al. Concurrent TP53 mutations facilitate resistance evolution in EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2022) 17:779–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2022.02.011

15. Chen D, Song Z, Cheng G. Clinical efficacy of first-generation EGFR-TKIs in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harboring EGFR exon 20 mutations. *Onco Targets Ther.* (2016) 9:4181–6. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S108242

16. Fang W, Huang Y, Hong S, Zhang Z, Wang M, Gan J, et al. EGFR exon 20 insertion mutations and response to osimertinib in non-small-cell lung cancer. *BMC Cancer*. (2019) 19:595. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-5820-0

17. Piotrowska Z, Wang Y, Sequist LV, Ramalingam SS. ECOG-ACR IN 5162: A phase II study of osimertinib 160 mg in NSCLC with EGFR exon 20 insertions. J Clin Oncol. (2020) 38:9513. doi: 10.1200/jco.2020.38.15_suppl.9513

18. Van Veggel B, Madeira R Santos J, Hashemi S, Paats MS, Monkhorst K, Heideman D, et al. Osimertinib treatment for patients with EGFR exon 20 mutation positive non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*. (2020) 141:9–13. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.12.013

19. Riely GJ, Neal JW, Camidge DR, Spira AI, Piotrowska Z, Costa DB, et al. Activity and safety of mobocertinib (TAK-788) in previously treated non-small cell lung cancer with EGFR exon 20 insertion mutations from a phase I/II trial. *Cancer Discovery.* (2021) 11:1688–99. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-1598

20. Ramalingam SS, Zhou C K, Kim TM, Yang JC, Riely GJ, Mekhail T, et al. 988P Phase I/II study of mobocertinib in EGFR exon 20 insertion (ex20ins) + metastatic NSCLC (mNSCLC): Updated results from platinum-pretreated patients (PPP). Ann Oncol. (2022) 33:S1004. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc. 2022.07.1115

21. Han B, Zhou C, Zheng W, Wu L, Ma Z, Wang H, et al. A phase 1b study of furmonertinib, an oral, brain penetrant, selective EGFR inhibitor, in patients with advanced NSCLC with EGFR exon 20 insertions, in: *Presented at: International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer 2023 World Conference on Lung Cancer, J Thorac Oncol.* (2023) 18: S49. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2023.09.033

22. Zhou X, Dong H, Li P, Wu C, Lu H, Xiao M, et al. Short-term efficacy of furmonertinib in treatment of NSCLC patients with EGFR exon20 insertion. J Clin Oncol. (2022) 40:e21063. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2022.40.16_suppl.e21063

23. Elamin YY, Robichaux JP, Carter BW, Altan M, Tran H, Gibbons DL, et al. Poziotinib for EGFR exon 20-mutant NSCLC: Clinical efficacy, resistance mechanisms, and impact of insertion location on drug sensitivity. *Cancer Cell.* (2022) 40:754–67.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2022.06.006
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Santiago Viteri, UOMI Cancer Center. Clínica Mi Tres Torres, Spain

REVIEWED BY Sarayut Lucine Geater, Prince of Songkla University, Thailand Sheng-Kai Liang, National Taiwan University Cancer Center, Taiwan

*CORRESPONDENCE Eckart Laack e.laack@haemato-onkologie-hh.de

RECEIVED 01 December 2023 ACCEPTED 18 April 2024 PUBLISHED 06 May 2024

CITATION

Christopoulos P, Herster F, Hoffknecht P, Falk M, Tiemann M, Kopp HG, Althoff A, Stammberger A and Laack E (2024) Activity of afatinib in patients with NSCLC harboring novel uncommon *EGFR* mutations with or without co-mutations: a case report. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1347742. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1347742

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Christopoulos, Herster, Hoffknecht, Falk, Tiemann, Kopp, Althoff, Stammberger and Laack. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Activity of afatinib in patients with NSCLC harboring novel uncommon *EGFR* mutations with or without co-mutations: a case report

Petros Christopoulos^{1,2}, Franziska Herster³, Petra Hoffknecht⁴, Markus Falk^{5,6}, Markus Tiemann^{5,6}, Hans-Georg Kopp³, Andre Althoff⁷, Anja Stammberger⁸ and Eckart Laack^{9*}

¹Department of Oncology, Thoraxklinik and National Center for Tumor Diseases at Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany, ²Thoracic Oncology, Translational Lung Research Heidelberg, Member of the German Center for Lung Research (DZL), Heidelberg, Germany, ³Robert Bosch Center for Tumor Diseases (RBCT), Robert Bosch Hospital, Stuttgart, Germany, ⁴Lungenzentrum Osnabrueck, Franziskus-Hospital Harderberg, Georgsmarienhütte, Germany, ⁵Lung Cancer Network NOWEL.org, Oldenburg, Germany, ⁶Molecular Pathology, Institute of Hematopathology Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany, ⁷Department of Pulmonology, Thoraxzentrum Offenbach, Sana Klinikum Offenbach, Offenbach, Germany, ⁸Oncology, Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma GmbH & Co. KG, Ingelheim, Germany, ⁹Hemato-Oncology Hamburg, Germany

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) represent first-line standard of care in unresectable EGFR mutation-positive (EGFRm+) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). However, 10–20% of patients with EGFRm+ NSCLC have uncommon EGFR variants, defined as mutations other than L858R substitutions or exon 19 deletions. NSCLC harboring uncommon EGFR mutations may demonstrate lower sensitivity to targeted agents than NSCLC with L858R or exon 19 deletion mutations. Prospective clinical trial data in patients with NSCLC uncommon EGFR mutations are lacking. Afatinib is a second-generation TKI and the only Food and Drug Administrationapproved drug for some of the more prevalent uncommon EGFR mutations. We present a series of seven case reports describing clinical outcomes in afatinibtreated patients with NSCLC harboring a diverse range of extremely rare mutations with or without co-mutations affecting other genes. EGFR alterations included compound mutations, P-loop aC-helix compressing mutations, and novel substitution mutations. We also present a case with NSCLC harboring a novel EGFR::CCDC6 gene fusion. Overall, the patients responded well to afatinib, including radiologic partial responses in six patients during treatment. Responses were durable for three patients. The cases presented are in line with a growing body of clinical and preclinical evidence that indicating that NSCLC with various uncommon EGFR mutations, with or without co-mutations, may be sensitive to afatinib.

KEYWORDS

EGFR, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), afatinib, uncommon mutation, tyrosine kinase inhibitor

10.3389/fonc.2024.1347742

Introduction

Activating epidermal growth factor receptor (*EGFR*) mutations occur in 14–38% of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (1). EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) represent first-line standard of care in unresectable *EGFR* mutation-positive (*EGFR*m+) disease (2). Most *EGFR*m+ NSCLC is driven by the so-called classical or common *EGFR* mutations: L858R or exon 19 deletions (Del19) (3). Approximately 10–20% of *EGFR*m+ NSCLC cases harbor uncommon *EGFR* mutations, defined as activating *EGFR* mutations other than L858R and Del19 (3–5). Different variants demonstrate varying sensitivity to EGFR TKIs, and uncommon *EGFR* mutations; therefore, precise characterization of uncommon *EGFR* mutations is important to optimize treatment strategies (4).

The most prevalent uncommon *EGFR* variants in NSCLC are S768I, L861Q, and G719X, for which the preferred first-line treatments in advanced disease are afatinib or osimertinib (6–9). Afatinib is the only U.S. Food and Drug Administration-approved drug against S768I, L861Q, and G719X *EGFR* mutations with demonstrated efficacy in prospective clinical studies (10). Little prospective data exist for uncommon mutations; however, retrospective studies (7, 11–15) and databases (11, 16–18) provide some insight. Novel mutations continue to be identified that have no available clinical data to guide treatment decisions.

A recent preclinical investigation defined a structure-based classification system that permitted prediction of sensitivity to different generations of EGFR TKIs (first generation: erlotinib, gefitinib; second generation: afatinib, dacomitinib; third generation: osimertinib) (4). "Classical-like" mutations (e.g. L858R; Del19; S720P; L861Q/R) were predicted to be sensitive to all generations of EGFR TKI; "T790M-like" mutations (e.g. T790M; certain T790M-containing compound mutations) were predicted to be sensitive to third-generation EGFR TKIs; exon 20 insertions (e.g. S768dupSVD; A767dupASV) were predicted to be sensitive to exon 20 insertion-targeted compounds and second-generation EGFR TKIs; and P-loop aC-helix compressing (PACC) mutations (e.g. G719X; S768I; delE709_T710insD, and other uncommon EGFR mutations were predicted to be particularly sensitive to secondgeneration EGFR TKIs (4). PACC mutations occur across exons 18–21 and alter the orientation of the P-loop or α C-helix of EGFR, affecting interactions with certain TKIs. Second-generation TKIs do not interact with the P-loop of EGFR and are therefore predicted to have greater activity against PACC mutations than other generations of EGFR TKI (4). Some retrospective data support this prediction (4).

Treatment decisions can be very challenging in patients with NSCLC with multiple *EGFR* mutations (compound mutation) or uncommon *EGFR* mutations co-occurring with other gene alterations in the tumor. Treatment might be dependent on which mutation has the higher allele frequency (19) or which other cancer-related genes have co-occurring mutations (20, 21). For example, *TP53*, the most commonly mutated gene in NSCLC, co-occurs in ~65% of cases of *EGFRm+* NSCLC, and has been

associated with poor prognosis and primary/acquired resistance to EGFR TKIs (22-27).

This case series describes outcomes of patients with NSCLC harboring uncommon *EGFR* mutations who received afatinib. Cases were collected during routine clinical treatment across six centers in Germany between 2017 and 2023.

Case descriptions

Patients with an *EGFR* PACC mutation as part of a compound mutation

Case 1: G719A/L833F

After presenting with a cough, a 58-year-old female with a history of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation and hemangioma was diagnosed with lung adenocarcinoma (stage IB) in May 2017, and underwent resection of the left upper lobe and lymphadenectomy. In August 2017, a single symptomatic metastasis to the third lumbar spine vertebrae with infiltration of the major psoas was detected. The patient received radiotherapy and began treatment with denosumab (120 mg every 4 weeks; Figure 1A). However, in September 2017, a new abdominal lesion next to the left lobe of the liver was reported. The patient refused biopsy to confirm diagnosis of distant metastases. Hybrid capture next-generation sequencing (NGS) of the initially resected tumor tissue identified a novel compound EGFR mutation, comprising two substitution mutations on exons 18 (G719A, a PACC mutation) and 21 (L833F, a classical-like mutation). A TP53 point inactivating mutation (p.T140 frame shift [non-activating mutation]) was also detected.

The patient began treatment with first-line afatinib, 40 mg once per day (QD), in September 2017. In November 2017, following grade 3 diarrhea, grade 2–3 stomatitis, and rhagades of the fingers, the dose of afatinib was reduced to 30 mg QD.

The patient achieved complete remission of the abdominal lesion, with the response lasting 28 months. Metastases were detected in the left adrenal gland in January 2020. In February 2020, the patient underwent adrenalectomy (R1) followed by radiotherapy and continued afatinib treatment. Disease was stable until June 2020.

In August 2020, disease progression was observed in the area of the former adrenal gland. Urinary retention was treated with a double J-tumor stent and the patient experienced urosepsis (*Proteus mirabilis*, two events) and nephroptosis. Following local progression and subsequent left nephrectomy in October 2020, afatinib therapy was terminated in December 2020, and the patient received second-line therapy with carboplatin/paclitaxel, atezolizumab, and bevacizumab. The total duration of afatinib treatment was 35 months.

Case 2: G719A/L861R

A 71-year-old male with a history of polymyalgia rheumatica consulted his general practitioner with concerns relating to a family history of cancer. In May 2021, elevated serum tumor markers were



Cancer Control.

reported, and the patient was subsequently diagnosed with NSCLC (stage IVB; programmed death-ligand 1 [PD-L1]: 1%; pulmonary and bone metastases) (Figure 1B). NGS (QIAseq Custom Lung Panel, Qiagen) identified a novel compound mutation comprising substitution mutations on exon 18 (G719A, PACC) and exon 21 (L861R, classical-like).

The patient began treatment in May 2021, with first-line afatinib (30 mg QD) plus denosumab (120 mg every 4 weeks).

Following presentation with exanthem (June/July 2021, treated with topical corticosteroid) and diarrhea (August 2021, treated with loperamide), the dose of afatinib was reduced to weekly alternation of 20/30 mg.

Partial responses (PRs) were reported in June, July, and August 2021. After approximately 5 months on treatment, stable disease (SD) was reported. However, afatinib was terminated in October 2021 owing to intolerable adverse events (AEs), and osimertinib

(80 mg QD) was initiated. Progressive disease (PD) was reported in January 2022, which resulted in discontinuation of osimertinib and initiation of pemetrexed and carboplatin treatment.

Patients with PACC exon 18 deletion insertion mutations

Case 3: delE709_T710insN

A 64-year-old male presented with persistent cough. A computerized tomography (CT) scan revealed pulmonary nodules on both sides of the lung, and following a biopsy by bronchoscopy the patient was diagnosed with thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF1)-positive adenocarcinoma (stage IA) in May 2010, with resection in the same month (Figure 2A). Relevant comorbidities included arterial hypertension, treated with candesartan (32 mg). In June 2019, aged 73 years, he was diagnosed with bilateral pulmonary metastases (TTF1-positive adenocarcinoma), following biopsy by bronchoscopy. NGS detected an uncommon *EGFR* exon 18 deletion insertion mutation (delE709_T710insN), classified as PACC (4).

The patient began first-line afatinib (30 mg QD) in October 2019. Following emergence of grade 3 diarrhea, afatinib was paused and the patient was treated with loperamide and hydration until symptoms had resolved. Following grade 1 paronychia, the dose of afatinib was reduced to 20 mg QD. No further AEs occurred.

The patient achieved a best response of PR after 3 months of treatment with afatinib. The patient reported good quality of life with no clinical symptoms of disease. Afatinib was continued for 27 months and was discontinued in January 2022 at the patient's request. In May 2023, progression of the lung metastases was observed following a CT scan. Afatinib was resumed and PR was observed in July 2023. As of September 2023, the patient remains symptom free.

Case 4: delE709_T710insD

A 64-year-old female was diagnosed with NSCLC (stage IVB) in November 2017 during workup of a painful pathologic fracture in the 8th thoracic vertebra (Figure 2B). Radiologic imaging revealed a central tumor of the left lower lung lobe, as well as additional bone and brain metastases. Relevant comorbidities included arterial hypertension, chronic bronchitis, osteoporosis, and gastritis. NGS identified delE709_T710insD with a co-occurring *CD274/PD-L1* mutation (P146R).

The patient received whole-brain radiotherapy from November to December 2017, with palliative radiotherapy (thoracic spine, lumbar, 20 Gy, 5 Gy/fraction) in November 2017. The patient began first-line erlotinib (150 mg QD) plus intravenous zoledronic acid (4 mg every 3 weeks) in December 2017. Following PD in May 2018, treatment was discontinued in June. The patient received secondline afatinib (40 mg QD) starting in June 2018, and achieved a PR in



FIGURE 2

Cases 3 and 4. (PACC exon 18 deletion insertion mutation) (A) Timeline of Case 3. Afatinib was discontinued in January 2022 at the patient's request. In May 2023, progression of the lung metastases was observed following a CT scan. Afatinib was resumed and PR was observed in July 2023. As of September 2023, the patient remains symptom free. (B) Timeline of Case 4. *Nov 2017: palliative RT (thoracic spine, lumbar, Os publis left [5 Gy/ Fraction]. WBRT: Nov-Dec 2017. Zoledronic acid: Dec 2017–Jun 2018. First-line treatment with erlotinib: Dec 2017–Jun 2018. Second-line treatment with afatinib: Jun–Sep 2018. AE, adverse event; G, grade; NGS, next-generation sequencing; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PACC, P-loop and α C-helix compressing; PD, progressive disease; PR, partial response; Q3W, every 3 weeks; RT, radiotherapy; TTF-1, thyroid transcription factor-1; WBRT, whole brain radiotherapy. July 2018. Subsequently, the patient experienced pneumonitis probably related to preceding radiotherapy of the thoracic spine, leading to death in September 2018 after approximately 3 months on treatment.

Rare substitution mutations

Case 5: H988R substitution

A 74-year-old male presenting with weight loss was diagnosed with NSCLC (stage IVA, with pulmonary and pleural metastases) in February 2018 (Figure 3A). Relevant comorbidities included arterial hypertension, non-erosive reflux disease, chronic hepatitis C infection, hiatal hernia, and other gastrointestinal conditions. NGS testing confirmed a rare *EGFR* exon 25 mutation, H988R, with co-occurring *TP53* and *CDKN2A* mutations.

First-line treatment with afatinib (40 mg QD) started April 2018 and a PR was reported in August 2018. In January 2020, afatinib treatment was paused for 2 weeks because of diarrhea, rash, and neutropenia, and then restarted at a dose of 30 mg QD. The dose of afatinib was further reduced to 20 mg QD in February 2020. PR was maintained until at least February 2021 (date of last imaging). The patient deteriorated clinically without tumor progression and died in July 2021. Total duration on afatinib was 39 months; no other treatment was reported.

Case 6: Q982K substitution

In September 2018, an asymptomatic 65-year-old male with a history of arterial hypertension, latent diabetes mellitus, and degenerative spinal syndrome, was diagnosed with NSCLC (stage IIIA/IV) following magnetic resonance imaging examination of the cervical spine (Figure 3B); suspicious enlargement of the left adrenal gland was also observed. Positron emission tomography-CT standardized uptake values were 11–15 for the primary lung tumor and mediastinal lymph nodes, and four for the left adrenal gland. After discussion with the interdisciplinary tumor board, it was agreed to treat the patient according to stage III disease management practice and continue to monitor the left adrenal gland with serial imaging. Molecular testing confirmed a novel point mutation in *EGFR* exon 24 (Q982K) with co-occurring *TP53*, *CDKN2A*, and *PDGFRA* mutations.

Cisplatin (80 mg/m² day 1 every 3 weeks) plus vinorelbine (25 mg/m² day 1 and day 8 every 3 weeks), was initiated in October 2018. An episode of tinnitus prompted a switch from cisplatin to carboplatin (AUC 5) from cycle 2. Sequential radiotherapy (60 Gy) began in January 2019. Best overall response to chemoradiotherapy was SD in March 2019.

Cerebellar metastases were detected in April 2019, and were resected in the same month, followed by whole-brain radiotherapy in May 2019. The patient received second-line afatinib (40 mg QD) starting in May 2019. Despite a stable thoracic tumor, new liver



Cases 5 and 6 (novel substitution mutations) (A) Timeline of Case 5. (B) Timeline of Case 6. *whole brain radiotherapy. *CDKN2A*, cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A; *EGFR*, epidermal growth factor receptor; NGS, next-generation sequencing; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PD, progressive disease; PR, partial response; QD, each day; RT, radiotherapy; SD, stable disease; *TP53*, tumor protein 53.

lesions were detected in July 2019 and afatinib treatment was terminated. The total duration of afatinib treatment was 2 months.

EGFR fusion

Case 7: EGFR::CCDC6 fusion

A 56-year-old female ex-smoker (until 2005, 20 pack-years) with a history of bronchial asthma who presented with pleural effusion affecting the left thorax was diagnosed with stage IVB (UICC) adenocarcinoma NSCLC (primary lesion left lower lobe) in November 2022 (TTF-1-positive, *CK7* positive, Ki-67 score: 70%; PD-L1 Tumor Proportion Score 0%, PD-L1 immune cells 0%; cT3 pN2 cM1a [pleural, pulmonary, osseus, and cervical lymph nodes]). First-line treatment (carboplatin/pemetrexed/pembrolizumab \pm vibostolimab/denusomab) as part of the KeyVibe-007 trial (EUDRA-CT: 2021-004564-94) began in January 2023 (Figure 4). At restaging in May 2023, multiple new bilateral pulmonary metastases were detected and participation in the trial ended.

Molecular testing (Archer FusionPlex Lung Panel) in January 2023 detected an *EGFR* exon 24::*CCDC6* (coiled-coil domain containing 6) exon 2 fusion. Treatment with second-line afatinib 30 mg QD began in June 2023. Regression of the primary lesion and complete resolution of pulmonary metastases were observed after 4 weeks. Treatment and response are ongoing.

Discussion

This report describes outcomes with afatinib in NSCLC with a diverse range of extremely rare *EGFR* alterations found in routine clinical practice (Supplementary Figure 1). Five patients harbored rare aberrations that, to the best of our knowledge, have not been previously described in literature. Four patients had known PACC mutations either in isolation or as part of a compound *EGFR* mutation. Two patients had PACC mutations with co-occurring mutations in *TP53* or *PDGFRA*. One patient had an *EGFR* gene fusion, a rare type of driver event. Overall, these patients responded well to afatinib (Supplementary Table 1), consistent with preclinical modelling (4) and previous studies of afatinib treatment in patients with uncommon mutations (11, 28).

Cases 1 and 2 involved compound mutations comprising PACC and classical-like mutations which both responded to afatinib. Case 1 had a durable response to afatinib despite the presence of a cooccurring *TP53* mutation plus a novel compound *EGFR* mutation, that included substitution mutations on exons 18 (G719A; a PACC mutation) and 21 (L833F; a classical-like mutation). Cases 3 and 4 exhibited PACC exon 18 deletion insertion mutations, and both patients had a clinical response to afatinib treatment, including a long (>2 years) response reported for Case 3. Case 4 also harbored a concomitant *CD274/PD-L1* mutation, which we believe has not previously been described. Accumulating evidence indicates that delE709_T710insD is sensitive to afatinib and does not appear to be affected by the concomitant mutation. Cases 5 and 6 had *EGFR* substitution mutations in exon 25 (H988R) and exon 24 (Q982K), respectively; situated in the cytoplasmic region C-terminal domain, beyond the tyrosine kinase domain. Mutations here may destabilize receptor conformation, potentially causing upregulation of kinase activity and irregular downstream signaling (29). Both had co-occurring mutations in other genes, which are known to be prognostic biomarkers (23, 30–32). In Cases 5 and 6, prolonged survival was observed with first-line afatinib. In Case 7, the patient with the fusion, a dramatic response was observed in response to second-line afatinib. It is currently unknown how these rare mutations, and the *EGFR*::*CCDC6* fusion, align with the structure-based classification system (4), highlighting the difficulty associated with making treatment decisions for patients with novel mutations.

The selection of optimal treatment for patients with rare or compound EGFR mutations is often complex. Previous case reports describe compound mutations comprising substitution mutations classified as PACC and classical-like that respond to TKIs (33, 34). We found only one other report of a L833F-containing mutation, in which a patient with an L833F/L861Q mutation also achieved durable PR in response to first-line afatinib (progression-free survival [PFS]: 10 months) and clinical benefit to later-line osimertinib (34). A previous review briefly mentions the patient described in Case 5 with the H988R substitution (35). The review also mentions an additional patient with an H988R mutation who did not respond to afatinib treatment (35). While the recent structure-based classification system (4) has provided helpful information regarding predicted sensitivities of uncommon mutations, the sensitivities of rare compound mutations and the influence of co-occurring mutations remain difficult to predict in the absence of prospective clinical trials. Treatment decisions for these patients requires careful consideration.

Previous case reports of *EGFR* PACC insertion deletion mutations in NSCLC indicate sensitivity to afatinib and other EGFR TKIs (gefitinib, erlotinib) (36–38), including a 23-month PFS response with afatinib (37). Case 4 achieved a PR with afatinib after PD on erlotinib, which is also consistent with a previous case study where clinical benefit with afatinib following prior erlotinib treatment was reported (39). We have identified 16 reports of patients with a delE709_T710insD mutation who received EGFR TKIs (16), and consistent with the preclinical modelling (4), delE709_T710insD-mutated NSCLC appears to be more sensitive to afatinib than first-generation TKIs. In a review of 14 cases, PFS was significantly improved with afatinib compared with first-generation TKIs (median 7.0 *vs.* 3.1 months; p = 0.005) and all patients receiving afatinib achieved a PR (36).

Although *EGFR* gene fusions are rare, clinical responses in *EGFR* fusion-driven tumors have been reported with EGFR TKIs (40, 41). The *EGFR*::*CCDC6* fusion is novel, to our knowledge; however *CCDC6*-tyrosine kinase fusions (for example with *ALK*, *ROS1*, or *RET*), are recognized–and druggable–driver events in lung cancer (42). The durable response in this patient reinforces the importance of testing for fusion driver events, as this important class of somatic alteration can underly disease sensitive to targeted agents.

The interplay between *EGFR* alterations and co-occurring mutations in different genes represents a new frontier for NSCLC clinical research. In our case series, three patients had co-mutations



in TP53, two had co-mutations in CDKN2A, and one had overexpression of PD-L1, plus a co-mutation affecting, CD274/ PD-L1. These alterations occur commonly in patients with EGFRm+ NSCLC and have been associated with poor prognosis and resistance to TKIs (23, 30-32). However, in our case series, comutations did not prevent patients gaining benefit from afatinib treatment. Two patients with co-occurring TP53 mutations exhibited prolonged time on treatment (35 and 39 months), durable response to afatinib was observed in one of the two patients with CDKN2A mutations (both patients with substitution mutations), and a PR was observed in the patient with a CD274/PD-L1 mutation. Decisions about the initial treatment of NSCLC with uncommon EGFR mutations have key importance for the subsequent course and should be made carefully based on published evidence about TKI efficacy, as this can vary widely according to the specific mutation (43), and real-world data indicate that approximately 30-35% of patients do not receive treatment after the first line (44).

Reports of NSCLC with TKI-sensitive uncommon EGFR mutations may also prompt further clinical trial research in this setting; however, if clinical practice is to evolve, obstacles in terms of mutation testing must also be overcome. Current guidelines recommend that broad molecular profiling should be carried out for all patients diagnosed with NSCLC, which generally means NGS-based testing (9, 45). Globally, rates of molecular profiling in lung cancer patients are below 50% with a wide regional variation (46); financial constraints, quality and standardization of testing, access to testing, awareness, and turnaround times have all been cited as barriers to testing. Furthermore, some commonly used testing panels may miss uncommon mutations or those occurring outside of Exons 19, 20, and 21 (47, 48). Advances in testing strategies and methodologies have the potential to improve molecular profiling in NSCLC; these include the adoption of the structure-based classification system into testing panels and the use of liquid biopsy as a rapid, non-invasive means of assaying genomic profiles (49). Liquid biopsy may be particularly useful for

monitoring temporal changes in mutation and biomarker status and is already in use to detect resistance to EGFR TKIs (50).

Integration of classification systems and real-world evidence may support future treatment decisions in patients with uncommon *EGFR*m+ NSCLC. Better understanding of the impact of cooccurring mutations is required. Patients with uncommon *EGFR* mutations are now being included in several ongoing randomized clinical trials assessing the efficacy and safety of EGFR TKIs in NSCLC (51–54). In a recent analysis of the phase III ACHILLES trial in treatment-naive patients with uncommon or compound *EGFR* mutations, PFS with afatinib (10.6 months) was significantly longer than with platinum-based chemotherapy (5.7 months; hazard ratio: 0.422, p = 0.0007), supporting the use of first-line EGFR TKIs in this setting (55).

Conclusion

These cases corroborate the clinical and preclinical evidence that certain uncommon *EGFR* mutations are sensitive to afatinib. This series illustrates the importance of further study in this area and the need for publicly available mutation databases to support prescribing decisions in the absence of prospective clinical trial data for patients with rare mutations.

Data availability statement

The datasets generated and analyzed during the study are available from author AS on reasonable request. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to AS: https://anja. stammberger@boehringer-ingelheim.com.

Ethics statement

Ethical approval was not required for the studies involving humans because Manuscript details a collection of case studies from patients treated in routine practice, not results for a formal study. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article. Written informed consent was obtained from the participant/patient(s) for the publication of this case report.

Author contributions

PC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. FH: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. PH: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. MF: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. MT: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. H-GK: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. AA: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. AS: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. EL: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The case series report was supported and funded by Boehringer Ingelheim.

Acknowledgments

We thank the patients, their families, and all the investigators who participated in these studies. Medical writing support was provided by Jim Sinclair, PhD, of Ashfield Medcomms, an Inizio company, and funded by Boehringer Ingelheim.

Conflict of interest

AS is a current employee of Boehringer Ingelheim. PC reports research funding from Amgen, AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Novartis, Roche, Takeda, and advisory board/lecture fees from AstraZeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Chugai, Daiichi Sankyo, Gilead, Janssen, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Takeda, and Thermo Fisher.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1347742/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Zhang YL, Yuan JQ, Wang KF, Fu XH, Han XR, Threapleton D, et al. The prevalence of EGFR mutation in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:78985–93. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12587

2. Hsu WH, Yang JC, Mok TS, Loong HH. Overview of current systemic management of EGFR-mutant NSCLC. Ann Oncol. (2018) 29:i3-9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx702

3. Zhang T, Wan B, Zhao Y, Li C, Liu H, Lv T, et al. Treatment of uncommon EGFR mutations in non-small cell lung cancer: new evidence and treatment. *Transl Lung Cancer Res.* (2019) 8:302–16. doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2019.04.12

4. Robichaux JP, Le X, Vijayan RSK, Hicks JK, Heeke S, Elamin YY, et al. Structurebased classification predicts drug response in EGFR-mutant NSCLC. *Nature*. (2021) 597:732–7. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03898-1

5. Evans M, O'Sullivan B, Smith M, Hughes F, Mullis T, Trim N, et al. Large-scale EGFR mutation testing in clinical practice: analysis of a series of 18,920 non-small cell lung cancer cases. *Pathol Oncol Res.* (2019) 25:1401–9. doi: 10.1007/s12253-018-0460-2

6. Yang JC, Sequist LV, Geater SL, Tsai CM, Mok TS, Schuler M, et al. Clinical activity of afatinib in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring uncommon EGFR mutations: a combined *post-hoc* analysis of LUX-Lung 2, LUX-Lung 3, and LUX-Lung 6. *Lancet Oncol.* (2015) 16:830–8. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15) 00026-1

7. Cho JH, Lim SH, An HJ, Kim KH, Park KU, Kang EJ, et al. Osimertinib for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harboring uncommon EGFR mutations: a multicenter, open-label, phase II trial (KCSG-LU15-09). J Clin Oncol. (2020) 38:488–95. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.00931

8. Leitlinienprogramm Onkologie. S3-leitlinie prävention, diagnostik, therapie und nachsorge des lungenkarzinoms (2022). Available at: https://www.leitlinienprogramm-onkologie.de/leitlinien/lungenkarzinom/ (Accessed February, 2023).

9. Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Aisner DL, Akerley W, Bauman JR, Bharat A, et al. Nonsmall cell lung cancer, Version 3.2022, NCCN Clinical practice guidelines in oncology. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw.* (2022) 20:497–530. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2022.0025

10. Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH. GILOTRIF[®] (afatinib) tablets, for oral use. Highlights of prescribing information (2018). Available at: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2018/201292s014lbl.pdf (Accessed February, 2022).

11. Yang JC, Schuler M, Popat S, Miura S, Park K, Passaro A, et al. Afatinib for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer harboring uncommon EGFR mutations: an updated database of 1023 cases brief report. *Front Oncol.* (2022) 12:834704. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.834704

12. Eide IJZ, Stensgaard S, Helland A, Ekman S, Mellemgaard A, Hansen KH, et al. Osimertinib in non-small cell lung cancer with uncommon EGFR-mutations: a *posthoc* subgroup analysis with pooled data from two phase II clinical trials. *Transl Lung Cancer Res.* (2022) 11:953–63. doi: 10.21037/tlcr-21-995

13. Bar J, Peled N, Schokrpur S, Wolner M, Rotem O, Girard N, et al. UNcommon EGFR mutations: International Case series on efficacy of osimertinib in Real-life practice in first liNe setting (UNICORN). *J Thorac Oncol.* (2023) 18(2):169–180. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2022.10.004

14. Pizzutilo EG, Cerea G, Oresti S, Agostara AG, Signorelli D, Stabile S, et al. 996P -Activity of osimertinib in NSCLC with uncommon EGFR mutations: retrospective observational multicenter study (ARTICUNO). *Ann Oncol.* (2022) 33:S448–554. doi: 10.1016/annonc/annonc1064

15. Janning M, Süptitz J, Albers-Leischner C, Delpy P, Tufman A, Velthaus-Rusik JL, et al. Treatment outcome of atypical EGFR mutations in the German National Network Genomic Medicine Lung Cancer (nNGM). *Ann Oncol.* (2022) 33:602–15. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2022.02.225

16. Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH. Uncommon EGFR mutations. Available at: https://www.uncommonegfrmutations.com (Accessed January, 2023).

17. Vanderbilt-Ingram Cancer Center. My cancer genome (R) genetically informed cancer medicine. Available at: https://www.mycancergenome.org/ (Accessed January, 2023).

18. Chakravarty D, Gao J, Phillips SM, Kundra R, Zhang H, Wang J, et al. OncoKB: a precision oncology knowledge base. *JCO Precis Oncol.* (2017) 1:1–16. doi: 10.1200/PO.17.00011

19. Friedlaender A, Tsantoulis P, Chevallier M, De Vito C, Addeo A. The impact of variant allele frequency in EGFR mutated NSCLC patients on targeted therapy. *Front Oncol.* (2021) 11:644472. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.644472

20. Rosell R, Karachaliou N. Co-mutations in EGFR driven non-small cell lung cancer. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 42:18–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.03.037

21. Zhang Y, Li S, Lyu Z, Cai J, Zheng N, Li Y, et al. The co-mutation of EGFR and tumor-related genes leads to a worse prognosis and a higher level of tumor mutational burden in Chinese non-small cell lung cancer patients. *J Thorac Dis.* (2022) 14:185–93. doi: 10.21037/jtd-21-1921

22. Jiao XD, Qin BD, You P, Cai J, Zang YS. The prognostic value of TP53 and its correlation with EGFR mutation in advanced non-small cell lung cancer, an analysis

based on cBioPortal data base. *Lung Cancer.* (2018) 123:70–5. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan. 2018.07.003

23. Canale M, Andrikou K, Priano I, Cravero P, Pasini L, Urbini M, et al. The role of TP53 mutations in EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer: clinical significance and implications for therapy. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2022) 14:1143. doi: 10.3390/ cancers14051143

24. Roeper J, Falk M, Chalaris-Rissmann A, Lueers AC, Ramdani H, Wedeken K, et al. TP53 co-mutations in EGFR mutated patients in NSCLC stage IV: a strong predictive factor of ORR, PFS and OS in EGFR mt+ NSCLC. *Oncotarget.* (2020) 11:250–64. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.27430

25. Jung S, Kim DH, Choi YJ, Kim SY, Park H, Lee H, et al. Contribution of p53 in sensitivity to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:19667. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-99267-z

26. Qin K, Hou H, Liang Y, Zhang X. Prognostic value of TP53 concurrent mutations for EGFR- TKIs and ALK-TKIs based targeted therapy in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. *BMC Cancer.* (2020) 20:328. doi: 10.1186/s12885-020-06805-5

27. Heredia D, Mas L, Cardona AF, Oyervides V, Motta Guerrero R, Galvez-Nino M, et al. A high number of co-occurring genomic alterations detected by NGS is associated with worse clinical outcomes in advanced EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma: data from LATAM population. *Lung Cancer.* (2022) 174:133–40. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2022.11.002

28. Yang JC, Schuler M, Popat S, Miura S, Heeke S, Park K, et al. Afatinib for the treatment of NSCLC harboring uncommon EGFR mutations: a database of 693 cases. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2020) 15:803–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.12.126

29. Amelia T, Kartasasmita RE, Ohwada T, Tjahjono DH. Structural insight and development of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Molecules*. (2022) 27:819. doi: 10.3390/molecules27030819

30. Chang SC, Lai YC, Chang CY, Huang LK, Chen SJ, Tan KT, et al. Concomitant genetic alterations are associated with worse clinical outcome in EGFR mutant NSCLC patients treated with tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Transl Oncol.* (2019) 12:1425–31. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2019.07.008

31. Bai Y, Chen X, Hou L, Qian J, Jiang T, Zhou C, et al. PD-L1 expression and its effect on clinical outcomes of EGFR-mutant NSCLC patients treated with EGFR-TKIs. *Cancer Biol Med.* (2018) 15:434–42. doi: 10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2018.0223

32. Christopoulos P, Kirchner M, Roeper J, Saalfeld F, Janning M, Bozorgmehr F, et al. Risk stratification of EGFR(+) lung cancer diagnosed with panel-based next-generation sequencing. *Lung Cancer*. (2020) 148:105–12. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan. 2020.08.007

33. Berge EM, Aisner DL, Doebele RC. Erlotinib response in an NSCLC patient with a novel compound G719D+L861R mutation in EGFR. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2013) 8:e83–4. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e31829ceb8d

34. Zhang Y, Shen JQ, Shao L, Chen Y, Lei L, Wang JL. Non-small-cell lung cancer with epidermal growth factor receptor L861Q-L833F compound mutation benefits from both afatinib and osimertinib: a case report. *World J Clin cases.* (2021) 9:8220–5. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i27.8220

35. Volckmar AL, Christopoulos P, Kirchner M, Allgauer M, Neumann O, Budczies J, et al. Targeting rare and non-canonical driver variants in NSCLC - An uncharted clinical field. *Lung Cancer*. (2021) 154:131–41. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.02.022

36. Rubiera-Pebe R, Hicks JK, Tanvetyanon T. Efficacy of tyrosine kinase inhibitors against lung cancer with EGFR exon 18 deletion: case report and pooled analysis. *Cancer Treat Res Commun.* (2021) 28:100407. doi: 10.1016/j.ctarc.2021.100407

37. Wei Y, Cui Y, Guo Y, Li L, Zeng L. A lung adenocarcinoma patient with a rare EGFR E709_T710delinsD mutation showed a good response to afatinib treatment: a case report and literature review. *Front Oncol.* (2021) 11:700345. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2021.700345

38. An N, Wang H, Zhu H, Yan W, Jing W, Kong L, et al. Great efficacy of afatinib on a patient with lung adenocarcinoma harboring uncommon EGFR delE709_T710insD mutations: a case report. *Onco Targets Ther.* (2019) 12:7399-404. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S221638

39. Kobayashi Y, Togashi Y, Yatabe Y, Mizuuchi H, Jangchul P, Kondo C, et al. EGFR exon 18 mutations in lung cancer: molecular predictors of augmented sensitivity to afatinib or neratinib as compared with first- or third-generation TKIs. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:5305–13. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1046

40. Copia Sperandio R, Luiza Teixeira Tostes F, Vidal Campregher P, Ribeiro Paes V, Moura F, Schvartsman G. EGFR-RAD51 fusion in lung adenocarcinoma with systemic and intracranial response to osimertinib: a case report and review of the literature. *Lung Cancer.* (2022) 166:94–7. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2022.02.006

41. Geoerger B, Marshall LV, Nysom K, Makin G, Bouffet E, Defachelles AS, et al. Afatinib in paediatric patients with recurrent/refractory ErbB-dysregulated tumours: results of a phase I/expansion trial. *Eur J Cancer*. (2023) 188:8–19. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejca.2023.04.007

42. Cerrato A, Visconti R, Celetti A. The rationale for druggability of CCDC6-tyrosine kinase fusions in lung cancer. *Mol Cancer*. (2018) 17:46. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0799-8

43. Kohsaka S, Nagano M, Ueno T, Suehara Y, Hayashi T, Shimada N, et al. A method of high-throughput functional evaluation of EGFR gene variants of unknown significance in cancer. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9:eaan6566. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan6566

44. Magios N, Bozorgmehr F, Volckmar AL, Kazdal D, Kirchner M, Herth FJ, et al. Real-world implementation of sequential targeted therapies for EGFR-mutated lung cancer. *Ther Adv Med Oncol.* (2021) 13:1–13. doi: 10.1177/1758835921996509

45. Lindeman NI, Cagle PT, Aisner DL, Arcila ME, Beasley MB, Bernicker EH, et al. Updated molecular testing guideline for the selection of lung cancer patients for treatment with targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitors: Guideline from the College of American Pathologists, the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, and the Association for Molecular Pathology. J Thorac Oncol. (2018) 13:323–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.12.001

46. Smeltzer MP, Wynes MW, Lantuejoul S, Soo R, Ramalingam SS, Varella-Garcia M, et al. The International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer global survey on molecular testing in lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2020) 15:1434–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.05.002

47. FoundationOne CDx. Available at: https://www.foundationmedicine.com/test/foundationone-cdx.

48. . Oncomine Dx. Available at: https://assets.thermofisher.com/TFS-Assets/CSD/ Flyers/odxtt-eu-oncologist-flyer.pdf.

49. Leighl NB, Page RD, Raymond VM, Daniel DB, Divers SG, Reckamp KL, et al. Clinical utility of comprehensive cell-free DNA analysis to identify genomic biomarkers in patients with newly diagnosed metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:4691–700. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0624

50. Guibert N, Pradines A, Favre G, Mazieres J. Current and future applications of liquid biopsy in nonsmall cell lung cancer from early to advanced stages. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2020) 29:190052. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0052-2019

51. Study of furmonertinib in patients with advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with activating, including uncommon, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) or human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) mutations (2023). Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05364073 (Accessed May, 2023).

52. Dacomitinib in lung cancer with uncommon EGFR mutations (2022). Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04504071 (Accessed May, 2023).

53. Almonertinib as upfront treatment for uncommon EGFR mutation harboring non-small-ell lung cancer patients: a multicenter, open-label, phase II trial (AUTUMN) (2020). Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04553887 (Accessed May, 2023).

54. Lazertinib for patients with NSCLC harboring uncommon EGFR mutations (LU21-16) (2022). Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05277701 (Accessed May, 2023).

55. Miura S, Tanaka H, Misumi T, Yoshioka H, Kurata T, Tokito T, et al. LBA66 Afatinib versus chemotherapy for treatment-naiive non-small cell lung cancer with a sensitizing uncommon epidermal growth factor receptor mutation: a phase III study (ACHILLES/TORG1834). *Ann Oncol.* (2023) 34:S1310–S1. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc. 2023.10.067

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Santiago Viteri, Clínica Mi Tres Torres, Spain

REVIEWED BY Tetsuya S. Tanaka, Elixirgen Scientific, Inc., United States Feng Jiang, Fudan University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Baidurula Ainitu M 13899939702@139.com

RECEIVED 14 December 2023 ACCEPTED 08 May 2024 PUBLISHED 24 May 2024

CITATION

Abudereheman M, Lian Z and Ainitu B (2024) Weighted gene co-expression network analysis and whole genome sequencing identify potential lung cancer biomarkers. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1355527. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1355527

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Abudereheman, Lian and Ainitu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Weighted gene co-expression network analysis and whole genome sequencing identify potential lung cancer biomarkers

Mireguli Abudereheman, Zhengjun Lian and Baidurula Ainitu*

Oncology Department, The Eighth Affiliated Hospital of XinJiang Medical University, Urumqi, China

Background: Tuberculosis (TB) leads to an increased risk of lung cancer (LC). However, the carcinogenetic mechanism of TB remains unclear. We constructed gene co-expression networks and carried out whole-exome sequencing (WES) to identify key modules, hub genes, and the most recurrently mutated genes involved in the pathogenesis of TB-associated LC.

Methods: The data used in this study were obtained from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) and WES. First, we screened LC-related genes in GSE43458 and TB-related genes in GSE83456 by weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA). Subsequently, we screened differentially expressed genes related to LC and TB in GSE42834. We also performed WES of 15 patients (TB, n = 5; LC, n = 5; TB+LC, n = 5), constructed mutational profiles, and identified differences in the profiles of the three groups for further investigation.

Results: We identified 278 hub genes associated with tumorigenesis of pulmonary TB. Moreover, WES identified 112 somatic mutations in 25 genes in the 15 patients. Finally, four common genes (EGFR, HSPA2, CECR2, and LAMA3) were confirmed in a Venn diagram of the 278 hub genes and the mutated genes from WES. KEGG analysis revealed various pathway changes. The PI3K–AKT signaling pathway was the most enriched pathway, and all four genes are included in this pathway. Thus, these four genes and the PI3K–AKT signaling pathway may play important roles in LC.

Conclusion: Several potential genes and pathways related to TB-associated LC were identified, including EGFR and three target genes not found in previous studies. These genes are related to cell proliferation, colony formation, migration, and invasion, and provide a direction for future research into the mechanisms of LC co-occurring with TB. The PI3K–AKT signaling pathway was also identified as a potential key pathway involved in LC development.

KEYWORDS

lung cancer, tuberculosis, co-expression, whole exome sequencing, EGFR

Introduction

Lung cancer (LC) is a leading cause of cancer-related deaths and a critical barrier to increasing life expectancy worldwide (1). Tuberculosis (TB) is one of the major deadly infectious diseases and remains a global public health threat (2). TB increases the risk of LC and affects the prognosis of LC patients. The incidence of lung cancers is approximately 11-fold higher in the cohort of patients with TB compared with non-tuberculosis subjects (26.3 versus 2.41 per 10,000 person-years) (3, 4). Several prospective and retrospective studies have suggested that TB is associated with an increased risk of lung cancer (5–7).

Early diagnosis bias and late treatment strategies for TB might be factors responsible for the high co-occurrence of TB and LC (8– 11). TB diagnosis is performed by QuantiFERON-TB Gold In-Tube tests as a gold standard (5, 12). Pulmonary comorbidities can considerably obscure LC symptoms and delay diagnosis, or may preclude a comprehensive diagnostic examination with adequate illness staging. The risk of LC should be assessed before starting treatment for TB, with the aim of preventing LC development. Therefore, there is an urgent need to explore signature genes closely associated with the development of LC to allow early diagnosis of the development of LC in TB patients.

Co-expression networks are useful to describe pairwise relationships between gene transcripts (13). Here, we used weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA) to calculate associations between gene significance (GS) and module membership (MM), analyze the correlation between modules to construct a weighted gene co-expression network, and merge differentially expressed genes (DEGs) with key module genes for functional analysis. By constructing the protein–protein interaction (PPI) network, we detected certain hub genes as key factors regulating the occurrence of LC.

For further research, 15 patients (TB, n = 5; LC, n = 5 (3 adenocarcinoma, 2 non-small cell lung cancer); TB+LC, n = 5) were recruited and whole-exome sequencing (WES) was performed on the primary fresh tissues. Mutational profiles of the 15 patients were constructed based on the sequencing data, and differences in the mutational profiles between the three groups of patients were investigated further. The combination of the WGCNA and the identified DEGs revealed four target hub genes (EGFR, HSPA2, CECR2, and LAMA3) that may be potential biomarkers for LC diagnosis and treatment.

Material and methods

Data information

The GSE43458, GSE83456, and GSE42834 datasets were obtained from NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) (https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/). GSE43458 consists of 80 lung cancer samples and 30 control samples run on an Affymetrix Human Gene 1.0 ST Array [HuGene-1_0-st]. GSE83456 contains 45 pulmonary tuberculosis samples and 61 control samples run on an Illumina HumanHT-12 V4.0 Expression BeadChip. GSE42834 contains 20 controls, eight patients with lung cancer, and 19 pulmonary tuberculosis patients, also run on an Illumina HumanHT-12 V4.0 Expression BeadChip. The R packages affy and annotate were used to process the raw data, make an expression matrix, and match probes to their gene symbol. The R package Limma was used to screen the DEGs based on the GSE42834 data. All DEGs were screened with q-value < 0.001 and |log2FC| > 0.5 as thresholds. The common differential genes in these results were selected for functional analysis.

Patient samples

This study was performed according to the Declaration of Helsinki (2013) of the World Medical Association. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committees of The Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region Chest Hospital (approval number 2021BAT011). Fresh primary tissues were collected from 15 pathologically confirmed patients undergoing surgery for lung cancer, pulmonary tuberculosis, or lung cancer combined with pulmonary tuberculosis at The Eighth Affiliated Hospital of XinJiang Medical University (Urumqi, China). Histological diagnosis of tumors was performed and confirmed by two pathologists. Samples were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C until further analysis. The clinicopathological features of the 15 patients are presented in Supplementary Table S5.

WGCNA construction

Based on the expression and clinical pathological data of the GSE43458 and GSE83456 datasets, the genes showing the top 60% variance were selected for weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA). This was used to calculate the correlation coefficients between genes for clustering and to construct a co-expression weighted network. The hierarchical clustering function was used to classify genes with similar expression profiles into modules based on the topological overlap matrix (TOM) dissimilarity with a minimum size of 30 for the gene dendrogram. The blue modules were significantly associated with TB, and the turquoise and yellow module were significantly associated with LC. The dissimilarity of module eigengenes (MEs) was calculated to choose a cut-off to merge some modules. Lastly, the network of eigengenes was also visualized.

Abbreviations: LC, lung cancer; TB, tuberculosis; WGCNA, weighted correlation network analysis; WES, Whole-Exome Sequencing; GEO, Gene Expression Omnibus; DEGs, differentially expressed genes; PPI, protein-protein interaction; MM, module membership; GS, gene significance; TOM, Topological overlap matrix; GO, Gene Ontology; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; BP, biological process; CC, cellular component; MF, molecular function.

Identification of clinically significant modules

To determine the appropriate modules, we computed the association between MEs and clinical traits. The log10 transformation of the P-value (GS = lgP) in the linear regression between gene expression and clinical data was then used to establish gene significance (GS). The average GS for every gene in a module was also defined as the module membership (MM). The module associated with a clinical feature was the one with the highest absolute MM ranking out of all the modules that were chosen.

Protein-protein interaction network analysis

The protein–protein interaction (PPI) network was constructed using the Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes (STRING) database (https://string-db.org), which covered almost all functional interactions between the expressed proteins, and interactions with a combined score greater than 0.4 were considered statistically significant. The results of this investigation were shown using Cytoscape software (version 3.7.0).

Enrichment analysis

The R packages clusterProfiler and org.Hs.eg.db were used for Gene Ontology (GO) functional enrichment and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analysis of the hub genes for all data.

DNA extraction and quality control

Genomic DNA (gDNA) was extracted from the recently frozen tissues using the QIAmp DNA Tissue Kit (TIANGEN, Beijing, China) following the manufacturer's instructions. The quantity and purity of the gDNA were assessed using a Qubit® 2.0 fluorometer (Thermon Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and a NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.). The fragmentation status was evaluated using the Agilent 2200 TapeStation system using the Genomic DNA ScreenTape assay (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) to produce a DNA integrity number. An additional quality control step to determine the DNA integrity was performed using a multiplex PCR approach.

Library preparation, hybridization capture, and amplification

A total of 300 ng of each gDNA sample, based on the Qubit quantification, was mechanically fragmented (duty factor, 10%; peak incident power, 175 W; cycles per burst, 200; treatment time, 240 s; bath temperature, 2–8°C) on an M220 focused ultrasonicator (Covaris, Inc.). The target DNA fragment size was 350 bp. Subsequently, 200 ng of sheared gDNA was used to perform end repair, A-tailing, and adapter ligation with a library preparation kit (Agilent Technologies, Inc.) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Subsequently, the libraries were captured using Agilent SureSelect XT custom 0.5–2.9M probes (Agilent Technologies, Inc.) and amplified. The captured libraries were sequenced on an Illumina NovaSeq 6000 PE150 (Illumina Inc.) for 2×150 paired end reads, using Cycle Sequencing v3 Reagents (Illumina).

Bioinformatics analysis

Clean data were obtained after filtering out the adapters and reads with a proportion of N > 10%, with N being the unidentified bases in the sequencing process, using fastp (fastp 0.20.0). Low-quality bases (Phred score < 15) were excised from the 3' ends of reads. Only sequenced samples with >80% of data with a quality score \geq Q30 (95% of base call accuracy) were used in the analysis. Reads with length < 50 bp after excision were removed. The clean data were mapped to the human reference genome (University of California Santa Cruz ID: hg38) using the Burrows-Wheeler Alignment algorithm (BWA 0.7.17). The alignment in SAM format was converted to BAM files using SAMtools (SAMtools 1.9.0). Next, the genome analysis toolkit (GATK; v4.0.2.1) was used for sorting, duplicate marking, and base recalibration. The final BAM files were analyzed using QualiMap v.2.2.1 to provide a global overview of the data, including mapped reads, mean mapping quality, and mean coverage. The variants (single nucleotide variants (SNV) and insertion-deletion mutations (InDels)) were called for unpaired tumor sequences with 40 pooled blood samples (from healthy individuals) using the GATK mutect2 tumor-only mode (parameter: af-alleles-not-in-resource, 0.00025%), and germline mutations and contaminations were filtered out using GATK FilterMutectCalls (parameter: max-germline-posterior, 0.995). Somatic variants were annotated using the ANNOVAR software tool.

The following filter conditions were used to identify candidate somatic alterations: i) all variations with COSMIC evidence (http:// cancer.sanger.ac.uk/cosmic) were retained; and ii) SNV acquisition conditions: (1) tumor samples require at least 10× coverage; (2) at least 5× coverage supports mutant alleles in tumor DNA; (3) mutant allele frequency (AF) \geq 0.05; and (4) genomic locations with mutant allele frequencies greater than 0.1% in the Thousand Genomes Project and Exome Aggregation Consortium (ExAC) were filtered out (AF \geq 0.001).

Statistical analysis

The mutational landscape across the cohort was created using the maftools package in R software (R 4.3.0, R Core Team; https:// www.R-Project.org). A cut-off value of an adjusted P-value (p.adjust) < 0.05 was used to identify significantly enriched terms.

Results

Weighted co-expression network construction and identification of key modules

WGCNA analysis was performed for both GSE43458 and GSE83456. To construct a scale-free topology network, soft threshold powers (β) of 12 in GSE43458 (scale-free R2 = 0.80) (Figure 1A) and 12 in GSE83456 (scale-free R2 = 0.80) (Figure 1B) were estimated. For GSE43458, the hierarchical clustering tree

revealed that 17 co-expression modules were clustered (Figure 1C), and the orange module was negatively correlated with the LC proportion (Cor = 0.9, P = $1 \times 10-22$) (Figure 1E). For GSE83456, dynamic hybrid cutting clustered 20 co-expression models (Figure 1D), with the black module having the strongest positive correlation with the TB proportion (Cor = 0.83, P = $1 \times 10-14$), and the salmon module showing the strongest negative correlation (Cor = 0.85, P = $6 \times 10-16$) (Figure 1F). In the orange module, scatter plots showed strong negative correlations between MM and GS for LC (Cor = 0.92, P = $1 \times 10-200$) (Figure 1G); strong positive correlations were also observed between MM and GS for TB in the black module



FIGURE 1

(A, B) Soft threshold powers (β) of 12 and 12 were selected based on the scale-free topology criterion for GSE43458 (A) and GSE83456 (B), respectively. (C, D) Clustering dendrograms showing the clustering of genes with similar expression patterns into co-expression modules in GSE43458 (C) and GSE83456 (D). The gray module indicates genes that were not assigned to any module. (E, F) Module-trait relationships revealing the correlations between each gene module eigengene and phenotype in GSE43458 (E) and GSE83456 (F). (G, H) Scatter plots of the MM and GS of each gene in the orange module of GSE43458, showing a negative correlation with the LC proportion (G), and the black and salmon modules of GSE83456 showing a positive and negative correlation, respectively, with the TB proportion (H). Horizontal axis, correlation between gene and phenotype. LC, lung cancer; TB, tuberculosis; MM, module membership; GS, gene significance.

(Cor = 0.89, P = $1 \times 10-200$), as well as large negative correlations between MM and GS in the salmon module (Cor = 0.89, P = $1 \times 10-200$) (Figure 1H). Hence, these three modules were selected for indepth investigation. A total of 5157 and 1042 genes were incorporated in the black and salmon modules, respectively, while the orange module contained 2743 genes.

Differentially expressed genes of GSE42834

To identify differential genes in LC, TB, and TB patients with LC, we analyzed the DEGs in three modules using another dataset, GSE42834 from the GEO database. We set the cut-off as |log2FC| > 0.5 and q-value < 0.001 to screen DEGs from GSE42834. Figure 2A shows a volcano plot

of the DEGs. We overlapped the DEGs and the genes in the three modules (LC vs control, LC vs TB, and TB vs control) by Venn diagram and found that 3606 common genes were present in all three modules (Figure 2B). Figures 2C, D demonstrate the GO and KEGG analyses of these 3606 genes. Extracellular matrix was the most enriched cellular component (CC) term, G protein-coupled receptor activity was the most enriched molecular function (MF) term, and neuroactive ligand–receptor interaction was the most enriched KEGG pathway.

Functional analyses of hub genes

To assess the function of the hub genes, we extracted the common genes derived from WGCNA and DEGs. As shown in



(A) voicano plot visualizing DEGS in GSE42834 (20 control, 8 lung cancer, and 19 pulmonary tuberculosis samples). (B) Identification of common genes between the DEGs in control, lung cancer, and pulmonary tuberculosis by overlap. (C, D) GO analyses of the enriched BP, CC, and MF terms (C) and KEGG pathway analysis (D) of the 3606 genes. GO, Gene Ontology; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; BP, biological process; CC, cellular component; MF, molecular function.

Figure 3A, 278 common genes at the intersection of the three hub gene sets were detected and visualized via a Venn diagram. Subsequently, we performed GO and KEGG analyses on these 278 genes. Cell-substrate adhesion was the major enriched biological process (BP) term, and collagen-containing extracellular matrix and growth factor activity were the major enriched CC and MF terms, respectively (Figure 3B). The RAS and PI3K-AKT signaling pathways were the main enriched KEGG pathways (Figure 3C). The PPI network was constructed with 278 genes. The EGFR pathway is an oncogenic pathway in human nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which also affects the levels of some pathway-related binding proteins or downstream activities (14, 15). Pathway analyses further revealed that the levels of some EGFRrelated genes were altered, suggesting that EGFR might serve as a regulatory signal node in the development of TB-associated lung cancer (Figure 3D).

Recurrently mutated genes in TB and LC with and without TB

To further investigate the role of EGFR in lung cancer and pulmonary TB, we performed exon sequencing on samples from lung cancer, lung cancer associated with pulmonary tuberculosis, and pulmonary tuberculosis patients. Supplementary Figure S1 presents a summary of the MAF files (Supplementary Table S6) for the 15 patients. Totally, 2094 meaningful variations in 497 genes were identified. Totally, 2094 meaningful variations in 497 genes were identified. A waterfall plot depicts 25 of the genes containing indel mutations (Figure 4). For the SNVs, T > C was the most frequent SNV class. The median number of variants identified in the 15 samples was 5 (range, 1–24).

Figure 4 presents the mutational profile of the 15 patients with LC and pulmonary TB, including 25 mutated genes, organized by the TB, LC, and TB+LC groups. The mutated gene with the highest frequency was *ADCK5* (67%). *EGFR*, one of the most frequently mutated genes in lung cancer, had a mutation rate of 20%, similar to the previously reported *EGFR* mutation rate of 5%–30% in LC (16). The other recurrently altered genes were mucin-3A (*MUC3A*; 60%), keratin-associated protein 5–7 (*KRTAP5–7*; 53%), killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor 2DL4 (*KIR2DL4*; 33%), zonadhesin (*ZAN*; 27%), fatty acid desaturase 6 (*FADS6*; 27%), cytochrome P450 family 1 subfamily B member 1 (*CYP1B1*; 27%), and ataxin-3 (*ATXN3*; 20%). Supplementary Figure S2 illustrates the frequency of mutations and the resulting protein structure.



FIGURE 3

(A) Venn diagram showing the intersection between the orange (GSE43458), black (GSE83456), and salmon (GSE83456) module genes and the GSE42834 DEGs. (B, C) GO analyses of the enriched BP, CC, and MF terms (B) and KEGG pathway analysis (C) of the 278 genes. (D) Threedimensional network of the 278 genes. GO, Gene Ontology; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes; BP, biological process; CC, cellular component; MF, molecular function.

KEGG signaling pathway enrichment analysis of all somatically mutated genes

To further investigate the biological functions of the mutated genes, KEGG signaling pathway enrichment analyses were performed. Supplementary Table S7 shows enriched signaling pathways associated with the mutated genes. The results of the KEGG signaling pathway analysis are presented in Figure 5, showing that the genes are involved in the PI3K–AKT signaling pathway and non-small cell lung cancer, which is consistent with our previous analysis.

Correlation analysis between key genes and EGFR

EGFR had the highest degree in the aforementioned PPI, with a mutation rate of 20% in lung cancer. This implies that EGFR is involved in the progression of lung cancer. Thus, we investigated

the relationship between EGFR and other genes. The Venn diagram in Figure 6A depicts the genes common to both the 278 hub genes and all mutated genes, including *EGFR*, *HSPA2*, *CECR2*, and *LAMA3* (Figure 6A). To investigate the effects of *EGFR* expression on *HSPA2*, *CECR2*, and *LAMA3*, we performed the CIBERSORT algorithm on 15 tumor samples to calculate the expression of *EGFR* and the three key genes in each sample. As shown in Figures 6B–D, *CECR2*, *LAMA3*, and *HSPA2* were positively correlated with *EGFR* expression.

Discussion

Lung cancer is the most dangerous of the common malignant tumors in China, causing the most cancer deaths each year (17). Tuberculosis is an infectious illness of the lungs caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, and tuberculosis of the lungs raises the risk of a patient getting lung cancer by causing inflammatory irritation that leads to persistent irritation of the lungs (18, 19).



The mutational landscape of 15 patients with LC, TB, and LC+TB was determined using whole-exome sequencing. Azu, TB; Bzu, LC; A.Bzu, TB+LC; ADCK5, AarF domain containing kinase 5; MUC3A, mucin-3A; KRTAP5–7, keratin-associated protein 5–7; KIR2DL4, killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor 2DL4; ZAN, zonadhesin; FADS6, fatty acid desaturase 6; CYP1B1, cytochrome P450 family 1 subfamily B member 1; ATXN3, ataxin-3; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; FCGR1A, high affinity immunoglobulin gamma Fc receptor I; FGA, fibrinogen alpha chain; PPFIA4, liprin-alpha-4; CEACAM5, carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 5; SETD1A, histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETD1A; NCOR2, nuclear receptor corepressor 2; VWA1, von Willebrand factor A domain-containing protein 1; FAM136A, family with sequence similarity 136, member A gene; MUC4, mucin-4; TP53, tumor protein p53; MUC5B, mucin-5B; CECR2, cat eye syndrome chromosome region candidate 2; HSPA2, heat shock protein A2; LAMA3, laminin subunit alpha 3.



Younger patients show a significantly higher association between TB and lung cancer (20). Several studies have shown that LC in TB patients have lower survival rates than non-TB patients (21, 22). A study of 6934 patients among patients with primary cancer and TB infection demonstrated that TB is a risk for facilitating primary cancer to metastasize to the lung (23). Delayed diagnosis and

treatment of TB increases the chance of patient complications and mortality and enhances TB transmission in the population (24). Therefore, it is of practical significance to explore the mechanism of the association between TB and lung cancer development and provide new targets for clinical examination and future targeted therapy of lung cancer patients.

In this study, WGCNA was performed by extracting coexpression networks of grouped genes from a large expression dataset. Among the 37 modules, we found that the orange, black, and salmon modules were most significantly related to LC or TB. We analyzed the GSE42834 dataset, which includes LC, TB, and control groups, to find 3606 DEGs. The confluence of these differential genes with the genes from the three WGCNA modules resulted in 278 genes for which we determined the PPI network, showing that EGFR and related genes are highly correlated with TB and LC. KEGG pathway analysis revealed that the hub genes were primarily enriched in pathways related to growth, survival, and metabolism of cancer cells, such as the RAS and PI3K-AKT signaling pathways. The PI3K-AKT signaling pathway is dysregulated in almost all cancers due to gene amplification (25). Studies suggest that in patients with an EGFR mutation, the AKT/mTOR pathway is constitutively activated in 67% of cases (26, 27). RAS signaling is a major nexus controlling essential cell parameters, including proliferation, survival, and migration, utilizing downstream effectors such as the PI3K-AKT signaling pathway (28, 29).



FIGURE 6

(A) The intersection between the 278 hub genes and the mutated genes shown in a Venn diagram. (B–D) The correlation between EGFR and CECR2 (B), LAMA3 (C), and HSPA2 (D).

10.3389/fonc.2024.1355527

Next, we examined the somatic mutation patterns of 15 individuals to acquire a better understanding of the progression from TB to LC. In addition to somatic alterations in previously known LC-associated genes, such as EGFR, ADCK5, MUC3A, and KIR2DL4 (16, 30-33), we identified mutations in new genes, such as CECR2, LAMA3, FADS6, CYP1B1, and ATXN3. Interestingly, we found that four (EGFR, CECR2, LAMA3, and HSPA2) of the 278 genes obtained in the three GEO datasets were mutated in all 15 patients. EGFR had a mutation rate of 20%, similar to the previously reported EGFR mutation rate (5%-30%) in LC (16). The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) gene encodes signaling proteins crucial for cell proliferation and survival, and EGFR mutations are major driver mutations occurring in lung adenocarcinomas (16, 34, 35). The incidence of LC EGFR mutations was found to be higher in East Asian countries, as was the prevalence of TB infection (2, 34). Studies have examined the expression of CECR2 in breast cancer and found that it regulates the tumor immune microenvironment to promote breast cancer metastasis (29). However, there have been no reports to date implicating CECR2 in LC. Reducing the methylation of the LAMA3 promoter inhibits the proliferation, invasion, migration, and drug resistance of lung adenocarcinoma cells (36). The data reported show that HSPA2 does not promote a malignant NSCLC phenotype. HSPA2-deficient keratinocytes show accelerated differentiation in a reconstituted human epidermis model (37-39). These four genes may be key proteins that predict the development of LC in TB. Additionally, the altered genes were discovered to be highly enriched in the PI3K-AKT signaling pathway, consistent with other previous studies (40-42). Nevertheless, further research is required to fully explore their roles in TB and LC.

We acknowledge that there were some limitations and shortcomings of this study. First, this study was mainly focused on data mining and data analysis, which are based on methodology. Clinical information available in public databases is limited, and contaminated tissues and biases in sequencing may lead to biased results in WGCNA. In addition, after obtaining the hub gene, the association with the tumor microenvironment should also be analyzed and further verified by experiments (43, 44). Second, the single method of whole-exon sequencing used, and the minimal sample size, may have an impact on the accuracy of the results. Our future research will include large sample sizes, analyzed by different methods.

Conclusion

We applied WGCNA and WES to explore the development of LC, and determined a mutational profile of 15 patients by WES. This identified four genes (*EGFR*, *CECR2*, *LAMA3*, and *HSPA2*) that play an important role in LC tumorigenesis. Furthermore, the present study confirms *EGFR* mutations in LC and verifies the enrichment of gene alterations in the PI3K–AKT signaling pathway in a small cohort of Chinese patients with LC. These results may shed light on opportunities for diagnosis and personalized treatment of TB with LC.

Data availability statement

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the GEO database (ID: GSE43458, https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE43458; GSE83456; https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE83456; GSE42834, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc= GSE42834. The WES datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the BioProject database (BioProject ID: PRJNA1080061; https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ bioproject/PRJNA1080061).

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committees of The Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region Chest Hospital (approval number 2021BAT011). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

MA: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft. ZL: Investigation, Resources, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. BA: Data curation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by a grant from the Correlation study between the EGFR gene and the FHIT gene and lung cancer (2020D01A107).

Acknowledgments

We thank Catherine Perfect, MA (Cantab), from Liwen Bianji (Edanz) (www.liwenbianji.cn), for editing the English text of a draft of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

This study received funding from Nanjing Genepioneer Biotechnologies Co., Ltd. The funder had the following involvement with the study: edited the manuscript.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Wagle NS, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2023. CA: Cancer J Clin. (2023) 73:17–48.

2. Luo YH, Wu CH, Wu WS, Huang CY, Su WJ, Tsai CM, et al. Association between tumor epidermal growth factor receptor mutation and pulmonary tuberculosis in patients with adenocarcinoma of the lungs. *J Thorac oncology: Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer.* (2012) 7:299–305.

3. Yu YH, Liao CC, Hsu WH, Chen HJ, Liao WC, Muo CH, et al. Increased lung cancer risk among patients with pulmonary tuberculosis: a population cohort study. J Thorac oncology: Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer. (2011) 6:32–7.

4. Keikha M, Esfahani BN. The relationship between tuberculosis and lung cancer. Advanced Biomed Res. (2018) 7:58.

5. Hong S, Mok Y, Jeon C, Jee SH, Samet JM. Tuberculosis, smoking and risk for lung cancer incidence and mortality. *Int J cancer.* (2016) 139:2447–55.

6. Wu CY, Hu HY, Pu CY, Huang N, Shen HC, Li CP, et al. Pulmonary tuberculosis increases the risk of lung cancer: a population-based cohort study. *Cancer.* (2011) 117:618–24.

7. Everatt R, Kuzmickiene I, Davidaviciene E, Cicenas S. Incidence of lung cancer among patients with tuberculosis: a nationwide cohort study in Lithuania. *Int J tuberculosis Lung disease: Off J Int Union against Tuberculosis Lung Disease.* (2016) 20:757–63.

8. Bhowmik S, Mohanto NC, Sarker D, Sorove AA. Incidence and risk of lung cancer in tuberculosis patients, and vice versa: A literature review of the last decade. *BioMed Res Int*. (2022) 2022:1702819.

9. Zifodya JS, Crothers K. Tuberculosis, chronic obstructive lung disease, and lung cancer: the holey upper lobe trinity? *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2022) 19:540–2.

10. Hart JL, Turnbull AE, Oppenheim IM, Courtright KR. Family-centered care during the COVID-19 era. J Pain symptom management. (2020) 60:e93–e7.

11. Hart JL, Taylor SP. Family presence for critically ill patients during a pandemic. *Chest.* (2021) 160:549–57.

12. Nanthanangkul S, Promthet S, Suwanrungruang K, Santong C, Vatanasapt P. Incidence of and risk factors for tuberculosis among cancer patients in endemic area: A regional cohort study. *Asian Pacific J Cancer prevention: APJCP.* (2020) 21:2715–21.

13. Cokus S, Rose S, Haynor D, Grønbech-Jensen N, Pellegrini M. Modelling the network of cell cycle transcription factors in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *BMC Bioinf.* (2006) 7:381.

14. Yu JJ, Zhou DD, Yang XX, Cui B, Tan FW, Wang J, et al. TRIB3-EGFR interaction promotes lung cancer progression and defines a therapeutic target. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:3660.

15. Bao Y, Wang L, Shi L, Yun F, Liu X, Chen Y, et al. Transcriptome profiling revealed multiple genes and ECM-receptor interaction pathways that may be associated with breast cancer. *Cell Mol Biol letters*. (2019) 24:38.

16. Bronte G, Rizzo S, La Paglia L, Adamo V, Siragusa S, Ficorella C, et al. Driver mutations and differential sensitivity to targeted therapies: a new approach to the treatment of lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2010) 36 Suppl 3:S21–9.

17. Torre LA, Siegel RL, Jemal A. Lung cancer statistics. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2016) 893:1–19.

18. Sharma A, Sharma A, Malhotra R, Singh P, Chakrabortty RK, Mahajan S, et al. An accurate artificial intelligence system for the detection of pulmonary and extra pulmonary Tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis (Edinburgh Scotland).* (2021) 131:102143.

19. Ehrt S, Schnappinger D, Rhee KY. Metabolic principles of persistence and pathogenicity in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2018) 16:496–507.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1355527/ full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE S1

Summary and visualization of maf files using the maftools package in R software. (A) Variant classification. (B) Variant type. (C) SNV class. (D) The count of variants per sample. (E) Variant classification summary. (F) Top 30 mutated genes. The colors of variant classification in subfigure D, E and F are in accordance with subfigure A. Del, deletion; Ins, insertion; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; SNV, single nucleotide variant.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE S2

Proportion of all mutated genes.

20. Hwang SY, Kim JY, Lee HS, Lee S, Kim D, Kim S, et al. Pulmonary tuberculosis and risk of lung cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Med.* (2022) 11:765.

21. Abdelwahab HW, Elmaria MO, Abdelghany DA, Akl FM, Shehta M, ELnagar RM, et al. Screening of latent TB infection in patients with recently diagnosed bronchogenic carcinoma. *Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann.* (2021) 29:208–13.

22. Kumar DS, Ronald LA, Romanowski K, Rose C, Shulha HP, Cook VJ, et al. Risk of active tuberculosis in migrants diagnosed with cancer: a retrospective cohort study in British Columbia, Canada. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e037827.

23. Ho LJ, Yang HY, Chung CH, Chang WC, Yang SS, Sun CA, et al. Increased risk of secondary lung cancer in patients with tuberculosis: A nationwide, population-based cohort study. *PloS One.* (2021) 16:e0250531.

24. Santos JA, Leite A, Soares P, Duarte R, Nunes C. Delayed diagnosis of active pulmonary tuberculosis - potential risk factors for patient and healthcare delays in Portugal. *BMC Public Health*. (2021) 21:2178.

25. Asati V, Mahapatra DK, Bharti SK. PI3K/Akt/mTOR and Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling pathways inhibitors as anticancer agents: Structural and pharmacological perspectives. *Eur J Medicinal Chem.* (2016) 109:314–41.

26. Dobashi Y, Koyama S, Kanai Y, Tetsuka K. Kinase-driven pathways of EGFR in lung carcinomas: perspectives on targeting therapy. *Front Bioscience (Landmark edition).* (2011) 16:1714–32.

27. Tan AC. Targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). *Thorac Cancer*. (2020) 11:511–8.

Cox AD, Der CJ. Ras history: The saga continues. *Small GTPases.* (2010) 1:2–27.
Sittewelle M, Kappès V, Zhou C, Lécuyer D, Monsoro-Burq AH. PFKFB4 interacts with ICMT and activates RAS/AKT signaling-dependent cell migration in melanoma. *Life Sci Alliance.* (2022) 5:e202201377.

30. Okada F, Takeda M, Fujii T, Uchiyama T, Sasaki S, Matsuoka M, et al. Clinicopathological and genetic analyses of pulmonary enteric adenocarcinoma. *J Clin Pathol.* (2024) 77:111-5.

31. Sun Y, Sun X, You C, Ma S, Luo Y, Peng S, et al. MUC3A promotes non-small cell lung cancer progression via activating the NFκB pathway and attenuates radiosensitivity. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2021) 17:2523–36.

32. Qiu M, Li G, Wang P, Li X, Lai F, Luo R, et al. aarF domain containing kinase 5 gene promotes invasion and migration of lung cancer cells through ADCK5-SOX9-PTTG1 pathway. *Exp Cell Res.* (2020) 392:112002.

33. Wiśniewski A, Kowal A, Wyrodek E, Nowak I, Majorczyk E, Wagner M, et al. Genetic polymorphisms and expression of HLA-G and its receptors, KIR2DL4 and LILRB1, in non-small cell lung cancer. *Tissue Antigens*. (2015) 85:466–75.

34. Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, et al. Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. *New Engl J Med.* (2004) 350:2129–39.

35. Jett JR, Carr LL. Targeted therapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2013) 188:907–12.

36. Xu SF, Zheng Y, Zhang L, Wang P, Niu CM, Wu T, et al. Long non-coding RNA LINC00628 interacts epigenetically with the LAMA3 promoter and contributes to lung adenocarcinoma. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids*. (2019) 18:166–82.

37. Zhang M, Liu ZZ, Aoshima K, Cai WL, Sun H, Xu T, et al. CECR2 drives breast cancer metastasis by promoting NF-κB signaling and macrophage-mediated immune suppression. *Sci Trans Med.* (2022) 14:eabf5473.

38. Raiford KL, Park J, Lin KW, Fang S, Crews AL, Adler KB. Mucin granuleassociated proteins in human bronchial epithelial cells: the airway goblet cell "granulome". *Respir Res.* (2011) 12:118.

39. Fang S, Crews AL, Chen W, Park J, Yin Q, Ren XR, et al. MARCKS and HSP70 interactions regulate mucin secretion by human airway epithelial cells *in vitro*. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2013) 304:L511–8.

40. Tian X, Gu T, Lee MH, Dong Z. Challenge and countermeasures for EGFR targeted therapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer*. (2022) 1877:188645.

41. Wu S, Luo M, To KKW, Zhang J, Su C, Zhang H, et al. Intercellular transfer of exosomal wild type EGFR triggers osimertinib resistance in non-small cell lung cancer. *Mol Cancer.* (2021) 20:17.

42. Kharbanda A, Walter DM, Gudiel AA, Schek N, Feldser DM, Witze ES. Blocking EGFR palmitoylation suppresses PI3K signaling and mutant KRAS lung tumorigenesis. *Sci Signaling.* (2020) 13:eaax2364.

43. Dai S, Cao T, Shen H, Zong X, Gu W, Li H, et al. Landscape of molecular crosstalk between SARS-CoV-2 infection and cardiovascular diseases: emphasis on mitochondrial dysfunction and immune-inflammation. *J Trans Med.* (2023) 21:915.

44. Hu Y, Zeng N, Ge Y, Wang D, Qin X, Zhang W, et al. Identification of the shared gene signatures and biological mechanism in type 2 diabetes and pancreatic cancer. *Front Endocrinology.* (2022) 13:847760.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY Ming Yi, Zhejiang University, China Haiwei Du, Burning Rock Biotech, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Wubing Tang Vytangwb@scut.edu.cn

RECEIVED 23 October 2023 ACCEPTED 27 May 2024 PUBLISHED 06 June 2024

CITATION

He W, Tong L, Yang W, Yuan Y, Li Y and Tang W (2024) Case report: Sustained remission after combined sintilimab, anti-VEGF therapy, and chemotherapy in a patient with non-small cell lung cancer harboring acquired *EGFR* 19DeI/T790M/*cis*-C797S mutation resistance. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1298389. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1298389

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 He, Tong, Yang, Yuan, Li and Tang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Case report: Sustained remission after combined sintilimab, anti-VEGF therapy, and chemotherapy in a patient with non-small cell lung cancer harboring acquired *EGFR* 19Del/ T790M/*cis*-C797S mutation resistance

Wanming He, Lihua Tong, Wen Yang, Yanling Yuan, Yu Li and Wubing Tang*

Department of Oncology, The Sixth Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, South China University of Technology, Foshan, China

Third-generation epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) are highly effective against tumors harboring the T790M mutation. However, patients treated with these inhibitors ultimately develop resistance, and the most common mechanism is the emergence of the EGFR C797S mutation. Few treatment regimens have been reported for this condition. In this report, we present a successful combination treatment with the programmed cell death 1 (PD-1) inhibitor sintilimab, anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) therapy, and chemotherapy with pemetrexed and cisplatin in a patient with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) who developed acquired resistance with EGFR 19 exon deletion (19Del)/T790M/cis-C797S mutation following progression with ametinib therapy. This regimen was well tolerated, and the patient has remained progression-free for 15 months. Our case provides clinical evidence that the combination of PD-1 inhibitor, anti-VEGF therapy, and chemotherapy may be an efficacious therapeutic strategy for NSCLC patients with acquired EGFR 19Del/T790M/cis-C797S mutation resistance following progression with EGFR TKI therapy.

KEYWORDS

non-small cell lung cancer, growth factor receptor, tyrosine kinase inhibitors, programmed cell death 1 inhibitor, anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy

Introduction

Despite initial response to epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), most patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) harboring EGFR activating mutations inevitably develop resistance after approximately one year (1, 2). The EGFR T790M mutation is the most common mechanism of resistance to first- and second-generation EGFR TKIs, and third-generation EGFR TKIs, such as osimertinib and ametinib, selectively target the T790M mutation. However, patients treated with third-generation EGFR TKIs ultimately encounter secondary resistance. Although the mechanisms of resistance vary, the most common is the emergence of the EGFR C797S mutation (3), with reported frequencies up to 24% (4-6). According to the allelic relationship with T790M, C797S is defined as cis-C797S or trans-C797S (7). Tumors harboring T790M/trans-C797S are sensitive to combined first- and third-generation EGFR TKIs (7, 8). However T790M/cis-C797S, the more frequently mutation, is resistant to first-, second-, and third-generation EGFR TKIs (3, 9). Currently, there is no standard therapeutic regimen for NSCLCs harboring the T790M/cis-C797S EGFR mutation. Platinum-based chemotherapy with or without bevacizumab is one of the recommended regiments (10), however, the survival is poor. Here, we report a successful case of combination therapy with PD-1 inhibitor (sintilimab), anti-VEGF therapy, and chemotherapy in a patient with NSCLC who developed acquired EGFR 19 exon deletion (19Del)/T790M/*cis*-C797S mutation resistance following progression on EGFR TKI therapy.

Case report

A 61-year-old man, a former smoker with no relevant family or genetic history, underwent computed tomography (CT) of the chest in November 2018, due to a cough. The CT scan revealed a nodule in the right upper lung near the mediastinum, suggesting a neoplastic lesion (Figure 1). One month later, he was diagnosed with Stage IVA (T4N2M1a) lung adenocarcinoma with brain metastasis in the left occipital lobe. Genomic profiling of pleural effusion cell pellets using next-generation sequencing (NGS) identified an *EGFR* 19 exon delete (19Del; c.2235_2249del p.Glu746_Ala750del). Consequently, he was treated with icotinib (125 mg tid), achieving a partial response (PR).

In June 2019, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed bone metastases at the L3 lumbar and S2 and S3 sacral vertebrae. He received intensity-modulated radiotherapy using RAPID-Arc, delivering 55 Gy in 22 fractions to gross target volume (GTV) and 40 Gy in 22 fractions to clinical target volume (CTV). Since bone-related examinations were not performed at the initial diagnosis, baseline images were unavailable. NGS analysis of a blood sample did not detect an *EGFR* mutation, and CT scans showed reduced lung lesions, indicating effectiveness of icotinib. Consequently, icotinib treatment was continued.



The patient's course, treatment, next-generation sequencing results, and imaging results. OR, objective response; PFS, progression-free survival; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; IMRT, intensity-modulated radiotherapy; *EGFR*, epidermal growth factor receptor; 19Del, exon 19 deletion; PD, progressive disease.

and T790M mutations.

The patient maintained stable disease (SD) for 21 months, until CT scans revealed new lesions in both lungs and the liver. NGS analysis of a blood sample identified an *EGFR* T790M mutation (c.2369C>Tp.Thr790Met) along with the *EGFR* 19Del (c.2235_2249del p.Glu746_Ala750del). Subsequently, he commenced treatment with ametinib (110 mg, qd) combined with bevacizumab (400 mg q3w), achieving a PR. However, disease progression was observed in July 2022 with enlarged liver metastases and an increased number of liver lesions. NGS analysis of a blood sample revealed a novel *EGFR cis*-C797S mutation (c.2389T>Ap.Cys797Ser) in addition to the existing *EGFR* 19Del

The ORIENT-31 trial, a prospective, double-blind, phase 3 clinical trial, evaluated the efficacy and safety of sintilimab with or without bevacizumab biosimilar IBI305 plus pemetrexed and cisplatin, compared with pemetrexed and cisplatin alone, for patients with locally advanced or metastatic *EGFR*-mutated NSCLC who had disease progression after receiving EGFR TKI therapy (11). Based on the preliminary results from this trial, we initiated a treatment regimen of pemetrexed and cisplatin combined with bevacizumab and sintilimab (200 mg q3w) in July 2022 for our patient, who had an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (ECOG PS) score of 1. After six courses of this regimen, he transitioned to maintenance therapy with pemetrexed, bevacizumab and sintilimab.

A CT scan in November 2022 showed that the primary lung lesion and multiple lung metastases were mostly unchanged, although the liver lesions had shrunk, indicating an objective response (OR) of SD. NGS analysis of a blood sample did not identify the EGFR 19Del, T790M, or cis-C797S mutations, and no other mutations were detected. Due to the patient's worsening economic situation, bevacizumab was replaced with the lower cost recombinant human endostatin (30 mg, d1-7, q3w). As of October 2023, the patient continued to respond to the treatment regimen of pemetrexed combined with recombinant human endostatin and sintilimab, with a progression-free survival (PFS) exceeding 15 months. The only treatment-related side effect was grade 2 diarrhea, according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) Version 5.0, which occurred after four courses, and was alleviated with symptomatic treatment. A colonoscopy in November 2022 indicated no abnormalities.

Discussion

Due to the molecular heterogeneity of NSCLC, the resistance mechanisms to third-generation TKIs are complicated and not fully understood. Acquired resistance to EGFR TKIs can be broadly categorized into *EGFR*-dependent (on-target) and *EGFR*-independent (off-target) (12, 13). Relevant therapeutic options have been found to prolong clinical benefits. For instance, the combination of the ALK inhibitor brigatinib with cetuximab may be effective for patients with acquired *EGFR* T790M/*cis*-C797S-

mediated resistance to osimertinib (14, 15). Fourth-generation EGFR TKIs, such as EAI045, JBJ-04–125-02, and BLU-945, can overcome both the T790M and C797S mutations (16). Additionally, the phase III MARIPOSA-2 study demonstrated that PFS was significantly longer for the combination of amivantamabe-lazertinibe and chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone in patients with *EGFR*-mutated advanced NSCLC who had progressed on or after osimertinib (median of 8.3 versus 4.2 months, respectively) (17). Furthermore, the antibody-drug conjugate (ADC) patritumab deruxtecan (HER3-DXd) showed clinically meaningful efficacy in the phase II HERTHENA-Lung01 study, and a phase III HERTHENA-Lung02 trial is ongoing (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT05338970) (18).

In our case, the patient acquired an *EGFR cis*-C797S mutation after treatment with a third-generation TKI. However, fourthgeneration EGFR TKIs are not readily accessible to Chinese patients in clinical practice, and the cost of brigatinib and cetuximab is high, increasing the financial burden on patients. Therefore, economical, accessible and effective therapeutic regimens are needed to manage those NSCLC Chinese patients who acquire an *EGFR cis*-C797S mutation.

A few randomized phase 3 trials have shown that combining PD-1 or programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) inhibitors with VEGF inhibitors and chemotherapy enhances antitumor activity and provides a PFS benefit for patients with advanced EGFRmutated NSCLC who progressed after receiving EGFR TKI therapy. A subgroup analysis of the IMpower150 trial showed that treatment with the PD-L1 inhibitor atezolizumab, bevacizumab, and chemotherapy (carboplatin and paclitaxel) improved survival outcomes in NSCLC patients who developed EGFR mutations after TKI treatment (19, 20). Additionally, the ORIENT-31 trial demonstrated that treatment with the PD-1 inhibitor sintilimab, bevacizumab biosimilar IBI305, and standard chemotherapy (pemetrexed and cisplatin) significantly improved PFS compared to chemotherapy alone (median 7.2 months vs 4.3 months; hazard ratio 0.51; p<0.0001) for NSCLC patients who had progressed after EGFR TKI therapy (11). However, the trial included patients with multiple EGFR mutations, including exon 19Del, exon 21 L858R, and others, not exclusively those with acquired EGFR cis-C797S mutations. As of October 2023, the last follow-up time, our patient is still responding to the combination of a PD-1 inhibitor, anti-VEGF therapy and chemotherapy, with a progression-free survival (PFS) of over 15 months, exceeding the median PFS of 7.2 months reported in the ORIENT-31 trial.

To date, the mechanism of this treatment regimen remains unclear. Due to low response rates to immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) in patients with *EGFR*-mutant NSCLC (21), this population has typically been excluded from first-line treatment with immunotherapy. Nevertheless, recent translational studies have shown that ICIs are more effective in patients with PD-L1 higher expression in tumor cells, a higher tumor mutation burden, or a higher density of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes following EGFR TKI treatment (22–24). Moreover, multiple clinical studies have indicated that the efficacy of ICIs may be enhanced when combined with VEGF inhibitors (25–27). Anti-angiogenic therapy induces normalization of tumor vasculature, promoting T cell infiltration into the tumor and creating a tumor immune microenvironment favorable for ICI therapy (28, 29). Additionally, VEGF expression can be promoted by *EGFR* signaling, potentially increasing the sensitivity of tumors harboring *EGFR* mutations to anti-VEGF therapy (30, 31).

In our case, several limitations should be considered. Repeated tissue biopsies are necessary to identify histological changes in complex cancers and to elucidate resistance mechanisms if the combination treatment of a PD-1 inhibitor, anti-VEGF therapy, and chemotherapy fails. After three months of combination therapy, no gene mutations were detected, yet the patient continued to respond to treatment. The underlying mechanism warrants further investigation. Despite these limitations, the patient has acquired survival benefits and the three-drug regimen has been well tolerated. The only side effect was grade 2 diarrhea, which was alleviated with symptomatic treatment. Our case may shed lights on overcoming *EGFR* 19Del/T790M/*cis*-C797S mutation resistance.

Conclusion

The combination treatment with the PD-1 inhibitor sintilimab, anti-VEGF therapy, and chemotherapy demonstrated a significant improvement in PFS in a NSCLC patient who developed acquired resistance due to *EGFR* 19Del/T790M/*cis*-C797S mutation after progression on EGFR TKI therapy. This therapeutic regimen may be efficacious and offers an optimal strategy for managing these patients.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Sixth Affiliated Hospital of South China University of Technology. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

WH: Project administration, Software, Writing – original draft. LT: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. WY: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. YY: Writing – review & editing, Project administration. YL: Project administration, Writing – review & editing. WT: Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The study was funded by the Foshan Science and Technology Bureau (grant number 2020001004713), Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (grant number 2021B1515120053), and Bethune Charitable Foundation (grant number z11caxw-07).

Acknowledgments

We sincerely thank Dr. Yang Zhao from the Department of Experimental Radiation Oncology at the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center for his tremendous assistance and guidance in refining and proofreading the language of our paper.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1298389/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Zhou C, Wu Y, Chen G, Feng J, Liu X, Wang C, et al. Erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2011) 12(8):735–42. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70184-X

2. Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, Negoro S, Okamoto I, Tsurutani J, et al. Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2010) 11(2):121–8. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70364-X

3. Thress K, Paweletz C, Felip E, Cho B, Stetson D, Dougherty B, et al. Acquired EGFR C797S mutation mediates resistance to AZD9291 in non-small cell lung cancer harboring EGFR T790M. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21(6):560–2. doi: 10.1038/nm.3854

4. Lin CC, Shih JY, Yu CJ, Ho CC, Liao WY, Lee JH, et al. Outcomes in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer and acquired Thr790Met mutation treated with osimertinib: a genomic study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2018) 6:107–16. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(17) 30480-0

5. Oxnard GR, Hu Y, Mileham KF, Husain H, Costa DB, Tracy P, et al. Assessment of resistance mechanisms and clinical implications in patients with EGFR T790M-positive lung cancer and acquired resistance to osimertinib. *JAMA Oncol.* (2018) 4:1527–34. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.2969

6. Yang Z, Yang N, Ou Q, Xiang Y, Jiang T, Wu X, et al. Investigating novel resistance mechanisms to third-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor osimertinib in non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Clin Cancer research: an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:3097–107. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2310

7. Niederst M, Hu H, Mulvey H, Lockerman E, Garcia A, Piotrowska Z, et al. The allelic context of the C797S mutation acquired upon treatment with third-generation EGFR inhibitors impacts sensitivity to subsequent treatment strategies. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21(17):3924–33. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0560

8. Wang Z, Yang J, Huang J, Ye J, Zhang X, Tu H, et al. Adenocarcinoma harboring EGFR T790M and in trans C797S responds to combination therapy of first- and third-generation EGFR TKIs and shifts allelic configuration at resistance. *Lung.* (2017) 12:1723–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.06.017

9. Hidaka N, Iwama E, Kubo N, Harada T, Miyawaki K, Tanaka K, et al. Most T790M mutations are present on the same EGFR allele as activating mutations in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*. (2017) 108:75–82. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.02.019

10. Ettinger D, Wood D, Aisner D, Akerley W, Bauman J, Bharat A, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer, version 3.2022, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw.* (2022) 20(5):497–530. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2022.0025

11. Lu S, Wu L, Jian H, Chen Y, Wang Q, Fang J, et al. Sintilimab plus bevacizumab biosimilar IBI305 and chemotherapy for patients with EGFR-mutated non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer who progressed on EGFR tyrosine-kinase inhibitor therapy (ORIENT-31): first interim results from a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2022) 23:1167–79. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00382-5

12. Bertoli E, De Carlo E, Del Conte A, Stanzione B, Revelant A, Fassetta K, et al. Acquired resistance to osimertinib in EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancer: how do we overcome it? *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23. doi: 10.3390/ijms23136936

13. Ferro A, Marinato GM, Cristiana M, Marino M, Pasello G, Guarneri V, et al. Primary and acquired resistance to first-line Osimertinib to improve the outcome of EGFR-mutated advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients: the challenge is open for new therapeutic strategies. *Crit Rev oncology/hematology*. (2024) 104295. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2024.104295

14. Yang Y, Xu H, Ma L, Yang L, Yang G, Zhang S, et al. Possibility of brigatinibbased therapy, or chemotherapy plus anti-angiogenic treatment after resistance of osimertinib harboring EGFR T790M-cis-C797S mutations in lung adenocarcinoma patients. *Cancer Med.* (2021) 10:8328–37. doi: 10.1002/cam4.4336

15. Wang Y, Yang N, Zhang Y, Li L, Han R, Zhu M, et al. Effective treatment of lung adenocarcinoma harboring EGFR-activating mutation, T790M, and cis-C797S triple mutations by brigatinib and cetuximab combination therapy. *J Thorac oncology: Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer.* (2020) 15:1369–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.04.014

16. Maity S, Pai KSR, Nayak Y. Advances in targeting EGFR allosteric site as anti-NSCLC therapy to overcome the drug resistance. *Pharmacol reports: PR.* (2020) 72:799–813. doi: 10.1007/s43440-020-00131-0

17. Passaro A, Wang J, Wang Y, Lee SH, Melosky B, Shih JY, et al. Amivantamab plus chemotherapy with and without lazertinib in EGFR-mutant advanced NSCLC after disease progression on osimertinib: primary results from the phase III MARIPOSA-2 study. Ann oncology: Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. (2024) 35:77–90. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2023.11.012

18. Yu HA, Goto Y, Hayashi H, Felip E, Chih-Hsin Yang J, Reck M, et al. HERTHENA-lung01, a phase II trial of patritumab deruxtecan (HER3-DXd) in epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer after epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy and platinum-based chemotherapy. J Clin oncology: Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. (2023) 41:5363–75. doi: 10.1200/JCO.23.01476

19. Reck M, Mok TSK, Nishio M, Jotte RM, Cappuzzo F, Orlandi F, et al. Atezolizumab plus bevacizumab and chemotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer (IMpower150): key subgroup analyses of patients with EGFR mutations or baseline liver metastases in a randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2019) 7:387–401. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(19)30084-0

20. Nogami N, Barlesi F, Socinski MA, Reck M, Thomas CA, Cappuzzo F, et al. IMpower150 final exploratory analyses for atezolizumab plus bevacizumab and chemotherapy in key NSCLC patient subgroups with EGFR mutations or metastases in the liver or brain. *J Thorac oncology: Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer.* (2022) 17:309–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2021.09.014

21. Hastings K, Yu HA, Wei W, Sanchez-Vega F, DeVeaux M, Choi J, et al. EGFR mutation subtypes and response to immune checkpoint blockade treatment in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann oncology: Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol.* (2019) 30:1311–20. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz141

22. Isomoto K, Haratani K, Hayashi H, Shimizu S, Tomida S, Niwa T, et al. Impact of EGFR-TKI treatment on the tumor immune microenvironment in EGFR mutationpositive non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer research: an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res.* (2020) 26:2037–46. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-2027

23. Haratani K, Hayashi H, Tanaka T, Kaneda H, Togashi Y, Sakai K, et al. Tumor immune microenvironment and nivolumab efficacy in EGFR mutation-positive non-smallcell lung cancer based on T790M status after disease progression during EGFR-TKI treatment. *Ann oncology: Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol.* (2017) 28:1532–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx183

24. Peng S, Wang R, Zhang X, Ma Y, Zhong L, Li K, et al. EGFR-TKI resistance promotes immune escape in lung cancer *via* increased PD-L1 expression. *Mol Cancer*. (2019) 18:165. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1073-4

25. Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. *Immunity*. (2013) 39:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.012

26. Voron T, Colussi O, Marcheteau E, Pernot S, Nizard M, Pointet AL, et al. VEGF-A modulates expression of inhibitory checkpoints on CD8+ T cells in tumors. *J Exp Med.* (2015) 212:139–48. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140559

27. Jiang T, Wang P, Zhang J, Zhao Y, Zhou J, Fan Y, et al. Toripalimab plus chemotherapy as second-line treatment in previously EGFR-TKI treated patients with EGFR-mutant-advanced NSCLC: a multicenter phase-II trial. *Signal transduction targeted Ther.* (2021) 6:355. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00751-9

28. Hegde PS, Wallin JJ, Mancao C. Predictive markers of anti-VEGF and emerging role of angiogenesis inhibitors as immunotherapeutics. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 52:117–24. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.12.002

29. Chen DS, Hurwitz H. Combinations of bevacizumab with cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer J (Sudbury Mass)*. (2018) 24:193-204. doi: 10.1097/PPO.000000000000227

30. Bancroft CC, Chen Z, Yeh J, Sunwoo JB, Yeh NT, Jackson S, et al. Effects of pharmacologic antagonists of epidermal growth factor receptor, PI3K and MEK signal kinases on NF-kappaB and AP-1 activation and IL-8 and VEGF expression in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma lines. *Int J Cancer*. (2002) 99:538–48. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10398

31. Hung MS, Chen IC, Lin PY, Lung JH, Li YC, Lin YC, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor mutation enhances expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in lung cancer. *Oncol Lett.* (2016) 12:4598–604. doi: 10.3892/ol.2016.5287

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

REVIEWED BY Ming Yi, Zhejiang University, China Haiwei Du, Burning Rock Biotech, China

CORRESPONDENCE Junwei Chen i chenjunweicjw@126.com Hongbiao Wang i 13715911174@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 14 October 2023 ACCEPTED 06 May 2024 PUBLISHED 21 June 2024

CITATION

Lin H, Yang Z, Li Z, Chen J, Wang H and Lin Y (2024) EGFR kinase domain duplication in lung adenocarcinoma with systemic and intracranial response to a double-dose of furmonertinib: a case report and literature review. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1321587. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1321587

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Lin, Yang, Li, Chen, Wang and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

EGFR kinase domain duplication in lung adenocarcinoma with systemic and intracranial response to a double-dose of furmonertinib: a case report and literature review

Hong Lin^{1†}, Zhengyuan Yang^{1†}, Zhifeng Li^{1†}, Junwei Chen^{2*}, Hongbiao Wang^{1*} and Yingcheng Lin¹

¹Department of Medical Oncology, Cancer Hospital of Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, Guangdong, China, ²Department of Radiology, Cancer Hospital of Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, Guangdong, China

Background: EGFR kinase domain duplication (EGFR-KDD) is an infrequent oncogenic driver mutation in lung adenocarcinoma. It may be a potential target benefit from EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) treatment.

Case presentation: A 66-year-old Chinese male was diagnosed with lung adenocarcinoma in stage IVb with brain metastases. Next-generation sequencing revealed EGFR-KDD mutation. The patient received furmonertinib 160mg daily for anti-cancer treatment and obtained therapeutic efficacy with partial response (PR). Progression-free survival (PFS) duration from monotherapy was 16 months. With slow progressions, combined radiotherapy and anti-vascular targeted therapy also brought a continuous decrease in the tumors. The patient has an overall survival (OS) duration of more than 22 months and still benefits from double-dose furmonertinib.

Conclusions: This report provided direct evidence for the treatment of EGFR-KDD to use furmonertinib. A Large-scale study is needed to confirm this preliminary finding.

KEYWORDS

EGFR-KDD, furmonertinib, brain metastasis, lung adenocarcinoma, targeted therapy

Introduction

Global cancer statistics demonstrate that lung cancer remains the leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide (1). Adenocarcinoma is the most common pathological type of lung cancer, accounting for 35-40% of all cases. Patients with oncogenic mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase domain have been identified as a significant subgroup of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Compared with standard chemotherapy, EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) generally obtain better tumor control in patients with EGFR-mutated lung adenocarcinoma (2, 3). The most common EGFR-activating mutations include in-frame deletions in exon 19 (Ex19del) and point mutations in exon 21 (Eex21 L858R), which are generally sensitive to EGFR-TKIs (4). EGFR kinase domain duplication (EGFR-KDD) represents a rare form of EGFR mutation, with an incidence of 0.24% in EGFR mutation of lung cancer (5). Predominantly, EGFR-KDD is caused by in-frame tandem duplication of EGFR exons 18-25. Aberrant duplication forms an intramolecular dimer and constitutively activates EGFR signaling. Some studies also reported duplications spanning exons 17 to 25 or exons 14 to 26 (6). Several reports have demonstrated significant anti-tumor responses to EGFR TKI treatment for lung adenocarcinoma patients with EGFR-KDD alterations, including gefitinib, erlotinib, afatinib, and osimertinib (7-9). However, there is currently no standardized approach for treating EGFR-KDD alterations. Here, we present a case report of a patient with harboring EGFR-KDD alteration and brain metastases. The patient is treated with furmonertinib and obtains an optimal cancer response duration. This is the first case report of furmonertinib use in EGFR-KDD alterations.

Case report

A 66-year-old Chinese male presented with lower limbs weakness and was admitted to a local hospital. Cerebral computed tomography (CT) scan revealed a right occipital lobe mass. Further positron emission tomography-CT (PET-CT) imaging revealed that F-18 fluorodeoxyglucose hypermetabolic speckled in a large lesion in the right lung, suggesting of peripheral lung cancer with brain metastasis. In December, 2021, the patient transferred to our hospital. He was previously diagnosed with hypertension, and has no family history of malignancy. The Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) score of the patients was 1. Physical examination showed sightly attenuated breath sounds in the right lung. A chest CT scan revealed a 10 x 8 cm mass in the upper right lung and enlarged lymph nodes in the mediastinum (Figure 1A). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) demonstrated metastatic masses in the right parietal and occipital lobes measuring 2 x 1.8 cm and 3.2 x 3.1 cm (Figure 1B), respectively, as well as metastases in the second and third sacral vertebra. CT-guided biopsy of the right lung mass was performed and showed adenocarcinoma on pathology (Figure 1C). According to the 8th edition of AJCC staging, the patient was classified as stage IVb (cT4N2M1c). Next-generation sequencing (NGS) revealed an EGFR-KDD mutation involving exons 18-25 (frequency 18%), accompanied by TP53 D281F indel (frequency 9%). The patient received furmonertinib at a double dose of 160 mg for targeted therapy in January 2022, in order to increase drug concentration in the brain tissue. Following treatment, the patient's bilateral lower limb weakness gradually ameliorated, and he regained the ability to walk independently. One month later, a chest CT scan revealed that the right lung tumor had shrunk from 10 cm to 5.7 cm. Subsequent regular follow-up examinations revealed that the best therapeutic efficacy was partial response (PR). The right lung tumor shrunk to 4.2 x 2.6 cm (in September, 2022), and the brain lesions also significantly decreased in size. Images of CT and MRI scans were showed in Figures 1A, B. Importantly, the patient showed good tolerance to the double dose of furmonertinib without diarrhea, liver function injury, interstitial lung disease or other adverse reactions. There was no reduction or discontinuation of furmonertinib due to any adverse events regarding to double dose.

In December 2022, a chest CT scan and cerebral MRI showed slow progression of the right lung tumor and intracranial metastases, but did not meet the criteria for diagnosing progressive disease (PD). The patient refused the suggestion of biopsy to clarify secondary mutations and continued to receive furmonertinib at a daily dose of 160mg. In January 2023, the patient experienced bilateral lower limb weakness again and received stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for the brain metastases. In February 2023, a follow-up CT scan revealed further enlargement of the right lung tumor, and the patient underwent intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) for the lesion in the right lung and the surrounding lymph drainage area.

In May 2023, the patient suffered from lower limbs weakness again. A cerebral MRI showed an increase in intracranial lesions with peritumoral edema, while a chest CT scan showed that right lung tumor continued to shrink, maintaining a PR evaluation. Following multidisciplinary discussions, the recommended treatment was surgical resection of the intracranial metastases. However, the patient refused surgery. In order to further enhance intracranial drug concentrations and reverse tumor resistance, we added bevacizumab at a dose of 7.5mg/kg every three weeks as antivascular targeted therapy, starting from May 17, 2023. Furmonertinib has been continuously administered up to now. The lower limbs weakness improved, and multiple reassessments indicated a PR treatment evaluation. Since the diagnosis, the patient has achieved a progression-free survival (PFS) duration of 16 months with first-line monotherapy of furmonertinib, and currently continues to benefit from furmonertinib, with an overall survival (OS) duration exceeding 22 months. The patient has not suffered from significant adverse drug reactions during the treatment. The flowchart of treatment is showed in Figure 1D.

Discussion

Exon 19 deletion and exon 21 L858R mutation are the two most common EGFR mutations, accounting for 75% of all EGFR



(A) Chest computed tomography (CT)scans during the treatment, (B) Cerebral magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)scans during the treatment, (C) Immunohistochemical image of CK7, (D) The timeline demonstrating the history of treatment for the patient. PR, partial response; SBRT, stereotactic body radiation therapy; IMRT, intensity-modulated radiation therapy; OS, overall survival.

mutations and representing the sensitive mutations for EGFR-TKI treatment (10). EGFR-KDD is a rare mutation. Wang et al. (5) reviewed 10759 cases of lung cancer and found that EGFR-KDD accounted for only about 0.24% of EGFR mutations. As a driver gene, EGFR-KDD mutations are commonly observed in exons 18-25, with exon 17-25 and exon 14-26 being less common. Vitro studies have shown that repetitive mutation in EGFR exons 18-25 kinase domain lead to constitutive activation of the EGFR kinase, resulting in over-activation of downstream signaling pathways, promoting cell proliferation and tumor development. Additionally, clinical pathological studies reported that EGFR-KDD alteration may increase sensitivity to EGFR-TKIs (8, 11). However, there is currently no consensus on the treatment of

EGFR-KDD. Previous publications about EGFR-KDD treatments are mostly case reports, with EGFR-TKI being the choice for most first-line treatments, although the treatment is not as effective as EGFR sensitive mutations. Yang et al. (12) reported a case of an EGFR-KDD mutant patient who received chemotherapy with unsatisfactory results. Table 1 summarizes the published cases of EGFR-KDD mutation treating with first-line TKIs. The longest reported PFS is 12 months, although patients still benefit from targeted therapy at the time of publication. The only patient with brain metastasis experienced disease progression after only 2 months of treatment with osimertinib.

We are the first to report a case of EGFR-KDD mutated lung adenocarcinoma with concurrent brain metastasis treated with

No.	Publication	Year of publication	Age	Gender/ Ethnicity	Diagnosis/ Stage	EGFR-TKI Treatment	Concurrent mutations	Response to TKI	PFS (months)
1	Zhu et al. (13)	2018	63	Female/ Chinese	LUAD/IV	Icotinib	NA	SD	11
2	Chen et al. (14)	2020	59	Male/ Chinese	LUAD/IV	Afatinib	TP53 R282W CTNNB1 S37Y	SD	10
3	Zhao et al. (11)	2021	61	Male/ Chinese	LUAD/IIIB	Afatinib	None	PR	12
4	Kim et al. (15) *	2021	50	Male/ African- American	LUAD/IVb	Osimertinib	None	PR	2
5	Wang et al. (16)	2019	74	Female/ Chinese	LUAD/IIb	Afatinib	None	SD	6
6	Zhang et al. (9)	2021	#1:44	#1:Male/ Chinese	#1:LUAD/ IVa	#1: Afatinib→ Osimertinib	#1: CDK6 TP53	#1: PR SD	#1: 7(1 st line) NR(2 nd line)
			#2:61	#2: Female/ Chinese	#2:LUAD/ IVb	#2:icotinib	#2:PTEN	#2:NR	#2:8
7	Wang et al. (5)	2019	#1:61	#1: Male/ Chinese	#1: LUAD/IV	#1: Erlotinib→ Osimertinib	#1: TP53	#1: PD	#1: 2(1 st line) 2 (2 nd line)
			#2: 60	#2: Male /Chinese	#2: LUAD/IV	#2: Gefitinib→ afatinib→ osimertinib	#2: ERBB2	#2: PR	#2: 5(1 st line), 2(2 nd line), 4(3 rd line)
			#3: 67	#3: Female/ Chinese	#3: LUAD/IV	#3: Gefitinib	#3: NA	#3: SD	#3: 11
			#4: 43	#4: Male/ Chinese	#4: LUAD/IV	#4: Icotinib + patinib	#4: TP53, PIK3CA	#4: PR	#4: 4
			#5: 52	#5: Female/ Chinese	#5: LUAD/IV	#5: Gefitinib→ erlotinib	#5: NA	#5: PD	#5: 3(1 st line) 5(2 nd line)

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients with NSCLC EGFR-KDD mutation treating with first-line TKIs in previous studies.

* accompanied with brain metastasis; #: a report with multiple patients

NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; EGFR-KDD, epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain duplication; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; PFS, progression-free survival; LUAD, lung adenocarcinoma; NA, not available; SD stable disease; PR, partial response; NR, not reach; PD, progressive disease

furmonertinib. Furmonertinib (AST2818) is a highly brainpenetrant, third generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) developed by Shanghai Allist Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd, Shanghai, China. It has been approved for the first-line treatment of patients with 19Del or L858R mutations and treatment of patients with T790M mutations whose disease has progressed on or after EGFR TKI therapy (17, 18). Compared with osimertinib, it has atrifluoroethoxy pyridine-based molecule structure that binds to a hollow hydrophobic pocket in the binding region composed of amino acids M793 and L792, enhancing its binding activity and kinase selectivity for EGFR. Additionally, this modification improved the metabolic profile of furmonertinib and inhibited the formation of non-selective metabolites. Furthermore, furmonertinib and its metabolites exhibit low affinity for wild-type EGFR-encoded

proteins, which minimizes inhibition of wild-type EGFR-encoded proteins and reduces related side effects, thus improving its safety. Meng et al. revealed that furmonertinib is mainly distributed in the lung after administration (19). Therefore, furmonertinib improve treatment efficacy of lung cancer. In the FAVOUR (NCT04858958, CTR20201697) phase Ib study, furmonertinib 240 mg once daily and 160 mg once daily both showed promising efficacy and a predictable and manageable safety profile in patients with NSCLC harboring EGFR Exon20ins mutations (20). Furmonertinib might play a role in the treatment of rare EGFR mutation. A pooled, *posthoc* analysis of two phase 2 studies (NCT03127449 [phase 2a study of furmonertinib], NCT03452592 [phase 2b study of furmonertinib]) demonstrated that better response and longer median central nervous system-PFS (CNS-PFS) were observed in

patients treated by furmonertinib 160 mg orally once daily to furmonertinib 80mg (21). Regarding the safety of medication use, FUTONG study indicated that furmonertinib and gefitinib have similar rates of drug-related adverse reactions at standard doses. However, for grade 3 or higher adverse reactions, the incidence in the furmonertinib group (18%) was lower than that in the gefitinib group (11%) (18). The most frequent severe adverse reactions with furmonertinib are QTc prolongation and diarrhea. Furthermore, a retrospective single-arm study presented at the 2023 World Conference on Lung Cancer (WCLC) demonstrated that out of 20 patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) harboring EGFR mutations and brain metastases treated with a first-line double dose of furmonertinib, only one patient experienced grade 3 treatment-related adverse events (TRAEs) (22). Three patients had their dosage reduced, and one patient interrupted treatment due to TRAEs, but no patients discontinued the study medication. These findings suggest that a double dose of furmetinib also exhibits a favorable tolerability profile. In this case, the patient has not experienced significant adverse reactions during treatment, demonstrating great safety of furmonertinib. Furmonertinib may emerge as a new option for treating EGFR-KDD mutation.

TP53 is a critical tumor suppressor gene and has the highest mutation rate among malignancies. In NSCLC patients, 50%-65% of EGFR mutation-positive cases also harbor TP53 mutations. Clinical research has consistently shown that TP53 mutations impact the effectiveness of EGFR-TKIs. A meta-analysis including 24 studies with 2,227 patients with EGFR-mutated NSCLC found that patients with TP53-EGFR co-mutations had significantly shorter PFS and overall survival (OS) duration compared to those with wild-type TP53 (23). Subgroup analysis indicated that mutations in exons 5-8 were associated with a poorer prognosis. Further research has found that in advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC patients, the presence of TP53 exon 4 or 6 mutations leads to an even worse outcome (24). Although the effect of specific TP53 mutation subtypes on prognosis is not fully agreed upon, the co-occurrence of TP53 and EGFR mutations generally decreases the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in NSCLC patients. Some studies have attempted to explore the effects of combination therapy. The RELAY study (25), a phase III trial, investigating the efficacy of ramucirumab plus erlotinib versus placebo plus erlotinib in EGFRpositive NSCLC patients, showed that patients with TP53 comutations at baseline benefited more from combination therapy in terms of PFS, regardless of exon 19del or exon 21 L858R mutations. The ACTIVE study (26) suggested that a combination of gefitinib and apatinib favored PFS for patients with TP53 mutations compared with gefitinib alone, particularly for those with exon 8 mutations. Additionally, a retrospective study (27) demonstrated that the combination of EGFR-TKI with chemotherapy could provide more survival benefits than EGFR-TKI monotherapy for NSCLC patients with the TP53-EGFR comutation. Despite the potential benefits, combination therapy also increases the rate of adverse reactions, which may be challenging for patients to tolerate. In our case, the patient had a TP53 exon 8 D281F mutation, which could be a negative prognostic factor. However, the patient still achieved satisfactory tumor control with monotherapy of furmonertinib.

Previous studies demonstrated that continuing the original TKI treatment in combination with consolidative local therapy benefits patients with central progression or oligoprogression after targeted therapy (28). Furthermore, multiple studies suggested that the combination of targeted therapy and anti-angiogenesis treatment significantly improves PFS (29, 30). The approach of antiangiogenesis plus targeted therapy is a crucial component of chemotherapy-free treatment strategies. The combined therapy simultaneously blocks the EGFR/VEGF pathway and downregulates signaling pathways at multiple sites, exhibiting synergistic anti-tumor activity and delaying the occurrence of TKI resistance. Additionally, the vessel normalization effect of antiangiogenic agents alleviates the impact of the blood-brain barrier, improving drug transport in the central nervous system and increasing intracranial drug concentrations. In this case, the patient experienced slow enlargement of intracranial and right lung lesions after 12 months of furmonertinib use. After receiving local radiotherapy, the tumor continued to shrink. In May 2023, the tumor progressed again, and the patient declined further local interventions. We added bevacizumab to the furmonertinib and the patient obtained persistent tumor control. As of now, the patient continues to benefit from the combination treatment approach, with an OS duration exceeding 22 months.

In summary, we report the first case of furmonertinib using in advanced non-small cell lung cancer (stage IVb) with an EGFR-KDD mutation. The patient achieved a sustained anti-tumor response in primary tumor and central nervous system metastases with a double-dose of furmonertinib. Compared to first-generation and second-generation EGFR TKIs, furmonertinib has better penetration across the blood-brain barrier and demonstrates efficacy in treating central nervous system metastases in nonsmall cell lung cancer, showing a favorable response rate. In comparison to other third-generation EGFR TKIs such as osimertinib, furmonertinib has fewer adverse reactions and higher safety, which bring better patient compliance. This case report supports the use of furmonertinib in advanced NSCLC patients with EGFR-KDD and central nervous system metastasis. Large scale study is needed to confirm this preliminary finding.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

HL: Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Writing – original draft. ZY: Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Writing – original draft. ZL: Formal analysis, Methodology, Writing – original draft. JC: Conceptualization, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. HW: Conceptualization, Investigation, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. YL: Supervision, Visualization, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, Yang CH, Chu DT, Saijo N, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. *N Engl J Med.* (2009) 361:947–57. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0810699

3. Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, et al. Osimertinib in untreated EGFR-mutated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:113–25. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1713137

4. da Cunha Santos G, Shepherd FA, Tsao MS. EGFR mutations and lung cancer. Annu Rev Pathol. (2011) 6:49–69. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130206

5. Wang J, Li X, Xue X, Ou Q, Wu X, Liang Y, et al. Clinical outcomes of EGFR kinase domain duplication to targeted therapies in NSCLC. *Int J Cancer.* (2019) 144:2677-82. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31895

6. Du Z, Brown BP, Kim S, Ferguson D, Pavlick DC, Jayakumaran G, et al. Structurefunction analysis of oncogenic EGFR Kinase Domain Duplication reveals insights into activation and a potential approach for therapeutic targeting. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:1382. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21613-6

7. Baik CS, Wu D, Smith C, Martins RG, Pritchard CC. Durable response to tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy in a lung cancer patient harboring epidermal growth factor receptor tandem kinase domain duplication. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2015) 10:e97–9. doi: 10.1097/JTO.00000000000586

 Gallant JN, Sheehan JH, Shaver TM, Bailey M, Lipson D, Chandramohan R, et al. EGFR kinase domain duplication (EGFR-KDD) is a novel oncogenic driver in lung cancer that is clinically responsive to afatinib. *Cancer Discov.* (2015) 5:1155–63. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0654

9. Zhang LD, Gao H, Qin SM, Zeng Q, Chen QF. Osimertinib is an effective epidermal growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor choice for lung cancer with epidermal growth factor receptor exon 18-25 kinase domain duplication: report of two cases. *Anticancer Drugs*. (2022) 33:e486–e90. doi: 10.1097/CAD.000000000001148

10. Costa DB. Kinase inhibitor-responsive genotypes in EGFR mutated lung adenocarcinomas: moving past common point mutations or indels into uncommon kinase domain duplications and rearrangements. *Transl Lung Cancer Res.* (2016) 5:331–7. doi: 10.21037/tlcr

11. Zhao L, Wang Z, Du H, Chen S, Wang P. Lung adenocarcinoma patient harboring EGFR-KDD achieve durable response to afatinib: A case report and literature review. *Front Oncol.* (2021) 11:605853. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.605853

12. Yang D, Han X, Li D, Cui S, Liu S, Wu X, et al. Molecular diagnosis and clinical outcome of a lung cancer patient with TP53-E285K mutated Li-Fraumeni syndrome harboring a somatic EGFR-KDD mutation. *Am J Transl Res.* (2020) 12:6689–93.

13. Zhu YC, Wang WX, Xu CW, Tan QH, Li JY, Zhuang W, et al. Lung adenocarcinoma patient with an EGFR kinase domain duplication (KDD) and the response to icotinib. *J Thorac Dis.* (2018) 10:E359–e63. doi: 10.21037/jtd

14. Chen D, Li XL, Wu B, Zheng XB, Wang WX, Chen HF, et al. A novel oncogenic driver in a lung adenocarcinoma patient harboring an EGFR-KDD and response to afatinib. *Front Oncol.* (2020) 10:867. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00867

15. Taek Kim J, Zhang W, Lopategui J, Vail E, Balmanoukian A. Patient with stage IV NSCLC and CNS metastasis with EGFR exon 18-25 kinase domain duplication with response to osimertinib as a first-line therapy. *JCO Precis Oncol.* (2021) 5:88–92. doi: 10.1200/PO.20.00296

16. Wang XF, Zhao QT, Chen C. Afatinib achieved remarkable disease control in a chinese patient with lung adenocarcinoma harboring rare EGFR exon 18-25 kinase domain duplication. *Am J Ther.* (2020) 27:e535–e7. doi: 10.1097/MJT.000000000000105

17. Shi Y, Hu X, Zhang S, Lv D, Wu L, Yu Q, et al. Efficacy, safety, and genetic analysis of furmonertinib (AST2818) in patients with EGFR T790M mutated non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase 2b, multicentre, single-arm, open-label study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2021) 9:829–39. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30455-0

18. Shi Y, Chen G, Wang X, Liu Y, Wu L, Hao Y, et al. Furmonertinib (AST2818) versus gefitinib as first-line therapy for Chinese patients with locally advanced or metastatic EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (FURLONG): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised phase 3 study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2022) 10:1019–28. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(22)00168-0

19. Meng J, Zhang H, Bao JJ, Chen ZD, Liu XY, Zhang YF, et al. Metabolic disposition of the EGFR covalent inhibitor furmonertinib in humans. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2022) 43:494–503. doi: 10.1038/s41401-021-00667-8

20. Han B, Zhou C, Wu L, Yu X, Li Q, Liu F. 1210P Preclinical and preliminary clinical investigations of furmonertinib in NSCLC with EGFR exon 20 insertions (20ins). *Ann Oncol.* (2021) 32:S964. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.08.1815

21. Hu X, Zhang S, Ma Z, Feng J, Wu L, Lv D, et al. Central nervous system efficacy of furmonertinib (AST2818) in patients with EGFR T790M mutated non-small cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis from two phase 2 studies. *BMC Med.* (2023) 21:164. doi: 10.1186/s12916-023-02865-z

22. Xixi Zheng JA, Hua Y, Ding X, Sun S, Shi H, Zhou L, et al. Efficacy and safety of furmonertinib 160mg as first-line therapy for EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC patients with CNS metastases. *WCLC*. (2023).

23. Lan B, Zhao N, Du K, Leng B. Concurrent TP53 mutations predict a poor prognosis of EGFR-mutant NSCLCs treated with TKIs: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oncol Lett.* (2022) 24:384. doi: 10.3892/ol

24. Jiao XD, Qin BD, You P, Cai J, Zang YS. The prognostic value of TP53 and its correlation with EGFR mutation in advanced non-small cell lung cancer, an analysis based on cBioPortal data base. *Lung Cancer*. (2018) 123:70–5. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.07.003

25. Nakagawa K, Nadal E, Garon EB, Nishio M, Seto T, Yamamoto N, et al. RELAY subgroup analyses by EGFR Ex19del and Ex21L858R mutations for ramucirumab plus erlotinib in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2021) 27:5258–71. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-21-0273

26. Zhao H, Yao W, Min X, Gu K, Yu G, Zhang Z, et al. Apatinib plus gefitinib as firstline treatment in advanced EGFR-mutant NSCLC: the phase III ACTIVE study (CTONG1706). J Thorac Oncol. (2021) 16:1533–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2021.05.006

27. Yang Z, Chen Y, Wang Y, Wang S, Hu M, Zhang B, et al. Efficacy of EGFR-TKI plus chemotherapy or monotherapy as first-line treatment for advanced EGFR-mutant lung adenocarcinoma patients with co-mutations. *Front Oncol.* (2021) 11:681429. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.681429

28. Xu Q, Zhou F, Liu H, Jiang T, Li X, Xu Y, et al. Consolidative local ablative therapy improves the survival of patients with synchronous oligometastatic NSCLC

harboring EGFR activating mutation treated with first-line EGFR-TKIs. J Thorac Oncol. (2018) 13:1383–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.05.019

29. Yu HA, Paz-Ares LG, Yang JC, Lee KH, Garrido P, Park K, et al. Phase I study of the efficacy and safety of ramucirumab in combination with osimertinib in advanced T790M-positive EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2021) 27:992–1002. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1690

30. Soo R, Han J-Y, Dimopoulou G, Cho BC, Yeo CM, Nadal E, et al. VP3-2021: A randomized phase II study of second-line osimertinib (Osi) and bevacizumab (Bev) versus Osi in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and T790M mutations (mt): Results from the ETOP BOOSTER trial. *Ann Oncol.* (2021) 32(7):942-4. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.04.010

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Lizza E. L. Hendriks, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands

REVIEWED BY Petros Christopoulos, Heidelberg University Hospital, Germany Yusuke Okuma, National Cancer Center Hospital, Japan

*CORRESPONDENCE Yongmei Liu Vymi75@163.com

RECEIVED 13 December 2023 ACCEPTED 24 June 2024 PUBLISHED 04 July 2024

CITATION

Xia X, Du W, Zhang Y, Li Y, Yu M and Liu Y (2024) Efficacy of epidermal growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor for lung adenosquamous cell carcinoma harboring EGFR mutation: a retrospective study and pooled analysis. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1354854. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1354854

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Xia, Du, Zhang, Li, Yu and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Efficacy of epidermal growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor for lung adenosquamous cell carcinoma harboring EGFR mutation: a retrospective study and pooled analysis

Xueming Xia¹, Wei Du², Yan Zhang³, Yanying Li³, Min Yu³ and Yongmei Liu³*

¹Division of Head & Neck Tumor Multimodality Treatment, Cancer Center, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ²Department of Targeting Therapy & Immunology, Cancer Center, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ³Division of Thoracic Tumor Multimodality Treatment, Cancer Center, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Objectives: To explore the efficacy of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) on lung adenosquamous cell carcinoma (ASC) with EGFR mutation.

Methods: Efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in the treatment of advanced or recurrent lung ASC with EGFR mutations was assessed retrospectively in 44 patients. Pooled analysis of 74 patients using EGFR-TKIs, including 30 patients selected from 11 publications, was conducted.

Results: In our retrospective research, patients treated with EGFR-TKI in ASC with EGFR mutations had objective response rate (ORR) of 54.5%, disease control rate (DCR) of 79.5%, median progression free survival (mPFS) of 8.8 months, and median overall survival (mOS) of 19.43 months, respectively. A pooled analysis reveals ORR, DCR, mPFS, and mOS are, respectively, 63.4%, 85.9%, 10.00 months, and 21.37 months for ASC patients. In patients with deletions in exon 19 and exon 21 L858R mutations, mPFS (11.0 versus 10.0 months, P=0.771) and mOS (23.67 versus 20.33 months, P=0.973) were similar. Erlotinib or gefitinib-treated patients had an overall survival trend that was superior to that of icotinib-treated patients.

Conclusions: ASC harboring EGFR mutations can be treated with EGFR-TKI in a similar manner to Adenocarcinoma (ADC) harboring EGFR mutations. There is still a need for further investigation to identify the separate roles of ASC's two components in treating EGFR.

KEYWORDS

tyrosine kinase inhibitor, adenosquamous lung carcinoma, EGFR, mutation, lung cancer

Introduction

Lung adenosquamous cell carcinoma (ASC)has a low incidence of about 0.4%-4%, making it one of the rarest types of lung cancer (1). ASC is characterized by the presence of both glandular and squamous components, each constituting at least 10% of the tumor (2). This dual histology contributes to the aggressive nature of ASC and poses significant therapeutic challenges. The prognosis for ASC patients is generally poorer compared to those with pure adenocarcinoma or squamous cell carcinoma, reflecting its more aggressive biological behavior and limited treatment options. Although immunotherapy improves survival of ASC patient, compared to squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma, ASC patients have a worse prognosis (3–5).

In patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) harboring epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations, treatment with EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) are now norm. Third-generation EGFR-TKIs, such as osimertinib, have become the current standard of care, particularly for patients with EGFR T790M resistance mutations (6, 7). EGFR mutations are predominantly found in adenocarcinoma, but they can also be detected in 54.8% of ASC patients (8). Despite the proven efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in treating EGFR-mutant NSCLC, the evidence for their effectiveness in ASC is limited due to the rarity of the condition and the consequent scarcity of comprehensive studies (9). Current treatment guidelines and clinical trials predominantly focus on adenocarcinoma, leaving a gap in tailored therapeutic strategies for ASC patients with EGFR mutations.

In this context, our study aims to explore the efficacy of EGFR-TKIs in patients with EGFR-mutant ASC through a retrospective analysis and pooled data from published studies. We seek to provide insights into the clinical outcomes and potential benefits of EGFR-TKIs therapy in this unique patient population, thereby addressing a critical gap in the management of ASC.

Patients and methods

Patients

Between January 2009 and April 2022, we collected clinical data on ASC patients treated with EGFR-TKI at West China Hospital. All patients underwent bronchofiberscope or percutaneous lung biopsies, followed by immunohistochemistry (IHC) for pathological confirmation. These retrospective analyses were carried out with informed consent from each patient.

We searched PUBMED for all publications describing the use of EGFR-TKI in advanced or recurrent EGFR mutant ASC patients for further research into its efficacy. There were three subject headings used during the search period of 2005 to 2022: lung cancer, mutation, and EGFR. Journals and publications were not limited by the strategy, but abstracts of conferences were not accepted. An evaluation of EGFR-TKIs used to treat advanced or recurrent ASC patients harboring EGFR mutations was included in this study. The choice was limited to researches published in the English journal. EGFR-TKI therapy was offered to patients who met all three criteria: (1) advanced or recurrent ASC, (2) EGFR mutation, and (3) acceptance of EGFR-TKI therapy (erlotinib 150mg/day, gefitinib 250mg/day, icotinib 125mg tid or dacomitinib 45mg/day). Data, such as EGFR mutation type, EGFR-TKI line, and treatment with EGFR-TKI, were collected as baseline factors. The authors were asked for data that wasn't included in the article.

Test method for EGFR mutation

In the retrospective data, tissues that were embalmed or freshly harvested were used to extract DNA. The mutations in EGFR were identified using a quantitative PCR analysis using the Amplification Refractory Mutation System.A EGFR mutation was detected using the protocol represented in each study, according to the published data.

Clinical assessments

The Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors were used to evaluate the efficacy of the EGFR-TKI targeted therapy. There were four types of responses: progressive disease (PD), stable disease (SD), partial response (PR), and complete response (CR). The objective response rate (ORR) is determined by dividing the percentage of patients who were CR or PR by all patients. CR, PR, and SD patients were divided by total patients to determine the disease control rate (DCR). A prognosis of progression free survival (PFS) was calculated from the beginning of treatment to the onset of PD. We also calculated overall survival (OS) from the moment treatment began until death. It was on July 22, 2022, that the last follow-up visit was carried out. In statistical analysis, patients who did not progress or were alive were censored on July 22, 2022.

Statistical methods

Qualitative variables were illustrated as the way of absolute and percentage amounts, while continuous variables were illustrated as medians with ranges. In order to conduct the survival analysis, Kaplan-Meier methods were used. An univariate analysis of logrank tests was performed in order to determine which prognostic factors affect PFS and OS. A multivariate analysis was conducted by using Cox regression. The significance of P values is determined by using 0.05. Analyses were conducted using SPSS version 22.0.

Results

Patient characteristics

EGFR-TKI treatment was administered to 44 ASC patients with EGFR mutations at the two cancer centers for the purposes of assessing efficacy. Of the 44 ASC patients, there were 22 females and 22 males. Age range was 34-82 years (median 60.5 years). There were 17 patients with a history of smoking. Among the patients, 20 had a mutation in exon 19 (19-DEL), 21 had a mutation in exon 21 (L858R), while 3 had a rare sensitive mutation (G719X, L861Q). As a first-lines treatment, 27 patients were treated with EGFR-TKI, and 17 patients were treated in a second or more line of treatment. There were 11 patients treated with erlotinib, 21 patients treated with gefitinib, 11 patients treated with icotinib, and 1 patient treated with dacomitinib (Table 1).

Efficacy of EGFR-TKI

ASCs with EGFR mutations responded to EGFR-TKI with 2 CRs, 22 PRs, 11 SDs, and 9 PDs. The ORR was 54.5% and the DCR was 79.5% for the 44 patients (Table 2). Ten patients had not yet progressed, while 21 patients were still alive on July 22, 2022. Figure 1 shows the mPFS was 8.8 months (95% CI 3.38-14.22), and Figure 2 shows the mOS of 19.43 months (95% CI 15.42-23.45).

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics of ASC patients with EGFR mutation.

Characteristics	Study data (n=44)	Published data(n=30)	Total data (n=74)	
Age (years)	60.5(34-82)	57(30-76)	58.5(30-82)	
Age	44	21	65	
<60	22(33.8%)	12(18.5%)	34(52.3%)	
≥60	22(33.8%)	9(13.9%)	31(47.7%)	
Gender	44	30	74	
Male	22(29.7%)	11(14.9%)	33(44.6%)	
Female	22(29.7%)	19(25.7%)	41(55.4%)	
Smoking status	44	28	72	
Smoker (current/former)	17(23.6%)	5(7.0%)	22(30.6%)	
Non-smoker (never)	27(37.5%)	23(31.9%)	50(69.4%)	
EGFR mutation type	44	30	74	
19 Del	20(27.0%)	20(27.0%)	40(54.0%)	
21 L858R	21(28.4%)	8(10.8%)	29(39.2%)	
G719X, L861Q	3(4.0%)	1(1.4%)	4(5.4%)	
21L858R and T790M	0(0.%)	1(1.4%)	1(1.4%)	
Lines of EGFR-TKI	44	22	66	
1ST line	27(40.9%)	10(15.2%)	37(56.1%)	
2nd+ line	17(25.8%)	12(18.1%)	29(43.9%)	
EGFR-TKI treatment	44	23	67	
Erlotinib	11(16.4%)	14(20.9%)	25(37.3%)	
Gefitinib	21(31.4%)	9(13.4%)	30(44.8%)	
Icotinib	11(16.4)	0(0%)	11(16.4%)	
Dacomitinib	1(1.5%)	0(0%)	1(1.5%)	

ASC, adenosquamous cell carcinoma; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor.

TABLE 2 Best response to EGFR-TKI in ASC patients.

Best response	Study data (n=44)	Published data(n=30)	Total data (n=74)	
Complete response (CR)	2	1	3	
Partial response (PR)	22	20	42	
Stable disease (SD)	11	5	16	
Progressive disease (PD)	9	1	10	
Objective response rate (ORR)	54.5% (24/44)	77.8% (21/27)	63.4% (45/71)	
Disease control rate (DCR)	79.5% (35/44)	96.3% (26/27)	85.9% (61/71)	

ASC, adenosquamous cell carcinoma; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor.

Pooled analysis

A total of 30 patients who met the inclusion criteria from eleven research studies were included in this study (10–20). The 11 researches consisted of 8 retrospective studies and 3 case reports. A total of eight of these researches were conducted in East Asian countries. Thirteen patients were from western countries. Definitive data of age, gender, smoking status, EGFR mutation type, lines of EGFR-TKI and EGFR-TKI treatment could be extracted in 21 (70.0%), 30 (100.0%), 28 (93.3%), 30 (100.0%), 22 (73.3%) and 23 (76.7%) of the 30 patients, respectively (Tables 1, 3, 4).

Finally, we pooled data from 74 patients. Ages ranged from 30 to 82 years (median 58.5). Gender and smoking history were: male




(33/74, 44.6%), female (41/74, 55.4%); never-smoker (50/72, 69.4%), smoker (22/72, 30.6%); There were 40 patients (40/74, 54.0%) with exon 19 deletion, 29 patients (29/74, 39.2%) with L858R mutation and 4 patients (4/74, 5.4%) with rare sensitive mutation (G719X, L861Q). One patient (1.4%) who had both a resistant mutation (T790M) and sensitive mutation (L858R) was excluded in the analysis of PFS and OS. Twenty-five (25/67, 37.3%) patients received erlotinib, 30 patients (30/67, 44.8%) received gefitinib, 11 patients (11/67, 16.4%) received icotinib and 1 patients (1/67, 1.5%) received dacomitinib. In 37 cases (37/66, 56.1%), EGFR-TKI was used as the first line of treatment while in

10.3389/fonc.2024.1354854

29 cases (29/66, 43.9%), second or more lines of treatment with EGFR-TKI were used. (Table 1).

There are 27 patients whose tumor responses were identified from published research. In total, 71 patients were evaluated for response. There were three patients with CR, 42 patients with PR, 16 patients with SD, and 10 patients with PD. It had an ORR of 63.4% (45/71) and DCR of 85.9% (61/71) (Table 2).

19 patients with PFS were identified in published research. In total, 63 patients were analyzed for PFS. All patients had a mPFS of 10.00 months (95% CI 6.73-13.27). Exon 19 deletion patients had a mPFS of 11.00 months (95% CI 6.70-15.30), while exon 21 L858R mutation patients had a mPFS of 10.00 months (95% CI 5.89-14.11) (P=0.771). Compared to rare sensitive mutations (G719X, L861Q) patients, exon 19 deletion patients or exon 21 L858R mutation patients had a longer mPFS (11.00 months vs. 2.10 months, P=0.005; 10.00 months vs. 2.10 months, P=0.005; 10.00 months vs. 2.10 months, P=0.019). Univariate analysis did not show significant correlations between the data sources, age, gender, smoking status, EGFR-TKI lines, and EGFR-TKI treatment and PFS. Multivariate analysis revealed no significant correlation between clinical features and PFS (Table 5).

The data of OS was extracted in 18 patients from the published researches. The pooled analysis of OS included 62 patients. The mOS was 21.37 months (95% CI 16.01-26.73). Exon 19 deletion patients had a mOS of 23.67 months, while exon 21 L858R mutation patients had a mOS of 20.33 months (P=0.973). In univariate analysis, erlotinib treatment led to a longer OS compared with icotinib treatment (25.00 months vs. 15.01 months, P=0.061); In univariate analysis, a mOS of 23.67 months was seen in patients treated with gefitinib compared with 15.01 months in patients treated with icotinib (P=0.009); Univariate analyses showed no significant correlation between the data sources, age, gender, smoking status, and lines of EGFR-TKIs and OS. In multivariate analysis, no clinical features were found to be correlated significantly with OS (Table 6).

TABLE 3 The 11 published reports which we could extract the data of recurrent or advanced ASC patients who had EGFR mutation and were treated with EGFR-TKI.

Author	Year published	Study design	Country of origin	NO. ASC patients Harboring EGFR mutation
Tokumo et al. (10)	2005	Retrospective trial	Japan	1
Ichihara et al. (11)	2007	Retrospective trial	Japan	1
Xu et al. (12)	2009	Retrospective trial	China	1
Paik et al. (13)	2012	Retrospective trial	America	9
Iwanaga et al. (14)	2012	CASE REPORT	Japan	1
Cho et al. (15)	2012	Retrospective trial	Korea	3
Baik et al. (16)	2013	CASE REPORT	America	2
Inoue et al. (17)	2013	Prospective trial	Japan	2
Powrozek et al. (18)	2014	Prospective trial	Poland	2
Tamura et al. (19)	2015	CASE REPORT	Japan	1
Song et al. (20)	2013	Prospective trial	China	7

ASC, adenosquamous cell carcinoma; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor.

Author	No.	mutation	Age (y)	Sex	PS	Smoking	Line	ТКІ	Response	PFS (m)	OS (m)
Tokumo et al. (10)	1	L858R	77	F	1	-	2	G	SD	-	-
Ichihara et al. (11)	2	L858R+T790M	-	F	-	_	-	G	SD	1.6	8.7
Xu et al. (12)	3	L858R	-	М	-	Y	≧2	G	PR	5.3+	5.3+
Paik et al. (13)	4	19-del	61	М	-	N	2	E	PR	12.1	27.5
	5	19-del	71	F	-	N	1	Е	-	19.6	32.9+
	6	19-del	58	F	-	N	2	E	SD	23.6	32.2+
	7	19-del	45	F	-	N	2	E	-	-	15.9
	8	19-del	46	М	-	N	1	E	PR	5+	6.6+
	9	19-del	73	М	-	Y	3	Е	-	-	29.8
	10	19-del	76	М	-	N	1	Е	PR	5.3	5.3
	11	L858R	30	F	-	N	2	Е	PR	8.4	10.9+
	12	19-del	50	М	-	N	1	Е	PR	9.2+	9.6+
Iwanaga et al. (14)	13	19-del	56	F	-	Y	2	G	CR	36.0	-
Cho et al. (15)	14	19-del	48	F	-	N	2	G	PR	4.53	16.93
	15	19-del	43	F	-	N	2	Е	PR	8.23	24.03
	16	19-del	51	F	-	N	2	Е	PR	13.53	25.0
Baik et al. (16)	17	L858R	53	F	-	N	1	Е	PR	9.0	19.0
	18	19-del	61	F	-	Ν	1	Е	PR	4+	-
Inoue et al. (17)	19	19-del	67	F	0	N	1	G	SD	2.97+	36.0
	20	L858R	60	F	0	Y	1	G	PR	10.0	32.8+
Powrezek et al. (18)	21	19-del	58	М	2	Ν	1	G	PR	11.0	16.0
	22	L861Q+G719X	51	М	1	N	1	Е	PR	6+	8+
Tamura et al. (19)	23	19-del	66	F	1	Ν	2	G	PR	9.0	-
Song et al. (20)	24- 30	19del(4)/ L858R(3)	-	F(4)/ M(3)	-	Y(1)/N(6)	-	E/G	PR(5)/SD(1)/ PD(1)	m8.7	-

TABLE 4 Individual patient data of the ASC patients with EGFR mutations extracted from the 11 studies that evaluated the efficacy of EGFR-TKI for ASC patients with EGFR mutations.

ASC, adenosquamous cell carcinoma; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; CR, complete response; PR, partial response; SD, stabledisease; PFS, Progression Free Survival; OS, Overall Survival; G, Gefitinib; E, Erlotinib.

Discussion

Literature studies concerning EGFR-TKI sensitivity in ASC harboring EGFR mutation are limited due to the low incidence of ASC in lung cancer. As a result, there is not enough evidence to support the efficacy of EGFR-TKI in the treatment of ASC. In our pooled analysis, there was an ORR of 63.4% and DCR of 85.9% in ASC patients treated with EGFR-TKI, and a mPFS of 10.00 months and a mOS of 21.37 months in these patients. Hence, ASC containing mutant EGFR are effectively treated with EGFR-TKI. Meanwhile, EGFR mutation can be detected in 54.8% of ASC patients which demonstrated that the mutation rate is parallel to ADC (8, 21). As EGFR mutations are highly prevalent in ASC patients and EGFR-TKIs are highly effective, we recommend routine EGFR mutation testing for all ASC patients. To our

knowledge, our study represents one of the largest studies of EGFR-TKI efficacy in lung ASC patients harboring mutations in EGFR. We believe this data deserves clinical reference.

ADC has been successfully treated with EGFR-TKI in previous clinical studies, with ORRs of 70-85% and mPFS of 8-13 months (7, 22). Previous research has indicated that ASC patients with EGFR mutations achieve mPFS of 9.3 months when treated with first-generation EGFR-TKI (9). As a result of our study, lung ASC had an ORR of 63.4% and a median PFS of 10.00 months. Our study shows that lung ASC with EGFR mutations respond effectively to EGFR-TKI treatment, albeit with a slightly lower efficacy compared to pure adenocarcinomas. The distinct biological behavior of ASC, which includes both squamous and glandular components, might contribute to the differences in treatment outcomes (3). The heterogeneity within the tumor may impact the response to

TABLE 5 Association between clinical factors and the PFS.

	PFS	Univariate	Multivariate
	(months)	analysis, P ^a	analysis, P ^b
Data sources		0.257	0.279
Bicenter data	8.80		
Published data	11.00		
Age(years)		0.875	0.875
<60	9.00		
≥60	11.99		
Gender		0.467	0.442
Male	9.40		
Female	10.00		
Smoking status		0.907	0.863
Smoker (current/former)	9.40		
Non- smoker (never)	11.00		
EGFR mutation type		P1 = 0.005, P2 = 0.019, P3 = 0.771	0.181
19-DEL	11.00		
L858R	10.00		
G719X, L861Q	2.10		
Lines of EGFR-TKIs			0.127
1	8.05	0.116	
≥2	11.99		
EGFR- TKIs treatment		P4 = 0.101, P5 = 0.724, P6 = 0.087	0.864
Erlotinib	8.23		
Gefitinib	14.80		
Icotinib	11.77		

EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; PFS, progression free survival; ^a, Log-rank test; ^b, Cox regression test; P1, P (19-DEL vs. G719X, L861Q); P2, P (L858R vs. G719X,L861Q); P3, P (19-DEL vs. L858R); P4, P (Erlotinib vs. Gefitinib); P5, P (Erlotinib vs. Icotinib); P6, P (Gefitinib vs. Icotinib).

EGFR-TKI, as adenocarcinoma and squamous components may respond differently to treatment. Besides, the variability in the molecular profile of ASC tumors, as compared to pure adenocarcinomas, might also be a factor (8). This variability could influence the tumor's response to EGFR-TKI therapy. Our study suggests a need for further research to explore the molecular mechanisms behind the differential response of ASC and pure adenocarcinomas to EGFR-TKI therapy.

According to our research, in patients with rare sensitive mutations (G719X, L861Q), the difference in PFS was statistically significant when compared to patients with deletion of exon 19 or exon 21 L858R mutations. However, because there were only 4 patients with rare sensitive mutation, the outcome needed to be further testified by more researches. Further, previous studies have

TABLE 6 Association between clinical factors and the OS.

	OS (months)	Univariate analysis, <i>P</i> ª	Multivariate analysis, P ^b
Data sources		0.154	0.133
Bicenter data	19.43		
Published data	25.00		
Age (years)		0.125	0.100
<60	19.43		
≥60	28.97		
Gender		0.300	0.214
Male	27.50		
Female	21.37		
Smoking status		0.522	0.371
Smoker (current/former)	19.37		
Non- smoker (never)	21.37		
EGFR mutation type		P7 = 0.973, P8 = 0.064, P9 = 0.213	0.530
19-DEL	23.67		
L858R	20.33		
G719X, L861Q	-		
Lines of EGFR-TKI		0.422	0.500
1	20.33		
≥2	25.00		
EGFR- TKI treatment		P10 = 0.613, P11 = 0.061, P12 = 0.009	0.168
Erlotinib	25.00		
Gefitinib	23.67		
Icotinib	15.01		

EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; OS, overall survival; ^{a,} Log-rank test; ^b, Cox regression test; P7, P (19-DEL vs. L858R); P8, P (19-DEL vs. G719X, L861Q); P9, P (L858R vs. G719X, L861Q); P10, P (Erlotinib vs. Gefitinib); P11, P (Erlotinib vs. Icotinib); P12, P (Gefitinib vs. Icotinib).

shown that ADC patients with a L858R mutation in exon 21 of EGFR have significantly lower efficacy with EGFR-TKI treatment than patients in exon 19 of EGFR (23). However, patients with deletions in exon 19 and exon 21 L858R mutations had similar PFS (11.0 vs 10.0 months, P=0.771) and OS (23.67 vs. 20.33 months, P=0.973). The cause of this difference needs to further study. Our study primarily focused on the initial efficacy of EGFR-TKI in ASC patients. EGFR-TKI acquired resistance in lung ASC is gradually becoming a research hotspot (24). The progression and resistance mechanisms, including the frequency of T790M mutations, are undoubtedly crucial and future studies focusing on this aspect would indeed be valuable. Bsides, the efficacy in lung ASC of third generation TKI such as osimertinib and ceritinib still needs

further study (25, 26). Immunotherapy has shown promising prospects in the treatment of lung ASC (5).

In one published research, 55 ASC patients were demonstrated dual differentiation with varying proportions of ADC and SCC by using the microdissection (27). There is a pity that pathology was unable to determine which of 44 patients carried squamous cell carcinomatous and adenocarcinomatous components. Moreover, some researches discovered that the identical EGFR mutation patterns in the squamous cell carcinomatous and the adenocarcinomatous components in each patient, indicated the monoclonality of the two tumor components in ASC patients (28, 29). This conclusion was also testified by other researches (3). Since the identical EGFR mutation patterns occurred in the squamous cell carcinomatous and the adenocarcinomatous components of ASC, It may be the proportion of two tumor components in EGFR mutant ASC patients that determines the efficacy of EGFR-TKI in EGFR mutant ASC patients. The predominance of one component over the other could potentially affect the treatment outcomes. In addition, the therapeutic advantages on adenocarcinoma components of TKI may generate the withering of the adenocarcinomatous components of ASC, while the squamous cell carcinomatous of ASC gain a quantitative advantage (30). Researchers at our cancer center are investigating how the ratio of these two tumor components and EGFR-TKI efficacy are related.

In NSCLC, especially in metastatic disease, small biopsy samples can make it difficult to accurately differentiate between squamous cell carcinoma and ASC (1). This distinction is crucial as it impacts treatment decisions. Molecular testing, including EGFR mutation analysis, can play a critical role in identifying patients who might benefit from targeted therapies (31). This is particularly relevant in cases where histological classification is uncertain. Given the histological overlap between squamous tumors and ASC, molecular testing provides a more precise approach to identify the tumor's characteristics, thus guiding appropriate treatment (3). The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) emphasizes the need for comprehensive molecular profiling in NSCLC. By incorporating molecular testing, clinicians can better tailor treatment strategies to individual patient needs, especially for those with rare or atypical NSCLC subtypes like ASC.

It is necessary to illustrate the limitations of this study. Among the selected published studies, inclusion criteria and test methods for EGFR mutations were different, and clinical traits were not completely described. Moreover, the retrospective nature was another limitation of this research. The low incidence of ASC in lung cancer, however, makes our research quite significant as well.

In conclusion, this study which involved all available data, including data collected from our cancer centers of China and that pooled from previous studies, and identified the clinical profiles of EGFR-TKI application, suggested that EGFR-TKI was found to be an effective treatment in ASC harboring mutations in EGFR. Furthermore, the study recommends that EGFR mutation testing be conducted routinely on all lung ASC patients.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by West China hospital's Institutional Review Board. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin.

Author contributions

XX: Conceptualization, Data curation, Writing – original draft. WD: Data curation, Writing – original draft. YZ: Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft. YYL: Investigation, Software, Writing – original draft. MY: Formal analysis, Methodology, Resources, Writing – original draft. YML: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

We thank Dr. Baohui Han, MD, Department of Pulmonary, Shanghai Chest Hospital, the People's Republic of China, Dr. Tomasz POWRÓZEK, MD, Pneumonology, Oncology and Allergology Department, Medical University of Lublin, Poland, Dr. Christina Baik, MD, Thoracic, Head and Neck Medical Oncology, Seattle Cancer Care Alliance, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, University of Washington, Dr. Akira Inoue, MD, the Department of Respiratory Medicine, Tohoku University Hospital, Seiryomachi, Aobaku, Sendai, Japan and Dr. Young-Chul Kim, MD, Lung cancer clinic, Pulmonary Medicine, Chonnam National University Medical School, Hwasun Hospital, Jeollanam-do, South Korea for providing the data of their patients.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Li C, Lu H. Adenosquamous carcinoma of the lung. *OncoTargets Ther.* (2018) 11:4829–35. doi: 10.2147/OTT

2. Nicholson AG, Tsao MS, Beasley MB, Borczuk AC, Brambilla E, Cooper WA, et al. The 2021 WHO classification of lung tumors: impact of advances since 2015. J Thorac Oncol. (2022) 17:362–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2021.11.003

3. Lin G, Li C, Li PS, Fang WZ, Xu HP, Gong YH, et al. Genomic origin and EGFR-TKI treatments of pulmonary adenosquamous carcinoma. *Ann Oncol.* (2020) 31:517– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.01.014

4. Li C, Zheng XB, Li PS, Wang HJ, Hu J, Wu L, et al. Heterogeneity of tumor immune microenvironment and real-world analysis of immunotherapy efficacy in lung adenosquamous carcinoma. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.944812

5. Wei J, Xiang J, Hao Y, Si J, Gu X, Xu M, et al. Clinical outcomes of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy for advanced lung adenosquamous carcinoma. *J Thorac Disease*. (2023) 15:260–9. doi: 10.21037/jtd

6. Wu YL, Zhou C, Liam CK, Wu G, Liu X, Zhong Z, et al. First-line erlotinib versus gemcitabine/cisplatin in patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-smallcell lung cancer: analyses from the phase III, randomized, open-label, ENSURE study. *Ann Oncol.* (2015) 26:1883–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv270

7. Tian X, Gu T, Lee M-H, Dong Z. Challenge and countermeasures for EGFR targeted therapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) - Rev Cancer*. (2022) 1877:188645. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2021.188645

8. Wang H, Liu J, Zhu S, Miao K, Li Z, Qi X, et al. Comprehensive analyses of genomic features and mutational signatures in adenosquamous carcinoma of the lung. *Front Oncol.* (2022) 12:945843. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.945843

 Hu MJ, Zhang B, Xu JL, Wang SY, Zhao YM, Zhang LL, et al. Clinical outcomes of different generations of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in advanced lung adenosquamous carcinoma. *Mol Diagnosis Ther*. (2019) 23:773–9. doi: 10.1007/ s40291-019-00425-x

10. Tokumo M, Toyooka S, Kiura K, Shigematsu H, Tomii K, Aoe M, et al. The relationship between epidermal growth factor receptor mutations and clinicopathologic features in non-small cell lung cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:1167–73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.1167.11.3

11. Ichihara S, Toyooka S, Fujiwara Y, Hotta K, Shigematsu H, Tokumo M, et al. The impact of epidermal growth factor receptor gene status on gefitinib-treated Japanese patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. *Int J Cancer.* (2007) 120:1239–47. doi: 10.1002/ijc.22513

12. Xu JM, Han Y, Duan HQ, Gao EM, Zhang Y, Liu XQ, et al. EGFR mutations and HER2/3 protein expression and clinical outcome in Chinese advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with gefitinib. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* (2008) 135:771–82. doi: 10.1007/s00432-008-0512-1

13. Paik PK, Varghese AM, Sima CS, Moreira AL, Ladanyi M, Kris MG, et al. Response to erlotinib in patients with EGFR mutant advanced non-small cell lung cancers with a squamous or squamous-like component. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2012) 11:2535–40. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0163

14. Iwanaga K, Sueoka-Aragane N, Nakamura T, Mori D, Kimura S. The long-term survival of a patient with adenosquamous lung carcinoma harboring EGFR-activating mutations who was treated with gefitinib. *Internal Med.* (2012) 51:2771–4. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.51.7428

15. Cho S-H, Park LC, Ji JH, Park S, Hwang DW, Lee JY, et al. Efficacy of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors for non-adenocarcinoma NSCLC patients with EGFR mutation. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2012) 70:315–20. doi: 10.1007/s00280-012-1876-0

16. Baik CS, Pritchard CC, Eaton KD, Chow LQ. EGFR mutations in squamous cell lung cancer in never-smokers. J Thorac Oncol. (2013) 8:e6–7. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182762d49

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

17. Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Maemondo M, Sugawara S, Oizumi S, Isobe H, et al. Updated overall survival results from a randomized phase III trial comparing gefitinib with carboplatin–paclitaxel for chemo-naïve non-small cell lung cancer with sensitive EGFR gene mutations (NEJ002). *Ann Oncol.* (2013) 24:54–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds214

18. Powrózek T, Krawczyk P, Ramlau R, Sura S, Wojas-Krawczyk K, Kucharczyk T, et al. EGFRgene mutations in patients with adenosquamous lung carcinoma. *Asia-Pacific J Clin Oncol.* (2014) 10:340–5. doi: 10.1111/ajco.12177

19. Tamura T, Kagohashi K, Satoh H. Successful afatinib therapy after resistance to EGFR-TKI in a patient with advanced adenosquamous cell lung cancer. *Oncol Res Treat.* (2015) 38:316–7. doi: 10.1159/000431351

20. Song Z, Lin B, Shao L, Zhang Y. Therapeutic efficacy of gefitinib and erlotinib in patients with advanced lung adenosquamous carcinoma. *J Chin Med Assoc.* (2013) 76:481–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcma.2013.05.007

21. Wang T, Zhou J, Wang Y, Zheng Q, Lin Z, Li G, et al. Clinicopathological characteristics and prognosis of resectable lung adenosquamous carcinoma: a population-based study of the SEER database. *Japanese J Clin Oncol.* (2022). 52:1456. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyac096

22. Nishihara S, Yamaoka T, Ishikawa F, Ohmori T, Ando K, Kusumoto S, et al. Diverse mechanisms of resistance against osimertinib, a third-generation EGFR-TKI, in lung adenocarcinoma cells with an EGFR-activating mutation. *Cells.* (2022) 11. doi: 10.3390/cells11142201

23. Yang JC-H, Wu Y-L, Schuler M, Sebastian M, Popat S, Yamamoto N, et al. Afatinib versus cisplatin-based chemotherapy for EGFR mutation-positive lung adenocarcinoma (LUX-Lung 3 and LUX-Lung 6): analysis of overall survival data from two randomised, phase 3 trials. *Lancet Oncol.* (2015) 16:141–51. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71173-8

24. Wu YH, Zhang K, Guan JX, Wu WB, Zhang J, Chen HG. Treatment with anlotinib after chemotherapy and EGFR-TKI resistance in lung adenosquamous carcinoma with concurrent EGFR and PIK3CA mutations: A case report and literature review. *Cancer Manage Res.* (2021) 13:7047–53. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S326094

25. Kim SY, Kim KE, Kim Y, Chung CK. A patient with a lung adenosquamous carcinoma harboring a *de novo* T790M mutation and huge nonbacterial vegetative growths successfully treated with osimertinib: A case report. *Thorac Cancer.* (2023) 14:1530–3. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.14896

26. Mai SX, Wang Y, Wang XM, Yang W, Gao HC, Xu ZN, et al. Neoadjuvant ceritinib treatment in ALK-rearranged locally advanced adenosquamous carcinoma: A case report. *Thorac Cancer*. (2022) 13:2275–8. doi: 10.1111/1759-7714.14558

27. Cheng C, Luo Z, Xiong W, Shi ZQ, Tan H. Epidemiology and survival outcomes in adenosquamous carcinoma: a population-based study. *Int J Colorectal Disease*. (2022) 37:1581–92. doi: 10.1007/s00384-022-04198-4

28. Toyooka S, Yatabe Y, Tokumo M, Ichimura K, Asano H, Tomii K, et al. Mutations of epidermal growth factor receptor and K-rasgenes in adenosquamous carcinoma of the lung. *Int J Cancer*. (2006) 118:1588–90. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21500

29. Shi XH, Wu HW, Lu JL, Duan HL, Liu XG, Liang ZY. Screening for major driver oncogene alterations in adenosquamous lung carcinoma using PCR coupled with next-generation and Sanger sequencing methods. *Sci Rep-Uk*. (2016) 6:22297. doi: 10.1038/ srep22297

30. Ge-Ge L, Cuicui G, Leiqiang L, Yongcang T, Jiangang M, Yiwen O, et al. Case report: A case report and literature review about Pathological transformation of lung adenosquamous cell carcinoma. *Front Oncol.* (2022) 12. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2022.1029679

31. Sathiyapalan A, Ellis PM. Molecular testing in non-small-cell lung cancer: A call to action. JCO Oncol Pract. (2024) 20:7–9. doi: 10.1200/OP.23.00669

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Paola Ulivi, Scientific Institute of Romagna for the Study and Treatment of Tumors (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY Dawei Chen, Shandong Cancer Hospital, China Yang Wo, Qingdao University, China Savvas Lampridis, Imperial College London, United Kingdom Maha Mohamed Saber-Ayad, University of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates

*CORRESPONDENCE Hongbo Guo I guomutong@126.com

RECEIVED 04 December 2023 ACCEPTED 28 June 2024 PUBLISHED 16 July 2024

CITATION

Shao W, Liu Z, Li B, Chen F, Liu J, Li H and Guo H (2024) Neoadjuvant targeted therapy versus targeted combined with chemotherapy for resectable EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer: a retrospective controlled real-world study. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1349300. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1349300

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Shao, Liu, Li, Chen, Liu, Li and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Neoadjuvant targeted therapy versus targeted combined with chemotherapy for resectable EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer: a retrospective controlled real-world study

Weipeng Shao, Zhan Liu, Bobo Li, Feng Chen, Jie Liu, Hui Li and Hongbo Guo*

Department of Thoracic Surgical Ward II, Shandong Cancer Hospital and Institute, Shandong First Medical University and Shandong Academy of Medical Sciences, Jinan, Shandong, China

Background: This study aimed to assess the role and effect of neoadjuvant targeted therapy (TT) versus targeted combined with chemotherapy (TC) for resectable EGFR-mutant non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

Methods: Between March 2021 and June 2023, 20 patients with stage IA3-IIIB NSCLC were enrolled in the study. Eleven patients received EGFR-TKIs in the TT group, while nine patients received EGFR-TKIs and two cycles of cisplatin-based doublet chemotherapy (TC group). We compare the differences between the two groups through the following variables, including age, sex, surgical approach, postoperative complications, neoadjuvant therapy adverse events, complete response (CR), partial response (PR), stable disease (SD), progressive disease (PD), objective response rate (ORR), major pathologic response (MPR), and pathologic complete response (pCR).

Results: Patients were predominantly female (75%) and never-smokers (95%). The average age was 59.2 years (range 46-79 years). Fifty-five percent harbored an exon 19 EGFR mutation and 45% an exon 21 mutation. The average targeted drug dosing time was 2.91 ± 1.7 (range 1-6) months in the TT group and 3.56 ± 3.54 (range 1-12) months in the TC group (P=0.598). The most common side effects were rash and diarrhea. No grade 5 events with neoadjuvant therapy were observed. The rate of R0 resection was 100% in all patients. Among the 11 patients in the TT group, 6 achieved a PR and 5 had SD, resulting in an ORR of 54.5%. Among the 9 patients in the TC group achieved pCR (P = 0.142). Two patients (18.2%) in the TT group reached MPR, and 2 patients (22.2%) in the TC group reached MPR (P = 0.257). The overall clinical downstage rate is 60%. Only 9 (45%) cases of yield clinical TNM (ycTNM) were consistent with yield pathologic TNM (ypTNM).

Conclusion: Results from this retrospective controlled research indicate that the neoadjuvant TT group is likely to be more effective outcomes and has safer profile in patients with EGFR-positive NSCLC than the neoadjuvant TC group. However, our results need to be validated in a multicenter, large sample prospective study.

KEYWORDS

NSCLC, EGFR-mutation, neoadjuvant targeted therapy, neoadjuvant targeted plus chemotherapy, MPR

Introduction

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in China and the world (1, 2). Previously, treatment options for potentially resectable patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) include neoadjuvant therapy with cisplatin or carboplatin; and subsequent adjuvant chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy to prevent rapid recurrence (3). However, this benefit has been questioned (4). With the advent of Checkmate-816, immunotherapy alone or in combination with chemotherapy has created a wave of new research in the neoadjuvant setting (5). Clinical evidence has shown that patients with advanced, EGFRmutant NSCLC derive little or no benefit from cancer immunotherapy combining with or without targeted therapies (6, 7). In the past few decades, the increasing knowledge of cancer biology has led to the introduction of new targeted therapies for lung cancer (2). These new therapies target specific cancer processes and hence have the potential to be more effective and less toxic (8). Adjuvant targeted therapies (epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI)) have revolutionized the NSCLC care in the advanced disease setting (9). The recommended first-line treatment for patients with oncogene-addicted advanced NSCLC is targeted therapies. Targeted therapies could be beneficial in the neoadjuvant setting for this group of patients (10, 11). There are no completed targeted therapy clinical trials and no current neoadjuvant standard of care in the management of EGFR mutation-positive (EGFRm) NSCLC, but several studies (NCT01833572, NCT01217619, EMERGING-CTONG 1103, NEOS, and NCT03433469) are now recruiting (12-14). Considering the advantages of preoperative targeted therapy and the disadvantages of preoperative neoadjuvant chemotherapy, can we consider conducting separate neoadjuvant targeted therapy for this type of patient? Therefore, we conducted a retrospective controlled study of EGFR-TKIs combined with chemotherapy versus EGFR-TKIs alone as neoadjuvant therapy in the treatment of EGFR-mutation positive resectable NSCLC.

Patients and methods

Twenty treatment-naive patients with stageIA3-IIIB NSCLC were enrolled in the study from March 2021 to June 2023 at the Shandong Cancer Hospital and Institute. Inclusion criteria included: 1) age 18 years or older; 2) no previous treatment for lung cancer; 3) Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status (PS) of 0 or 1 (15); 4) pathologically confirmed as adenocarcinoma; 5) with EGFR mutations in exon 19 or 21; 6) underwent surgery; and 7) neoadjuvant targeted therapy or targeted combined with chemotherapy. Exclusion criteria included: 1) history of malignancies in the past 5 years; 2) previous local radiotherapy or any systemic antitumor therapy;3) unstable systemic disease; and 4) history or current diagnosis of interstitial lung disease (ILD).

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the ethics committee of the Shandong Cancer Hospital and Research Institute (No. SDTHEC2024002005).

Eleven patients received EGFR-TKIs as neoadjuvant therapy (TT group), while nine patients received EGFR-TKIs and two cycles of platinum-based doublet chemotherapy in combination with docetaxel or pemetrexed (TC group). Platinum-based drugs included carboplatin, with an area under the curve of 5, or cisplatin 25 mg/m2 on days 1–3. Pemetrexed (500 mg/m2) was then administered. Patients received 1–3 doses of preoperative chemotherapy every three weeks, and the average usage cycle was two in the TC groups. The target drugs included osimertinib, gefitinib, almonertinib, furmonertinib, icotinib.

Patients underwent chest Computed Tomography (CT), abdomen CT, and Emission CT (ECT) scans; brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), or Positron Emission Tomography CT (PET-CT); bronchoscope or Endobronchial ultrasound-guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA); and examinations of cardiac function. In our routine clinical practice, simplified radiological evaluation (enhanced CT or PET-CT) was more common for N-stage patients. Only a few patients have undergone bronchoscopy or EBUS-TBNA.

The stages of the primary pulmonary tumor (T), lymph node (N), and metastasis (M) were evaluated based on the American Joint Committee on Cancer 8th edition TNM staging system for NSCLC (16). After neoadjuvant therapy, enhanced CT was performed to observe the response of the tumor to drugs, and the tumor size was evaluated according to RECIST 1.1 (response evaluation criteria in solid tumors version 1.1) (17). The evaluation of the target lesions was divided into complete response (CR), partial response (PR), stable disease (SD), progressive disease (PD), and objective response (OR) including PR+CR. All the patients were monitored for adverse events, according to the National Cancer Institute Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events version 5.0 (NCI-CTCAE 5.0) (18). Major pathologic response (MPR) was defined as residual viable tumor cells less than 10%, and pathologic complete response (pCR) was defined as no residual viable tumor (19).

Statistical analysis

Categoric variables were expressed as numbers or percentages and evaluated with λ^2 or Fisher's exact test. Continuous data were presented as mean \pm SD and were compared using the two-sample

Student t-test. All P-values were reported by 2-sided analyses, and the statistical significance level was set at less than 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 24.0 software (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and R version 4.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

Results

Patient characteristics

Twenty NSCLC patients were recruited (Figure 1). Patients were predominantly female (75%) and never-smokers (95%), only one patient had ever-smoking. The average age was 59.2 years (range 46-79 years). Fifty-five percent had an exon 19 EGFR mutation and 45% had an exon 21 mutation. Most patients were stage clinical T2(cT2) NSCLC (TT group, 36.3%; TC group, 44.4%). The proportion of patients with cN2(55%) and cIIIA (55%) stages was the highest. Age, gender, smoking status, EGFR status, ECOG PS, dosing time, and clinical stage were balanced between arms. The average dosing time was 2.91 \pm 1.7 (range 1-6) months in the TT group and 3.56 \pm 3.54 (range 1-12) months in the TC group (P=0.598). The patient demographics and clinical characteristics are summarized in Table 1.



TABLE 1 Patient demographics and clinical characteristics.

characteristic		total	ткі	TKI +Chemotehrapy	p-value
			11	9	
EGFR status	Exon 19 deletion	11	6	5	0.964
	L858R 21	9	5	4	
ECOG PS	0	13	8	5	0.423
	1	7	3	4	
Sex	male	5	2	3	0.436
	female	15	9	6	
smoking status	ever	1	1	0	0.353
	never	19	10	9	
сT	1	5	3	2	0.528
	2	8	4	4	
	3	2	2	0	
	4	5	2	3	
cN	0	4	2	2	0.067
	1	4	0	4	
	2	11	8	3	
	3	1	1	0	
cTNM	IA3	1	1	0	0.11
	IB	2	0	2	
	IIA	1	1	0	
	IIB	1	0	1	
	IIIA	11	5	6	
	IIIB	4	4	0	
age, years			60.91 ± 8.50	57.11 ± 8.08	0.323
dosing time, months			2.91 ± 1.7	3.56 ± 3.54	0.598

EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status.

Safety and tolerability

Overall, the two neoadjuvant treatment regimens were well tolerated. The most common side effects were rash and diarrhea. No grade 5 events with neoadjuvant therapy were observed. As shown in the Table 2, most patients underwent video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) (85%) and lobectomy (95%). No patient converted to pneumonectomy because of the complexity of the operation. The rate of R0 resection was 100% in all patients. The average operation time was 121.36 ± 62.45 minutes in the TT group and 91.11 ± 20.28 minutes in the TC group. Although the time of operation varies greatly, it is not statistically significant (p=0.155). We traced the operation time data and found that in the TT group, there were 2 cases with longer operation times (240min and 180min, respectively), which resulted in longer mean operation times. There were 2 cases in the TT group (postoperative chylothorax and hydrothorax). No perioperative mortality was found in either

arm. There was no significant difference between the two arms. The follow-up time in the TC group (25 ± 5.15 months) was significantly longer than that in the TT group (18 ± 5.16 months) (P=0.007). One case in the TC group occurred brain metastasis 19 months after being diagnosed with lung cancer. After follow-up, further treatment is still underway.

Efficacy

Clinical responses to neoadjuvant therapies

As shown in the histogram (Figure 2) waterfall plot (Figure 3), among the 11 patients in the TT group, 6 acquired a PR and 5 had SD, resulting in an ORR of 54.5%. Of the 9 patients in the TC group, 6 had PR, and the remaining 3 had SD, resulting in an ORR of 66.6%. Our data show that patients in the TC group had a better ORR than those in the TT group, although the difference was not

characteristic		total	ТКІ	TKI+Chemotehrapy	p-value
operation methods	lobectomy	19	11	8	0.257
	bilobectomy	1	0	1	
surgery	thoractomy	3	1	2	0.413
	VATS	17	10	7	
complication	no	18	9	9	0.178
	yes	2	2	0	
operation time (min)			121.36 ± 62.45	91.11 ± 20.28	0.155
follow-up time (months)			18 ± 5.16	25 ± 5.15	0.007
discharge time (days)			5.91 ± 1.70	6.78 ± 2.59	0.378
status	alive	19	10	9	0.353
	death	1	1	0	

TABLE 2 Patient surgical and postoperative characteristics.

TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor.



statistically significant (P=0.582). After neoadjuvant treatment, the overall clinical downstage rate is 50%. The TT group and TC group were 54.5% and 44.4% (P=0.653), respectively (Table 3).

Pathological responses to neoadjuvant therapies

In the postoperative pathological analysis (Table 3), one patient (11.1%) in the TC group achieved pCR, while no patients in the TT group achieved pCR. The difference was not statistically significant (P = 0.142). Two patients (18.2%) in the TT group reached MPR, and 2 patients (22.2%) in the TC group reached MPR, the difference was not statistically significant (P = 0.257). From this, we can conclude that targeted drugs alone may achieve the effect of targeted plus chemotherapy. The overall clinical downstage rate is 60%. The TT group and TC group were 45.5% and 77.8% (P=0.142),



TABLE 3 Evaluation of neoadjuvant therapy efficacy.

characteristic		total	ТКІ	TKI+Chemotehrapy	p-value
			11	9	
усТ	1	12	6	6	0.019
	2	5	5	0	
	3	3	0	3	
ycN	0	7	3	4	0.249
	1	7	3	4	
	2	6	5	1	
ycTNM	IA1	1	0	1	0.426
	IA2	2	1	1	
	IA3	1	0	2	
	1B	1	1	0	
	IIA	1	1	0	
	IIB	4	3	1	
	IIIA	9	5	4	
ORR	yes	12	6	6	0.582
	no	8	5	3	
PR	yes	12	6	6	0.582
	no	8	5	3	
SD	yes	8	5	3	0.582
	no	12	6	6	
cDownstage	yes	10	6	4	0.653
	no	10	5	5	
урТ	0	1	0	1	0.082
урт	IA	10	3	7	0.002
	IB	5	4	1	
	IC	1	1	0	
N	2A	3	3	0 7	0.052
ypN	0	10	3		0.073
	1	1	1	0	
	2	9	7	2	
ypTNM	0	1	0	1	0.105
	IA1	8	2	6	
	IA2	1	1	0	
	IIB	1	1	0	
	IIIA	9	7	2	
pDownstage	yes	12	5	7	0.142
	no	8	6	2	
ycTNM=ypTNM	yes	9	7	2	0.064
	no	11	4	7	

(Continued)

TABLE 3 Continued

charac	characteristic		ТКІ	TKI+Chemotehrapy	p-value
			11	9	
MPR	yes	4	2	2	0.822
	no	16	9	7	
CPR	yes	1	0	1	0.257
	no	19	11	8	

TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; ORR, objective response rate; PR, partial response; SD, stable disease; MPR, major pathologic response; pCR, pathologic complete response; ycTNM, yield clinical TNM; ypTNM, yield pathological TNM.

respectively. We compared the yield clinical TNM (ycTNM) and yield pathological TNM (ypTNM) stages of each patient separately. Only 9 (45%) cases of ycTNM were consistent with ypTNM. The TT group and TC group have 7 (63.6%) and 2 (22.2%) (P=0.064), respectively. The remaining 11 patients had inconsistent staging, eight patients achieved better downstage than ycTNM. The TT group and TC group have 2 and 6, respectively. Both the TT group and TC group have two up-stage. The difference between post-treatment and postoperative stages reminds us of the limitations of the imaging assessment of staging.

Discussion

In a meta-analysis of patients with resectable NSCLC, neoadjuvant chemotherapy was found to improve 5-year overall survival (OS) by 5% compared with surgery alone (3). Therefore, there is a need for new and effective treatments to reduce the recurrence of disease, prolong the survival time, and improve the cure rates. Given the success of target therapy in the advanced disease setting, there is increasing research on neoadjuvant targeted therapy for mutation-driven resectable NSCLC (11, 13). Is targeted therapy combined with chemotherapy more effective as neoadjuvant therapy? Therefore, we conducted this retrospective controlled study.

In this study, patients who received TT or TC had similar clinical and pathological effects. Lara-Guerra H et al. demonstrated that gefitinib was a generally safe and feasible regimen for neoadjuvant therapy in unselected patients with stage I NSCLC, with a PR of 11%(NCT00188617) (13). Zhang Y et al. found that neoadjuvant gefitinib was a viable treatment option for stage II-IIIA NSCLC patients with EGFR-mutant, ORR, and MPR were 54.5% and 24.2%, respectively (NCT01833572) (11). Xiong L et al. reported that erlotinib resulted in a higher ORR (67%vs.19%) and pathologic response rate (67%vs.38%) than platinum-based adjuvant chemotherapy (PBAC) (NCT01217619) (20). The EMERGING-CTONG 1103 study found that the ORR for neoadjuvant erlotinib versus chemotherapy was 54.1% versus 34.3%. The MPR was 9.7% and 0%, respectively. No pCR was identified in either arm (10). The above studies were mostly singlearm studies of neoadjuvant TT or control studies of neoadjuvant TT compared to neoadjuvant chemotherapy, with varying clinical and pathological results obtained. Few studies directly compare neoadjuvant TT and TC. Combined with our results, or neoadjuvant targeted therapy alone, we could achieve the expected results. The reason why we propose this viewpoint is inspired by postoperative adjuvant therapy. For example, Tetsuya Isaka et al. showed that that patients with EGFR mutations (-) who received PBAC had better OS than those who did not receive PBAC, although EGFR mutation (+) patients who did and did not receive PBAC had no difference in OS. They concluded that neoadjuvant chemotherapy might not be necessary for EGFR mutation (+) patients with pathological stage II/III NSCLC (21). In another study from Japan, Yasuhiro Tsutani et al. evaluated the role and effect of adjuvant chemotherapy based on EGFR mutation status in patients with stage I lung adenocarcinoma. For patients with EGFR mutation (+), who received adjuvant chemotherapy or not, there was no significant difference in the 5-year recurrence-free survival (RFS) (74.3% vs 80.5%, P=0.573) and OS (91.7% vs 97.8%, P=0.183). For patients with EGFR mutation (-/unknown), received adjuvant chemotherapy or not, there were significant differences in the 5-year RFS (88.4% vs 63.6%, P=0.001) and OS (93.2% vs 77.9%, P=0.008) (22). There is another study from China, Wenyu Zhai et al. demonstrated that adjuvant chemotherapy was associated with improved OS and DFS outcomes in patients with EGFR mutation (-), but not benefit with EGFR mutation (+) (23). Harry B. Lengel et al. proved that preoperative targeted therapy was well tolerated and associated with good outcomes, regardless of induction chemotherapy (24). The ongoing clinical trials (NCT04470076, NCT04351555, NCT05011487, NCT05132985, NCT05430802) might have certain reference opinions for determining the choice of neoadjuvant treatment options (12).

A Phase II study of preoperative gefitinib in clinical stage I NSCLC showed that 83% of patients had consistent clinical and pathological staging (13). Ye Ning et al. retrospectively evaluated the survival rate of 10 patients with advanced NSCLC who underwent salvage surgery after EGFR-TKI neoadjuvant therapy and found that 70% of patients have consistent clinical and pathological staging. In the remaining 3 cases, 1 case was downstaged, and the other 2 cases were upstaged (25). NEOS is a prospective, multicenter, single-arm study designed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of osimertinib as a neoadjuvant treatment in resectable EGFR mutation (+) lung adenocarcinoma. The disease control rate (DCR) was 100% (15/15), 53.3% (8/15) of patients had a pathological decline, and 42.9% (3/7) of the patients with confirmed N2 lymph nodes experienced downstaging to N0 disease after receiving neoadjuvant osimertinib (26).

The above studies are all single-arm studies. In the present study, there was a certain degree of decline in both the TT group and the TC group. However, the concordance rate of the clinical stage and postoperative stage in the TT group was higher than that in the TC group. In the TC group, after the neoadjuvant target was combined with chemotherapy, to some extent, the tumor shrank more significantly than that measured on CT. Compared to the TT group, chemotherapy might affect tumor shrinkage, but further molecular-level research is needed to determine the specific mechanism. Even if the tumor was somewhat responsive to drug, it still takes time for the necrotic lesion to absorb after targeted therapy, resulting in a reduction in the diameter measured by CT. This results in inconsistency between clinical remission and pathological outcome.

Compared with TC, TT has unique safety and tolerability in the neoadjuvant setting. It is important to consider whether there is any toxicity that may delay or prevent the efficacy of surgery during neoadjuvant therapy. Compared to neoadjuvant chemotherapy, the use of EGFR inhibitors has fewer severe respiratory adverse events (including pneumonitis and interstitial lung disease), which could limit the use of neoadjuvant therapy (27).

In our study, no grade 5 events were observed. The results demonstrate that most patients can tolerate these two schemes. Most patients underwent VATS and lobectomy. No patient received a pneumonectomy. The rate of R0 resection was 100%. Judging from these data, the two schemes have little impact on the operation. A narrative review similar to our results suggests that neoadjuvant target therapy is well tolerated in resectable NSCLC patients, with all patients undergoing surgery without delay or major complications (27, 28). Delays in surgery due to adverse events from oncology treatment, limitations in diagnostic services provided, and the possibility of progression during treatment may have challenged to the selection of neoadjuvant chemotherapy. It may be that our sample size is too small to show this difference between the two groups. The ongoing clinical trials will provide further information on the safety and tolerability of a wider range of TT for neoadjuvant treatment of resectable NSCLC.

The research on the neoadjuvant TT or TC is still early and less, and the optimal course of treatment is not yet known. Because of our retrospective study, it is difficult to control the preoperative medication time, which ranges from 1 month to 12 months. We also have no clear recommendations for the medication cycle. Perhaps according to the evaluation of CT (RECIST 1.1) after-treatment is a better choice.

There were several limitations to this research. Firstly, patient selection bias may have existed due to the retrospective nature of this real-world study. Secondly, given the limited number of patients in our cohort, larger multi-center or even prospective studies are necessary to confirm our findings. Finally, our results might be influenced by tumor characteristics and surgeon's techniques, experience, and preferences.

Conclusion

To our knowledge, few studies have conducted real-world studies on neoadjuvant targeted therapy versus targeted combined with chemotherapy for resectable EGFR-Mutant NSCLC. Results from this retrospective controlled research indicated that the neoadjuvant TT group was likely to be more effective outcomes and has safer profile in patients with EGFR-positive NSCLC than the TC group. Therefore, we recommend further investigation through a prospective study to validate the findings of this retrospective analysis.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary files, further inquiries can be directed to Weipeng Shao, shaoweipeng2015@163.com.

Ethics statement

This study was approved by the institutional review board of Shandong Cancer Hospital and Institute (SDTHEC2024002005). The requirement for written informed consent from individual patients for this retrospective analysis was waived by the institutional board.

Author contributions

WS: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BL: Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – original draft. ZL: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Software, Writing – review & editing. FC: Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Writing – review & editing. JL: Formal analysis, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. HL: Formal analysis, Software, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. HG: Conceptualization, Investigation, Resources, Supervision, Validation, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by Taishan Scholar Project Special Fund (NO.tsqn202312367).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer DC declared a shared affiliation with the authors to the handling editor at the time of review.

References

1. Chen W, Zheng R, Baade PD, Zhang S, Zeng H, Bray F, et al. Cancer statistics in China, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin. (2016) 66:115–32. doi: 10.3322/caac.21338

2. Siegel RL, Giaquinto AN, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2024. CA Cancer J Clin. (2024) 74:12-49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21820

3. Group NM-aC. Preoperative chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. *Lancet.* (2014) 383:1561–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62159-5

4. Pisters KMW, Vallieres E, Crowley JJ, Franklin WA, Bunn PA, Ginsberg RJ, et al. Surgery with or without preoperative paclitaxel and carboplatin in early-stage non-smallcell lung cancer: southwest oncology group trial S9900, an intergroup, randomized, phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. (2010) 28:1843–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.1685

5. Patrick MF, Jonathan S, Shun L, Mariano P, Tetsuya M, Mark MA, et al. Neoadjuvant nivolumab plus chemotherapy in resectable lung cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2022) 386:1973–85. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2202170

6. Lisberg A, Cummings A, Goldman JW, Bornazyan K, Reese N, Wang T, et al. A phase II study of pembrolizumab in EGFR-mutant, PD-L1+, tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) nave patients with advanced NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol Off Publ Int Assoc Study Lung Cancer. (2018) 12:S1805.

7. Gainor JF, Shaw AT, Sequist LV, Fu X, Azzoli CG, Piotrowska Z, et al. EGFR mutations and ALK rearrangements are associated with low response rates to PD-1 pathway blockade in non-small cell lung cancer: a retrospective analysis. *Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res.* (2016) 22(18):4585–93. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-3101

8. Hanahan D, Weinberg Robert A. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell.* (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

9. White MN, Piotrowska Z, Stirling K, Liu SV, Banwait MK, Cunanan K, et al. Combining osimertinib with chemotherapy in EGFR-mutant NSCLC at progression. *Clin Lung Cancer*. (2021) 22:201–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2021.01.010

10. Zhong WZ, Chen KN, Chen C, Gu CD, Wu YL. Erlotinib versus gemcitabine plus cisplatin as neoadjuvant treatment of stage IIIA-N2 EGFR -mutant non-small-cell lung cancer (EMERGING-CTONG 1103): A randomized phase II study. *J Clin Oncol.* (2019) 37:2235–45. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.00075

11. Zhang Y, Fu F, Hu H, Wang S, Chen H. Gefitinib as neoadjuvant therapy for resectable stage II-IIIA non-small cell lung cancer: A phase II study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surgery*. (2021) 161:434–42.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2020.02.131

12. Tsuboi M, Weder W, Escriu C, Blakely C, Chaft JE. Neoadjuvant osimertinib with/without chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for EGFR -mutated resectable non-small-cell lung cancer: NeoADAURA. *Future Oncol.* (2021) 17:4045–55. doi: 10.2217/fon-2021-0549

13. Lara-Guerra H, Waddell TK, Salvarrey MA, Joshua AM, Chung CT, Paul N, et al. Phase II study of preoperative gefitinib in clinical stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. (2009) 27:6229–36. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.22.3370

14. Lee JM, McNamee CJ, Toloza E, Negrao MV, Lin J, Shum E, et al. Neoadjuvant targeted therapy in resectable NSCLC: current and future perspectives. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2023) 18:1458–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2023.07.006

15. Oken M, Creech R, Tormey D, Horton J, Davis T, Mcfadden E, et al. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. *Am J Clin Oncol: Cancer Clin Trials.* (1982) 5(6):649–656. doi: 10.1097/0000421-198212000-00014

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

16. Detterbeck FC, Boffa DJ, Kim AW, Tanoue LT. The eighth edition lung cancer stage classification. *Chest.* (2017) 151:193–203. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2016.10.010

17. Yang Z, Wang S, Yang H, Jiang Y, Zhu L, Zheng B, et al. Treatment patterns and clinical outcomes of patients with resectable non-small cell lung cancer receiving neoadjuvant immunochemotherapy: a large-scale, multicenter, real-world study (NeoR-World). *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2024). S0022-5223(24)00111-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2024.02.006

18. Freites-Martinez A, Santana N, Arias-Santiago S, Viera A. Using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE – Version 5.0) to Evaluate the Severity of Adverse Events of Anticancer Therapies. *Actas Dermo-Sifiliográficas*. (2020) 112(1). doi: 10.1016/j.adengl.2019.05.021

19. Travis W, Dacic S, Wistuba I, Sholl L, Adusumilli P, Bubendorf L, et al. IASLC multidisciplinary recommendations for pathologic assessment of lung cancer resection specimens after neoadjuvant therapy. *J Thorac Oncol.* (2020) 15:709–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.01.005

20. Xiong L, Lou Y, Bai H, Li R, Xia J, Fang W, et al. Efficacy of erlotinib as neoadjuvant regimen in EGFR-mutant locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. *J Int Med Res.* (2020) 48:300060519887275. doi: 10.1177/0300060519887275

21. Isaka T, Ito H, Nakayama H, Yokose T, Katayama K, Yamada K, et al. Efficacy of platinum-based adjuvant chemotherapy on prognosis of pathological stage II/III lung adenocarcinoma based on EGFR mutation status: a propensity score matching analysis. *Mol Diagn Ther.* (2019) 23:657–65. doi: 10.1007/s40291-019-00419-9

22. Tsutani Y, Ito M, Shimada Y, Ito H, Ikeda N, Nakayama H, et al. The impact of epidermal growth factor receptor mutation status on adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with high-risk stage I lung adenocarcinoma. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2022) 164:1306–15.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2022.01.025

23. Zhai W, Duan F, Li D, Yan Q, Dai S, Zhang B, et al. Risk stratification and adjuvant chemotherapy after radical resection based on the clinical risk scores of patients with stage IB-IIA non-small cell lung cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* (2022) 48:752–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2021.09.023

24. Lengel HB, Zheng J, Tan KS, Liu CC, Park BJ, Rocco G, et al. Clinicopathologic outcomes of preoperative targeted therapy in patients with clinical stage I to III non-small cell lung cancer. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2023) 165:1682–93.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2022.10.056

25. Ning Y, Bao M, Yan X, Xie D, Jiang G. Surgery for advanced non-small cell lung cancer patient after epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor neoadjuvant therapy. *Ann Trans Med.* (2018) 6:407. doi: 10.21037/atm

26. Lyu C, Fang W, Ma H, Wang J, Yang Y. Osimertinib as neoadjuvant treatment for resectable stage II-IIIB EGFR mutant lung adenocarcinoma (NEOS). *J Clin Oncol.* (2021) 39:8524–. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15_suppl.8524

27. Marjanski T, Dziedzic R, Kowalczyk A, Rzyman W. Safety of surgery after neoadjuvant targeted therapies in non-small cell lung cancer: a narrative review. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:12244. doi: 10.3390/ijms222212244

28. Stencel K, Chmielewska I, Milanowski J, Ramlau R. Non-small-cell lung cancer: new rare targets-new targeted therapies-state of the art and future directions. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2021) 13:1829. doi: 10.3390/cancers13081829

Frontiers in Oncology

Advances knowledge of carcinogenesis and tumor progression for better treatment and management

The third most-cited oncology journal, which highlights research in carcinogenesis and tumor progression, bridging the gap between basic research and applications to imrpove diagnosis, therapeutics and management strategies.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



